
   NOTICE OF A MEETING 

 (In compliance with Sec. 551.041, Et. Seq., Tex. Gov’t. Code) 

Notice is hereby given of a 2024 Charter Review Commission Meeting to be held on September 

4, 2024, at 6:00 p.m. in the Civic Center Auditorium located at 16327 Lakeview Drive, Jersey 

Village, Texas  77040.  All agenda items are subject to action.  The 2024 Charter Review 

Commission reserves the right to meet in closed session on any agenda item should the need 

arise and if applicable pursuant to authorization by Title 5, Chapter 551, of the Texas 

Government Code. 

A quorum of the City of Jersey Village City Council may be in attendance at this meeting; 

however, no official action will be taken by either the City Council. 

ITEM(S) to be discussed and acted upon by the Commission at this meeting are listed on the 

attached agenda. 

AGENDA 

A. Open Meeting. Call the meeting to order and the roll of appointed officers will be taken.

Lorri Coody, City Secretary

B. Citizens’ Comments:  Any person who desires to address the 2024 Charter Review

Commission regarding an item on the agenda will be heard at this time.  In compliance

with the Texas Open Meetings Act, unless the subject matter of the comment is on the

agenda, the City staff and Charter Review Commissioners are not allowed to discuss the

subject.  Each person is limited to five (5) minutes for comments to the Commission.

Lorri Coody, City Secretary

C. Discussion with the City Attorney on the process involved in amending the City Charter.

City Attorney

D. Discussion with possible action concerning organizational matters, including but not

limited to, Election of Officers, establishment of meeting times and places, and

committee procedures.  Lorri Coody, City Secretary

E. Review and consider possible amendments to the City’s current City Charter.  Board

Chairman

F. Adjourn

CERTIFICATION 

I, the undersigned authority, do hereby certify in accordance with the Texas Open Meeting Act, the Agenda is 

posted for public information, at all times, for at least 72 hours preceding the scheduled time of the meeting on the 

bulletin board located at City Hall, 16327 Lakeview, Jersey Village, TX 77040, a place convenient and readily 

accessible to the general public at all times, and said Notice was posted on the following date and time: August 26, 

2024 at 5:00 p.m.  and remained so posted until said meeting was convened. 

_______________________________ 

Lorri Coody, City Secretary 

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

1



Page 2    Jersey Village 2024 Charter Review Commission Agenda –  September 4, 2024 

 

   

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, the City of Jersey Village will provide for reasonable accommodations 

for persons attending City Council meetings.  Request for accommodations must be made to the City Secretary by calling 713 

466-2102 forty-eight (48) hours prior to the meetings.  Agendas are posted on the Internet Website at www.jerseyvillagetx.com.  

 
"Pursuant to Section 30.06, Penal Code (trespass by license holder with a concealed handgun), a person licensed under 

Subchapter H, Chapter 411, Government Code (handgun licensing law), may not enter this property with a concealed handgun." 

 

"Pursuant to Section 30.07, Penal Code (trespass by license holder with an openly carried handgun), a person licensed under 

Subchapter H, Chapter 411, Government Code (handgun licensing law), may not enter this property with a handgun that is 

carried openly." 
 

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

2

http://www.jerseyvillagetx.com/


B. Citizens’ Comments:  Any person who desires to address the 2024 Charter Review 

Commission regarding an item on the agenda will be heard at this time.  In compliance 

with the Texas Open Meetings Act, unless the subject matter of the comment is on the 

agenda, the City staff and Charter Review Commissioners are not allowed to discuss 

the subject.  Each person is limited to five (5) minutes for comments to the 

Commission.  Lorri Coody, City Secretary 

 

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

3



2024 CHARTER REVIEW COMMISSION 
CITY OF JERSEY VILLAGE, TEXAS  

AGENDA REQUEST 
 

AGENDA DATE: September 4, 2024 
 
AGENDA ITEM: C 
 

AGENDA SUBJECT: Discussion with the City Attorney on the process involved in 
amending the City Charter. 
 
 
Prepared By:  Lorri Coody, City Secretary  Date Submitted: August 14, 2024 
 
EXHIBITS:   Home Rule Charter as Amended May 2021 
 City of Jersey Village – Section 9.14 – Charter Review Commission 
 LGC – Chapter 9 – Home Rule Charters 
 Texas Home Rule Charters Handbook 
                               
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
 
This item is to receive information from the City Attorney regarding the process of amending the 
City’s Charter and to ask questions regarding same. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

Discussion with the City Attorney on the process involved in amending the City Charter. 
 

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

4



(a)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(b)

(c)

Sec. 9.14. - Charter review commission.

The council shall appoint a Charter review commission ("commission") no later than July 1996 and at least every

four (4) years thereafter. The commission shall consist of seven (7) members and three (3) alternate members, all to

be citizens of the City of Jersey Village.

Duties of the commission:

Inquire into the operation of the city government under the provisions of the Charter. To this end,

public hearings may be held and the commission shall have the power to request the attendance

of any officer or employee of the city and require the submission of any of the city records

deemed necessary to conduct such hearing.

Propose any recommendations deemed desirable to ensure compliance with the provisions of the

Charter by the several departments of the city government.

Propose, if desirable, amendments to the Charter to improve the effective application of the

Charter to current conditions.

Report its finding(s) and proposed amendments, if any, to the council.

Action by the council: The council shall receive and publish any report presented by the commission.

Term of office: The term of office of such commission shall be six (6) months or longer if extended by

the council and, at the completion of such term, a report of the proceedings of the commission shall

be filed with the city secretary and shall become public record.

(Ord. No. 93-6, § 1, 5-17-93; Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

5



PART I - HOME RULE CHARTER

PREAMBLE

We, the people of the City of Jersey Village, Texas establish this Charter as the basic law of our city to provide for

continuous and effective government, with latitude for our elected officers, and with safeguards to ensure the rights

and general welfare of the people.

Footnotes:

--- (1) ---

Editor's note— Printed herein is the home rule Charter, as adopted by the electors on August 9, 1986, and by Ord. No. 86-7, as

adopted by the council on August 18, 1986. Amendments to the Charter are indicated by parenthetical history notes following amended

provisions. The absence of a history note indicates that the provision remains unchanged from the original Charter. Obvious

misspellings have been corrected without notation. For stylistic purposes, a uniform system of headings, catchlines and citations to

state statutes has been used. Additions made for clarity are indicated by brackets.

ARTICLE I. - INCORPORATION, FORM OF GOVERNMENT AND POWERS

Sec. 1.01. - Incorporation.

The inhabitants of the City of Jersey Village, Harris County, Texas, residing within its corporate boundaries as

heretofore or hereafter established, are hereby constituted and shall continue to be a municipal body politic and

corporate in perpetuity under the name of the "City of Jersey Village" ("city") with such powers, privileges, rights,

duties and immunities as are herein provided.

Sec. 1.02. - Form of government.

The municipal government provided by this Charter shall be known as "Council-Manager" form of government.

Pursuant to the provisions of, and subject only to the limitations imposed by, the Constitution and laws of the State

of Texas and by this Charter, all powers of the city shall be vested in and exercised by an elective city council

("council") which shall enact ordinances, adopt budgets, determine policies, appoint the city manager, and execute

other powers and duties as prescribed in this Charter.

Sec. 1.03. - General powers.

Except as expressly limited by this Charter, the city shall have the powers granted to "Home Rule" cities by the

Constitution and laws of the State of Texas, together with all of the implied powers necessary to carry into execution

such granted powers, and in addition, all powers not denied to "Home Rule" cities by the Constitution or laws of the

State of Texas. By way of enumeration and not limitation, the city may use a corporate seal; may sue and be sued;

may contract and be contracted with; may cooperate with the government of the State of Texas or any agency or

political subdivision thereof, or with the federal government or any agency thereof, to accomplish any lawful

purpose for the advancement of the interest, welfare, health, morals, comfort, safety or convenience of the city and

its inhabitants; may acquire property within or without its corporate boundaries for any municipal purpose in fee

simple or in any lesser interest or estate by purchase, gift, devise, lease or condemnation and, subject to the

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

6



provisions of this Charter and the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas, may sell, lease, mortgage, hold,

manage, improve or control such property as may now or hereafter be owned by it; may pass ordinances and enact

such regulations as may be expedient for the maintenance of the good government, order or peace of the city or the

welfare, health, morals, comfort, safety or convenience of its inhabitants. The powers hereby conferred upon the city

shall include, but are not restricted to, the powers enumerated in Chapter 147, Page 307, Acts of the Thirty-third

Legislature of the State of Texas, Regular Session, 1913, the same being compiled as Vernon's Ann. Civ. St. art. 1165

et seq., as heretofore or hereafter amended, all of which are hereby adopted. In addition to the powers enumerated

herein, and subject only to the limitations imposed by the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas and by this

Charter, the city shall have, without the necessity of express enumeration in this Charter, each and every power

which by virtue of the Constitution of the State of Texas, including but not limited to Article XI, Section 5 thereof, the

people of the city are empowered by election to grant or to confer upon the city by expressly and specifically

granting and enumerating the same herein. All such powers, whether express or implied, shall be exercised and

enforced in the manner prescribed in this Charter or, when not prescribed herein, in such manner as shall be

provided by ordinance of the council. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this section, the enumeration of

specific powers in this Charter shall not limit any powers otherwise conferred upon the city by this Charter, except

insofar as a specific and contrary intention to limit the powers of the city may be expressed in this Charter.

Editor's note— For current provisions pertaining to the statutory citations in the above section, see V.T.C.A., Local

Government Code ch. 9, and other statutes referred to in V.T.C.A., Master Disposition Table.

Sec. 1.04. - Regulation of streets and public property.

The city shall have exclusive dominion, control and jurisdiction in, upon, over and under the public streets,

sidewalks, alleys, public squares and public ways within the corporate boundaries of the city and in, upon, over and

under all public property of the city. With respect to each and every public street, sidewalk, alley, highway, public

square, public park or other public way within the corporate boundaries of the city, the city shall have the power to

establish, maintain, improve, alter, abandon or vacate the same; to regulate, establish or change the grade thereof;

to control or regulate the use thereof; and to abate or remove in a summary manner any encroachment thereon.

Sec. 1.05. - Street development and improvement.

The city shall have the power to develop or improve, or cause to be developed or improved, any or all public

streets, sidewalks, alleys, highways and other public ways within the corporate boundaries of the city by laying out,

opening, narrowing, widening, straightening, extending, lighting or establishing building lines along the same; by

purchasing, condemning or taking property therefor; by filling, grading, raising, lowering, paving, repaving or

repairing the same in a permanent manner; and by constructing, reconstructing, altering, repairing or realigning

curbs, gutters, drains, sidewalks, culverts and other appurtenances and incidentals in connection with such

development or improvement herein authorized, or any combination or part thereof. The cost of such development

or improvement may be paid partly or entirely by assessments levied as a lien against the properties abutting

thereon and against the owners thereof, and such assessments may be levied in any amount and under any

procedure not prohibited by the laws of the State of Texas; provided, however, that no assessment shall be made

against such land or owners thereof in excess of the enhancement in value of such property occasioned by such

improvement.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

7



If improvements are ordered constructed in any part of such area used or occupied by the tracks or facilities or

[of] any railway or public utility, the council shall have the power to assess the whole cost of improvements in such

area and the added costs of improvements in areas adjacent thereto made necessary by such use or occupancy

against such railway or public utility, and shall have power by ordinance to provide for the enforcement of such

assessment.

As an alternate and cumulative method of developing, improving or paving any or all public streets, sidewalks,

alleys, highways and other public ways within its corporate boundaries, the city shall have the power and authority

to proceed in accordance with Chapter 108, page 489, Acts of the Fortieth Legislature of the State of Texas, First

Called Session, 1927, the same being compiled as Vernon's Ann. Civ. St. art. 1105, as heretofore or hereafter

amended.

Editor's note— For current statutory provisions pertaining to street improvements, see V.T.C.A., Transportation

Code ch. 311 et seq.

Sec. 1.06. - Corporate boundaries and annexation.

The council shall have the power by ordinance to fix the corporate boundaries of the city and to provide for the

alteration and extension of said corporate boundaries, the annexation of additional territory lying adjacent to the

city, and the detachment or disannexation of territory, with or without the consent of the owners and inhabitants of

the territory annexed, detached or disannexed, in any manner not inconsistent with the procedural rules prescribed

by the laws of the State of Texas, including but not limited to Chapter 160, page 447, Article 1, Acts of the Fifty-eighth

Legislature of the State of Texas, Regular Session, 1963, the same being the Municipal Annexation Act, compiled as

Vernon's Ann. Civ. St. art. 970a, as heretofore or hereafter amended. Upon the final passage of any ordinance

annexing territory, the corporate boundaries of the city shall thereafter include the territory annexed. When any

additional territory has been annexed, the same shall be a part of the city; the property situated therein shall

thereafter be subject to taxes levied by the city; and the inhabitants thereof shall be entitled to all of the rights and

privileges of all citizens, and shall be bound by this Charter and the ordinances, resolutions, rules and regulations of

the city. Upon the final passage of any ordinance detaching or disannexing territory from the city, the incorporated

area of the city shall be reduced by the territory detached or disannexed.

Editor's note— For current statutory provisions pertaining to municipal annexations, see V.T.C.A., Local Government

Code ch. 43.

Sec. 1.07. - Eminent domain.

The city shall have the full right, power and authority of eminent domain where necessary or desirable to execute

any power conferred upon it by this Charter or by the Constitution or laws of the State of Texas, and may condemn

either private or public property whether within or without the corporate boundaries of the city for such purposes,

upon payment of fair compensation for the property taken. Such power may be exercised in any manner authorized

by the Constitution or laws of the State of Texas, or as may be prescribed by ordinance. The power of eminent

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

8



domain hereby conferred shall include the right of the city to take the fee in the lands thus condemned. The city

shall have and possess the power of eminent domain for any municipal or public purpose, even though not

specifically enumerated in this Charter.

Sec. 1.09. - Reserved.

Editor's note— Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, adopted May 10, 2021, repealed § 1.09, which pertained to the limitations

on the power of council and derived from Ord. No. 2016-13, §§ 7 and 9(Exh. A), adopted May 16, 2016.

ARTICLE II. - THE COUNCIL

Sec. 2.01. - Number, selection and term of o�ce.

The council shall be composed of a mayor and five (5) other councilmembers, each of whom, unless sooner

removed under the provisions of this Charter or the laws of the State of Texas, shall serve for a term of two (2) years

or until a successor has been elected and installed. The members of the council, other than the mayor, shall be

elected to and occupy a place on the council, such places being numbered One, Two, Three, Four and Five,

respectively. Places One, Four and Five on the council shall be filled by majority vote each even-numbered year, and

places Two and Three on the council shall be filled by majority vote each odd-numbered year. The office of mayor

shall be filled by majority vote each odd-numbered year.

No person shall serve more than three (3) consecutive two-year terms as mayor, nor more than four (4)

consecutive two-year terms as councilmember or a combination of mayor/councilmember. Any portion of a term

served shall count as one (1) term in calculating the total number of consecutive terms served. No person who has

served four (4) consecutive terms as councilmember or mayor/councilmember shall hold office as mayor within the

one-year period following the said four (4) terms of service.

(Ord. No. 93-6, § 1, 5-17-93; Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

Sec. 2.02. - Quali�cations and limitations.

Each member of the council shall be qualified to vote in city elections; shall be a resident of and have resided in

the city for a continuous period of not less than one year preceding the date of election, or of appointment under

Section 2.03 of this Charter; and shall not be in arrears in the payment of taxes to the city. No member of the council

shall hold any other office or employment under the city government while a member of the council, nor shall any

member of council hold any paid employment under the city government within two years thereafter. The council

shall be the sole judge of the qualifications and election of its members.

Sec. 2.03. - Vacancies.

Vacancies on the council arising from any cause shall be filled by a vote of the council. The person appointed to fill

any such vacancy shall possess all qualifications required for the office. There shall not be more than one (1)

appointee on [the] council at any given time. If two (2) or more vacancies, or one (1) or more vacancies together with

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

9

https://library.municode.com/


one (1) appointee exist at the same time, a special election shall be called to fill said vacancies and replace said

appointee. However, if such vacancies occur within one hundred twenty (120) days of a regular election, such

vacancies shall be filled by appointment by vote of the council. A council position filled by appointment shall be filled

by election at the next city general election for the remaining year of the unexpired term or for the next full term, as

the case may be. A member of the council shall be disqualified for office if the person fails to meet the qualifications

of office or if the person is absent from three (3) consecutive or five (5) nonconsecutive regular council meetings per

two-year term. Upon determination by vote of the council that a member of the council is disqualified for office, the

office shall be vacant. No action taken by the council prior to such vote shall be invalid because of such

disqualification.

(Ord. No. 93-6, § 1, 5-17-93; Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

Sec. 2.04. - Compensation.

The mayor and other councilmembers shall be entitled to such compensation as may be established or changed

from time to time by the council; provided, however, that no implementation or increase in compensation shall take

effect until approved by a majority of the voters in the next regular city election. The mayor and other

councilmembers shall be entitled, with approval by council, to reimbursement for reasonable expenses incurred in

the performance of their official duties.

Sec. 2.05. - Mayor and mayor pro tem.

The mayor shall preside at all meetings of the council and shall be recognized as head of the city government for

all ceremonial purposes, for the purpose of receiving service of civil process, for emergency purposes, and for

military purposes; but the mayor shall have no regular administrative duties. The mayor shall perform other such

duties and possess and exercise such other duty and authority as may be prescribed and conferred by the council.

The mayor shall be entitled to vote only in case of a tie vote by the council. The mayor shall have no veto power.

At its first meeting following the general municipal election each year, the council shall elect one of its members

as mayor pro tem, who shall hold such office during the pleasure of the council. The mayor pro tem shall act as

mayor during the absence or disability of the mayor and shall have power to perform every act the mayor could

perform; provided, however, that the mayor pro tem shall be entitled to vote upon all matters considered by the

council. If the mayor and the mayor pro tem are absent from a meeting, the council shall elect an attending member

to preside over such meeting.

Sec. 2.06. - Powers of the council.

All powers and authority which are expressly or impliedly conferred on or possessed by the city shall be vested in

and exercised by the council; provided, however, that the council shall have no power to exercise those powers

which are expressly conferred upon other city officers by this Charter.

Sec. 2.07. - Investigations.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

10



The council shall have the power to investigate the official conduct of any department, agency, office, officer or

employee of the city, and for such purpose shall have the power to administer oaths, subpoena witnesses, and

compel the production of books, papers and other evidence material to the investigation. The council shall, by

ordinance, provide penalties for contempt in failing or refusing to obey any such subpoena or to produce any such

books, papers or other evidence, and shall have the power to punish such contempt in the manner provided by such

ordinance.

Sec. 2.08. - Interference in administrative or personnel matters.

Neither the council nor any of its members shall instruct or request the city manager or any of the city manager's

subordinates to appoint to or remove from office or employment any person. Except for the purposes of

investigation under Section 2.07 of this Charter or obtaining information, the council and its members shall deal with

the administrative service of the city solely through the city manager and shall not give orders to any of the city

manager's subordinates, either publicly or privately.

Sec. 2.09. - Meetings of the council.

There shall be at least one regular meeting of the council each month. All meetings shall be public, except where

permitted by law to be closed in whole or part to the public, and shall be held at the city hall or other public place in

the city. Special meetings may be called at any time by the city secretary upon request of the mayor, the city

manager or three members of the council.

Sec. 2.10. - Rules of procedure.

The council may determine its own rules and order of business. A majority of the members of the council,

excluding the mayor, shall constitute a quorum for all meetings for the transaction of all business. All actions of the

council shall be by majority vote. The council may adopt such rules and prescribe such penalties as it may deem

proper to enforce the attendance of its members at all regular and special meetings of the council or its committees.

Minutes of all meetings of the council shall be taken and recorded, and such minutes shall constitute a public record.

Sec. 2.11. - Procedure to enact ordinances.

The council shall legislate by ordinance. The enacting clause of every ordinance shall be, "Be it ordained by the

city council of the City of Jersey Village." Every ordinance enacted by the council shall be signed by the mayor, the

mayor pro tem or by two members of the council and shall be filed with and recorded by the city secretary. Every

ordinance shall take effect immediately upon its passage, unless otherwise provided by law or by the terms of such

ordinance.

Sec. 2.12. - Publication of ordinances and other required public notices.

Except as otherwise required by law or this Charter, the city secretary shall give notice of the enactment of every

ordinance imposing any penalty, fine or forfeiture for any violation of any of its provisions, and of every other

ordinance required by law or this Charter to be published, by causing said ordinance, or its caption and penalty, to

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

11

https://library.municode.com/


be published (i) at least one time within ten (10) days after passage thereof in the official newspaper of the city or (ii)

by posting on the municipal bulletin board for City Council agendas at City Hall and on the city's internet website

continuously for twenty (20) days after passage. Except as otherwise provided by law or this Charter, any

requirement of the city council, or any board, department or official of the city, to provide notice with respect to any

real or personal property, act, event, hearing, or other occurrence, by advertisement or notice, publication of such

advertisement or notice on the municipal bulletin board and on the city's internet website, continuously for at least

seventy two (72) hours or for such other longer time frame for advertisement or prescribed by law, if any, shall be

sufficient public notice. The affidavit of publication by the publisher of such newspaper, taken before any officer

authorized to administer oaths and filed with the city secretary, shall be conclusive proof of the legal publication and

promulgation of such ordinance in all courts.

(Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

Sec. 2.13. - Code of ordinances.

The council shall have the power to cause all general ordinances of the city to be compiled and printed in code

form. Every general ordinance enacted subsequent to such codification shall be enacted as an amendment to the

code. The council shall cause all general ordinances to be codified, recodified or reprinted whenever in its discretion

such is deemed desirable, or when such codification, recodification or reprinting is required by law. When adopted

by the council, the printed code of general ordinances contemplated by this section shall be in full force and effect

without the necessity of such code or any part thereof being published in any manner. The caption, descriptive

clause or other formal parts of the ordinances of the city may be omitted without affecting the validity of such

ordinances when they are published as a code.

Sec. 2.14. - O�cial bonds for city employees.

Such city officers and employees as the council may require shall, before entering upon the duties of their offices

or employment of the city, enter into good and sufficient fidelity bonds acceptable to the council and in sums to be

determined by the council, payable to the city and conditioned upon the faithful discharge of the duties of such

persons and upon the faithful accounting of all monies, credits and things of value coming into the hands of such

persons. Such bonds shall be signed as surety by companies authorized to do business under the laws of the State of

Texas, and the premiums on such bonds shall be paid by the city.

Sec. 2.15. - Audit and examination of city books and accounts.

The council shall cause an annual audit to be made of the books and accounts of the city. At the close of each

fiscal year, a complete audit shall be made by a certified public accountant, who shall be selected by the council.

Such audit shall include a recapitulation of all audits made during the course of the fiscal year. All audit reports shall

be filed with the council, shall be available for public inspection, and shall be made a part of the official records of

the city. Such accountant shall not maintain or keep any of the city's accounts or records nor be an officer or

employee of the city.

ARTICLE III. - ELECTIONS

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

12



Sec. 3.01. - Regular elections.

The regular election of members of the council to the positions to be filled on the council shall be held on the first

election date authorized by state law on or after the first day of April of each year at a place or places designated by

the council by ordinance. At every such election such voter shall not vote for more than one (1) candidate for each

council position to be filled. Such election shall be ordered by the mayor, and in the event of the mayor's failure to

order the same, the council shall make such order. In the event of the failure of the mayor and the council to so act,

such election may be called by the city secretary; and in the event of the city secretary's failure to act, by the County

Judge of Harris County, Texas; and in the event of the County Judge's failure to act, by the Governor of the State of

Texas. The city secretary shall give such notice of the election as may be prescribed by law.

(Ord No. 93-6, § 1, 5-17-93; Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

State Law reference— Uniform election dates, V.T.C.A., Election Code § 41.001.

Sec. 3.02. - Special elections.

The council may by ordinance or resolution call such special elections as are authorized by the Constitution and

laws of the State of Texas or by this Charter; fix the date, time and place of holding same; and provide all means for

holding such special elections; provided, however, that every special election shall be called and held as nearly as

practicable according to the provisions governing regular elections.

Sec. 3.03. - Filing for o�ce.

Any person qualified to serve under the provisions of Article II hereof may be a candidate for election to a

position on the council. A person who desires to be a candidate for an elective position on the city council shall file

an application with the city secretary within the time prescribed by law. Such application shall clearly designate the

desired position on the council and shall contain a sworn statement by the person that the person is fully qualified

under the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas and the provisions of this Charter to hold the office sought.

The names of all candidates who have filed for office shall be printed on the official ballot by position without party

designations, in an order as provided by law.

(Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

Sec. 3.04. - Elections by majority and runo� elections.

At every election to fill one or more positions on the council, election to each position shall be by a majority of all

the votes cast at such election for such position. In the event no candidate receives a majority of all the votes cast at

such election for any such position, immediately upon declaring the official results of the election, the mayor or the

council shall order a runoff election for every position to which no person was elected. The city secretary shall give

notice of such runoff election as may be prescribed by law. The two candidates who received the highest number of

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

13



votes for any position to which no person was elected in the election shall be voted on in the runoff election,

appearing on the runoff ballot in the same order as they appeared on the ballot in the preceding election. The

candidate who receives the majority of all the votes cast at such runoff election for such position shall be elected.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 3.05. - Noti�cation and installation of elected o�cers.

The city secretary shall notify all persons elected to office of their election. All persons duly elected shall take

office at the first meeting of the council following the runoff election, if one is required. If no runoff election is

required, all of said officers shall take office at the first meeting of the council following the general election.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

ARTICLE IV. - INITIATIVE, REFERENDUM AND RECALL

Sec. 4.01. - Power of initiative.

The people of the city reserve the power of direct legislation by initiative, and in the exercise of such power may

propose any ordinance (except annexation ordinances, zoning ordinances, ordinances appropriating money or

levying taxes, ordinances repealing zoning ordinances, or ordinances repealing ordinances appropriating money or

levying taxes) not in conflict with this Charter or the Constitution or laws of the State of Texas. Any initiated

ordinance may be submitted to the council by a petition signed by at least fifteen (15) percent of the qualified voters

of the city.

Sec. 4.02. - Power of referendum.

The people of the city reserve the power to approve or reject at the polls any legislation enacted by the council

which is subject to the initiative process under this Charter, except that ordinances authorizing the issuance of either

tax or revenue bonds, whether original or refunding bonds, shall not be subject to such referendum. Prior to or

within sixty (60) days after the effective date of any ordinance which is subject to referendum, a petition signed by at

least fifteen (15) percent of the qualified voters of the city may be filed with the city secretary requesting that any

such ordinance be either repealed or submitted to a vote of the people. When such a petition has been certified in

writing as sufficient by the city secretary, the ordinance specified in the petition shall not go into effect, or further

action thereon shall be suspended if it shall have gone into effect, until and unless it is approved by the voters as

herein provided.

Sec. 4.03. - Form of petitions.

An initiative petition and a referendum petition shall meet the requirements for petitions of the Texas Election

Code.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

14



Sec. 4.04. - Filing, examination and certi�cation of petitions.

Within thirty (30) days after an initiative or referendum petition is filed, the city secretary shall examine the

petition and certify as to its sufficiency. The city secretary shall declare void any petition which does not have an

affidavit attached thereto as required in Section 4.03 of this Article. In examining the petition, the city secretary shall

write the letters "D.V." (declared void) in red ink opposite the names of signatories found not qualified. If the city

secretary certifies the petition as insufficient, the city secretary shall notify the petitioner in writing. Such insufficient

petition may be amended within forty-five (45) days from the date of original filing by submitting a supplementary

petition upon additional papers signed and filed as provided for in the original petition. Within thirty (30) days after

such amendment is filed, the city secretary shall examine the amended petition and certify as to its sufficiency. If the

amended petition is then found to be insufficient, no further proceedings shall be had with regard to it. The city

secretary shall report the status of any petition to the council at each regular council meeting.

Sec. 4.05. - Council consideration and submission to voters.

When the council receives an authorized initiative petition certified in writing by the city secretary to be sufficient,

the council shall (a) pass the initiated ordinance without amendment within thirty (30) days after the date of

presentation of written certification to the council; or (b) submit said initiated ordinance without amendment to a

vote of the qualified voters of the city at a regular or special election to be held on the first election day permitted by

law which is not less than thirty (30) days after the date of presentation of written certification to the council; or (c)

submit to a vote of the qualified voters of the city said initiated ordinance, without amendment, and an alternative

ordinance on the same subject proposed by the council. Should both such ordinances be approved by a majority of

the votes cast at such election, the ordinance receiving the higher number of votes shall become effective as an

ordinance of the city; the other ordinance shall be deemed rejected and shall not become effective.

When the council receives an authorized referendum petition certified in writing by the city secretary to be

sufficient, the council shall reconsider the referred ordinance. If upon reconsideration such ordinance is not

repealed within thirty (30) days, it shall be submitted to the qualified voters of the city at a regular or special election

to be held on the first election day permitted by law which is not less than thirty (30) days after the date of

presentation of written certification to the council.

Special elections on initiated or referred ordinances shall not be held more frequently than once each six months.

No ordinance on the same subject as an initiated ordinance which has been defeated or on the same subject as a

referred ordinance which has been approved at any election may be initiated or referred by the voters within two

years from the date of such election.

Sec. 4.06. - Results of election.

Any number of ordinances may be voted on at the same election in accordance with the provisions of this article.

If a majority of the votes cast is in favor of an initiated ordinance, it shall thereupon be effective as an ordinance of

the city. An ordinance thus adopted may be repealed or amended at any time after the expiration of one year by

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

15

https://library.municode.com/


vote of the council. A referred ordinance which is rejected by a majority of the votes cast in a referendum election

shall be deemed thereupon repealed. An ordinance thus rejected may be reenacted at any time after the expiration

of one year by vote of the council.

Sec. 4.07. - Power of recall.

The people of the city reserve the power to recall any elected officer of the city and may exercise such power by

filing with the city secretary a petition, signed by at least thirty (30) percent of the qualified voters of the city,

demanding the removal of such elected officer. The petition shall be signed and verified in the manner required for

an initiative petition.

Sec. 4.08. - Recall election.

The provisions of this article regulating examination, certification and amendment of initiative petitions shall

apply to recall petitions. If the petition is certified in writing by the city secretary to be sufficient, the council shall

order and hold an election within forty-five (45) days to determine whether such officer shall be recalled.

Sec. 4.09. - Results of recall election.

If the majority of the votes cast at a recall election are for the recall of the officer named on the ballot, the office

shall be vacant and shall be filled as specified in Article II of this Charter. An officer thus removed shall not be eligible

to hold elective or appointive office in the city for a period of two years from the date of such recall election.

(Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

Sec. 4.10. - Limitation on recall.

No recall petition shall be filed against an officer within six months after the person takes office, and no officer

shall be subjected to more than one recall election during any one term of office.

(Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

ARTICLE V. - ADMINISTRATIVE ORGANIZATION

Sec. 5.01. - City manager.

The council shall appoint a city manager, who shall be the chief administrative and executive officer of the city.

The city manager shall be chosen by the council on the basis of the person's executive and administrative training,

experience and ability.

The city manager shall be appointed for an indefinite term, and may be removed at the will of the council. The

decision of the council as to such appointment or removal shall be final. The city manager shall receive such

compensation as may be fixed by the council. No member of the council shall, during the term for which the

member is elected and for two years thereafter, be chosen as city manager.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

16



(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

By letter filed with the city secretary, the city manager may designate, subject to council approval, a qualified city

administrative officer to be acting city manager during the city manager's temporary absences or disabilities. The

council may revoke such designation at any time and appoint another person acting city manager to serve during

such times; and if the city manager fails to make such designation, the council may appoint an acting city manager to

serve during such times. The council may remove an acting city manager at any time.

(Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

Sec. 5.02. - Powers and duties of city manager.

The city manager shall be responsible to the council for the efficient and economical administration of the city

government. Except as otherwise provided by this Charter, the city manager shall have the authority to hire and

terminate all employees of the city. The city manager may authorize the head of any department to appoint and

remove subordinates in that department. Except for the purposes of investigation under Section 2.07 of this Charter

or of obtaining information, the council and its members shall deal with employees through the city manager.

The city manager shall:

Prepare and submit annually to council a proposed budget and administer the budget after its

adoption;

Advise the council of the financial condition and future financial needs of the city;

Recommend to the council the salaries to be paid to each appointed officer and employee of the city;

Recommend to the council in writing actions or policies the city manager considers desirable;

Attend all meetings of the council, with the right to take part in discussion but with no vote;

Administer the enforcement of all city ordinances; and

Perform all other duties directed by the council and not inconsistent with this Charter.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 5.03. - Administrative departments.

There shall be such administrative departments as are established by this Charter and as may be established by

ordinance, all of which shall be under the control and direction of the city manager. The council may abolish or

combine one or more departments, except that no function assigned by this Charter to a particular department,

office or agency may be discontinued or, unless this Charter specifically so provides, assigned to any other.

Sec. 5.04. - Directors of departments.

At the head of each department there shall be a director. Such directors shall have supervision and control over

their respective departments and may serve as chiefs of divisions within their respective departments. Two or more

departments may be headed by the same individual, and the city manager may head one or more departments.

Sec. 5.05. - City secretary.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

17

https://library.municode.com/


The council shall appoint a city secretary. The city secretary shall be entitled to compensation for services as

established by the council and shall serve at the pleasure of the council. With approval of the council, the city

secretary shall appoint assistant city secretaries in number as approved by the council. The city secretary or an

assistant city secretary shall give notice of council meetings; shall keep the minutes of proceedings of council

meetings; shall authenticate by signature and record in full, in a book kept and indexed for that purpose, all

ordinances and resolutions; shall hold and maintain the city seal, and affix the seal to all instruments requiring it;

and shall perform other duties required by the council, city manager, this Charter or the laws of the State of Texas.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 5.06. - City attorney.

The council shall appoint an attorney, licensed to practice law in the State of Texas, to be the city attorney. The

city attorney shall be entitled to compensation for services as established by the council and shall serve at the

pleasure of the council. The city attorney, or other attorneys selected by the city attorney with approval of the

council, shall represent the city in all litigation and other legal matters. The city attorney shall be the legal advisor to

the city and counsel for the city and all its officers and departments in the conduct of city business. The council may

retain special counsel at any time it deems the same appropriate or necessary.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 5.07. - Municipal court.

There is established and shall be maintained a court or courts, designated the "Municipal Court of the City of

Jersey Village," for the trial of misdemeanor offenses with all powers and duties granted by the laws of the State of

Texas.

The judge(s) of each court shall be appointed by the council for a term of office of two years beginning on January

1 of even-numbered years. Any such judge may be removed from office by the council for incompetency, misconduct

or malfeasance. Each such judge shall be an attorney licensed to practice law in the State of Texas and shall be

entitled to compensation as established by the council.

There shall be a municipal court clerk appointed by the council for a term of two years to run concurrently with

the term of the judge. Such clerk and any deputy clerks appointed by the clerk, with approval of the council, shall

have the power to administer oaths, make certificates, affix the seal of the court, and perform all acts usual and

necessary in issuing process and conducting business of the court.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

ARTICLE VI. - FINANCE

Sec. 6.01. - Fiscal year.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

18



The fiscal year of the city shall be as established by ordinance of the council. In the event the council does not

thus establish the fiscal year, the fiscal year of the city shall begin on the first day of each October and end on the

last day of September of the following year. All funds collected by the city during any fiscal year, including both

current and delinquent revenues, shall belong to such fiscal year and, except for funds derived to pay interest and

create a sinking fund on the bonded indebtedness of the city, may be applied to the payments of expenses incurred

during such fiscal year, except as provided in this Charter. Any revenues uncollected at the end of any fiscal year,

and any unencumbered funds actually on hand, shall become resources of the next succeeding fiscal year.

Sec. 6.02. - Annual budget.

The annual budget must specify appropriations for capital expenditures and for expenditures directed by council

for services and for the operation of the city. It must comply with fund requirements of bond covenants. City

department directors and officers shall submit budget requests for the next fiscal year to and as directed by the city

manager for review and consolidation. The city manager shall submit a proposed annual budget to the council at

least forty-five (45) days prior to the end of each fiscal year.

Before taxes are levied, but after a public hearing or hearings, [the] council shall adopt an annual budget. [The]

council may amend the proposed budget, but shall not delete or decrease appropriations required for debt service,

and shall not authorize expenditures in excess of the total of estimated income plus funds available from earlier

years.

If the council fails to adopt an annual budget before the start of the fiscal year to which it applies, appropriations

of the last budget adopted shall be considered as adopted for the current fiscal year on a month to month, pro rata

basis until the annual budget is adopted.

State Law reference— Municipal budget, V.T.C.A., Local Government Code ch. 102.

Sec. 6.03. - Appropriations.

From the effective date of the budget, the several amounts stated therein as proposed expenditures shall be and

become appropriated to the several objects and purposes named therein. Except as provided in this article, no funds

of the city shall be expended, nor shall any obligation for the expenditure of money be incurred, except pursuant to

the annual appropriation ordinance provided for in this article. At the close of each fiscal year any unencumbered

balance of an appropriation shall revert to the fund from which appropriated and become available for

reappropriation for the next fiscal year. The council may transfer any unencumbered appropriation balance or

portion thereof from one office, department or agency to another, at any time. The city manager shall have

authority, without council approval, to transfer appropriation balances from one expenditure account to another

within a single office, department or agency of the city.

Sec. 6.04. - Contingent appropriation.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

19



Provision shall be made in the annual budget for a contingent appropriation in an amount not more than ten (10)

percent of the total budget. Such contingent appropriation shall be under the control of the city manager and

distributed by the city manager, after approval by the council. Expenditures from this appropriation shall be made

only in the event of established emergencies, and a detailed account of such expenditures shall be recorded and

reported.

Sec. 6.05. - Borrowing in anticipation of property taxes.

In any fiscal year, in anticipation of the collection of the ad valorem property tax for such year, whether levied or

to be levied in such year, the council may by ordinance or resolution authorize the borrowing of money, not to

exceed in any fiscal year an amount equal to ten (10) percent of the budget for such fiscal year. Such borrowing shall

be by the issuance of negotiable notes of the city, each of which shall be designated "tax anticipation note for the

year ___ " (stating the tax year). Such notes shall mature and be payable not later than the end of the fiscal year in

which issued, and may be secured by the pledge of the ad valorem property taxes for such year.

Sec. 6.06. - General obligation bonds.

The city shall have the power to borrow money on the credit of the city and to issue general obligation bonds for

permanent public improvements or for any other public purpose not prohibited by the Constitution and laws of the

State of Texas, and to issue refunding bonds to refund outstanding bonds of the city previously issued. All such

bonds shall be issued in conformity with the laws of the State of Texas.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 6.07. - Revenue bonds.

The city shall have the power to borrow money for the purpose of constructing, purchasing, improving, extending

or repairing public utilities, recreational facilities or any other self-liquidating municipal function not prohibited by

the Constitution or laws of the State of Texas, and to issue revenue bonds to evidence the obligation created

thereby. Such bonds shall be a charge upon and payable solely from the properties, or interest therein, pledged, or

the income therefrom, or both, and shall never be a debt of the city. All such bonds shall be issued in conformity

with the laws of the State of Texas.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 6.08. - Sale of bonds.

No bonds (other than refunding bonds issued to refund and in exchange for previously issued outstanding bonds)

issued by the city shall be sold for less than ninety-five (95) percent of par value and accrued interest. All bonds of

the city having been issued and sold in accordance with the terms of this section, and having been delivered to the

purchasers thereof, shall thereafter be incontestable, and all bonds issued to refund and in exchange for

outstanding bonds previously issued shall, after said exchange, be incontestable.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

20



(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

ARTICLE VII. - TAXATION

Sec. 7.01. - Powers of taxation.

The city, for any municipal purpose, shall have the power to levy, assess and collect taxes of every type and

character not prohibited by the Constitution or laws of the State of Texas.

Sec. 7.02. - Arrears of taxes o�set to debt against city.

The city shall be entitled to counterclaim and offset against any debt, claim, demand or account owed by the city

to any person, firm or corporation who or which is in arrears to the city for taxes, in the amount of taxes in arrears.

No assignment or transfer of such debt, claim, demand or account after the said taxes are due shall affect the right

of the city to so offset the said taxes against the same.

ARTICLE VIII. - FRANCHISES AND PUBLIC UTILITIES

Sec. 8.01. - Inalienability of control of public property.

The right of control and use of the public streets, highways, sidewalks, alleys, parks, public squares and public

places of the city is hereby declared to be inalienable by the city, except by ordinances not in conflict with the

provisions of this Charter. No act or omission by the council or any officer, employee or agent of the city shall be

construed to grant, renew, extend or amend, expressly or by estoppel or implication, any right, franchise, or

easement affecting said public streets, highways, sidewalks, alleys, parks, public squares, public places or other real

property, except as provided in this Charter.

Sec. 8.02. - Power to grant franchise.

The council shall have the power by ordinance to grant, renew or extend franchises of all public utilities of every

character operating within the city and, with the consent of the franchise holder, to amend the same. However, no

franchise shall be granted for an indeterminate term, and no franchise shall be granted for a term of more than fifty

(50) years.

State Law reference— Public Utility Regulatory Act of 1995, Vernon's Ann. Civ. St. art. 1446c-O.

Sec. 8.03. - Ordinance granting franchise.

Every ordinance granting, renewing, extending or amending a public utility franchise shall be read at three regular

meetings of the council prior to approval. Within ten (10) days following the first reading of the ordinance, the full

text thereof shall be published in the official newspaper of the city, and the cost of such publication shall be paid by

the prospective franchise holder.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

21



Sec. 8.04. - Transfer of franchise.

No public utility franchise shall be transferred or assigned by the holder thereof except with the approval of the

council expressed by ordinance.

ARTICLE IX. - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Sec. 9.01. - O�cial oath.

Before entering upon the duties of their respective offices, all officers of the city shall take and subscribe the

official oath prescribed in the Constitution of the State of Texas.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.02. - Public records.

All public records of every office, department, agency or other entity of the city shall be open to inspection by any

citizen at all reasonable times; provided that any records not required by law to be available for public inspection

shall not be considered public records for the purpose of this section.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.03. - O�cial newspaper.

The council shall have power to contract with, and by ordinance or resolution designate, a public newspaper of

general circulation in the city as the official newspaper thereof and to continue as such until another is designated,

and shall cause to be published therein all ordinances, notices and other matters required to be published by this

Charter, by the ordinances of the city, or by the Constitution or laws of the State of Texas.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.04. - Tort liability.

Before the city shall be liable for damages for the death or personal injuries of any person or for damages to or

destruction of property of any kind, which does not constitute a taking or damaging of property under Article I,

Section 17, Constitution of the State of Texas, the person injured, if living, or the person's legal representatives, if

deceased, or the parent or guardian of a minor child, or the owner, the owner's agent or attorney of the property

damaged or destroyed, shall give the city manager notice in writing of such death, injury, damage or destruction,

duly verified by affidavit, within six months after same has been sustained, stating specifically in such written notice

when, where and how the death, injury, damage or destruction occurred, and the apparent extent of any such injury,

the amount of damages sustained, the actual residence of the claimant by street and number at the date the claim is

presented, the actual residence of such claimant for six months immediately preceding the occurrence of such

death, injury, damage or destruction, and the names and addresses of all witnesses upon whom it is relied to

establish the claim for damages. The failure to so notify the city manager within the time and manner specified

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

22



herein shall exonerate, excuse and exempt the city from any liability whatsoever. No act of any officer, employee or

agent of the city shall waive compliance, or preclude the city from requiring compliance, with the provisions of this

section as to notice.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05; Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

State Law reference— Notice of claim, V.T.C.A., Civil Practice and Remedies Code § 101.101.

Sec. 9.05. - Assignment, execution and garnishment.

The property, real and personal, belonging to the city shall not be liable for sale or appropriation under any writ

of execution. The funds belonging to the city, in the hands of any person, firm or corporation, shall not be liable to

garnishment on account of any debt it may owe or funds or property it may have on hand or owing to any person.

Neither the city nor any of its officers, employees or agents shall be required to answer any such right of

garnishment on any account whatever. The city shall not be obligated to recognize any assignment of wages or funds

by any of its officers, employees, agents or contractors.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.06. - Security or bond not required.

It shall not be necessary in any action, lawsuit or proceeding, in which the city shall be a party, for any bond,

undertaking or security to be executed on behalf of the city; but all actions, lawsuits, and proceedings shall be

conducted in the same manner as if such bond, undertaking or security had been given. The city shall have all

remedies by appeal, as provided by law, to all courts of this state without bond or security of any kind. For all the

purposes of such actions, lawsuits, proceedings and appeals, the city shall be liable in the same manner, and to the

same extent, as if the bond, undertaking or security in ordinary cases had been given and executed.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.07. - Personal interest in city business.

No member of the council or employee of the city shall personally engage in any business with the city nor shall

have any financial interest, direct or indirect, in any commercial entity doing business with the city. The provisions of

this section relating to financial interest in such commercial entity shall not apply when the ownership share of such

councilmember or city employee is less than one percent of such entity. Any willful violation of this section shall

constitute malfeasance in office, and any such councilmember or city employee guilty thereof shall thereby forfeit

the person's position or employment. Any violation of this section with the express or implied knowledge of the

person or entity doing business with the city shall render the contract voidable by the council.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05; Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

Sec. 9.08. - Health, life and accident insurance for city employees.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

23



The council shall have the power, exercisable in its discretion, and subject to such limitations and regulations as it

shall deem proper, to create, operate, amend and contract for an insurance plan or plans covering health, life and

accident insurance, or any of them, for any or all city employees and their dependents, and to pay the premiums, or

a portion thereof, therefor.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.09. - Boards, agencies and commissions.

The council shall have the authority to establish by ordinance such boards, agencies and commissions as it may

deem necessary or desirable for the conduct of the city's business and the management of its affairs. The

membership, authority, duties, functions and responsibilities of such boards, agencies and commissions shall be

such as are specified by ordinance. The authority, duties, functions and responsibilities thus granted to and

conferred on such boards, agencies and commissions shall not be incompatible with the provisions of this Charter

and shall in no manner conflict with, usurp or transfer any privilege, authority, duty, function or responsibility

specifically granted herein or by the laws of the State of Texas to another office, board, agency or commission of the

city.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.10. - Judicial notice.

This Charter shall be deemed a public act; shall have the force and effect of a general law; may be read in

evidence without pleading or proof; and judicial notice shall be taken hereof in all courts and places without further

proof.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.11. - Severability clause.

If any section or part of a section of this Charter is held to be invalid or unconstitutional by a court of competent

jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not invalidate or impair the validity, force or effect of any other section or part of a

section of this Charter.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.12. - E�ect of headings and numeration.

All headings and numeration in this Charter for its respective articles, sections and subsections are provided for

the sole purpose of convenient reference, and shall have no substantive legal effect.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.13. - Charter amendment.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

24



(a)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(b)

(c)

This Charter may be amended in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.14. - Charter review commission.

The council shall appoint a Charter review commission ("commission") no later than July 1996 and at least every

four (4) years thereafter. The commission shall consist of seven (7) members and three (3) alternate members, all to

be citizens of the City of Jersey Village.

Duties of the commission:

Inquire into the operation of the city government under the provisions of the Charter. To this end,

public hearings may be held and the commission shall have the power to request the attendance

of any officer or employee of the city and require the submission of any of the city records

deemed necessary to conduct such hearing.

Propose any recommendations deemed desirable to ensure compliance with the provisions of the

Charter by the several departments of the city government.

Propose, if desirable, amendments to the Charter to improve the effective application of the

Charter to current conditions.

Report its finding(s) and proposed amendments, if any, to the council.

Action by the council: The council shall receive and publish any report presented by the commission.

Term of office: The term of office of such commission shall be six (6) months or longer if extended by

the council and, at the completion of such term, a report of the proceedings of the commission shall

be filed with the city secretary and shall become public record.

(Ord. No. 93-6, § 1, 5-17-93; Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

CHARTER COMPARATIVE TABLE

This table shows the disposition of legislation affecting the Home Rule Charter of the City of Jersey Village, Texas.

Ordinance

Number

Adoption

 Date

Referendum

  Date

Section Disposition

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

25



86-7  8-18-86  8- 9-86 1 §§ 1.01—

1.07,

2.01—2.15,

3.01—3.09,

4.01—4.10,

5.01—5.08,

6.01—6.10,

7.01—7.02,

8.01—8.04,

9.01—9.16

93-6  5-17-93  5- 1-93 1 §§ 2.01,

2.03,

3.01,

5.05.2,

5.05.5,

9.17

05-14  5-16-05  5- 7-05 1 §§ 3.04—

3.09

4.03

5.02—5.08

6.06—6.10

9.01—9.17

2016-13  5-16-16  5- 7-16 7, 9

(Exh. A)      

Added

§ 1.09

2021-21  5-10-2021  5- 1-2021 Exh. A       Rpld 1.08, 1.09

Exh. A 2.01

2.03

2.12

3.01

3.03

4.09, 4.10

5.01

9.04

9.07

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

26

https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/


LOCAL GOVERNMENT CODE

TITLE 2. ORGANIZATION OF MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENT

SUBTITLE A. TYPES OF MUNICIPALITIES

CHAPTER 9. HOME-RULE MUNICIPALITY

Sec. 9.001.  ADOPTION OR AMENDMENT OF HOME-RULE CHARTER.  This chapter 

applies to the adoption or amendment of a municipal charter by a municipality 

authorized to do so by Article XI, Section 5, of the Texas Constitution.

Acts 1987, 70th Leg., ch. 149, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 1987.

Sec. 9.0015.  DEFINITION.  In this chapter, "climate charter" means a 

charter provision or charter amendment establishing a comprehensive rule or 

policy statement that purports to address climate change or the municipality's 

environmental impact, including water and energy use and air pollution.

Added by Acts 2023, 88th Leg., R.S., Ch. 360 (S.B. 1860), Sec. 1, eff. September 

1, 2023.

Sec. 9.002.  SELECTION OF CHARTER COMMISSION.  (a)  The governing body of 

the municipality may, by an ordinance adopted by at least a two-thirds vote of 

its membership, order an election by the voters of the municipality on the 

question:  "Shall a commission be chosen to frame a new charter?"  The governing 

body shall by ordinance order the election if presented with a petition signed by 

at least 10 percent of the qualified voters of the municipality.

(b)  The election ordinance shall provide for the election to be held on the 

date of the municipality's next general election scheduled after the 30th day but 

on or before the 90th day after the date the ordinance is adopted.  However, if 

no general election is scheduled during that period that allows sufficient time 

to comply with other requirements of law, the election shall be ordered for the 

first authorized uniform election date prescribed by the Election Code that 

allows sufficient time to comply with other requirements of law and that occurs 

after the 30th day after the date the ordinance is adopted and published in a 

newspaper published in the municipality.

(c)  The ballot at the election on the question prescribed by Subsection (a) 

shall also provide for the election from the municipality at large of a charter 

commission to draft a charter if a majority of the qualified voters voting on the 

question of choosing a charter commission approve the question.  The commission 

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

27

https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/GetStatute.aspx?Code=CN&Value=11.5
http://www.legis.state.tx.us/tlodocs/88R/billtext/html/SB01860F.HTM


must consist of at least 15 members, but if it has more than 15 members it may 

not have more than one member for each 3,000 inhabitants of the municipality.  

The ballot may not contain any party designation.

(d)  The provisions of Subsections (a), (b), and (c) regarding the selection 

of a charter commission do not apply to the first charter election in a 

municipality if:

(1)(A) the governing body of the municipality selects a charter 

commission;

(B)  a charter commission is selected at a mass meeting;  or

(C)  the mayor of the municipality appoints a charter commission;  

and

(2)  the charter commission has proceeded with the formation of a 

charter for the municipality.

Acts 1987, 70th Leg., ch. 149, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 1987.

Sec. 9.003.  VOTE ON CHARTER.  (a)  Except as provided by Section 9.0045, 

the charter prepared by the charter commission shall be submitted to the 

qualified voters of the municipality at an election to be held on the first 

authorized uniform election date prescribed by the Election Code that allows 

sufficient time to comply with other requirements of law and that occurs on or 

after the 40th day after the date the charter commission completes its work.  The 

governing body of the municipality shall provide for the submission of the 

charter at the election to the extent that the provisions for submission are not 

prescribed by general law.

(b)  Before the 30th day before the date of the election, the governing body 

of the municipality shall order the municipal clerk or the municipal secretary to 

mail a copy of the proposed charter to each registered voter of the municipality.

(c)  The charter commission shall prepare the charter so that to the extent 

practicable each subject may be voted on separately.

Acts 1987, 70th Leg., ch. 149, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 1987.  Amended by Acts 1989, 

71st Leg., ch. 1, Sec. 87(b), eff. Aug. 28, 1989.

Amended by: 

Acts 2023, 88th Leg., R.S., Ch. 360 (S.B. 1860), Sec. 2, eff. September 1, 

2023.

Sec. 9.004.  CHARTER AMENDMENTS.  (a)  Except as provided by Section 9.0045, 

the governing body of a municipality on its own motion may submit a proposed 

charter amendment to the municipality's qualified voters for their approval at an 

election.  The governing body shall submit a proposed charter amendment to the 

voters for their approval at an election if the submission is supported by a 

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

28

https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=9.0045
http://www.legis.state.tx.us/tlodocs/88R/billtext/html/SB01860F.HTM
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=9.0045


petition signed by a number of qualified voters of the municipality equal to at 

least five percent of the number of qualified voters of the municipality or 

20,000, whichever number is the smaller.

(b)  The ordinance ordering the election shall provide for the election to 

be held on the first authorized uniform election date prescribed by the Election 

Code or on the earlier of the date of the next municipal general election or 

presidential general election.  The election date must allow sufficient time to 

comply with other requirements of law and must occur on or after the 30th day 

after the date the ordinance is adopted.

(c)  Notice of the election shall be published in a newspaper of general 

circulation published in the municipality.  The notice must:

(1)  include a substantial copy of the proposed amendment;

(2)  include an estimate of the anticipated fiscal impact to the 

municipality if the proposed amendment is approved at the election; and

(3)  be published on the same day in each of two successive weeks, with 

the first publication occurring before the 14th day before the date of the 

election.

(d)  An amendment may not contain more than one subject.

(e)  The ballot shall be prepared so that a voter may approve or disapprove 

any one or more amendments without having to approve or disapprove all of the 

amendments.

(f)  The requirement imposed by Subsection (c)(2) does not waive 

governmental immunity for any purpose and a person may not seek injunctive relief 

or any other judicial remedy to enforce the estimate of the anticipated fiscal 

impact on the municipality.

Acts 1987, 70th Leg., ch. 149, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 1987.  Amended by Acts 1997, 

75th Leg., ch. 1219, Sec. 5, eff. June 20, 1997;  Acts 1997, 75th Leg., ch. 1349, 

Sec. 76, eff. Sept. 1, 1997.

Amended by: 

Acts 2007, 80th Leg., R.S., Ch. 414 (S.B. 1086), Sec. 1, eff. September 1, 

2007.

Acts 2023, 88th Leg., R.S., Ch. 360 (S.B. 1860), Sec. 3, eff. September 1, 

2023.

Sec. 9.0045.  APPROVAL OF CLIMATE CHARTER OR AMENDMENT TO CHARTER BY 

LEGISLATURE REQUIRED.  A municipality may not hold an election for voter approval 

of a proposed climate charter unless the legislature adopts a resolution 

approving the proposed climate charter.

Added by Acts 2023, 88th Leg., R.S., Ch. 360 (S.B. 1860), Sec. 4, eff. September 

1, 2023.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

29

http://www.legis.state.tx.us/tlodocs/80R/billtext/html/SB01086F.HTM
http://www.legis.state.tx.us/tlodocs/88R/billtext/html/SB01860F.HTM
http://www.legis.state.tx.us/tlodocs/88R/billtext/html/SB01860F.HTM


Sec. 9.005.  ADOPTION OF CHARTER OR AMENDMENT.  (a)  A proposed charter for 

a municipality or a proposed amendment to a municipality's charter is adopted if 

it is approved by a majority of the qualified voters of the municipality who vote 

at an election held for that purpose.

(b)  A charter or an amendment does not take effect until the governing body 

of the municipality enters an order in the records of the municipality declaring 

that the charter or amendment is adopted.

Acts 1987, 70th Leg., ch. 149, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 1987.

Sec. 9.006.  CONCURRENT ELECTIONS.  This chapter does not prevent the voters 

at an election to adopt a charter or an amendment to a charter from electing at 

the same election persons to hold office under the charter or amendment.

Acts 1987, 70th Leg., ch. 149, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 1987.

Sec. 9.007.  CERTIFICATION OF CHARTER OR AMENDMENT.  (a)  As soon as 

practicable after a municipality adopts a charter or charter amendment, the mayor 

or chief executive officer of the municipality shall certify to the secretary of 

state an authenticated copy of the charter or amendment under the municipality's 

seal showing the approval by the voters of the municipality.

(b)  The secretary of state shall file and record the certification in his 

office in a book kept for that purpose.

Acts 1987, 70th Leg., ch. 149, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 1987.

Sec. 9.008.  REGISTRATION OF CHARTER OR AMENDMENT;  EFFECT.  (a)  The 

secretary or other officer of a municipality performing functions similar to 

those of a secretary shall record in the secretary's or other officer's office a 

charter or charter amendment adopted by the voters of the municipality.  If a 

charter or amendment is not recorded on microfilm, as may be permitted under 

another law, it shall be recorded in a book kept for that purpose.

(b)  Recorded charters or amendments are public acts.  Courts shall take 

judicial notice of them, and no proof is required of their provisions.

Acts 1987, 70th Leg., ch. 149, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 1987.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

30



Copyright © 1994, 2010 by the Texas Municipal League, 1821 Rutherford Lane, Suite 400, Austin, Texas
78754-5128. All rights reserved, including rights of reproduction and use in any form or by any means, 
including the making of copies by any photographic process, or by an electronic or mechanical device,

printed or written or oral, or recording for sound of visual reproduction, or for use in any knowledge or re-
trieval system or device, unless permission in writing is obtained from the copyright proprietor.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

31



2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

32



About the author

i

Terrell Blodgett, in more than six decades of public service,
has been a city manager, administrative assistant to a Texas
governor, a private consultant to state and local officials na-
tionwide, and an endowed professor in urban management.

After receiving his master’s degree in public administration
from Syracuse University in Syracuse, New York, his first job
was as a research assistant in the Bureau of Municipal Re-
search at The University of Texas at Austin. He began his local
government career as personnel director and later assistant
city manager for the City of Austin. He served as city manager
of Waco and Garland, Texas before returning to Austin as an
administrative assistant for urban affairs to Governor John
Connally for whom he coordinated the activation in Texas of
such new federal government programs as the “War on
Poverty,” law enforcement assistance, and highway safety.

For 13 years, Blodgett directed governmental consulting in a
nine-state southwest area for Peat, Marwick (now KPMG). He
organized and directed management studies at local and state
levels, including organizational analyses of several governors’
and mayors’ offices.

Upon his early retirement from Peat, Marwick in 1982, he
was appointed as the first Mike Hogg Professor in Urban Man-
agement at the Lyndon B. Johnson School of Public Affairs at
the University of Texas at Austin. His course topics included

both local and state government administration. He organized
the school’s first course in the management of nonprofit or-
ganizations, which is attended by graduate students and ex-
ecutives in nonprofits. 

While at the LBJ School, he also conducted more than a
dozen studies and assignments for the State of Texas, includ-
ing  a 1983 study for then Governor William Clements which
called attention to the safety and fire hazard conditions in the
100-year-old state capitol. His recommendations were among
the factors that led to the $185-million restoration and ex-
pansion of the capitol, which was completed in 1994. In
1991, he served as Executive Director of Governor Ann
Richards’ Task Force on Revenue.

Blodgett’s honors for his public service include a Distin-
guished Service Award from the International City/County
Management Association and serving as chairman of the Na-
tional Civic League in 1986 and 1987. The League is the
home of the 60-year-old All America Cities competition and
publisher of the widely used model city charter.  He is an Hon-
orary Life Director of the League, and a Fellow of the National
Academy of Public Administration.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

33



Local self-government is the cornerstone 
of democratic government.

Texas leads the nation in adherence to the concept and practice of local self-government. Credit for this is shared
by the Texas Legislature and the 351 cities guided by a local constitution, identified nationwide as a home rule
charter.

Broadly speaking, “home rule” is a grant of a degree of local autonomy to local governments by constitution or
statute. Nationwide, 48 states have granted their cities such status by one of these methods. Texas cities have en-
joyed the privileges of constitutional home rule (preferred over statutory home rule) since 1912.

Although adoption of home rule charters has been one of the most important developments in Texas municipal gov-
ernment in the twentieth century, only five comprehensive reports had addressed the subject until the original
version of this book was published in 1994.

Interest in adoption of new charters and the revision of older documents appear now to be at an unprecedented
high. Only 24 of the 375 Texas cities over 5,000 in population have not adopted home rule status. First-time
charters have been approved in Horseshoe Bay, Iowa Park, Lucas, Pittsburg, and Willis in just the past eighteen
months.

In response to this interest, the Texas Municipal League (TML), the  professional  and educational organization rep-
resenting Texas cities for nearly a century, offers this in-depth review of the status of home rule charters in Texas
today. 

The first edition of this document was written in 1994 by a nationally known expert in home rule charters, Professor
Terrell Blodgett, the Mike Hogg Professor in Urban Management at the Lyndon B. Johnson School of Public Affairs
at The University of Texas at Austin. Professor Blodgett served as chairman of the Model City Charter Revision Com-
mittee for the National Civic League (formerly the National Municipal League) when it published the seventh edition
of the Model City Charter in 1989. He has consulted with numerous charter commissions and civic groups interested
in charter reform in Texas, Ohio, and New York. Texas cities have no greater friend than Terrell Blodgett.

It was a distinct honor and pleasure for the TML staff to update his original report. This updated version of Professor
Blogett’s original work is largely a product of the TML legal staff led by Mr. Scott Houston, the League’s director of
legal services. We are proud of this document’s significant content. Through the efforts of TML and the gracious as-
sistance of city officials, the information in this report is based on a 73 percent response rate to our 2008 survey.

The TML legal department is contacted frequently by charter commissions looking for guidance. We hope this doc-
ument will enable us to be of even more assistance to our member cities as they draft new home rule charters or
undertake periodic reviews of their basic constitutional document.

Frank Sturzl
Executive Director

Texas Municipal League
January 2010

ii

Texas Home Rule Charters
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

34



(Editor’s Note - The following is Terrell Blodgett’s original
preface to the 1994 version of the book.)

The production of this monograph has been a labor of love for
me. I have had a long-time interest in the structure of govern-
ment, particularly at the local level. It was my privilege to au-
thor the second of the five reports referred to in the Foreword
by Mr. Sturzl. The first three of those reports all came from
the Bureau of Municipal Research/Institute of Public Affairs
at the University of Texas at Austin. Dr. Wilfred Webb wrote
the first report, Municipal Home Rule Charters in Texas, in
1947. My monograph, Municipal Home Rule Charter Elec-
tions in Texas, in 1950, examined charter activity covering
only a three-year period, 1947-50. The most comprehensive
of the reports was City and County Home Rule in Texas, writ-
ten by Dr. John P. Keith in 1951.

Nothing else was published for over 25 years; thus, the 1978
report, Home Rule Charters in Texas Cities, written by Dr. Del
Taebel and Bruce Stapleton, Institute of Urban Studies, The
University of Texas at Arlington, filled a significant void. Dr.
Taebel expanded and updated that report entitled A Citizen’s
Guide to Home Rule Charters in Texas Cities.

We have used information from all five of these earlier reports
and express our appreciation to the other four authors for their
significant contributions to the history and practice of munic-
ipal home rule in Texas.

This current effort retraces the highlights of that history, but
concentrates on reporting the current practices of the 290
home rule cities — such matters as length of city council
terms; term limits; appointment powers of city managers; fis-
cal year provisions; and actual use of initiative, referendum,
and recall provisions in city charters. 

We also, for the first time in one place, list all of the major
statutory provisions that limit home rule. Although the Texas
Legislature has not imposed major restrictions on the home
rule authority of Texas cities, it has nevertheless enacted a
number of laws that limit authority formerly residing in the
cities. 

This report originated with a request from the Texas Municipal
League to the state’s 290 home rule cities. (Editor’s note:
351 in 2008).  TML asked those cities to send a copy of their
charters and to complete and return a two-page questionnaire
relating to charter provisions. Upon receipt of the material
from the cities, I reviewed each charter and completed a
three-page worksheet that covered virtually every subject
found in any charter. I then contacted each city, by telephone
or facsimile, to obtain additional information I needed. The
League data processing staff entered the information from

both the two-page and the three-page questionnaires and
summarized the figures.

No attempt has been made in this monograph to set forth a
model Texas city charter or to discuss extensively the duties
and responsibilities of charter commissions–for new or
amended charters. Those are subjects of separate publica-
tions.

I hope the discussion and tabulation of existing provisions in
the charters will be useful to city councils and charter com-
missions as they consider the necessity and desirability of
making basic changes in their constitutional authority.

Although there were hundreds of laws — state, local, and na-
tional — that govern the conduct of city officials, they have
by no means resulted in 290 city charters that read exactly
alike. There is a freedom of spirit and unique character in
each city that makes it different from the others. Maybe it is
a heritage of the pioneer spirit that brought early Texans to
the frontier. Whatever its source, it is reflected so obviously
in charters that we are sharing samples of it with you in the
boxed quotes scattered through this publication. All but two
are from charters and usually it is the only one of its kind in
all of the charters. All these quotes remind us that a city is a
group of human beings: funny, serious, opinionated, opti-
mistic, apathetic, perplexed, jointly struggling to understand
their personal problems and those of their immediate environ-
ment–the city. That reminder saves scholars and the pontifi-
cators from viewing the city only as a cold and rigidly
structured “entity” that is more responsive to the law, the
courts, and the federal bureaucracy than to the people. 

I wish to express my deep appreciation to Frank Sturzl, Exec-
utive Director of the League, and to his staff for their tremen-
dous assistance and for all the courtesies they extended. I am
particularly beholden to Ms. Susan Horton, General Counsel,
and her staff for carefully reviewing the legal aspects of this
monograph. Without their highly competent legal advice, this
document would not have been possible. Mr. Richard Cantrell
and his staff, Randy Overman and Anita Brown, patiently and
accurately took the three-page worksheet and input the data
so that the mass might be handled more quickly. I also wish
to thank Mr. Ben Torres and his highly capable printing team
that turned the final copy into the printed monograph. I am
indebted to Ms. Barbara Ray for the overall appearance of the
publication. I also wish to express special appreciation to Ms.
Rose Hurst and Mr. Harold Sostand of the League staff with
whom we worked more closely and whose courtesies and un-
failing help are gratefully acknowledged. Ms. Debbie Warden
entered the first draft in her computer and Ms. Gail Bunce
then later skillfully converted the manuscript and graphics to
clean, camera-ready copy for the League printing department.

iii

Preface
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

35



My research was assisted considerably by the helpfulness of
Ms. Linda Stout of the Texas Secretary of State’s Office and
by the staffs of the State Legislative Reference Library and
the Archives Division of the Texas State Library. My thanks go
to all of these individuals.

I also express a deep sense of gratitude to William N. Cassella,
Jr., Executive Director of the National Municipal League for
16 years, who was the “author” of the latest edition of the
Model City Charter, who is the “supreme authority” on city
charters, and who has taught me the beauty of structure and
process. 

Finally, I thank my wife, Dorothy–communications consultant,
writer and lecturer, and co-author with Jean Daniel and the
late former governor, Price Daniel, Sr., of The Texas Governor’s
Mansion:  A History of the House and Its Occupants–for her
personal support and professional assistance.

iv

Preface

(Editor’s note: the following was prepared by Kelly McBride
and Scott Houston)

The 1994 version of this document served as an outstanding
guide to home rule in Texas for more than a decade.  It is often
referred to as the “go-to” publication for information about
home rule.  Because of Terrell Blodgett’s outstanding work on
the original, our task was simply to update the data and vari-
ous substantive sections of the document to ensure that it re-
mains up-to-date.  

This second version provides cities that are contemplating
home rule, and cities that are considering changes to their ex-
isting charter, a fresh look at what other cities are doing, and
why.   Mr. Blodgett’s attention to detail has provided a solid
foundation from which we built the second edition.  Three
hundred fifty-one cities were surveyed for this update, with
an astounding 73 percent response rate.  

The second edition was prepared by Kelly McBride and Scott
Houston, with the support of the Texas Municipal League’s
(TML) legal department staff.  Mrs. McBride served as a legal
intern with TML while pursuing her Juris Doctorate from St.
Mary’s University School of Law.  She earned her Bachelor’s
of Arts in 1989 and her Master’s of Public Administration in
1991, both from the University of Dayton, Ohio.  She brought
over 10 years of municipal management experience to this
project, serving as assistant city manager, economic develop-

ment director, and city manager for three Ohio cities.  Scott
Houston graduated from Texas A&M University with a degree
in political science. After studying law in Austria and Ar-
gentina, he received his law degree from St. Mary’s University
School of Law in San Antonio.  Scott is presently serving as
director of legal services with TML and general counsel to the
Texas City Attorneys Association.  In addition, he has served
as an adjunct professor of political science at Texas State Uni-
versity, and recently received the American Bar Association’s
“Up and Coming Young Lawyer Award.”  Other members of
the TML legal department staff, including Tiffany Ducummon,
Laura Mueller, Katie Fleming, Bill Longley and Lauren Craw-
ford deserve special kudos for their outstanding support.  

In addition, Charlie Zech with the municipal law firm of Den-
ton, Navarro, Rocha & Bernal, P.C. provided research support
for this project.  Mr. Zech did so through his applied research
project for the department of political science at Texas State
University as a part of the requirements for the completion of
his M.P.A. in 2008.  John McDonald, currently serving as the
director of community development for the City of Bellaire,
Texas, also provided valuable research support for a similar
M.P.A. project for Texas State University.

A special thank you should go to the law firm of Denton,
Navarro, Rocha & Bernal, P.C. for their countless hours of 
donated staff support for this project. 

2010 Preface

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

36



About the author ............................................................................................................................................i

Foreword.......................................................................................................................................................ii

Preface........................................................................................................................................................iii

1 Concept and history of local self-government ................................................................................................1
Legal status of municipal corporations.............................................................................................................1
Origin of city government in Texas...................................................................................................................1
Special legislative charters and general law......................................................................................................1
Home rule charters ........................................................................................................................................2
Developments in charter adoptions since 1912 ................................................................................................2
Home rule charter cities today ........................................................................................................................3
Charter adoptions, 1836 - 2009.....................................................................................................................3

2 Advantages of home rule status ...................................................................................................................5
The home rule concept ..................................................................................................................................5
Inherent powers of home rule cities.................................................................................................................5
Limitations on home rule powers.....................................................................................................................6
Cities over 5,000 population that have not adopted home rule charters ..............................................................6

3 State preemption of local home rule ............................................................................................................9
Charter language in cases of state preemption................................................................................................17
What is the proper way to handle state preemption .........................................................................................17
Subjects on which state statutes and charter are both silent............................................................................18

4 Adoption and amendment of home rule charters..........................................................................................19
Establishing the population of the city (first charter).......................................................................................19
Adopting the city’s first charter.....................................................................................................................19
Adoption of a new charter (not the first charter) .............................................................................................20
Preparing for the charter commission election................................................................................................20
Guidelines for the charter commission...........................................................................................................20
Preclearance under the Voting Rights Act of 1965..........................................................................................20
Submitting the new charter to voters .............................................................................................................21
Charter adoption:  results and voter turnout ...................................................................................................21
Charter amendments ...................................................................................................................................21
Procedure for amendment election................................................................................................................21
Preclearance under the voting rights acts of 1965..........................................................................................22
The charter amendment election...................................................................................................................22
Approval of amendment(s) by the voters ........................................................................................................22

5 General design and format of Texas home rule charters ................................................................................23

6 Form of government..................................................................................................................................25
Status of forms of government in the U.S. today.............................................................................................25
Brief history of forms of government in Texas .................................................................................................25
Major determinants of the form of government ...............................................................................................26
Charter revisions to change the form of government ........................................................................................26

7 Powers of the city .....................................................................................................................................29
Introduction................................................................................................................................................29
Inherent powers of a city ..............................................................................................................................29
Legislative restatement of broad powers and case law .....................................................................................30
The powers article in DeLeon charter.............................................................................................................30
The model charter .......................................................................................................................................32
Federal voting rights act...............................................................................................................................32

v

Table of Contents
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

37



8 The mayor ..............................................................................................................................................33
The mayor in American history......................................................................................................................33
Distinctive differences in mayors’ positions....................................................................................................34
Charter language regarding the mayor............................................................................................................34
Elements of the mayor’s position that are relatively the same in the two forms of government .............................36
Concluding thoughts on the position of mayor in two forms of government ........................................................36

9 The city council – election and service ...................................................................................................... 37
Council elections through the years ..............................................................................................................37
Methods of council election..........................................................................................................................37
Survey results of council election methods ....................................................................................................40
Terms of office ............................................................................................................................................40
Charter language on term limits ....................................................................................................................42
Qualifications for office................................................................................................................................43
Compensation for city council.......................................................................................................................45
Council staff ...............................................................................................................................................45
Personal liability of councilmembers .............................................................................................................45

10 The city council as a legislative body........................................................................................................47
Orientation for the job..................................................................................................................................47
Organizational meeting ................................................................................................................................47
Powers and duties of the council ..................................................................................................................47
City council meetings .................................................................................................................................48
Consideration and passage of ordinances.......................................................................................................49
Prohibitions ................................................................................................................................................51
Investigations..............................................................................................................................................51
Annual audit ...............................................................................................................................................51
Absences from council meetings ..................................................................................................................52
Vacancies on the council..............................................................................................................................53

11 Elections ...............................................................................................................................................55
Plurality/majority/cumulative voting...............................................................................................................55
Election dates .............................................................................................................................................56
Nonpartisan elections ..................................................................................................................................56
The elections article ....................................................................................................................................57
Summary....................................................................................................................................................57

12 City manager..........................................................................................................................................59
Appointment and removal of city manager .....................................................................................................59
Duties of the city manager............................................................................................................................61
Other provisions in the article on city manager ...............................................................................................62
“Weak” council-manager charters .................................................................................................................63
Optional council-manager charters ................................................................................................................63
Unusual council-manager charters ................................................................................................................63
Summary....................................................................................................................................................63

13 Departments, offices, agencies and boards ...............................................................................................65
Creation of departments...............................................................................................................................65
City attorney ...............................................................................................................................................65
City secretary ..............................................................................................................................................66
Judge of the municipal court ........................................................................................................................67
Influence of form of government on selection of officers above ........................................................................68
Planning function........................................................................................................................................68
Personnel and civil service ...........................................................................................................................69
Health function ...........................................................................................................................................71
Boards and commissions..............................................................................................................................72

vi

Table of Contents
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

38



14 Financial administration..........................................................................................................................73
Organization for financial administration........................................................................................................73
Designation of the fiscal year........................................................................................................................74
The property tax ..........................................................................................................................................74
Other revenues............................................................................................................................................75
Preparation and adoption of annual operating budget......................................................................................75
Operating budget–executing and monitoring...................................................................................................77
Capital budget ............................................................................................................................................79
Purchasing and contracts .............................................................................................................................80
Municipal debt–short and long-term..............................................................................................................80
Summary....................................................................................................................................................82

15 Initiative, referendum, and recall .............................................................................................................83
Introduction................................................................................................................................................83
Early history of initiative, referendum, and recall (I R & R) ..............................................................................83
I R & R at the local level ..............................................................................................................................83
NCL model city charter ................................................................................................................................84
Charter provisions today ..............................................................................................................................84
I R & R in action .........................................................................................................................................86
Summary of survey results............................................................................................................................86

16 Franchises .............................................................................................................................................87
Early history of utilities in Texas....................................................................................................................87
Franchises and rate regulation prior to 1975..................................................................................................87
Public utility regulatory act (PURA) of 1975 ..................................................................................................87
Gas utility regulatory act (GURA) ..................................................................................................................87
Other utility operations ................................................................................................................................88
Municipal utilities .......................................................................................................................................88
The franchise article in a home rule charter ...................................................................................................88
Summary....................................................................................................................................................89

17 General provisions ..................................................................................................................................91
Standards of conduct and conflict of interest .................................................................................................91
Legal provisions ..........................................................................................................................................92  
Government operations ................................................................................................................................93
Remainders and reminders...........................................................................................................................93
Continuity in change....................................................................................................................................93
Summary....................................................................................................................................................94

18 Charter Amendments ..............................................................................................................................95
Charter revision commissions .......................................................................................................................95
Practical consequences regarding amendment elections..................................................................................96
Amendment adoption results ........................................................................................................................96
One amendment elections............................................................................................................................97
Summary....................................................................................................................................................97

19 Afterword...............................................................................................................................................99
Challenges facing cities today.....................................................................................................................100

Notes ......................................................................................................................................................101

vii

Table of Contents
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

39



Appendices...............................................................................................................................................104
A - Texas home rule charter survey (2008) ...................................................................................................104
B - The Home Rule Amendment to the Texas Constitution, Article XI, Section 5, .............................................110
C - Home Rule Charters in Texas ................................................................................................................110
D - Home-Rule Municipality, Chapter 9, Texas Local Government Code...........................................................121
E  - Term of office exceeding two years in home rule and general law cities; vacancies Article XI, Section 11, 

Texas Constitution ..............................................................................................................................123
F - Dual office holding, Article XVI, Section 40, Texas Constitution ................................................................123
G - Oath of office for elected and appointed officials, Article XVI, Section 1, Texas  Constitution ......................125 

Bibliography ............................................................................................................................................126

Index .......................................................................................................................................................128 

Figure 3-1: State preemption of home rule provision.........................................................................................9 
Figure 6-1: Forms of government ..................................................................................................................25
Figure 7-1: Article III - Municipal powers ......................................................................................................30
Figure 7-2: Article I - Powers of the city ........................................................................................................32
Figure 8-1: Differences in mayor’s positions...................................................................................................34
Figure 8-2: Setting the salary of the mayor ....................................................................................................34
Figure 9-1: Method of council election .........................................................................................................40
Figure 9-2: Contested mayor and council elections .........................................................................................40
Figure 9-3: Term limits in years when limits are separately applied ..................................................................42
Figure 9-4: Maximum years service when limits separately applied ..................................................................42
Figure 9-5: Term limits in years when service applied together.........................................................................42
Figure 9-6: Filing requirements for city council ..............................................................................................44
Figure 10-1: Sample powers of the city council article....................................................................................47
Figure 10-2: Emergency ordinances ..............................................................................................................50
Figure 10-3: Prohibitions .............................................................................................................................51
Figure 10-4: Charter requirements for fulfillment of vacancies.........................................................................53
Figure 12-1: Article IV city administration .....................................................................................................59
Figure 12-2: Years before city councilmembers eligible to serve as city manager ..............................................60
Figure 12-3: Powers and duties of the city manager .......................................................................................61
Figure 13-1: Selection of  city attorney..........................................................................................................66
Figure 13-2: Selection of  city secretary/clerk ................................................................................................66
Figure 13-3: Selection of  municipal court judge ...........................................................................................68
Figure 13-4: Typical charter provision for planning commission .......................................................................69
Figure 13-5: Departments established by charter ...........................................................................................72
Figure 13-6: Boards and commissions established by charter ..........................................................................72
Figure 14-1: Article VII - Fiscal plan .............................................................................................................76
Figure 14-2: Preparation and submission of budget........................................................................................77
Figure 14-3: Amendments after adoption of budget........................................................................................78
Figure 14-4: Capital program........................................................................................................................79
Figure 15-1: Signature requirements for initiative...........................................................................................85
Figure 15-2: Signature requirements for referendum ......................................................................................85
Figure 15-3: Signature requirements for recall ...............................................................................................86
Figure 16-1: Maximum franchise term ..........................................................................................................89
Figure 18-1: Charter review..........................................................................................................................95
Figure 18-2: Most recent charter amendments by decade ...............................................................................97
Figure 18-3: Number of amendments submitted to voters, 2000-2007............................................................97

viii

Table of Contents
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

40



Legal status of municipal corporations

“The word municipal is derived from the Roman mu-
nicipium, which means a free city capable of governing its
local affairs, even though subordinate to the sovereignty of
Rome. In early England, the term was applied to self-govern-
ing cities and towns; hence, from its origin, the word munic-
ipal connoted local self-government.”  So begins the book The
Law of Local Government Operations by the renowned author-
ity on municipal government, Charles S. Rhyne.1

In colonial America, a number of municipal corpora-
tions originated in a grant of power from the King of England.
Following the American Revolution, this power of the crown
passed to state legislatures.  “In three instances, New York,
Pennsylvania and Maryland, the first constitutions expressly
recognized the transfer of power to the legislature.  The in-
evitable result was that democratic principle and legal theory
disagree on the issue of self-rule.  Democratic doctrine says
the government closest to the people governs best.  The pre-
vailing legal theory has been that in the absence of constitu-
tional protection, municipal governments are totally
dependent upon, and subservient to, the will of the legisla-
ture.”2 That view was expressed by Judge J. F. Dillon in
1886 in a case before the Iowa Supreme Court:  “The true
view is this:  Municipal corporations owe their origin to, and
derive their powers and rights wholly from, the legislature.”3

This doctrine was affirmed by the U.S. Supreme Court in a
later case.4   Since the early 1900’s, the Texas courts have fol-
lowed the rule set by Judge Dillon.  The rule was clarified by
the Texas Supreme Court in 1926 when it stated, “Municipal
Corporations (including home rule cities) are created for the
exercise of certain functions of government in so far as their
character is governmental, they are agencies of the state and
subject to state control.”  Yett v. Cook, 115 Tex. 205 (Tex.
1926).  This idea, that cities are subdivisions of the state,
has been reaffirmed throughout the twentieth century and
most recently by the Texas Supreme Court in 2004.  Texas
Dept. of Trans. v. City of Sunset Valley, 146 S.W.3d 637 (Tex.
2004).  Texas cities exist to perform duties for the state as
well as to fulfill needs and desires of local residents, but al-
ways at the will of the state.  This doctrine has restricted local
powers rather severely as we will see in greater detail in chap-
ter three.

Such complete legislative supremacy caused no real
harm when cities were small and their needs limited, but as
cities grew, the rurally-dominated legislative bodies were in-
creasingly unable to cope with city problems.

To trace how the state of Texas has dealt with these
questions, we now turn to a brief review of the development
of home rule in Texas.

Origin of city government in Texas

The history of Texas municipalities as corporate enti-
ties begins with the establishment of the Republic of Texas
in 1836.  While Texas was under the jurisdiction of Spain and
Mexico, the term “municipality” was applied to a local gov-
ernment unit that included the surrounding rural regions as
well as the town proper.  There never was any distinction be-
tween the government of the town and the outlying districts.
With the birth of the Republic, this changed, and the territory
of the municipality became the county, and the urban regions
began to be incorporated.  The first congress incorporated
some eighteen cities and towns, and before the end of the Re-
public, there were 53 municipal corporations.5

All of them were established by special congressional
acts; in several cases, multiple communities were incorpo-
rated by one act.  These early special acts were articles of in-
corporation and municipal charters rolled into one document;
some were very brief and merely stated that a certain com-
munity was being incorporated by the special act.  Gradually,
they began to resemble more closely charters as we know
them, with provisions for the governing body, qualifications
for office, powers of the city council, and–occasionally–fire
and street duty and taxation.  Some even reflected the begin-
ning glimmer of home rule.  For example, the charter granted
by the congress in 1837 to San Augustine provided that the
board of aldermen could pass any ordinance for the benefit
of its inhabitants, as long as it did not conflict with the laws
or constitution of the Republic.6

Special legislative charters 
and general law

The two most important developments during state-
hood and prior to Civil War (1845-61) were the passage of a
law in 1858 that provided general rules for the incorporation
of small cities and towns and the first provision for local rati-
fication in a charter written by the legislature.  In 1846, the
legislature granted a special charter to New Braunfels, subject
to that charter being ratified by the local voters at a special
election.7 During this sixteen-year period (1845-61), terms
of office longer than one year began to be written into the leg-
islative charters and some cities were given responsibility for
local education.  Although school districts were made separate
entities later, the charters of such cities as Temple, Bryan,
and others continued to have provisions for city hall control
of local schools for several years after the change.  Some char-
ters still have this obsolete provision.

1

1 Concept and history of local self-government

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

41



Civil War and Reconstruction chaos wiped out all the local
government gains.  There were no municipal incorporations
from 1862 to 1866.  An 1870 legislative act provided that
the governor appoint the mayor and board of aldermen of each
incorporated city in the state.  After the citizenry regained
control of state government in 1874, this act was rescinded,
and in 1874 cities were allowed to amend their legislative
charters by action of the board of aldermen and their citizens.8

The Constitution of 1876 provided that cities under
10,000 population could be chartered only under general
laws; cities over 10,000 would continue to be subject to the
special laws of the legislature.  This seemed to work for a few
years.  But cities over 10,000, most in need of self-govern-
ment because of individual requirements, chafed under the
special law provisions.  This situation worsened when the con-
stitution was amended in 1909 to lower the population re-
quirement to 5,000 population.

The legislature finally realized its capacity to debate
and resolve issues of statewide importance was being usurped
disproportionately by the attention it gave to city charters.
One legislative official complained in 1911 that these local
bills made up more than one-half of the legislative workload.
A count revealed this estimate was high.  Actually, about 25
percent of all bills applied to municipal charters, but the point
was made.  When there were only a few cities over 5,000 in
population, the legislature could afford to take the time to
pass special legislation just for them. But by 1910, the cities
were growing and each one presented unique circumstances.

By 1910, San Antonio and Dallas were near 100,000
in population; Houston and Fort Worth were well over 50,000;
and a total of 40 cities in the state each had more than 5,000
population.  “It was in a mood of reform that the Legislature
listened to a few advocates of home rule expound the virtues
of that method of handling the relations between the state
and its subunits.”9

Home rule charters

The time to act in Texas had finally arrived.  Other
states had already crossed that threshold.  In 1875, Missouri
was the first state to grant its cities home rule powers by con-
stitutional amendment.  Texas had struggled through an at-
tempt to make special legislative charters work; it also tried
to formulate general laws that would apply to both small and
large cities.  Neither was successful.  The state finally em-
braced the third method of municipal governance, home rule.

Texas voters in 1912 adopted the Home Rule Amend-
ment to the state constitution and the legislature followed in
the regular session in 1913 with the necessary enabling act.
The constitutional amendment, Article XI, Section 5, provides
that any city over 5,000 may adopt a home rule charter, sub-
ject to the requirements that the legislature might establish.
Such a charter may not contain any provision that is incon-
sistent with the state constitution or the statutes.  Further,
home rule cities are limited to a property tax rate of $2.50
per $100 valuation and their charters cannot be amended

more often than every two years.  The Home Rule Enabling
Act is no longer in the statutes.  The powers listed in that Act
have been relocated in other laws and codes as the legislature
has codified the laws relating to local government.

Like the home rule provisions in other state constitu-
tions and statues, Texas’ Home Rule Amendment is generally
considered to have three major objectives:

(1)  to create a favorable climate for more direct governing of
cities by their citizens,

(2)  to secure adequate powers so that municipalities could
meet increased demands for services, and

(3)  to avoid interference in local government by the state leg-
islature.10

These are noteworthy goals, but early writers were not
sure they would ever be accomplished.  John Keith felt com-
pelled to take one full chapter of his monograph to review ex-
tensively the criticisms of public officials and others that the
wording of almost every phrase and sentence in the amend-
ment is ambiguous.11 Constitutional authority George D.
Braden, however, feels that the section is one of the more in-
telligibly drafted of any in the constitution12 and there is no
talk today of trying to improve on the wording of the amend-
ment.

What Braden does point out, however is that “home
rule is not unconditionally and fully guaranteed to Texas
cities.”13   Braden argues the position generally taken by mu-
nicipal attorneys today that the section as interpreted by the
courts guarantees only that cities may act without affirmative
permission of the legislature. 

Cities are resigned to the fact that charters must not
conflict with the state constitution or statutes enacted prior
to adoption of a charter, and that a state general law affecting
cities passed tomorrow supersedes a city charter provision en-
acted today or yesterday.  Similarly, cities also realize that al-
though Article III, Section 56, of the state constitution forbids
local laws regulating the affairs of cities, such laws are passed
occasionally by using the device of population-bracket bills.
These are laws with provisions that are applicable only to cer-
tain cities based on population.  For home rule to be effective,
cities must zealously guard concepts of the amendment and
the court cases that keep it viable.

Developments in charter adoptions
since 1912

All the criticisms and concerns enumerated above
were unknown to city officials in 1912.  They just knew that
the citizens of Texas had spoken and had told the legislature
that they wanted their cities to have more freedom and local
autonomy.  “Before the Legislature passed an enabling act on
the home rule amendment, twenty-four cities had drafted their
own charters or amendments to their special legislative char-

2

Texas Home Rule Charters
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

42



ters.”14 By 1920, sixty-five cities had taken advantage of the
home rule privilege.  And except for the depression era of the
1930s, the movement has steadily continued.

A Model Charter for Texas Cities was prepared by Dr.
Herman G. James, Director of the Bureau of Municipal Re-
search and Reference of The University of Texas, in February
1914.  Its provision for a competent chief administrator se-
lected by and responsible to the city governing body foreshad-
owed an increasing interest in a form of government new to
the state: the council-manager plan.15 Other influences on
early charters were those of cities that had reacted quickly to
the home rule provision.  The adoption by Amarillo in 1913
of a charter provided a model for other cities in the state.  At
one time, at least one-fourth of the charters then being written
reflected both the arrangement and language of the Amarillo
Charter. 

The home rule amendment did not immediately stop
the legislature from granting charters and amendments by
special law.  The same legislature that passed the Home Rule
Enabling Act amended three charters.16   Other charters were
amended or granted from then until a court decision in 1920
held such action unconstitutional.17 Special law cities have
since completely disappeared.

Home rule charter cities today 

Today, 351 Texas cities have home rule charters.  The
Texas Municipal League directory lists only 24 cities with pop-
ulations over 5,000 that have not adopted charters–about
seven percent.  Of the 351 home rule cities, 21 cities have
now dropped below 5,000 population but retain their charter.
A constitutional amendment, actively sought by TML and
adopted by voters in 1991, assures those cities that they have
retained full home rule powers and may amend their charters
although their populations may not now meet the minimum
set out in the original Home Rule Amendment to the Texas
Constitution. 

Charter adoptions, 1836-2009

Appendix C is an alphabetical  listing of all 351 home
rule charter cities. The chart  provides special dates regarding
each city including:

• date of first special legislative charter,
• date of first home rule charter,
• date of current home rule charter, and
• date of latest charter amendment.

This information was obtained from the Texas Secre-
tary of State’s records, the archives of the Texas State Library
and the cities themselves.  

3

Concept and history of local self-government
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

43



4

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

44



2   Advantages of home rule status18

Since 1912, Texas cities have belonged to one of two
categories from a legal standpoint–home rule or general law.

In brief, home rule cities are larger cities–cities over
5,000 whose citizens have adopted home rule charters.  The
legal position of home rule cities is the reverse of general law
cities.  Rather than looking to state law to determine what
they may do, as general law cities must, home rule cities look
to the state constitution  and state statues to determine what
they may not do.  Thus, if a proposed home rule city action
has not been prohibited or preempted by the state, the city
generally can proceed.

The second category, general law, is composed of
smaller cities, most of which are less than 5,000 population.
All general law cities operate according to specific state
statutes prescribing their powers and duties.  General law
cities are restricted to doing what the state authorizes or per-
mits them to do.  If state law does not grant general law cities
the express or implied power to initiate a particular action, it
may not be taken.  

A recent example of this distinction involves regis-
tered sex offender residency restrictions.  A 2007 attorney
general opinion (GA-052) addressed a fast-growing trend
among cities in Texas and nationwide: ordinances that prohibit
convicted sex offenders from living within a certain distance
of schools, churches, or the homes of children.  The opinion
concluded that home rule cities’ residency restriction are not
preempted by state law and are thus valid.  The opinion also
concluded, however, that general law cities do not have ex-
press authority under current state law to adopt or enforce
such an ordinance. 

Throughout this publication, we will be discussing
matters that have legal implications.  We have written this
document  primarily for elected policymakers, appointed ad-
ministrators, and potential charter commission members.  We
urge those individuals to take questions they may have to their
city attorney and to consult with that individual prior to taking
any action based on information in this publication.  Your city
attorney really can be your best friend if you are a local gov-
ernment official.

The home rule concept

In Forwood v. City of Taylor, the Texas Supreme Court
summarized Texas’ home rule doctrine as follows:

It was the purpose of the Home-Rule Amendment…
to bestow upon accepting cities and towns of more
than 5,000 population full power of self-govern-
ment, that is, full authority to do anything the leg-
islature could theretofore have authorized them to

do.  The result is that now it is necessary to look to
the acts of the legislature not for grants of power to
such cities but only for limitation on their powers.
(Emphasis added.)19

As a result of the Forwood case and other court decisions up-
holding their broad powers, home rule cities have the inherent
authority to do just about anything that qualifies as a “public
purpose” and is not contrary to the constitution or laws of the
state.  Of course, legislative preemption is becoming more and
more commonplace.

Inherent powers of home rule cities

An “inherent power” is one that is possessed by a city
without its having been specifically granted by the state.  It is
the right to perform an act without having received that right
from the Texas Constitution or the state legislature.

Home rule cities have many inherent powers.  A dis-
cussion of some of the inherent powers of major significance
may explain why so many cities have chosen to adopt home
rule charters.

Municipal organizations

In contrast to counties, general law cities, and special
districts (whose organizations are fixed by state law), the gov-
ernmental structure of a home rule city is left entirely to the
discretion of local voters.  Subject to compliance with the fed-
eral Voting Rights Act, the citizens of a home rule city are free
to decide their form of municipal government (mayor-council,
council-manager, and so on); choose between a large or small
city council; provide for the election of the city council at
large, by single-member districts or by place; fix the terms of
office for councilmembers at two, three, or four years; or es-
tablish overlapping terms of office.  Moreover, they can decide
whether the mayor is to be elected directly by the voters, se-
lected from among the members of the council, or chosen by
some other method.

The citizens of a home rule city also have total dis-
cretion over the city’s administrative structure.  Subject only
to local preferences, the charter can establish a simple ad-
ministrative framework or a complex one, provide for the ap-
pointment or election of major administrative officials, and so
on.  And finally, the charter can provide for the creation of any
boards or commissions that local voters decide are necessary
to make the city function effectively.

5

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

45



6

Annexation

The inherent power to unilaterally annex adjoining
areas is one of the most important home rule prerogatives.  To
annex “unilaterally” means that the city can bring an adjacent
unincorporated area into the city without the permission of
the persons residing in that area.

There is no state law prohibiting home rule cities from
annexing adjoining territories; therefore, annexation can be
exercised as an inherent home rule power.  The only require-
ment is that the city charter authorize the city council to ex-
ercise such power. Of course, the Municipal Annexation Act
provides complex procedures that must be followed. It also
has various limitations regarding  when, where, and how home
rule cities annex.  

The power of unilateral annexation is important for
several reasons.  First, it enables a city to guide the develop-
ment of the city and the surrounding area.  Second, it permits
a city to maintain a strong economic base by extending its
boundaries to bring in taxable properties and other resources
required to finance essential municipal services.

Dramatic evidence of the importance of unilateral an-
nexation exists in other states where cities do not have that
power.  One source summed it up as follows:

Liberal state annexation policies in certain parts of
the South (e.g., Jacksonville) and West (e.g., Hous-
ton) have permitted cities in those regions to share
the benefits of growth in surrounding areas.  If San
Antonio, Texas, for example, had the same bound-
aries that it had in 1945, it would contain more
poverty and unemployment than Newark, New Jer-
sey.20

According to U.S. Census statistics, Texas’ larger
cities are among the fastest-growing in the U.S.  These same
figures also show, however, that many of these same cities ac-
tually would have lost population during the past two decades
if they had not expanded through annexation.

Initiative, referendum, and recall

Initiative, referendum, and recall are inherent home
rule powers that are reserved for exclusive use by local voters
in order to provide direct remedies in unusual situations.
There is no constitutional or statutory authority for initiative,
referendum, or recall.  These powers are unique to home rule
cities; they are not available to voters at any other level of
Texas government, including the state.

Initiative is a procedure under which local voters di-
rectly propose or initiate legislation.  Citizen lawmaking
through the initiative process allows local voters to circumvent
the city council by direct ballot box action on new ordinances
that have wide support in the community, but that the council
refuses to enact.

Referendum is a procedure under which local voters

can repeal unpopular existing ordinances the council refuses
to rescind by its own action.

Recall is a process by which local voters can oust
members of the city council before the expiration of their
terms.

All three of these powers are discussed in detail in
Chapter 15 of this book.

Charter amendments 

In addition to initiative and referendum, direct law-
making by local voters can be accomplished through amend-
ments to the charter document itself.  Under Section 9.004
of the Local Government Code, citizens can force the city
council to call an election on a proposed charter
amendment(s) by simply filing a petition signed by five per-
cent of the qualified voters or 20,000 whichever is less.
Voter-initiated charter amendments, if adopted, can change
most aspects of the city government.

Limitations on home rule powers

Although the powers of a home rule city are extensive,
they remain subject to all the limitations imposed by state
and federal law.  For example, the paragraph above on amend-
ing a charter is a good example.  State law prescribes that five
percent or 20,000 voters, whichever is less, must sign a char-
ter amendment petition.  A city could provide in its charter
that a petition signed by four percent or 19,000 voters,
whichever is less, would force the city council to call such an
election, but a city could not make it more stringent for voters
to initiate such action.  A charter provision requiring six per-
cent or more signatures would not be binding and could not
be enforced by the governing body of the city.  Recently, more
and more legislation has passed that restricts the powers of
home rule cities.  

Cities over 5,000 population that have
not adopted home rule charters

Despite the advantages of home rule cited above, cit-
izens in 24 cities that meet the population criterion have
elected not to adopt a home rule charter.  In 1994, the
League asked officials in many of those cities to comment on
the reasons their city had chosen not to adopt a charter.

The responses were as follows: 
• citizens are not aware of advantages of home rule;
• a charter commission had never been authorized; 
• a charter had never been considered;  
• city has no appreciable extra-territorial jurisdiction (ETJ);
• issue was considered, but no one ever took action;
• discussion being held now to possibly elect a 

commission;

Texas Home Rule Charters
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

46



7

• very conservative community, and citizens feel less
government is best;

• three elections were held for charter commissions
(1959, 1969, 1977), but all failed;

• a charter would give “city hall too much control.”

From the responses, it would appear that many of the
24 communities were affected by voter distrust in govern-
ment.  A recent example of a failed charter election took place
in the City of Willis.  In 2005, the election failed 33 to 69.
However, in 2008, the citizens voted to approve essentially
the same document in a 72 to 18 vote.

In the next chapter, we will examine in much more
detail the areas in which home rule cities are free to act and
those in which state law has now preempted home rule au-
thority.

Advantages of home rule status
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

47



8

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

48



3 State preemption of local home rule

As pointed out in previous chapters, constitu-
tional home rule in Texas gives cities opportunities to re-
flect their own cultures, traditions, and individual
preferences.  But even in 1912, there were some limi-
tations on home rule powers; e.g., a maximum tax rate.
In subsequent years, the legislature has enacted other
general laws preempting such areas as methods and
dates of elections, conflict of interest for city coun-
cilmembers, and others.  This chapter will review, in
brief, how state law circumscribes home rule authority
today.  Detailed discussion of state limitations can be

found in the chapters in this report that cover particular func-
tional areas.  

In the figure covering the following several pages, in
the right-hand column, the notation “charter may provide…”
is not meant to imply that all these options should be placed
into a charter.  Several subjects are certainly candidates for
inclusion in an ordinance rather than the charter.  Examples
of this might include pay of the city council, creation of cer-
tain boards and commissions, certain procedures regarding
passage of ordinances, and others. 

9

Figure 3-1:  State preemption of home rule provision
July 2009

Subject Area Applicable State Law The Charter May Provide:
(LGC is the Local Government (Chapter references are to
Code, GC is the Government chapters in this report)
Code, Chapter or Section)

A.  Basic municipal structure

Any one of three forms of
government:

1.  Form of government Silent (1)  mayor-council, which 
may range from strong
mayor to weak mayor

(2)  council-manager
(3)  commission

B.  Governing body

1.  Size of governing body Silent A city may have as few as 
three members of the 
governing body; there is no 
maximum.

2.  Terms of office of Texas Constitution provides Charter may provide for one-, 
governing body. maximum of four-year term two-, three-, or four-year terms.

for city officials.  Article XI, It may also provide for  
Section 11. concurrent or staggered 

terms.

3.  Term limits Silent Charter may provide for term 
limits.

4.  Method of city council Silent Subject to the federal Voting
election Rights Act, charter may

provide for at large, at-large
by place, single-member 
district, cumulative or a 
combination of the above.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

49



5.  Election by majority or Texas Constitution (Article XI, In cities of less than 200,000
plurality Section 11) provides that population, charter may 

for any term of office more  provide for either majority or
than two years, vote must be plurality if council is elected
by majority. Section 275.003 for one- or two-year terms.
of the Election Code provides  
that in any city over 200,000  
in population, members of 
the governing body must be 
elected by majority vote.

6.  Selection of mayor Silent Charter may choose to elect
the mayor by direct vote of 
the people or have the 
position filled by the council 
choosing one of its own 
members after all members 
of the governing body have 
first been elected as council-
members.

7.  Selection of Silent Charter may allow the voters
administrative personnel to elect, the city council to

appoint, or the city manager
(if the city has one) to 
appoint administrative 
officials such as the city 
secretary, municipal court 
judge, city attorney, and 
others.

8.  Creation of boards and Some requirements on Charter may establish any 
commissions planning and zoning number of advisory boards to

commissions (See assist the city council in the
Chapter 211, LGC). State law governance of the city.
also regulates establishment of
some other boards; e.g., 
housing authorities, zoning
boards of adjustment, and others.

9.  Compensation of the Silent, except for cities with Charter may provide that the 
governing body a population greater than 1.9 governing body shall not be 

million. Salary of mayor, paid at all, may establish any 
city council, and controller   amount of salary citizens feel
is controlled by provisions is appropriate, or may 
Section 141.005 of LGC. provide that the governing 

body shall set its own pay.

10.  Filling vacancies on Texas Constitution (Article Charter may provide for
Governing body XI, Section 11) provides that filling vacancies by either

vacancy on council must be appointment of governing
filled by election if term of body or election by citizens,
office for that council is if the council is elected for
more than two years. one- or two-year terms.

Subject Area Applicable State Law The Charter May Provide:
(LGC is the Local Government (Chapter references are to
Code, GC is the Government chapters in this report)
Code, Chapter or Section)

10

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

50



11.  Qualifications for Basic qualifications for Charter can require 
governing body elected public official set candidates to be up to 21 

out in Texas Election Code, years old, rather than 18, 
Section 141.001. can require residence of up 

to 12 months rather than 6 
months set out in Election 
Code, and can require 
candidate to be qualified 
voter (Election Code is 
silent).  City cannot  
disqualify candidate for
failure to pay property taxes.

12.  Election dates for Elections for members of Run-off elections and 
governing body governing body must be elections to settle a tie vote

held on one of two uniform may be held on date other 
election dates provided by than a uniform election date. 
Election Code, Section Also, election to fill a 
41.001. vacancy required under the 

Constitution may be held on 
date other than a uniform 
election date.

13.  Governing body as Silent Charter may provide that
judge of the qualifications governing body may be the
of its own members judge of the qualifications of

its own members and may
empower governing body to
remove a member for lack
of attendance at city council
meetings or misconduct in
office, defined in various
ways.

14.  Meetings of governing All meetings must be open to Charter prevails if it has 
body – openness and the public except as allowed more restrictive provisions
frequency of meetings by the Texas Open Meetings for open meetings than

Act.  Silent on frequency of state law. Charter may 
meetings. provide for frequency 

of meetings.

15.  Passage and publication For ordinances carrying a Subject to requirements in
of ordinances penalty, city may publish second column, charter may

caption of ordinance in lieu of provide for exact procedures
charter requirement that text governing body must take 
of ordinance be published. If for passage and publication
charter does not provide for of ordinances.
method of publication, full
text or caption with penalty
indicated may be published 
at least twice in official 
newspaper.
(See Section 52.013, LGC).

Subject Area Applicable State Law The Charter May Provide:
(LGC is the Local Government (Chapter references are to
Code, GC is the Government chapters in this report)
Code, Chapter or Section)

11

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

51



16.  Codification of Ordinance adopting a code of Subject to requirement in
ordinances municipal ordinances must be second column, charter may

published in a newspaper provide for codification of
(See Section 53.002, LGC). ordinances.  (See Chapter 10).

17.  Emergency succession Presiding officer of governing Charter may provide for line
body, designated as the of succession for governance
emergency management director of city in event of 
that reports to the governor. emergency. (See Chapter 
(See Section 418.1015, GC). 17).

18.  Staff and benefits Silent Charter may provide for 
members of governing whatever staff and benefits 
body citizens feel council should

have.

C.  Mayor

1.  Powers of mayor Silent; see below. Charter may provide for
(Mayor-council form) appointment and budgetary

power to extent desired by
charter drafters and voters.

2.  Powers of mayor Although there is no general Charter may provide that:
(any form of government) statute setting forth power of –mayor does or does not 

mayor, there are some have veto;
specific statutes, including –mayor has regular vote, or
the power to declare an can vote only in case of tie;
emergency and power to –mayor can call special
appoint members of local meeting of council; and/or
housing authority. –in times of emergency,

mayor can be given extra-
ordinary powers over city
government operations.

D.  Expansion and contraction of city area

1.  General purpose Several restrictions placed on Charter may provide for
annexation cities by Chapter 43, LGC unilateral annexation by city

2.  Limited purpose State law (Section 43.121, Charter may provide for
annexation LGC) allows cities over limited purpose annexation.

225,000 to annex land for
limited purposes if such is
authorized in their charter.
Law has certain restrictions.

3.  Disannexation State law provides for Charter may provide for
procedures for disannexation voluntary disannexation 
for failure to provide services of territory by city.
(See Section 43.141, LGC).
State law allows charter to set
out procedure for voluntary
disannexation by city (See
Section 43.142, LGC).

Subject Area Applicable State Law The Charter May Provide:
(LGC is the Local Government (Chapter references are to
Code, GC is the Government chapters in this report)
Code, Chapter of Section)

12

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

52



Subject Area Applicable State Law The Charter May Provide:
(LGC is the Local Government (Chapter references are to
Code, GC is the Government chapters in this report)
Code, Chapter or Section)

13

E.  Administrative organization

1.  City manager/city Silent Charter may provide for
administrator mandatory or optional

appointment of city manager
by city council; may make
residence requirements,
provide or not provide for 
public hearing for city 
manager on discharge; may 
provide that individual must 
post bond; may prescribe 
duties.  
(See Chapter 12).

2.  Municipal court State law establishes a muni- State law heavily 
cipal court in every munici- preemptive.
pality in the state. The law (See Chapter 13).
also establishes the specific
jurisdiction for the court and
provides that home rule cities
in their charters may provide
for the method of selection of
the judge.  State law now
controls most of the matters
establishing municipal courts
of record.  (See Chapters 29
and 30, GC).

F. Municipal finance

1.  Ad valorem (property State Property Tax Code controls Charters may provide for the
tax) three of the four basic procedures fourth tax function, the 

for administering the property tax. collection of current and
Appraisal of property, handling delinquent taxes.
protests regarding value of property,
and assessment of taxes (prepara-
tion of the tax roll) are now all 
handled by appraisal districts.

2.  Other revenues State law controls all or a significant Charter may provide for user 
part of the following sources:  city fees, federal grants, special
sales tax, street rentals, fines, license assessments, and such mis-
and permit fees, hotel-motel tax, cellaneous sources as income
taxes on alcoholic beverages, and from sale of city property.
and occupation taxes.

3.  Annual operating budget Uniform Budget Law (Chapter Charter may provide for
102 LGC) sets out additional requirements. 
basic requirements city budgets (See Chapter 14).
must meet.

4.  Annual audit Texas cities must comply with Charter may provide for
the requirements of Section 103.001 additional requirements. 
et seq., LGC, which require an (See Chapter 14).
annual audit of the city’s financial
affairs.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

53



5.  Internal auditor Silent Charter may address this
position.

6.  Depository State law makes certain require- Charter may allow the 
ments regarding city depository. governing body to  
(See Chapter 105, LGC). select a depository for city 

funds.

7.  Purchasing State law requires a competitive Charter may provide for
procurement for most lower limit on requiring bids.
expenditures over $50,000. (See Chapter 14).
State law allows the city
council to override charter provisions
of lesser amounts by adopting an
ordinance. 
(See Chapter 252, LGC).

8.  Public works contracts LGC Chapter 252 applies to all Charter may stipulate certain
purchases; certain provisions of LGC requirements but they must 
Chapter 271 address public be consistent with state law. 
works contracts. City must
comply with both.

G.  Issuance of debt

1.  Short-term borrowing Silent Charter may allow governing
body to borrow money, to be 
repaid in the same fiscal 
year, without a vote of the 
citizenry.

2.  Certificates of Chapter 271, LGC regulates Charter may provide for
Obligation (C.O.) purposes of and length of governing body to issue 

maturity of C.O.s. C.O.’s for a wide variety
of  purposes for as long as 40 
years without a vote of the 
citizenry.

3.  General Obligation State law directs most of the Charter may provide for 
(G.O.) Tax Bonds procedures concerned with governing body to issue 

issuing G.O. bonds. debt to pay for facilities  
(See Chapters 1501-1510, GC). upon favorable vote of the

citizenry.

4.  Revenue bonds These may be issued under Charter may provide for this 
state law, without a vote of the type of bond, secured by 
people. Corpus Christi v. Flato, revenues from an income-
83 S.W.2d 433 (Tex. Ct. App. producing facility, without 
-San Antonio, 1935 Writ dism’d). a vote of the people. 

(See Chapter 14).

Subject Area Applicable State Law The Charter May Provide:
(LGC is the Local Government (Chapter references are to
Code, GC is the Government chapters in this report)
Code, Chapter or Section)

14

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

54



1. In General Chapter 41, Texas Election Exceptions to the uniform
Code, sets forth uniform election dates for run-off
election dates. elections for city council.

1. In General Silent Charter may provide for all,
some, or none of these direct
legislation methods.  
(See Chapter 15).

1. In General Several state laws set forth City’s powers are limited by 
regulatory restrictions on several state laws.  (See 
utility franchises, rate, and (Chapter 16 ).
services.

1.  Municipal fire and police Beginning in 1947, Texas Some cities have defeated 
Legislature has enacted laws and some have enacted 
relating to fire and police optional portions of fire
officers. and police legislation. 

2.  Residency of city Section 150.021 of LGC City, by charter or otherwise,
employees prohibits city from requiring may require members of 

city employees to live within governing body and 
city limits. See next column department heads appointed 
for exceptions to this law. by mayor or governing 

body to be residents.
May also set reasonable time
within which employees who 
reside outside the city must 
respond to a civil 
emergency.

3.  Right of certain municipal Chapter 174, LGC, requires City charter may address
employees to purchase some cities to provide this health insurance for retirees
continued health insurance coverage under certain consistent with state law.
coverage at retirement. conditions.

1.  Zoning The legislature has provided Within broad parameters, 
detailed provisions for the city may provide in charter 
exercise, by home rule cities, of for zoning commission and 
the zoning power.  The statutes mandate it to recommend a 
include procedures for the ordinance to the governing
zoning commission, composi- body.  Charter may provide
tion and duties of the zoning for continuous update of that
board of adjustment and a wide ordinance.
spectrum of other requirements.

Subject Area Applicable State Law The Charter May Provide:
(LGC is the Local Government (Chapter references are to
Code, GC is the Government chapters in this report)
Code, Chapter of Section)

H.  Elections other than those for governing body and charter amendments

I.  Initiative, Referendum, and Recall

J.  Franchises

K.  Personnel functions, civil service, merit system, city employees

L.  Planning and Zoning

15

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

55



Subject Area Applicable State Law The Charter May Provide:
(LGC is the Local Government (Chapter references are to
Code, GC is the Government chapters in this report)
Code, Chapter or Section)

2.  Planning The legislature has provided Charters may provide for the
detailed provisions for the exer- preparation and adoption of a
cise, by home rule cities, of the comprehensive plan, for a 
power to plan for orderly growth capital improvements 
and development. These statutes program, and budget, and
also provide for establishment of procedures for control of 
public improvement and municipal land development.
management districts, housing fi-
nance corporations, and procedures
for financing capital improvements.
(See Chapters 371-380 and
391-395, LGC).

M. Standards of conduct

1.  In general Texas Constitution and statutes Charter can be more 
address several subjects regard- restrictive than Constitution 
ing standards of conduct. or statutes; e.g., charter can  
Chapter 9 and 17 of this report contain restrictive provisions 
speak to these situations in regarding personal or 
in some detail. financial interest on part  

of city councilmember.

N.  Conflict of interest and ethical matters

1.  Dual office holding Texas Constitution and state Charters can have provisions
statutes govern this area. more restrictive than 

Constitution or 
applicable statutes.

2.  Incompatibility Texas court case ruling prohibits See Chapter 9 of this report
an individual from holding two under “Qualifications for 
offices where a subordinate Office.”
position is subject to the super-
vision and control of the other
position. Attorney general
opinions have stated that an 
individual is prohibited from 
serving in two offices where there  
are potentially conflicting interests
between the two positions.

3.  Separation of powers No longer a bar to dual office Charter may provide for 
holding.  additional requirements.
(AG Opinion GA-0348).

16

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

56



4.  City actions that benefit Chapters 171 and 176 of the LGC Charter may address this 
mayors and council- requires the public disclosure of area. State law provides that 
members conflicts between the public provisions of Chapter 171 

interest and councilmembers’ and 176 are cumulative; that  
private interests. is, both state law and charter

restrictions would apply.

5.  Nepotism This is addressed in Section Charter may provide for 
573.041 of the Texas Government stricter bounds of nepotism 
Code. than state law. Charter 

may also apply nepotism
provision to city manager
or city department heads
whom state law does not 
address.

6.  Political activities There are constitutional, statutory, Cities have some authority to
and case law restrictions on an regulate in some manner 
employee’s political activity, but political activities of their
also on the city’s right to prohibit employees as long as it 
some activities. Situations must is a reasonable restriction 
be handled on a case-by-case on an employee’s right to
basis. become a candidate for

office. (See Chapter 17).

Charter language in cases of state 
preemption

There are four different ways in which a city can ad-
dress the question of state preemption when drafting a new
charter or charter amendments.  All four of these methods are
being used by city charters today with no particular consis-
tency of approach.

The four alternatives are:
(1) Charter is silent. The charter omits any reference

whatsoever to subject areas already preempted by state law.
For example, a number of charters make no reference to the
oath of office, incompatibility, and other similar state-pre-
empted areas.

(2) Charter lists subject and immediately incorporates
state law by reference. Examples of this include references
to open meetings and open record acts, purchasing, issuance
of long-term debt, and other items.

(3) Charter repeats state law. Examples of this in-
clude charters that cite the state open meetings law and list
the exceptions that are allowed by that law.  Other examples
of this method include repeating the law of nepotism and dual
office holding.

(4) Charter has even stronger or more detailed provi-

sion than state law on given subject. Two examples of this
method are the following:  Regarding separation of powers, it
is not unusual for a charter to not only prohibit a current coun-
cilmember from serving as city manager but also to prohibit
former councilmembers from serving as city manager for a pe-
riod of time.  In fact, two city charters prohibit former mayors
and councilmembers from ever being appointed as city man-
ager. Next, the state law regarding adoption of the annual op-
erating budget is fairly general and many cities have much
more detailed requirements than the state sets out.

What is the proper way to handle state
preemption?

There is no “proper” way to treat the matter of state
preemption of certain areas of concern.  An argument could
be made for utilizing two or more of the methods listed above,
depending on the topic.  Cities should always have extra
copies of charters on hand so that individual citizens have ac-
cess to them.  We would expect that charters would be easier
to access and read than state statutes.  Several city officials
and urban experts argue against repeating state law in the
charter just to have it in there.  But it might be prudent and
“customer-friendly” to develop a fifth method of handling

Subject Area Applicable State Law The Charter May Provide:
(LGC is the Local Government (Chapter references are to
Code, GC is the Government chapters in this report)
Code, Chapter or Section)

17

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

57



such laws. The charter language might just have a brief state-
ment such as:

Open Meetings. City council meetings shall be con-
ducted in accordance with applicable state law.
(See Appendix __ for recitation of state law.)

The appendix to the charter could contain the text of
all applicable state laws.  Two advantages to this approach:
(1) an appendix would not have to be adopted by the citizens
as a charter amendment; and (2) the appendix could be
printed separately as often as desired to keep up to date with
changing state law.  By putting the detailed state law in the
appendix, a citizen is given a more complete picture of the
legal environment in which the city operates.

Subjects on which state statutes and
charter are both silent

A subject related to the question of state preemption
is the handling of subjects when state statutes and the charter
are both silent.  One area, for example, is that of compensa-
tion of city councilmembers.  As noted above, there is no state
statute speaking to the question of the amount of compensa-
tion for the governing body in home rule cites.  If a given char-
ter is also silent on this question, municipal attorneys have
generally reasoned that city councils can establish compen-
sation for themselves by ordinance.  This is an area in which
prudent action by the council would seem to be advantageous.
If the council gets “greedy” and establishes what the citizenry
considers unreasonable compensation, the council might well
be faced with a charter amendment election that would not
only establish a pay level, but might also invoke a level of
compensation much lower than presently enjoyed by members
of the governing body.

Presumably under the theory of “home rule,” if state
law and the charter are both silent, the city, by ordinance en-
acted by the city council, could undertake a wide range of ac-
tions.

18

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

58



Having discussed the concept and history of home
rule and the restrictions of state law upon charters, we now
turn to a brief description of procedures for adopting a new
charter and amending an existing charter.  This chapter con-
tent is primarily for neophytes in city government, but it
seems prudent to repeat some basic information because a
few Texas cities have misread some of the requirements in
the Constitution and/or statutes.  As an example:  One city
adopted charter amendments in three successive years, de-
spite the constitutional requirement that charters be altered
or amended no more often than once every two years.  Another
city interpreted the statute on amending the charter to permit
amendment by ordinance; the councilmembers used this in-
terpretation to give themselves a pay raise by an ordinance.
A charter can be amended only by the voters, of course.

Establishing the population of the city
(first charter)

Before the governing body takes any action in regard
to a charter commission, it must determine that its city is over
5,000 inhabitants and hence eligible under the constitution
to adopt a home rule charter.  If the preceding U.S. Census
recorded a population of at least 5,001, the city qualifies.
The city council can state this fact in its ordinance calling for
a vote on framing a new charter, in accordance with Section
9.002 (d) (discussed in more detail later).  (See Appendix D,
which includes Texas Local Government Code, Sections
9.002 and 9.003, spelling out requirements for adoption of
a new charter).

If the last official census recorded less than 5,001
inhabitants, the city council must make a good faith finding
that the city has grown to 5,001 or more.  To do this, cities
generally have used an unofficial census conducted by civil
volunteers, or have used utility connections with a multiplier.
Cities should consult with legal counsel prior to making  the
finding.  Improper evidence has led some cities into legal
trouble on the issue.  For example, in City of Granite Shoals.
v. Ted Winder, 280 S.W.3d 550 (Tex. App. – Austin 2009), a
city councilmember testified that the city simply multiplied
the number of utility connections by three (a number allegedly
selected at random).  The court concluded possible bad faith
because the city did not use demographics or census data to
determine the multiplier. After establishing by one of these
or other reasonable means that the city has more than 5,000
inhabitants, the council is ready to consider the question of
electing or appointing a charter commission to frame a charter
for the city.

Adopting the city’s first charter

Section 9.002 of the Local Government Code pro-
vides two different methods of selecting a charter commission
to draft a first-time charter.  One way is for the governing body
to provide for an election that gives the voters an opportunity
to elect a charter commission to draft a charter, and at that
same election, to choose the members of that charter com-
mission.  That same Section 9.002 provides that the charter
commission may be chosen in another way.  This method will
be discussed later.

Elected charter commission

To begin the elected charter commission process, the
governing body must adopt an ordinance by a vote of not less
than two-thirds of its membership to submit this question to
a vote of its citizenry:  “Shall a commission be chosen to
frame a new charter?”  If the governing body does not pass
such an ordinance voluntarily, it may be required to do so if
presented with a petition signed by at least ten percent of the
qualified voters of the municipality.

The elected commission approach is not the only way
to choose a commission,  but it may still be the best way in
that it gives the voters an opportunity to indicate whether they
really want to proceed with the drafting of a charter.

Section 9.002 (b) reads:  “The election ordinance
shall provide for the election to be held on the date of the
municipality’s next general election scheduled after the 30th

day but on or before the 90th day after the ordinance is
adopted.  However, if no general election is scheduled during
that period that allows sufficient time to comply with other
requirements of the law, the election shall be ordered for the
first authorized uniform election date prescribed by the Elec-
tion Code that allows sufficient time to comply with other re-
quirements of law and that occurs after the 30th day after the
date the ordinance is adopted and published in a newspaper
in the municipality.”

Section (c) provides that the same election shall pro-
vide for the election from the city at large of a charter com-
mission to draft a charter if a majority of the qualified voters
voting on the question of choosing a charter commission ap-
prove the question.  This sentence has generally been inter-
preted as requiring the two questions of framing a new charter
and selecting the members of the charter commission to be
asked separately, though they may be on the same ballot.  The
commission must consist of at least 15 members, but if it has
more than 15 members, it may not have more than one mem-
ber for each 3,000 residents of the city.  The ballot may not
contain any party designation.

4 Adoption and amendment of home rule charters

19

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

59



Alternative to elected commission

Section 9.002 (d) provides for an alternative way of
choosing a charter commission for a first-time charter.   The
alternative way has been used more frequently in recent years.
To reduce the opportunity for misinterpretation, it is best to
quote this subsection directly:

(d)  The provisions of Subsections (a), (b), and (c)
regarding the selection of a charter
commission to do not apply to the first charter 
election in a municipality if:

(1)  (a)  the governing body of the municipality 
selects a charter commission;

(b) a charter commission is selected at a 
mass meeting; or

(c) the mayor of the municipality appoints 
a charter commission; and

(2)  the charter commission has proceeded with 
the formation of a charter for the 
municipality.

Adoption of a new charter 
(not the first charter)

There is no question regarding the selection of a char-
ter commission when a city that previously has adopted a
charter decides to completely rewrite the document and adopt
a new charter.  The provisions of 9.002 (a) through (c) must
be followed requiring an elected charter commission.

The definition of a “completely new” charter has not
been litigated.  Cities have adopted numerous amendments
to an existing charter, including changing the form of govern-
ment and/or the election of the governing body, as well as
many other changes, and have done so under the statutes cov-
ering “charter amendments,” not the requirements for a new
charter. The record for number of amendments at one election
appears to be 81, submitted by one Texas city at a 2006 elec-
tion, with 80 amendments being approved by voters.  If such
an election is not contested by a citizen, there appears to be
no upper limit to the changes that can be made by amend-
ment.

Preparing for the charter commission
election

Several different ordinances must be passed, ballots
must be prepared, and other specific steps must be taken to
hold and then report the results of the charter commission
election.  Because these requirements can change from year
to year, samples of those documents are not included here
but may be obtained from the Texas Municipal League by con-
tacting  the TML Legal Department.

Guidelines for the charter commission

If a majority of those voting at the charter commission
election favor creating a charter commission, the 15 or more
members of that body can proceed with drafting a proposed
charter.  A charter commission is a very unusual governmental
body.  Most cities will not have such a group more than a few
times in a 100-year period.  Many of the individuals involved
in the work will be serving on a governmental body for the only
time in their lives.  Because of the Commission’s unusual na-
ture, the National Civic League has published a Guide for
Charter Commissions to accompany its Model City Charter
(see Bibliography).  Both publications can be ordered from
the National Civic League through its Web site at
www.ncl.org/publications.

OVER 30 - DON’T APPLY!

We submit herewith the original copy of
a proposed Home Rule Charter for the City of
_________ drafted by the Charter Commission
elected by the people on April 5, ____.

We urge that the Council, having taken
the initiative in recommending the Charter Commis-
sion for this purpose, endorse this proposed Charter
unanimously to the citizens of _________ for adop-
tion.

We recommend the following steps for
the Charter:

1.  Send to City Attorney for legality.
2.  Hire young lady to retype with enough copies for  

City Council.
3.  Have Council approved printing of Charter.
4.  Return to Charter Commission to take to printer  

in form they have planned to use for readability.
5.  Mail to citizens of _________.
6.  Call election for February 17, ____.

Preclearance under the Voting Rights
Act of 1965

The city must obtain “preclearance” of the charter
election from the U.S. Attorney General’s Office.  Section 5
of the federal Voting Rights Act prohibits the enforcement of
any voting qualification or procedure with respect to voting
rights unless it is approved by the U.S. Department of Justice
or by the U.S. District Court of the District of Columbia.  The
simpler process for gaining approval is to submit the proposed
changes to the U.S. Attorney General’s Office.  The approval
process is designed to ensure that the proposed changes in
the election process will not have the effect of denying or

20

Texas Home Rule Charters
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

60



abridging the right to vote “on account of race or color or
membership in a language minority group.”  42 U.S.C. Sec-
tion 1973c.  If you have any questions about the preclearance
process, it may be helpful to visit the U.S. Department of 
Justice Web site at: 

www.usdoj.gov/crt/voting/sec_5/guidelines.php.   

Additional questions may be answered by speaking
with a Civil Rights Analyst at the U.S. Attorney General’s Of-
fice by calling (202) 307-2767.

Preclearance submission may now be submitted elec-
tronically through the following Web site address: 

www.usdoj.gov/crt/voting/sec_5/making.php 

Preclearance submissions may be submitted by reg-
ular mail to the following address:

Chief, Voting Section
Civil Rights Division
Room 7254 - NWB
Department of Justice
950 Pennsylvania Ave., NW
Washington, D.C. 20530

Preclearance submissions may be submitted by
overnight express mail to the following address:

Chief, Voting Section
Civil Rights Division
Room 7254 - NWB
Department of Justice
1800 G St., NW
Washington, D.C. 20006

Submitting the new charter to voters

At the completion of its work, the charter commission
notifies the governing body and submits its proposed charter
to that body and to the citizens of the city.  The governing
body has no authority to change any of the work of the elected
commission (or the appointed commission if it is operating
under the provisions of Section 9.002 (d)).  To emphasize the
point, we repeat that in the case of a NEW charter, the gov-
erning body has no authority to change any of the provisions
of the proposed document.

Section 9.003 prescribes the election data for con-
sideration of the charter, and the governing body must set the
election in accordance with these provisions.

This same section provides that a copy of the pro-
posed charter shall be mailed to each registered voter of the
city at least 30 days before the election.

The section also states that the charter shall be pre-
pared by the commission so that each subject within it may
be voted on separately–to the extent practicable.  As a matter

of practice, no charter to our memory has been submitted in
any way except as a complete document with the voters asked
to vote “for” or “against” the document as a whole.  This re-
quires voters to accept the parts they dislike or to oppose
them along with the parts they favor.

Such a “one-vote” submission may appear to be
somewhat unfair to the voters.  However, it is virtually impos-
sible to separate sections of the charter and then make provi-
sions in the document for alternatives.  Because of this
difficulty, no court, to our knowledge, has ever turned down a
charter adoption because the document was submitted to the
citizens as “all or none.”

Charter adoption:  results and voter
turnout

A total of 61 cities have adopted first-time charters
since the publication of this document in 1994. These 61
first-time charters adopted in the past 15 years are a reflec-
tion of the tremendous growth of the state, particularly in the
metropolitan areas.  

Charter amendments

Charter amendment elections are held much more
frequently than elections for new charters.  Some cities have
had numerous amendment elections over the past 50 years
while others have been content to stick with the original doc-
ument. Very few communities have their original charter in
place.  Most have found it necessary to modify the original
document with amendments to provide for the best adminis-
tration of their cities  It appears the city with the oldest char-
ter in Texas with no amendments is the City of Hearne, being
adopted in 1964. Other communities have older charters and
have not amended their charters for decades, including the
City of Stamford which adopted its charter in 1918 with the
last amendment occurring in 1955, and the City of Gorman
which adopted its charter in 1920 and last amended it in
1960.

When a city holds a charter amendment election and
adopts one or more amendments, it must wait a full two years
before holding another such election.  Section 41.0041 of
the Texas Election Code allows a few days leeway in holding
some elections which require a certain waiting period, but this
law does not apply to charter amendment elections since they
are controlled by the constitution.

Procedure for amendment election

Charter amendment elections are precipitated in one
of two ways:  (1) the governing body on its own motion may
submit one or more amendments to the electorate, or (2) the
governing body must submit a proposed charter amendment
to the voters for their approval at an election if the submission
is supported by a petition signed by a number of qualified vot-

21

Adoption and amendment of home rule charters
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

61



ers equal to at least five percent of the number of qualified
voters of the municipality, or 20,000, whichever is the
smaller.  (See Appendix D for complete wording of statutory
requirements.)*

Charter amendment elections usually result from the
first procedure above.  In most cases, this is preceded by a
charter revision commission appointed by the governing body.
State statutes do not address charter revision bodies.  The
commission may be any number of individuals, may meet for
as short or long a time as the governing body allows, and usu-
ally is given a specific charge by the governing body to look
at one or more specific charter provisions that the governing
body thinks may need to be changed.

A significant difference between the elected first
charter commission and the appointed charter revision com-
mission is that in the latter case, the governing body has no
obligation to accept any of the recommendations of the ap-
pointed revision commission for changes in the current char-
ter.  As a matter of practical politics, however, governing
bodies generally give strong weight to the findings of the com-
mission, even though it is not unusual to find some deviation
from the recommendations when the election is actually
called. 

Preclearance under the Voting Rights
Act of 1965

Charter amendment elections must be precleared by
the U.S. Attorney General’s Office.  See section under Adop-
tion of New Charters for procedure.

The charter amendment election

Requirements for ordering the amendment election
and publishing required notices are all contained in Section
9.004, LGC.  Although the notice in the newspaper is required
to be a “substantial copy” of the proposed amendment, most
cities include actual charter language to be changed in that
notice, and this procedure is recommended to give voters full
knowledge of what they are voting on.

Section 9.004 also states that any “amendment may
not contain more than one subject.”  This requirement has
troubled city officials through the years, but has generally
been resolved through logical interpretation of the term “one
subject.”  For example, if a city is changing the form of gov-
ernment to a council-manager form, most cities have included
in one amendment the provisions for appointment of the man-
ager and all related language, even though such language may
appear in several different articles of the charter. Similarly,
when cities have desired to eliminate sections that are in con-
flict with state law, the general practice has been to consider
the “conflict with state law” as the one subject, and cite var-
ious sections in the charter affected, but all under one amend-
ment to the charter.  Neither of these practices has been
challenged to our knowledge.

Approval of amendment(s) by the voters

If the voters of the city approve one or more amend-
ments, the governing body must enter an order in the records
of the city (minutes of a council meeting) declaring the adop-
tion of the charter amendment(s).

In addition, as soon as practicable, the mayor or chief
executive officer of the city must certify to the Secretary of
State an authenticated copy of the amendment(s) under the
city’s seal showing the approval by the voters of the city.

22

Adoption and amendment of home rule charters
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

62



The work of elected charter commissions and ap-
pointed charter revision commissions has provided some very
interesting and diverse charters in Texas.  Charters range from
eight or ten pages to as many as 70 pages–the latter on legal
size paper, incidentally.  Short charters are not always the best
because they may leave out provisions that should be in-
cluded.  It is true that short charters are preferred–simplicity
and flexibility with a minimum of detail.  This is the recom-
mendation of the Model City Charter of the National Civic
League (NCL), now in its eighth edition.  Many Texas cities
pattern their new charters at least roughly along the lines of
the NCL model.  A copy of this publication can be ordered
from NCL at www.ncl.org/publications.

The NCL model charter has provided a degree of stan-
dardization in charter formulation and has resulted in a num-
ber of common elements among home rule charters in Texas.21

As the basic legal document of cities, most charters begin by
specifying the corporate name, reciting the form of govern-
ment under which the city intends to function, and setting
forth the boundaries of the city.  To establish the boundaries,
some cities have utilized three or four pages to set out by
metes and bounds the exact city limits even though that de-
scription probably is outdated by the time the charter is
printed.  Most cities now simplify with a brief paragraph that
states that the boundaries shall be enacted by ordinance and
may be changed as the city annexes by amendment to the
basic ordinance.  Usually, the charter provides that the official
maps of the city shall be maintained in an office in city hall
and that changes must be filed with the county clerk.  The
three items recited above generally constitute Article I of
many charters.

Article II is most frequently a statement of the powers
of the city.  This can vary from a one-page statement to several
pages comprising as much as one-half of the total charter.
The lengthy sections on powers may be a result of the home
rule amendment legislation originally enacted in 1913.  The
legislature at the time listed 34 different powers that home
rule cities would have.

Despite the listing by the legislature in 1913, most
municipal attorneys now feel that the statement of powers can
and should be a brief, all-encompassing statement.

The full discussion of city powers is the subject of
Chapter 7.

Following the listing of powers in Article II, many
Texas charters follows the order of major subjects addressed
in the NCL model charter.  

This would include major articles on:

• the city council
• the city manager (in a council-manager charter)
• departments, offices, and agencies
• financial procedures
• elections

Many other Texas charters, however, include 
major articles on:

• initiative, referendum, and recall
• franchises
• municipal planning and zoning

The NCL model charter concludes with three final ar-
ticles covering general provisions, charter amendments, and
transition separability provisions.  Almost all Texas charters
close with the same three articles as the model charter.

23

5 General design and format of 
Texas home rule charters

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

63



24

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

64



The first decision most charter commissions make in
developing a new charter is what form of government the
fledgling home rule city will have.

Status of forms of government 
in the U.S. today

The International City Managers Association pub-
lishes the Municipal Yearbook annually with figures on the
number of U.S. cities operating under each of the different
forms of government.  The latest survey of this type was pub-
lished in 2009 and produced the following results.

                

                In the 1994 edition of this book, among all cities
and towns, the mayor-council form of government was the
most popular of any listed. Compared to the 2009 numbers,
there has been a 37 percent increase in communities utilizing
the council-manager form of government, while there has
been an 18 percent decrease in those cities operating under
a mayor-council system. Among cities having populations from
10,000-50,000 and 50,000-250,000, the council-manager
plan is the leader.
                The mayor-council form predominates among the
older northeastern cities and in older cities of the Midwest
and south.  The council-manager plan is most popular in Cal-
ifornia, Texas, Michigan, Illinois, and Maine.
                The commission plan is favored by only about two
percent of the cities reporting in this survey.  “The very small
percentages of cities which have identified themselves as hav-
ing a commission form of government in this study have, by
charter, mandated the hiring of a city manager.  To that extent,
they are not a ‘true’ commission form of government but
rather operate as a council-manager form of government.”
Zech, Charles E., “An Analysis of Texas Home Rule Charters”
(2008), Texas State University Applied Research Projects,
Paper 280, p. 44.

Brief history of forms of government 
in Texas

                In the early days, all Texas cities were variations
of the mayor-council form of government. This changed in
1900 when Galveston’s mayor-council government collapsed
during the disastrous storm and tidal wave.  A group of citi-
zens persuaded the legislature to grant the city a new charter,
providing for a government by five commissioners, three ap-
pointed by the governor and two elected by the citizenry.  Each
member of the municipal governing body–the city commis-
sion–simultaneously served as commissioners and heads of
the city’s administrative departments, exercising day-to-day
supervisory authority over a particular department.  A court
decision in 1903 ruled all five commissioners should be lo-
cally elected.  The plan spread like wildfire.  Houston adopted
it in 1905, and five more cities adopted it in each of the leg-
islative years of 1907, 1909, and 1911.  By 1915, there were
at least 39 home rule cities in the state, the large majority
choosing the commission plan.22

                            By then, however, the stage had been taken by an-
other reform movement – the council-manager plan.  Begun
in Virginia, South Carolina, or California–depending on the
version of the story you like–this plan was advertised as being
patterned after business.   Stockholders (the voters) elect a
board (a city council) and that body appoints a chief executive
officer (a city manager).  Amarillo kept the commission plan
only a few short years and in 1913 jumped to the council-
manager plan, with Taylor, Terrell, and Denton following the
next year.  A short but steadily growing list of cities changed
from commission or the mayor-council form to council-man-
ager each year from 1913 to 1932.  Today, Texas has more
council-manager cities than any state in the union except Cal-
ifornia.  The commission plan reached its zenith in the early
1900s and then fell rapidly out of favor.  Today, Texas does
not have a single city with the commission form.  In the entire
nation, Portland, Oregon, is the only major city with that form
of government.
                The mayor-council form of government, the origi-
nal form in the colonies, continues to make a strong showing
particularly in the largest cities of the nation and in the very
small cities and towns. Forty-four percent of the 7,225 U.S.
cities and towns with populations of 2,500 residents are gov-
erned by a mayor-council system; with six of the nation’s ten
largest cities using  the mayor-council form. However, for the
ten largest cities in Texas, only Houston utilizes the mayor-
council form of government. In Texas, Houston and Pasadena
are the major cities with this form of government.  Houston,
for a period of five years in the 1940s, changed to the coun-
cil-manager plan, but reverted to mayor-council in 1947.     
                

25

6 Form of government

Figure 6-1:  Forms of government

Form of All Cities   Cities Under  10,000     50,000       Over 
Government 10,000 to to 250,000

50,000 250,000

Mayor-Council 3,145 1,967 942 197 39

Council-manager   3,534 1,661 1,463 383 27

Commission 143 72 62 7 2

Town meeting 340 233 107 0 -

Rep. Town Meeting  63 17 41 5 -

Total all cities 7,225 3,950 2,615 592 68

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

65



                It should be noted that the mayor-council form of
government is sometimes defined as two different forms: the
“strong” mayor and the “weak” mayor forms.  The ultimate
in a “strong” mayor form would probably be Denver, Colorado,
where the mayor of that city/county is authorized to:

• sign contracts up to $500,000 without any notice to or
confirmation by the city council;

• prepare the annual operating budget, which can be
changed only by a two-thirds vote of the 13-member city
council 

• appoint and remove some 50 department heads, includ-
ing county judges and board and commission members,
all without approval or confirmation by the city council;
and

• select the outside auditor to conduct the annual audit of
city operations.

                
                Certainly, no Texas mayor claims this level of au-
thority.  On the other hand, a “weak” mayor form usually
means several of the following are in the charter:  

• the mayor has no veto; the mayor’s appointments of de-
partment heads and boards and commissions must be
confirmed by city council vote; 

• the mayor has a vote in the council chamber only in case
of a council tie vote; and 

• the mayor’s budget authority is circumscribed.

Major determinants of the form 
of government

                With these choices available, how do new charter
cities in Texas make their choice?  Undoubtedly, the total
number of cities in the state and in the U.S. with each type
of government influences the decision of charter makers.  But
the two most important determinants of this decision are prob-
ably: (1) the form of government of the city’s neighboring
cities–particularly larger ones, and (2) the form of government
the city has been operating under as a general law city.
                There is no question that the form of government
of neighboring cities–particularly larger cities in the area–in-
fluences the choice of form of government for new home rule
cities.  It is no accident that the area around Houston (mayor-
council) has more cities with this form of government than
might otherwise be expected. A few cities undoubtedly influ-
enced by Houston’s choice include Pasadena, Texas City,
League City, and Hitchcock. Conversely, the Dallas/Fort Worth
metroplex has virtually no mayor-council cities. Here, the in-
fluence of those two large council-manager cities certainly has
been felt through the years.
                The second determinant–the general law plan cur-
rently operative–is also a factor in choice of the form of gov-
ernment for the new home rule city.
                Those who write a city’s first-time charter are ob-
viously very familiar with the current organization and prac-
tices of the city as it is then operating as a general law city.

The charter writers undoubtedly decide that they would like
to duplicate some of the current practices while happily dis-
carding other general law requirements and procedures.  The
two most influential practices of general law cities that appear
to be carried over to home rule charters might well be:  (1)
the six-member city council with the mayor as the sixth mem-
ber voting only in case of a tie, and (2) the position of city ad-
ministrator which more than 300 general law cities have
established by ordinance.  Of the home rule cities governed
by a six-member council, it is somewhat common for the
mayor to vote only in case of a tie.  This arrangement has been
known to cause some problems as we shall see when we ad-
dress the role of the mayor in Chapter 8.  The experience of
the general law city with a city administrator will likely be the
factor that determines whether the charter commission rec-
ommends a council-manager or a mayor-council form for the
new home rule city.

Charter revision to change the 
form of government 
                Regardless of their size, cities with existing char-
ters may also change the form of government if they so
choose.  Texas cities have been extremely reluctant to exercise
this option in the last 60 years; only four major cities have
made such a change during that time.  Houston, mentioned
earlier, changed briefly and reverted back to mayor-council in
1947.  San Antonio (1951), Laredo (1981), and more re-
cently El Paso (2004), abandoned the mayor-council form  for
the council-manager plan.
                Following the 2007 election year, charters were
adopted by the cities of Buda, Celina, Hondo, Los Fresnos,
Roma, and Windcrest.  The 2008 election produced addi-
tional charter cities in Iowa Park, Lucas, and Willis.  Horse-
shoe Bay, Pittsburg, and South Padre Island approved home
rule charters in 2009.  The count for each form of government
is as follows:
                
                1994 2008

Council-Manager: 87% 89%
Mayor-Council: 13% 9%
Commission: 0% 2%*

                The count above is accurate, but at the same
time, does not tell the whole story.  The council-manager plan
has changed from the original structure of the plan, which
called for:  (1) a mayor who was selected from among the
council after all winners had been seated as councilmembers,
(2) a non-paid governing body, and (3) at-large elections.  Al-
though a few cities still adhere to these criteria, most coun-
cil-manager cities have long ago changed to electing the
mayor at-large, with some or all of the councilmembers
elected by districts.  Pay for the mayor and council is a sig-
nificant change, and the dollar figure keeps rising every year.
                The great majority of council-manager cities con-
tain all the basic elements of the plan:  selection of a profes-

26

Texas Home Rule Charters
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

66



sional administrator, prohibitions against council interference
with the city manager’s appointments and day-to-day opera-
tions, and charging the city manager with responsibility for
budget preparation.  Some cities, however, have at best a
weak manager plan.  Evidence of this type charter is council
appointment of various department heads, including at times
the police chief, fire chief, city engineer, and others.  The
Temple charter calls for council appointment of a finance di-
rector and the Sweetwater charter for the appointment of a
city comptroller.

*“The very small percentages of cities which have identified
themselves as having a commission form of government in
this study have, by charter, mandated the hiring of a city man-
ager.  To that extent, they are not a ‘true’ commission form of
government but rather operate as a council-manager form of
government.“ Zech, Charles E., “An Analysis of Texas Home
Rule Charters” (2008), Texas State University Applied 
Research Projects, Paper 280, p. 44.

27

Form of government
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

67



28

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

68



7               Powers of the city

Introduction

                The purpose of the home rule amendment to the
Texas Constitution was to free cities over 5,000 inhabitants
from going to the legislature each session for authorization to
take care of some problem at home.
                Perhaps the enabling act spelling out 34 specific
powers left charter drafters unsure whether the constitutional
amendment would be upheld to be as broad as intended.
Whatever the reason, cities that are supposed to have any
power not prohibited to them still have charters that devote
20-25 pages doing what amendment writers in 1912 were
trying to avoid–spelling out powers in endless detail.
                Not one but dozens of charters take from one-
fourth to one-half of the total charter to spell out the powers
of the city.  These charters spend several pages on the details
of the power of the city to maintain peace and order, to regu-
late streets, to levy assessments; to spell out the powers of
eminent domain and annexation, the power to maintain a li-
brary, hospital, parks and playgrounds and other city facilities;
and finally, to provide and supervise the municipal court.
                Several of the powers spelled out in some of the
more detailed sections have been preempted by the legisla-
ture.  These include assessments for street improvements,
much regulation of public utilities, and the basic operating
practices of a municipal court.
                The preemptions of these specific powers above
is reason enough not to try to spell out in excruciating detail
every conceivable situation that may occur to a charter drafter.
In this day of rapid societal change, the old adage “to include
does not intend to do so, but by its very nature excludes every-
thing not specifically included” can come back to haunt us.

Inherent powers of a city23

                Chapter 2 discussed briefly the concept of inher-
ent powers possessed by a city and used four examples of
such powers–municipal organization; annexation; initiative,
referendum, and recall; and charter amendments–to illustrate
the advantages of home rule over general law.  There are nu-
merous other examples of powers that Texas home rule cities
enjoy.  These powers are cited in some detail here not to en-
courage cities to spell out these powers in a charter, but to
portray the wide variety of powers possessed by a home rule
city.  All these can be encompassed in broad statements that
the DeLeon charter, described later in this chapter, illustrates
quite well. 

The police power

                The council has the power to regulate a wide
range of local activities in order to promote the general welfare
of the city’s residents.  This is known as the city’s “police
power,” and it encompasses all governmental powers exer-
cised for the public good.
                More particularly, the police power is defined as
the city’s authority to preserve and promote the health, safety,
morals, and welfare of local citizens.  It is based on the prem-
ise of the supremacy of the rights of the general public over
individual rights.  Some of the more common methods by
which municipal police powers are exercised are described
below.
                In order to preserve the peace, the city council
has the power to create a police department to maintain order,
enact ordinances controlling noise and other disturbances,
and prevent animals from running at large.  The council also
can declare certain activities to be public nuisances and pe-
nalize persons who create them.  The courts have held the
city’s authority to protect the health of the public to be gen-
erally broader than other municipal police powers.
                The regulation of dogs and other animals, the reg-
ulation of unwholesome business practices, and the regulation
of slaughter houses are just a few of the powers the city coun-
cil may exercise to protect the health of its citizens.  The
council also has the power to enact quarantine regulations,
regulate cemeteries, and inspect and license restaurants and
other food service establishments.
                Additionally, the city council can enact a zoning
ordinance to regulate the height and size of buildings, the size
of lots and density of population, the location and use of
buildings and other aspects of land and improvements
thereon, and the uses to which they are put (Chapter 211,
Local Government Code).  The city council also has the au-
thority to prescribe standards for the construction of buildings
within the city, regulate the condition of buildings, and con-
demn unsafe buildings (Chapter 214, Local Government
Code).  
                While home rule cities still have broad powers, the
Texas legislature often passes laws that preempt city authority.
This practice is usually directed at the activities of one or a
few cities, but has become a troubling practice because it can
affect all cities. 

29

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

69



                

Planning and subdivision controls

                The city council has the power to spend municipal
funds to compile statistics, conduct studies, and make plans
for the orderly growth of the city and the welfare of its resi-
dents.  The council can create a planning commission to de-
velop and maintain a city plan and can establish a planning
department to implement the plan  (Chapters 211, 212, 213,
Local Government Code).
                The council can establish rules and regulations
governing the subdivision and development of land within the
city.  The city also can extend its subdivision controls to land
located within the city’s area of extraterritorial jurisdiction in
order to assure the orderly development of outlying areas. 

Annexation

                If permitted under the charter, the council can ex-
ercise its annexation powers to bring adjoining unincorporated
areas into the city without the consent of the residents in
those areas (Chapter 43, Local Government Code). Since state
law controls many aspects of annexation by a home rule city,
it is prudent for a city council to bring its city attorney into
any discussion of annexation.

Regulation of streets and 
other public places

                The city council has supervisory powers over all
streets, alleys, sidewalks, bridges, parks, and other public
ways and places within the city.  The council has the power
to:  (1) regulate the use of streets and other public ways, pro-
vide for cleaning and lighting, prevent and remove encroach-
ments, and direct and regulate the planting of trees; (2)
regulate openings for laying out gas, water, and other mains
and pipes; (3) regulate the use of sidewalks and require the
owners or occupants of abutting premises to keep their side-
walks free from obstructions; (4) prevent activities that would
result in damage to streets, alleys, or other public grounds;
(5) regulate crosswalks, curbs, and gutters; (6) regulate the
posting of signposts, handbills, and similar items on streets,
sidewalks, and other grounds; (7) regulate traffic and sales on
streets, sidewalks, and other public spaces; and (8) control
weedy lots and junked vehicles. 

Construction of public facilities

                In addition to its regulatory powers, the council
has the authority to erect, construct, and maintain a wide va-
riety of facilities for public use, including water and sewage
systems, airports, hospitals, parks, libraries, market houses,
transit systems, electric and gas systems, streets, bridges, cul-
verts, sidewalks, street lights, and many other kinds of facili-
ties.

Legislative restatement of broad powers
and case law

                In codifying the statutes pertaining to local gov-
ernment in 1987, the legislature tried to restate the law to
make it perfectly clear that home rule cities have “full power
of local self-government.”  In fact, that phrase is quoted from
the Local Government Code (Section 51.072, paragraph (a)).
Paragraph (b) of that same section states:  “The grant of pow-
ers to the municipality by this code does not prevent, by im-
plication or otherwise, the municipality from exercising the
authority incident to local self-government.”
                In addition, the cases excerpted in the LGC, fol-
lowing Section 5.072, reiterate over and again the rulings of
courts that have consistently upheld a city’s broad powers.

The powers article in DeLeon charter

                Barney Knight, former city attorney of Temple and
Austin, and now representing various small cities through his
private practice, redrafted the “powers” section of the City of
DeLeon’s charter several years ago.  Mr. Knight spent consid-
erable time researching and wording that statement of powers
to take advantage of every power authorized by the Constitu-
tion and statutes, while still being brief.  That wording in the
DeLeon charter, of which Mr. Knight and the city are justly
proud, is as follows:

                

Figure 7-1:  Article III - Municipal Powers

SECTION 1. The said City of DeLeon shall have
power to ordain and establish such
acts, laws, rules, regulations, resolu-
tions, and ordinances, not inconsis-
tent with the Constitution and laws of
Texas and of this Charter, as shall be
needful for the government, interests,
health, welfare and good order of said
City and its inhabitants.  Under the
name of the City of DeLeon it shall be
known in law and have succession and
be capable of contracting and being
contracted with, suing and being

30

IS YOUR “VELOCIPEDE” 
FRIGHTENING HORSES?

Sec. 7.  To prohibit, restrain and regulate the rolling
of hoops, the flying of kites, the use of velocipedes
or other amusement or practice tending to annoy
persons passing upon the streets or sidewalks, or to
frighten horses or teams.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

70



sued, impleading and being im-
pleaded, answering and being an-
swered unto, in all courts and
tribunals, and in all amounts whatso-
ever, subject to the laws of the State
of Texas, or which shall hereafter be
passed.

The City of DeLeon shall have the
power to take, hold, lease, grant, pur-
chase and convey such real property
or mixed property or estate, situated
within, or without, the limits thereof,
as the purpose of said corporation may
require and shall have and use a cor-
porate seal, and change and renew the
same at pleasure.

SECTION 2.  Rights Reserved - All suits, taxes,
penalties, fines, forfeiture, and all
other rights, claims and demands, of
every kind and character, which have
accrued under the laws in favor of said
city, heretofore in force governing the
same, shall belong to and vest in said
city and shall not abate by reason of
the adoption of this Charter, and shall
be prosecuted and collected for the
use and benefit of said City of DeLeon
and shall not be in any manner af-
fected by the taking effect of this
charter; but as to all of such rights,
the laws under which they shall have
accrued shall be deemed to be in full
force and effect.

SECTION 3. Local Self-Government - The City of
DeLeon shall possess and may exer-
cise the full power of local self-govern-
ment.  It may hold, by gift, deed,
devise, or otherwise, any character of
property, including any charitable or
trust fund, and subject to and within
the limits of superior law may act in
perpetual succession as a body politic.

SECTION 4.  For greater certainty, the following
are hereby especially enumerated and
referred to as being among the other
powers which are hereby conferred
upon and which may be exercised by
the City of DeLeon, to-wit:
A.  All of the powers conferred upon
cities and towns by Title 22 of the Re-
vised Civil Statutes of Texas, 1911,
except as may hereafter be denied,

limited or extended, are hereby con-
ferred upon the City of DeLeon as fully
and completely as if such powers were
herein separately enumerated.
B.  All powers, privileges and immuni-
ties conferred upon cities of more
than five thousand inhabitants, by
Section 4 of Chapter 147, Acts of the
33rd Legislature, General Laws Regu-
lar Session, at Page 310 to 316, enti-
tled, “An Act Authorizing Cities
Having More Than Five Thousand In-
habitants, by a Majority Vote of the
Qualified Voters of said City, at an
Election Held for the Purpose to Adopt
and Amend their Charters, etc; and
such powers are hereby conferred
upon the City of DeLeon as fully and
completely as if each of said men-
tioned powers were herein separately
enumerated; but enumeration of spe-
cial powers herein, or in the Statutes
referred to, shall not be held or con-
strued to preclude the city from exer-
cising all powers of local government
not inhibited by the Constitution and
Laws of the State of Texas, or by spe-
cial limitations in this Charter con-
tained, the purpose of this Charter
being to enlarge upon the power ex-
tended by the general laws of cities in-
corporated thereunder, and to secure
to the City of DeLeon, all the powers
conferred by the Constitution and
Laws of this State upon cities having
more than five thousand inhabitants.

31

Powers of the city
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

71



The model charter 

                Perhaps one day in the twenty-first century case
law will be so well established that a powers statement could
be shortened even further to read as the NCL model city char-
ter suggests:

Figure 7-2:  Article I - Powers of the City

Section 1.01. Powers of the City.
The city shall have all powers possible
for a city to have under the constitu-
tion and laws of this state as fully and
completely as though they were
specifically enumerated in this char-
ter.

Section 1.02. Construction.
The powers of the city under this char-
ter shall be construed liberally in favor
of the city, and the specific mention
of particular powers in the charter
shall not be construed as limiting in
any way the general power granted in
this article.

Section 1.03. Intergovernmental Relations.
The city may participate by contract or
otherwise with any governmental en-
tity of this state or any other state or
states or the United States in the per-
formance of any activity which one or
more of such entities has the authority
to undertake.   

Federal Voting Rights Act

                There is one cautionary note in this discussion of
powers.  The city council needs to  continually be aware of
the requirements of the federal Voting Rights Act, for it not
only restricts the city’s freedom in city council elections, but
also must be taken into account before annexing land.
                
Under that Act, federal approval is required for:

• the relocation of a municipal election polling place or
changes in any precinct boundary line;

• the annexation of territory that affects local voting pat-
terns to any degree whatsoever;

• a change in the method of electing city councilmembers
(for example, a change from at-large elections to elections
by wards, or vice versa); and

• a change in the terms of elected municipal officials or a
change in the method of selecting any official (for in-
stance, providing that an official whose office is presently
appointive will in the future be elective, or vice versa).

                This list is not all inclusive; rather, it offers a few
examples of the kinds of election-related actions that are sub-
ject to federal approval.  The scope of the Voting Rights Act
is intentionally broad and, as the administrative procedures
written to implement it indicate, the Act applies to any
“change affecting voting,” which includes any voting qualifi-
cation, prerequisite to voting, standard, practice or procedure
different from that in force on November 1, 1972, however
minor or indirect the difference might appear to be.
                Under the Act, prior to final implementation of
any annexation, any change of polling place, change in the
term of any municipal elected official, or any other “change
affecting voting,” the city must do one of the following:  (1)
obtain a declaratory judgment from the U.S. District Court for
the District of Columbia that the proposed change will not re-
sult in the denial or abridgement of the right of any person to
vote because of his or her race or color; or (2) submit the pro-
posed change to the U.S. Attorney General.  If, within a spec-
ified time, the Attorney General fails to object to the proposed
change on the basis that it will have the effect of abridging or
denying any person’s voting rights on account of race or color,
the change can be implemented.
                Of note is the 2009 U.S. Supreme Court decision
in the case of Northwest Austin Municipal Utility District v.
Holder, 129 S.Ct. 2504 (2009), which concluded that a po-
litical subdivision may apply to federal court in Washington,
D.C., to “bailout” (be exempted) from the Act’s requirements.
In any event, the city council should seek the counsel of an
attorney whenever it contemplates any action that might result
in a “change affecting voting.”  Failure to comply with the re-
quirements of the Act can subject city officials to civil and
criminal penalties and can mean that any “change affecting
voting” will always be subject to challenge.

32

Texas Home Rule Charters
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

72



8               The mayor

                “The Mayor” is one of the most prestigious polit-
ical positions in American politics.  From that position, indi-
viduals have advanced to governor, United States senator,
presidential cabinet member, and other less prominent posts.
Although some would say the position does not carry the
power it once did, U.S. presidents still listen to mayors.
                As the political head of a city, the mayor is ex-
pected to provide the leadership necessary to keep it moving
forward.  Except under the council-manager form of govern-
ment, the mayor is the city’s chief executive officer.  Virtually
all charters recognize the person in that position as the cere-
monial and governmental head of the city.  In addition, the
mayor is usually designated the city’s chief executive in times
of disaster and emergencies.  Several Texas charters delegate
extraordinary powers to the mayor in emergency situations.
Most of the day-to-day powers and responsibilities of the
mayor are spelled out in the city charter or in ordinances.  Very
few mayoral powers are prescribed by state law.
                The mayor’s most important duty is to furnish the
political and community leadership to build and maintain a
healthy and viable city.  This is often achieved through work-
ing with a city council and the city administration for a goal-
oriented legislative and budgetary program to meet the needs
of the citizenry.  As presiding officer of the city council, the
mayor can exercise a considerable amount of influence
through the power of recognizing councilmembers for motions
or statements, ruling on questions of procedure, and in some
cities, vetoing actions of the city council.
                Historically, the mayor’s real powers have fluctu-
ated, depending on the form of government utilized and the
complexity of problems faced.

The mayor in American history

                Certainly the mayor was the key figure in early
American cities.  In early times in Texas, as throughout the
nation, cities were governed by the mayor-council form of gov-
ernment, and many mayors wielded extensive powers through
appointments and patronage.  He–and they were all males for
a long time–was the undisputed chief executive officer of the
city.  This did not change with the advent of the commission
form of government in 1900, but did begin to change with
the initiation of the council-manager movement in the early
1900s.  Richard Childs, one of the founders of the council-
manager plan, was adamant about calling the person in the
position “chairman,” not mayor.  He insisted that individuals
run for the city council and then select one of their own as
chairman.  Childs and other early proponents of the council-
manager plan believed the strength of the plan was in the pol-
icy and political leadership of the council as a whole, not in a

single individual.
                But as cities throughout the country grew, many
citizens felt the need for a single, strong political leader in
the person of “the mayor” to keep their city in the forefront
of economic development and prosperity.
                Thus, the “strong” mayor plan flourished in many
cities and produced such leaders as Ivan Allen, Sr., and later
Ivan Allen, Jr., in Atlanta; Louie Welch in Houston; and
Richard Lee in New Haven.  They and others were hailed for
their political and community leadership.
                Those mayors “ruled” from charter strength.  But
a different type of mayor evolved in the larger cities under the
council-manager plan – a “facilitative” mayor.  With none of
the appointment, budgetary, or executive power of the men
mentioned above, mayors such as Eric Jonsson in Dallas and
Henry Cisneros in San Antonio led their cities by sheer per-
sonal magnetism and intellect, facilitating local successes
through the joint action of the total city council and profes-
sional administrators.
                Today, mayors in both forms of government are re-
lying to a great extent, not on the formal authority of the of-
fice, but on personal informal authority as the “elected
spokesperson for the community.  They work with all segments
of the city and the region to initiate, expand, and improve gov-
ernmental services.”  Neal Peirce, in his book, Citistates, says
it this way:

In virtually every city there is a cry for leadership –
for someone to take a strong hand to organize the
town for the future.  Yet an individual who tries to
take too prominent a role or steps on toes of any in-
terest group suddenly finds himself or herself under
fire, oftentimes in the local press . . . None of that
means we need leaders any less . . . A central civic
challenge for today’s citistates is thus to nurture,
encourage, and advance a replacement generation
of civic entrepreneurs.  Some will surely be from
businesses large and small.  But others need to be
from universities, citizens groups, minority commu-
nities, and especially the expanding professions of
the new service economy, from law to medicine–to
accounting.

                Peirce acknowledges inherent problems in civic
efforts: major corporate officials too occupied with global sur-
vival to participate, lack of media support, racial groups sus-
picious of less than a fair share, too many plans never
implemented. He concludes, however, that the problems un-
derscore the importance of the goal.

33

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

73



Nevertheless, the absence of effective leadership,
a citistate totally adrift, is a more frightening
prospect.  The nurturing of new leaders and the cre-
ation of metropolitan partnerships that open a way
for those leaders to play important region-wide roles
are two of the most critical challenges for American
citistates in the 1990s.24

Distinct differences in mayors’ positions

                There remain, however, distinctive differences be-
tween the charter authority and duties of a mayor leading a
mayor-council city and a mayor leading a council-manager
city.
                A comparison of key elements of the mayor’s role
in the three largest cities in Texas pinpoints the differences.

                
*The City Council, with mayor voting, does appoint the city
manager, city attorney, city secretary, and city auditor.
                It seems obvious from the comparison in figure 8-
1 that an examination of the mayor’s role demands two sepa-
rate tabulations for the two forms of government.  It would be
useless to report that the average salary of the mayors in the
three largest cities in Texas was something like $6,649 per
month. Yet, some national and state publications in the past
have combined mayors of all cities into one summary tabula-
tion.25

Charter language regarding the mayor

                The pay and responsibility table displays the dif-
ferences between the mayor’s position in Houston, Dallas, and
San Antonio reflecting the content of the “Mayor” articles in
their respective charters.
                The Houston charter, and similarly the mayor-
council charters of Pasadena, Bay City, and others, devote a
specific article to the mayor.  These articles cover such areas
as the definition of the mayor’s position, general powers of
the mayor, privilege of vote and veto, authority for removal of
appointive officers and employees, and compensation of the

mayor.  Mayor-council charters thus address the mayor as the
elected head of the city and the chief executive officer.  For
the latter role, the provisions are similar to the city manager
sections in a council-manager charter.
                The Dallas charter, and many other council-man-
ager charters, devote one section (one paragraph) to the mayor
exclusively.  Other sections cover the responsibilities of the
mayor as a member of the entire city council.

Selection of the mayor

                Mayors of all mayor-council cities in Texas are
elected at-large by the voters.  Although this is the practice
in the great majority of council-manager cities, mayors in six
percent of council-manager cities are elected as councilmem-
bers and then selected by their colleagues as the city’s mayor.

Selection of the
mayor by the council
is reported in some
35 percent of coun-
cil-manager cities na-
tionwide. The Texas
number at six percent
is down from the nine
percent of the cities
in Texas reporting this
method in 1994.

Compensation
of the mayor

Salary of the mayor
is addressed in two different ways by Texas charters. The table
below shows these provisions and the number of charters, by
form of government, that utilize each of these methods:

*These figures include charters that specifically state the city
council shall set its own compensation and charters that are
silent on this subject.  Where a charter is silent, Section
141.004 of the Local Government Code provides that a gov-
erning body of a home rule city may establish a level of com-
pensation for itself.

34

Texas Home Rule Charters

Figure 8-1:  Differences in mayor’s positions

Factor        Houston Dallas San Antonio
                (Mayor-Council) (Council-Manager) (Council-Manager)
                Pop. - 2,208,000 Pop. - 1,240,000 Pop. - 1,328,000
                
Pay            $14,583/month $5,000/month $366/month

Appointment of city’s Appoints, subject to No individual decision No individual  decision 
Department heads City Council approval authority in this area* authority in this area*

Annual budget Prepares for City No individual decision No individual decision 
                Council approval authority in this area authority in this area

Figure 8-2:  Setting the salary of the mayor

                  Mayor-Council        Council-Manager
                  charters charters
                  1994     2008        1994     2008

Council sets pay* 46%      38%         55%      38%

Charter sets specific     54%      62%         45%      62%
salary or salary range

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

74



                Salary is an area in which the difference between
the two forms of government is very apparent, particularly in
the larger cities.  The average pay of the mayors in mayor-
council cities is $861.68 per month.  This is virtually mean-
ingless, however, since that figure includes not only Houston
and Pasadena, but also DeLeon (pop. 2,400) and Olney (pop.
3,300) as well as a host of other smaller cities. It is important
to note that 45 percent of mayors in mayor-council cities re-
ceive no compensation at all. It is more enlightening to note
that the salary of mayors in cities over 50,000 using the
mayor-council form of government ranges from $14,583 on
the high end (Houston) to $50 per month on the low end (San
Angelo), with an average salary of $5,277.  
                Overall, the average mayoral pay of the council-
manager cities is $159 per month.  The average pay for the
three largest council-manager cities – Dallas, San Antonio,
and Austin – is $3,677.88.  If the San Antonio mayor’s salary
at $4,020 per year were omitted, the average of the other two
would be $5,333 per month.
                Mayors in council-manager cities not only receive
less in salary, but also the difference between the mayor’s
salary and the councilmembers’ salary is usually small.

Vote in council meetings

                Mayor-council charters do not give mayors the un-
restricted right to vote as those in council-manager cities gen-
erally do.  Among the mayor-council cities, 40 percent allow
mayors to have a regular vote in council meetings, while 55
percent allow the mayor to vote only in case of a tie by the
council, and the remaining 5 percent allow for no vote at all.
In council-manager cities, 65 percent have a regular vote,
while 35 percent of the mayors vote only in case of tie.  Again,
these figures are not unlike national survey figures.  
                Deciding when a mayor votes has caused at least
two Texas council-manager cities a lot of grief.  Several cities
have retained in their home rule charters a provision of the
Type A general law municipality.  State law provides that if a
Type A city is not divided into wards (and many smaller home
rule cities are not), the governing body shall always consist of
a mayor and five councilmembers, and the mayor shall vote
only in case of a tie.  The two cities in question had retained
this council number and the mayor’s restricted vote provision
when they adopted home rule charters.  The city councils fired
their city managers over the protest of the mayor in each city.
Both mayors cited provisions in their charters that purported
to give the mayors voting power in the event of a vote on dis-
missing the city manager.  The district court in one county
upheld one council’s dismissal of the manager, ruling the
mayor could not vote.  A district court in an adjoining county
reversed the council decision of the second city and reinstated
the manager!  The difficulty in both charters came from trying
to delineate the cases in which the mayor might have a vote,
other than on a tie vote by the council. Both cities have since
gone to an odd number on the council and given the mayor a
“regular” vote.  Because of the problems of these two cities

and the difficulty of wording a charter clearly, several charter
consultants recommend that councils be composed of an odd
number of individuals and that mayors be given a “regular”
vote just as any other councilmember–on all matters.  Urban
experts offer other reasons for allowing the mayor to vote on
all issues. They concur that a mayor’s leadership role can be
enhanced by the power to vote, particularly on such critical
policy issues as appointment and removal of a city manager
or chief administrative officer and on bond issues, tax rates,
and the adoption of the annual budget.

Veto

                The veto power of the mayor is generally another
distinguishing mark of the difference between the two forms
of government.  Veto provisions in mayor-council charters are
much more common than in council-manager charters–na-
tionwide and in Texas.  Of those communities with mayor-
council charters in Texas, 32 percent provide for a mayoral
veto of council actions.  Usually these vetoes can be overcome
only by a two-thirds or more vote of the council.  But in a few
cases, the council can simply reconsider the action.  If it votes
the action again by a majority vote, the mayor has no authority
to veto the item a second time.
                Only nine percent of council-manager cities pro-
vide for a mayoral veto.  The denial of the veto is a reiteration
of the historic background of the council-manager plan, which
saw the strength of the city in a body of policymakers, not in
a single individual.

Budget role

                The mayor in 25 percent of mayor-council cities
prepares the budget and submits it to the city council.  In
some small mayor-council cities, the charter says the council
shall prepare a budget.
                Budget formulation and submission is one of the
chief differences between the two forms of government.  Only
three percent of the cities under the council-manager plan
provide for the mayor to prepare the budget.  In the council-
manager plan, the charter directs the city manager to prepare
the budget for the council as a whole.  Increasingly, managers
are asking their city councils to give them early policy guid-
ance on the council’s priorities for the coming year.  The
mayor obviously can play a lead role in this priority-setting,
but councilmembers are often fond of pointing out that in
adoption of the final budget, the mayor has only one vote–just
as the other councilmembers do.  Although it is very rare,
mayors are outvoted on budget matters as they are sometimes
outvoted on other items in council-manager cities.
                The Texas practice in both types of government
parallels the national experience.

35

The mayor
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

75



Appointment of city department heads

                Mayors in mayor-council cities are generally given
charter authority to appoint city department heads, subject to
confirmation by the city council.  No Texas mayor has the free-
dom of appointment possessed by the Denver, Colorado,
mayor who can appoint approximately 50 department heads
without approval.  In Texas, the appointments by the mayor
generally include the city attorney, city judge, city secretary,
and such department heads as the police and fire chief, di-
rector of the departments of public works and utilities, and
directors of such departments as parks and recreation and li-
braries.  These appointments take only a majority vote of the
council to approve; a handful of charters provide that the
council also shall have a voice in dismissal of these same ex-
ecutives. 
                The classic council-manager charter does not pro-
vide for council confirmation of the city manager’s appoint-
ments, but in 25 percent of council-manager cities in Texas,
these appointments are subject to council approval.  Here
again, the mayor has only one vote in this process.  A small
number of council-manager cities provide for council confir-
mation of only one or two key departments heads–most often
the police chief (39 percent), the finance director (20 per-
cent), as well as the fire chief (five percent).   Typically, the
city attorney, city secretary, and the municipal court judge are
appointed by city council.  Several charters allow for the city
manager to make these selections; however, they often require
these appointments to be approved by city council.

Appointment of boards and commissions

                The typical mayor-council charter in Texas pro-
vides for mayoral appointment of boards and commissions,
subject to the approval of the governing body.  These appoint-
ments are normally made by the council as a whole in coun-
cil-manager cities, although there appears to be the beginning
of a trend in these cities to give the mayor the lead role and
allow him/her to make such appointments subject to council
agreement.  In some Texas cities representing both forms of
government, the council, but not the mayor, may remove
board members.

Mayor’s staff

                Mayor-council charters are more likely to discuss
staff than council-manager charters.  Several of those charters
provide for a chief administrative officer.
                No council-manager charters in Texas authorize
the mayor to have any staff.  The small staffs that some coun-
cil-manager mayors have are simply authorized in the annual
budget.

Elements of the mayor’s position that are
relatively the same in the two forms of
government

1. Terms of office

                Terms of office are generally the same in both
forms of government.  Some individual cases are noteworthy.
Pasadena elects its mayor for four years and its council for
two years, lending additional prestige and unspoken authority
to the position of mayor.  Dallas also adopted a four-year term
for mayor and kept the council terms at two years.  Lubbock,
Del Rio, and Bellaire, all council-manager cities, took the op-
posite route – the mayor serves for two years whereas city
councilmembers serve for four.

2. Filling vacancies

                Methods of filling mayor vacancies are not gener-
ally determined by the form of government.  The most com-
mon method of filling a mayor’s vacancy created by death,
resignation, or removal is council action to replace the indi-
vidual from its own members.  Some charters call for the
mayor pro tem to automatically step into the job.

3. The mayor as member of council in mayor-council cities

                A few mayors are not a part of the city council.
This feature of an entirely separate executive is more often
found in larger cities and in other parts of the country. Typi-
cally, the mayor is a member of the council in council-man-
ager cities in the state; although, as pointed out earlier, the
position is sometimes not given a full vote.  In addition, in
some of these council-manager cities, the presence of the
mayor cannot be counted as part of the quorum.

Concluding thoughts on the position of
mayor in the two forms of government

                As pointed out in Chapter 6 and developed in
more detail here, there are major charter differences in com-
pensation, voting, veto power, budget role, and appointment
powers of the mayor in the two major forms of government in
Texas and nationwide.  Mayors in council-manager cities have
always understood their leadership must come from their pow-
ers of persuasion.  Over time, mayors in mayor-council cities
have seen governance, particularly in larger cities, become so
complex and fragmented that they, too, no longer have the
power they once did.  They also must exercise the power of
persuasion to move their city forward – perceptively and un-
stintingly promoting cooperation that minimizes debilitating
conflict.26

36

Texas Home Rule Charters
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

76



9               The city council - election and service

                As the governing body of the city, councils are the
focus of a separate article in virtually all charters.  This article
sets forth the basic requirements for election and organization
of the council and covers a wide range of other subjects, all
relating to the structure and operation of the council.
                The city council is such a key ingredient of well-
functioning city governments that this book devotes two chap-
ters to it.  Some of the topics could be covered in either
chapter.  They are divided with a goal of improving clarity.
                The first chapter emphasizes the role of coun-
cilmembers as individuals: election, terms of office, term lim-
its, compensation, benefits and staff, and personal liability.
                The second chapter examines the council as a leg-
islative body:  powers and duties, conduct of council meet-
ings, absence from those meetings, and filling vacancies.
                Since the methods of electing councilmembers
and setting term limits continue to be two of the most contro-
versial subjects in city government, they are discussed first.

Council elections through the years

                The governing body of towns incorporated during
the Republic of Texas was the Board of Aldermen.  The termi-
nology derives from Old English, “older man,” who assisted
the Anglo-Saxon king in governing a subunit of the kingdom.
Colonists probably brought the term to Texas.
                The term “alderman” is used today by some gen-
eral law cities.  Other general law cities use the term “Board
of Commissioners” for the governing body.  Almost all home
rule cities have abandoned both terms and use “City Council.”
A very few cities cling to a portion of their general law heritage
and call the governing body the “City Commission” or “Board
of Commissioners.”
                In the Republic, aldermen were usually elected
from wards.  Election of aldermen by wards continued into
this century until the reform movement’s advocacy of elec-
tion-at-large to escape the “evils” of ward politics.  Over the
last quarter century, the trend has reversed somewhat to elec-
tion by wards.  Now, however, proponents have changed the
term to “districts” to avoid the negative connotation of wards.
In fact, the Austin City Council in 1994 coined the term
“neighborhood election districts,” but the voters still rejected
a single-member district plan for the fifth time.

Methods of council election

                The two methods of electing the municipal gov-
erning body are “at-large” and by “district.”  Each method
has subdivisions, but they are variations of the two basic
methods.  The two basic methods also can be mixed to pro-
vide still another configuration–the “mixed systems” form.

                Our review of the use of current election methods
shows no apparent relationship between a city’s size or form
of government (mayor-council or council-manager) and the
election method used.

At-large and at-large-by-place

At-large – All candidates are placed on the ballot and those
receiving the most votes citywide are elected to office.
Generally, these individuals are elected by plurality (the
largest number of votes regardless of the percentage of the
total vote).  A typical example:  three council positions are
vacant and there are five candidates.  If a plurality is spec-
ified, the top three vote-getters are elected whether any
one of them receives more than 50 percent of the total
vote.  Occasionally, a city requires a candidate under the
plurality measure to receive a minimum number of votes.
Corpus Christi’s charter states that “If fewer than three
candidates for at large city council positions receive a plu-
rality of at least twelve percent each of the total votes cast
for all at large city council candidates, there shall be held
on the second Saturday following any such election a run-
off election” and provides additional details for how the
runoff will be conducted. In Ennis, commissioners (city
council) are elected by plurality, but an individual must
get 35 percent of the votes cast or face a runoff with the
next highest person on the ballot.  
              If a majority vote is specified, a candidate must
receive more than 50 percent of the total votes cast.  If
vote totals do not produce a winner, the two top candidates
must have a runoff election.

At-large-by-place – This does not refer to a geographical
area; rather, each council seat is designated a position or
a place number: Place 1, Place 2, and so on.  Candidates
must run for a specific place and the race is between can-
didates filing for that same place.  The majority vote re-
quirement has been stated in charters as a rule, but cities
accused of discriminating in the election method may find
they must change to a plurality requirement, since this is
believed to offer minorities a better opportunity to be
elected in the “place” method of election.

                Minority groups have been critical of both
types of at-large elections.  The federal government has often
agreed and mandated through the courts and the Justice De-
partment that many cities in Texas convert from at-large to
single-member district elections.  The conversion began in the
late 1970s and continues to spread to medium and smaller
cities.        
                

37

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

77



38

                The specific arguments proponents use for single-
member district systems include:

• provides direct representation by a single 
councilmember;

• makes voting easier and assures greater 
accountability from those elected;

• reduces campaign costs; and
• gives less affluent and minority areas of the city 

representation.

                Proponents of at-large elections cite the following
as advantages of this method of election:

• promotes community-wide council vision;
• fosters unity rather than divisiveness;
• provides voters a “voice” in election of all members

rather than just one;
• eliminates restriction by districts, allowing election

of any qualified person; and
• avoids ward politics and political machines.

Cumulative voting

                Examination of another election method of at-
large voting is important.  This method includes cumulative,
limited, and bullet voting. Cumulative voting represents an al-
ternative to the single-member district form of representation
that characterizes government on all levels in Texas and the
United States. Cumulative voting systems allow voters to cast
as many votes as there are seats on a particular board or com-
mission. Candidates must run for a specific seat (e.g., seat
#5) as they do in single-member district representation. How-
ever, voters can use all their votes on a single candidate or
distribute their votes among the contenders for several seats.
Robert Brischetto and Richard Engstrom studied cumulative
voting and noted that “Cumulative voting, in short, allows vot-
ers to do more than choose among candidates, it allows them
to express the intensity of their preferences as well.” Cumu-
lative Voting and Latino Representation: Exit Surveys in Fif-
teen Different Communities 78 Social Science Quarterly 973
(1997). Cumulative voting permits the voter to cast his or her
votes in the traditional way, but it also permits “intensity vot-
ing.”  For this reason, it is argued that it will increase voter
interest and participation in the election.27 

                Two variations of cumulative voting are in use in
some jurisdictions–limited voting and bullet voting.  Under
limited voting, a voter has fewer votes than the number of po-
sitions to be filled (e.g., two votes with three positions to be
filled).  A variant of limited voting is called bullet voting, in
which voters can cast a single vote in a multiple-position elec-
tion.  With bullet voting, a minority candidate can be elected
to office more easily than under the pure at-large system.
                The recognized Texas expert on cumulative voting
is Dr. Delbert Taebel, Professor of Urban Affairs and Political
Science at The University of Texas at Arlington.  Dr. Taebel

has written extensively on the general subject of alternative
systems and is a frequent speaker to charter commissions and
civic groups exploring election methods.  Dr. Taebel and others
argue that under any of these methods, the election outcome
will more nearly reflect the major groups within a community
without the rancor that sometimes accompanies single-mem-
ber district systems.  There is some evidence that ethnic mi-
nority groups are now supporting cumulative voting instead of
suing cities to adopt single-member districts.
                In May 1994, the City of Andrews, under threat
of a lawsuit, adopted charter provisions to institute cumulative
voting as its city council election method. The first city coun-
cil election using cumulative voting occurred in May of 1995.
An additional 16 small Texas communities, with populations
ranging from 1,109 to 3,908, also adopted cumulative voting
in response to lawsuits alleging voter dilution. Cities in Texas
are not the only entities now utilizing cumulative voting.
Thirty-two school districts and one hospital district have also
adopted this form of voting in Texas.  Cumulative voting is
now used to elect local governing bodies, including cities,
school boards and hospital districts, in 60 local governments
in 5 states.
                Prior to this, only two cities in the country experi-
enced cumulative voting–Alamogordo, New Mexico, and Peo-
ria, Illinois, also in response to lawsuits. Alamogordo, under
a consent decree in 1987, agreed to use cumulative voting
for at-large positions in elections in 1987, 1990, and 1994.
In March of 1997, voters there approved an amendment to
the city charter and began the process to dissolve the use of
cumulative voting.  The charter language provided that “For
the March 1998 City election only, the Commission shall con-
sist of three (3) Commissioners elected at-large and one Com-
missioner from each of four (4) districts, elected by the voters
of that district in the March 1996 City election. A Commis-
sioner representing a district shall be a resident of that dis-
trict. Beginning with the March 2000 City election and
continuing for all subsequent City elections, the Commission
shall consist of one Commissioner from each of seven (7) dis-
tricts, elected by the voters of that district. A Commissioner
representing a district shall be a resident of that district.”
Elections based on single member districts are still in place
today.  
                Peoria held an election for its at-large council
seats by cumulative voting in 1991.  A lawsuit settlement in
1990 ordered the city to use cumulative voting.  The court
order is in effect permanently, so Peoria will use cumulative
voting for its at-large elections every four years.

Preferential voting

                One non-traditional election method appeared in
two charters.  Gorman, in its original charter of 1920, called
for councilmembers to be elected by preferential voting.
Sweetwater adopted its first charter in 1947 and followed
suit.   Gorman may have influenced Sweetwater since the two
cities are only about 100 miles apart.  Under preferential vot-

Texas Home Rule Charters
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

78



39

ing, a voter marks his/her first and second choices for as many
candidates as there are places to be filled.  If no candidate
receives a majority (more than 50 percent of the vote), the
election officials go back to each ballot and count second
choices until enough candidates to fill the vacancies receive
a majority vote.  The Gorman charter states that second
choices shall be counted, but does not designate a weight for
them.  The Sweetwater charter is more specific.  It says a first
choice counts as one vote, and a second choice counts as one-
half vote.
                The counting provision is now immaterial, be-
cause Gorman has not used the system in at least 40 years,
and Sweetwater discontinued it in the early 1980s.  Gorman
now elects the council by majority vote; Sweetwater by plu-
rality.

Variations of district elections

                The single-member district approach is the alter-
native system that such groups as the National Association
for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP) and the Mex-
ican-American Legal Defense Fund (MALDEF) have advocated
since the mid-70s in Texas.  They have argued, successfully
in most cases, that a city council elected completely by this
method provides the greatest opportunity for ethnic minority
representation.

Single-member district – The single-member district sys-
tem divides the city into a specific number of geographical
areas (wards or districts).  For convenience, these districts
are usually numbered: District 1, District 2, and so on.  In
a “pure” single-member district configuration, a candidate
for District 1 must live in that district and is voted on only
by voters in that particular district.  The adjective “pure”
also has been used by advocates to describe the election
system for the entire city when all candidates, with the ex-
ception of the mayor, are elected from single-member dis-
tricts.  “Pure” single-member district examples are San
Antonio, Fort Worth, and Lubbock.
              
              A few Texas cities elect all members of the gov-
erning body by the single-member district system.  The
council then elects a mayor from its own membership at
the first council meeting after the election.  This variation
of the system can cause the mayor substantial problems.
A former mayor of Pasadena, California, which employs
these procedures, once remarked that when he was elected
mayor by his colleagues, he was confused when he had to
vote on an issue in a council session. He did not know
whether he was supposed to represent “the city as a
whole” as its mayor or the district that elected him.  This
problem alone would appear to be a sound reason for trying
to avoid this type of election method.

Variations of single-member district – A charter can re-
quire candidates to live in a district, but be voted on city-

wide for that seat.  The reverse can be stipulated in the
charter: a candidate can live anywhere in the city, can run
for a seat in a district outside the area in which he lives,
and stand for election only by voters in the district for
which he filed.  Both of these variations are in effect in a
small number of Texas cities, and some of these cities re-
ceived Justice Department sanction of these variations in
earlier years.
Mixed district – A number of Texas cities have charters
allowing election of some councilmembers by district, with
the mayor and one or more other councilmembers elected
at-large.  Advocates of this system say it combines the ad-
vantages of both at-large representation and district or ge-
ographical representation.  Opponents believe it is a
halfway measure to placate advocates of both systems and,
as a result of the split, accomplishes neither purpose.
Mixed system and majority/plurality voting – Mixed sys-
tems (single-member and at-large) are used in a number
of cities.  The majority/plurality vote is used in Brownfield
and El Campo.  In these cities, the mayor is elected by
majority vote, two at-large councilmembers by plurality,
and five district councilmembers by majority vote.  Except
for the mayor, this is the type majority/plurality election
that is many times sought by plaintiff minority groups and
approved by the Justice Department. Many times, the Jus-
tice Department requires the mayor to be elected by plu-
rality.  The reasoning behind the majority/plurality
preference is that it is generally considered easier for a mi-
nority candidate to be elected by plurality than by a ma-
jority.  Thus, the Justice Department has several times
required both the mayor and at-large candidates to be
elected by plurality.  In contrast, in the single-member dis-
tricts, presumably drawn to allow minority candidates to
be elected in a minority district, the Justice Department
has agreed to a majority vote.

Unusual provisions 

                Several cities have unusual provisions regarding
single-member districts.  Port Arthur and Victoria both have
single-member districts covering the whole city, but also have
“super districts” that overlay on top of the basic districts.  Vot-
ers have a vote for both a councilmember representing the
basic district and one representing the super district.
                Local landmarks are used to divide the city in a
version of single-member districts by Abilene and Vernon. Abi-
lene requires three councilmembers to live north of the Texas
and Pacific Railway mainline, which cuts the city in half, and
three other councilmembers to live south of the track.
Gatesville uses its Main Street as the dividing line, electing
three councilmembers from the area north of Main Street and
three from the area south of Main Street.  Vernon uses a di-
viding line that is described in the city charter.  The citizens
of Vernon elect two councilmembers from the east side of the
line and two from west of the line. Both cities elect a mayor
and the remaining councilmembers citywide.

The city council - election and service
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

79



                Some cities allow the city council to increase the
number of wards periodically, such as the City of Woodway.
Others, such as the City of Sherman, provide for additional
councilmembers as the population increases. Currently, Sher-
man’s Charter provides for seven councilmembers.  When the
population reaches 75,000, two additional council seats will
be added, bringing the total number of councilmembers to 9.
The Jacksonville charter provides for a 5-member city council
but authorizes future city councils to increase the number to
seven and later to nine without a citizen vote of approval. Nei-
ther option has been used as of 2009.
                Charters are not always clear about whether can-
didates must live in the district from which they are elected
or whether the vote is by district or at-large for councilmem-
bers.  An example of excellent wording, which has been in-
cluded in city charters is as follows:  “(Council)members shall
be residents of and elected by qualified voters of single-mem-
ber geographical districts of the city.”

Redistricting commissions

                Charter experts generally recommend that city
councilmembers themselves not draw district lines.  This ad-
vice has fallen on deaf ears.  All but Dallas and Laredo simply
state that the city council shall redraw lines when necessary
and usually specify a certain period of time within which they
must examine the lines.  These two cities each provide for ap-
pointment of a redistricting commission.  The Dallas commis-
sion has 15 members, and the Laredo commission has 16.
But both commissions are advisory.  The city council is the
final judge of the lines.

Survey results of council election 
methods 

                The at-large-by-place system is still the most pop-
ular in the Texas home rule cities, but by a significantly
smaller margin than in previous years.

*This chart uses 1994 data, but other aspects of the recent
survey indicate that the numbers are essentially the same.

Mayor and council elections

                As a part of the questionnaire sent to city officials,
each respondent was asked to enter the dates and voter
turnout of the last two mayor and council elections.  If neither

of those two were contested, the official was asked to go back
to an election in which there were at least two candidates and
to enter that race also.  Our objective was to verify the premise
that contested races have much higher turnout than uncon-
tested races.  Not all cities completed this portion of the ques-
tionnaire, but we were able to list 262 contested elections
over the past two elections and 139 elections in which no one
had any opponent.
                Overall, voter turnout was not something to be
proud of.  In the 262 contested races, only 13.24 percent
percent of the registered voters bothered to show up; that
comes to 7.68 percent of the total population reported by the
cities.

                As might be expected, the votes cast in non-con-
tested races were abysmally low.  The average for the 101
races was 10.6 percent of the registered voters, or about 5.5
percent of the reported population.  
                Most cities, regardless of the election system
used, have tried to schedule the terms of office in order for at
least one citywide race (or alternatively, all district elections)
to come up each time there is an election, in order to encour-
age a higher turnout.  This is not possible in every city; hence,
the figures above are somewhat lower than they would be if
we used only elections in which every voter in the city had a
race in which he/she had a vote.

,
Terms of office

                Although Texas charters overwhelmingly call for
staggered two-year terms for mayors and councilmembers, it
would nevertheless be pertinent to discuss, at least briefly,
the generally cited advantages of two, three, and four-year
terms, and of staggered versus concurrent terms.

Two-year term: The principal advantage of
the two-year term is that it requires coun-
cilmembers to submit themselves frequently
to the voters.  It also permits citizens to serve
as councilmembers for short periods of time.

The disadvantage of two-year terms is that
they require an almost constant campaign
readiness for those members who wish to ex-
tend their council service, or for potential op-
ponents.  For new members, two years is a
short time to become acquainted with the in-

40

Texas Home Rule Charters

Figure 9-1:  Method of council election*

At-large:       13%
At-large-by-place: 45%
Single-member district: 26%
Combination at-large and single-member district: 16%

Figure 9-2:  Contested mayor and council elections

                      Percentage of Registered Voters Voting
                      High Reported Low Reported
                      1994 2008 1994        2008

Cities under 10,000 64.7% 80.9%       3.9%       2.45%
Cities 10,000 - 50,000 48.2% 43.3% 1.9% 2.60%
Cities over 50,000 48.2%         21.5% 7.6% 4.60%

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

80



tricacies of city government and to learn
about the problems of city agencies and pro-
grams or those parts of the city with which
they may have had no prior experience.

Three-year term: A three-year term’s princi-
pal advantage is that it lengthens the period
of service before facing the voters, giving a
member time to compile a record and giving
a new member time to become proficient in
the job.  The three-year term also clearly dif-
ferentiates council service from other public
offices.  It is a long enough time to accom-
plish something, but too short to feel like
there is a lease on the position.

The principal disadvantage of the three-year
term is that one of every two municipal elec-
tions will fall in a state or national election
year.  It could necessitate a separate elec-
tion, producing some voter confusion.  There
is also some prospect that the partisanship
of state and national elections would be car-
ried over into city elections.

Four-year term: Most observers of govern-
ments tend to feel that four-year terms en-
courage those elected to them to invest more
time in working on substantive and larger
problems of government, rather than thinking
about campaign strategy, and to become
more proficient in policy issues.

Longer terms can, however, work to increase
the insulation of elected officials from the
electorate; although, the many arenas for di-
rect contact with constituents in city govern-
ment appear to make this a far less severe
problem than it is for members of Congress
or state legislatures.28

Staggered terms: More than 95 percent of
Texas charters call for staggered terms.
Charter drafters in Texas have obviously felt
that it is desirable to have some continuing 
experience on the city council and avoid a
wholesale turnover of city councilmembers.
Staggered terms do tend to provide some sta-
bility on the council.  On the other hand, they
also thwart the will of the people to make a
major change of direction.  For example, with
a five-member council and two-year stag-
gered terms, three members would come up
for election one year and two the next.  If the
council had taken or failed to take a stand on
a major issue before the election year when
two members were running, the vote for the

two incumbents or for two newcomers would
not necessarily change the stance taken by
the council prior to election.

Term limits

                Perhaps no legislative issue in many years has
evolved with such gathering momentum as term limits. Orig-
inally proposed for members of the U.S. Congress and, in
some states, for state-elected officials, term limits have now
come to the local level.  Actually, they may have started at the
local level in Texas.  The citizens of the North Texas city of
Paris placed a two-term (four-year) limit on their city council
when they adopted their first home rule charter in 1948.  A
few other cities adopted such provisions in the 1970s, but
the real movement did not start until the late 1980s.  Today,
41 percent of Texas home rule cities have limits on the num-
ber of consecutive years their mayors and city councilmem-
bers may serve; the form of government or size of the city
appears to have very little influence on voter adoption of term
limits.
                Arguments rage back and forth over the merits of
the “term limits” movement.  Opponents generally include
political scientists and so-called “urban experts” who insist
that voters have the ability to terminate any elected official’s
career by merely turning him/her out at the polls.  Proponents
of term limits maintain that advantages of incumbency, both
in campaign finance and in name recognition, deter or block
the termination vote.  They argue that term limits are neces-
sary to bring “government back to the people.”  Along with a
widespread distrust, or at least suspicion of government, this
“back to the people” plea accounts for term limit elections
passing across the country with generally wide margins.
Whatever the merits, term limits appear to be here to stay;
thus, this book will examine the charter provisions in Texas
cities and analyze the trend to 2008. 
                One of the obstacles to analyzing this movement
is the wide variation in charter terminology.  It is impossible
to ascertain in a few cities whether the limits apply to com-
bined service of one person as a mayor and councilmember
or whether the two offices are meant to be considered sepa-
rately.  An equally formidable obstacle is the absence of any
case law history and the resulting proliferation of different in-
terpretations.
                Term limits in charters are expressed in one of two
ways.  One way is to have separate limits for the mayor and
members of the council.  A typical charter with this type limit
is Friendswood.  That charter states:  “The mayor and coun-
cilmembers shall be elected to serve for three-year terms as
provided below, but no person shall be elected to serve in the
capacity of councilmember for more than three consecutive
three-year terms, nor shall any person be elected to serve in
the capacity of mayor for more than three consecutive three-
year terms.”

                

41

The city council - election and service
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

81



The other way to express limits is to count service as mayor
and service as a councilmember together.  The charter of the
City of Rockport is very straightforward.  It states:  “No person
shall serve more than ten consecutive years on the City Coun-
cil.”  The statement to look for here to assure that the mayor
is included in the definition of “City Council” is this additional
statement found in the Rockport charter:  “The legislative and
governing body of the City shall consist of a Mayor and four
Councilmen and shall be known as the City Council of Rock-
port.”

Separate limits on years of service

                A total of 36 cities have separate limits for mayors
and councilmembers.  The most popular limit for these cities
is six years for each of the offices.  This includes cities that
have a three-term limit on two-year terms, as well as cities
that have a two-term limit on three-year terms.  The full break-
down by limit in years is as follows:

aJacksonville and Waco have limits on mayors, but not on the
council.
bPearland has limits on councilmembers, but not on the
mayor.

*This chart uses 1994 data, but other aspects of the recent
survey indicate that the numbers are essentially the same.

                The chart above considers limits in one of the two
positions – mayor or councilmember.  In this type of language,
a councilmember could serve his/her limit of, say, six years,
and then run and be elected as mayor and serve another six
years.  Assuming both posts carry six-year limits, one individ-
ual could legally serve 12 years.
                It should be noted that these limits have been
constrained in six cities by imposing “combination” limits.
For example, in Graham, although the mayor and coun-
cilmembers have six-years limits individually, the charter lim-
its any combined service in those two positions to ten years,
not twelve years.
                

                The following chart portrays the maximum num-
ber of consecutive/successive years a person could serve as
council member or mayor under the separate limits category:

*This chart uses 1994 data, but other aspects of the recent
survey indicate that the numbers are essentially the same.

Counting service years together

                Thirty cities combine mayoral and councilmember
service into a single-term limit.  The Rockport charter is an
example:  only “ten consecutive years” on the council.  When
examining these charter provisions, we find the following term
limits:

*This chart uses 1994 data, but other aspects of the recent
survey indicate that the numbers are essentially the same.
                

Charter language on term limits

                Since “model” language has not evolved on this
subject, current charter language varies widely.  Many charters
simply place a limit on “consecutive” or “successive” terms,
leaving unanswered the question whether a person appointed
or elected to a partial term loses some of the time that might
otherwise be allowed.  Occasionally, a charter will clearly state
that “a portion of a term” does not count as a term of office

42

Texas Home Rule Charters

Figure 9-3:  Term limits in years when limits are separately applied*

                    Cities in which    Limit in years Cities in which
                    the mayor has councilmembers have
                    separate limits separate limits

                    9a 4 7
                    18 6 18
                    9 8 10b

                    2 9 2
Total Cities:     38 37

Figure 9-4:  Maximum years service when limits separately applied*
                  
                  Limit on years Number of cities
                  of service

                  6 1
                  8 9
                  10 1
                  12 15
                  16 8
                  18 2
                  Total cities: 36

Figure 9-5:  Term limits in years when service applied together*

Limit on years of service Number of cities
as member of city council,

including mayor

                4 2
                6 19
                8 3
                9 1
                10 3 (five two-year terms)

                12 2
                Total cities: 30

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

82



for purposes of a limit.  Some charters use the word “full
term” or “regular term.”  These are generally interpreted to
mean that if a person comes into a partial term, the partial
time will not count toward the limit.
                Several cities require a person to “sit out” one
year or one term before running for office again (one city re-
quires that an individual must sit out 30 months).  Whether
this means that in the other cities a person reaching his/her
maximum can never come back is unknown.  Two cities do
state that the term limit is for the “lifetime” of the individ-
ual.
                Finally, a charter should make it clear whether the
limits apply to current councilmembers. Several charters spell
this out.  Most do not at the present time.
                In summary, the term limit movement is still rel-
atively young.  If a city does not have this kind of provision in

its charter and desires to have a
charter amendment election, offi-
cials are urged to carefully review
with the city attorney the language
to be used in order to avoid some of
the ambiguities identified.  In May
1994, Austin adopted a charter
amendment limiting terms of office,
but did provide that if an incumbent
councilmember, when his/her limit
of terms have been reached, can get
a petition signed by five percent of
the qualified voters in the city,
his/her name shall go back on the
ballot.  Houston adopted such an
amendment in 1991, had several
councilmembers qualify under the
petition route in the 1993 election,
and decided at a January 15, 1994
election to rescind the petition by-
pass.  Thus, Houston’s term limits
have no exception to them.

Qualifications for office

                Early Texas city charters included a detailed and
lengthy list of qualifications for the prospective mayor or city
councilmember.  The first officeholders and voters had to be
white, male, and citizens of the Republic.  Several cities also
had property and residence requirements.  The original Galve-
ston charter in 1840 required the mayor to own $1,000 worth
of property.  A number of charters still require ownership of
property within the city and no indebtedness to the city, plus
three years residence in the city before filing as a candidate.
Arguably unenforceable, these provisions in current charters
are historical reminders of practices before state law and court
cases established the controlling criteria for qualifications of
all public officials.
                

                For more than 30 years, state law has set forth re-
quirements to run for public office in Texas and these require-
ments apply to candidates for the governing bodies of Texas
home rule cities.  In addition, federal court cases have held
that a city may not require an officeholder to be an owner of
property and may not refuse to seat a councilmember for
being delinquent in taxes to the city.
                The Election Code criteria are set out in Section
141.001. Under that section, a candidate must:

    (1) be a United States citizen,
    (2) be 18 years of age or older upon the
commencement of the term to be filled at 
the election,
    (3) have been a resident of Texas for at
least 12 months as of the deadline for filing 
for the office,
    (4) have resided in the city for at least six
months as of the deadline for filing for        
the office,
    (5) not have been convicted of a felony
for which he or she has not been pardoned 
or otherwise released from the resulting dis-
abilities, and
    (6) not have been found mentally incom-
petent by a final judgment of the court.

Exceptions for home rule cities

                The Election Code authorized home rule cities to
make two exceptions:  (1) the charter can require council can-
didates to be up to 21 years of age, rather than 18, upon the
commencement of the term to be filled at the election; and
(2) the charter can require candidates to be residents of the
city for up to 12 months, rather than six months, as of the
deadline for filing for office.
                Virtually every charter in the state says a candi-
date must be a qualified voter.  This is not required by state
law, but a home rule city may include this requirement in its
charter.
                Despite the provisions in the Election Code, some
cities still amend their charters to add requirements that are
not enforceable.  In earlier days, charter writers might have
been accused of placing unenforceable qualifications in the
charter in an attempt to discourage citizens who might other-
wise consider filing for office.  It is believed that today’s char-
ter writers are simply not aware of the state law limitations
that supersede any charter language.
                One disqualification for office that some charters
have addressed is dual office-holding.  There are two distinct
legal barriers to holding more than one public office at the
same time:  (1) the Texas constitutional prohibition against
dual office-holding; and (2) the common law doctrine of in-
compatibility.
                All three of these barriers are too complex to dis-
cuss in detail in this publication.  Any mayor or councilmem-
ber contemplating elective or appointive office in another

43

The city council - election and service

AGAINST 
THE GRAIN

Although the trend is
strong for adopting term
limits, Port Neches in
1983 and Sachse in
1990 adopted charter
amendments rescinding
the term limits then in
existence in their char-
ters.  And Schertz, in
1994, defeated two dif-
ferent charter amend-
ments that would have
set limits on coun-
cilmembers.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

83



governmental entity would be well advised to consult with the
city attorney before making any definitive moves.
                Some charters provide that city employees must
resign before they can run for the city council in their own
city.  Provisions of this type have been struck down by the
courts for city employees covered under the state fire and po-
lice civil service law.29

Financial 
disclosure

The Colleyville,
Friendswood, and San
Marcos charters each
have provisions that
candidates must file fi-
nancial disclosure
statements with the city
secretary before any
election in which they
are a candidate.  Chap-
ter 145 of the Local
Government Code, en-
acted in 2003, now
mandates financial dis-
closure for certain can-
didates and officials in
cities over 100,000 in
population.

Filing 
requirements

The Election Code
is very specific in regard
to a candidate filing for
a place on the govern-
ing body of a city.

Figure 9-6:  Filing requirements for city council 
(Section 143.005)

(a)             A city charter may prescribe require-
ments in connection with a candi-
date’s application for a place on the
ballot for an office of a home rule city.
This section does not authorize a city
charter requirement in connection
with the timely filing of an applica-
tion, and any charter requirement re-
lated to an application’s timely filing
is superseded by Section 143.007
and other applicable filing provisions
prescribed by the code.

(b)             If a city charter prescribes the re-
quirements that a candidate’s appli-
cation must satisfy for the candidate’s
name to be placed on the ballot, Sec-
tion 141.031(4)(L) also applies to the
application.*  The other provisions of
Section 141.031 do not apply.

(c)             If a city charter requires candidates to
pay a filing fee, the amount of the fee
and an alternative procedure to pay-
ment of the fee shall be prescribed by
the charter or by ordinance under
charter authorization.  However, if an
ordinance prescribing an alternative
procedure to payment of a filing fee is
adopted before the effective date of
this code without charter authoriza-
tion, the ordinance, as it exists on the
effective date of this code, continues
in effect until the adoption of a char-
ter provision prescribing an alternative
procedure or authorizing prescription
of an alternative procedure by ordi-
nance.

(d)             For any petition required or authorized
to be filed in connection with a can-
didate’s application for a place on the
ballot for an office of a home rule city,
the minimum number of signatures
that must appear on the petition is
the greater of: (1) 25, or (2) one-half
of one percent of the total vote re-
ceived in the territory from which the
office is elected by all candidates for
mayor in the most recent mayoral
general election.

(e)             If the city charter of a home rule city
with a population of more than 1.8
million, that holds nonpartisan elec-
tions for its offices, requires both a
petition and a $50 fee to be filed for
a candidate’s name to be placed on
the ballot, those requirements super-
sede this section.

                *Section 141.031(4)(L) referred to
above requires a statement that the
candidate is aware of the nepotism
law, Section 573.041 of the Govern-
ment Code, et seq.

44

Texas Home Rule Charters

WANTED:  
ONE BRAVE CITY

MANAGER

                “Any person having
the qualifications set for coun-
cilmember under Section 4.02
in this charter shall have the
right to file an application to
have his name placed on the of-
ficial ballot as a candidate for
any one elective office.  Such
application shall be made in
writing and shall include name,
address, date of birth, and per-
sonal signature of each candi-
date.  Such application shall be
accompanied by his loyalty affi-
davit, as prescribed by Section
141.031(k) Texas Election
Code; his signed affidavit indi-
cating willingness to submit
himself for substance abuse
testing, within thirty (30) days,
after elected and when randomly
selected by the city manager,
throughout the duration of his
term of office.”

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

84



Compensation for city council

                Salaries of city councils have received a great deal
of attention, particularly in the larger Texas cities.  The first
question is to decide whether compensation should be estab-
lished in the charter or by ordinance.  Although some charters
address the matter of compensation for councilmembers,
there are a number of charters that are completely silent on
the matter.  Where this is the case, the Local Government
Code, Section 141.004, authorizes councils to establish a
salary for themselves by ordinance.

Fringe benefits for city council

                Weatherford (a council-manager city) and Bay City
(a mayor-council city) are examples of cities that give specific

consideration to
fringe benefits for
councilmembers in
their charters.  The
Weatherford charter
says the mayor and
council “shall be
entitled to employee
benefits, which may
be paid for by the
City of Weather-
ford.”  The only
fringe benefit in-
volved currently is
health insurance,
and the mayor and
council are covered
under the same con-

tract in effect for the city’s full-time employees.  The Bay City
charter authorizes the council when it adopts the budget to
“offer the mayor any fringe benefits available to other full-
time employees including but not limited to health insurance
and retirement.”  In a later section, the charter says coun-
cilmembers “shall be offered any group health insurance
available to full-time city employees.”  Since the Bay City
mayor is a full-time position, the person in that position is fur-
nished health insurance, as are other full-time employees, and
is covered under the city’s retirement system.  City coun-
cilmembers are entitled to apply for the health insurance plan
covering full-time city employees but must pay the premium
themselves.
                The Weatherford provision has been in the charter
since a charter amendment was adopted in 1983.  The Bay
City provision is a part of the city’s first charter, adopted in
1989.  Voter attitudes toward public officials today may be
the reason other cities have not considered fringe benefits.
Charter writers may suspect the topic would receive a cool re-
ception.  In the past, it was assumed that councilmembers
had fringe benefits from their “regular jobs,” and that most
would serve their city only a few years.  (The movement toward

term limits in some cities could mandate a short term of serv-
ice.)  However, fueled by political or economic trends, the
issue of fringe benefits for elected officials will continue to
draw attention in the future.

Council staff

                The use of council staff was not surveyed since it
is not covered in any city charter.  Staff members, employed
and supervised solely by councilmembers, usually are author-
ized in annual operating budgets; many times there is no basis
by ordinance or resolution for these positions.

Personal liability of councilmembers

                Under the Texas Tort Claims Act, city governments
may be liable for damages resulting from the actions of coun-
cilmembers and other city officials.  However, this Act does
not speak to the issue of individual and personal liability of
mayors and councilmembers.  Federal courts have usually
held that councilmembers are not personally liable for torts
resulting from official actions, so long as they are made in
good faith.  However, the federal courts in the 1970s began
to narrow the boundaries of immunity from personal liability
of local officials for their official acts.
                Generally speaking, Texas courts have held that
councilmembers are not personally liable for torts resulting
from “discretionary” acts, but are liable for torts resulting
from “ministerial” acts.  A discussion of these legal defini-
tions and rulings is beyond the scope of this book.  Their im-
plications, however, are important now and for the future.
                At least three charters in the state address this
problem with an attempt to set forth “indemnification” or
“hold harmless” clauses to protect their councilmembers.
Longview and Missouri City have specific clauses that pre-
sumably shift the financial burden of claims from the individ-
ual councilmember to the city.  Garland’s charter mandates
that the city provide liability insurance coverage for its offi-
cials.  Under Miscellaneous Provisions, the Charter states,
“The City shall provide liability coverage to all officials and
officers in a minimum of 5 million dollars to provide protec-
tion...” 
                Because of the complex nature of this subject, in-
dividual officeholders are encouraged to consult their city at-
torney about the appropriateness of a charter provision or an
ordinance to address personal liability.  An excellent brief dis-
cussion of this subject is contained in TML’s Handbook for
Mayors and Councilmembers.  (See Bibliography.)

45

The city council - election and service

GIVE THAT CITY 
EMPLOYEE A RAISE!

                City Charter of the City
of _________:  Article III, Section
3.04:  “The total salary paid dur-
ing any year to the entire (7 mem-
ber) city council shall not exceed
the annual compensation of the
lowest paid permanent full-time
city employee.”

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

85



46

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

86



                Councilmembers are the city’s legislators, and
their primary duty is policymaking.  This demands constant
alertness to citizen needs, responsive program planning for
current and changing needs, and continuing evaluation of the
quality of service provided by city administrators.
                A councilmember, like elected members of any
policymaking body, has a number of roles–working with fellow
members; voting on all issues unless there is a conflict of in-
terest; and pursuing personal community initiatives (often
enumerated during the campaign) through motions, resolu-
tions, and ordinances.

Orientation for the job

                A new councilmember must read the city charter
carefully before assuming office.  He or she should read it be-

fore announcing for
office.  To help in-
form the candi-
dates, many cities
provide pre-election
orientation and/or
expanded post-elec-
tion sessions and
tours.

Organiza-
tional 
meeting

Only one item of
business is a
“must” for the first
post-election coun-

cil meeting: taking the oath of office.
                The oath of office mandated for all public officials
is in the Texas Constitution, Article XVI, § 1 (Appendix G).
Elected councilmembers and appointed officials are admin-
istered the same oath.
                A second item of business is often taken up at the
first meeting and that is the election of a mayor pro tem.  This
individual performs the duties of the mayor in the mayor’s ab-
sence.  The mayor pro tem is selected by a majority vote of
the council.  The term can be for the length of the coun-
cilmember’s term, or as in several cities, rotated periodically.
In some larger cities, a deputy mayor pro tem is elected to
distribute the ceremonial duties a little further.

Powers and duties of the council

                Because the councilmember’s powers and duties
derived from charter provisions dictate what can and cannot
be done in council meetings, powers will be reviewed before
the council meeting
process.

                Most city
charters distinguish
between the powers of
the city as a whole and
the powers of the city
council.  The charters
of the cities of Killeen,
Muleshoe, and Rich-
land Hills provide a
fairly typical recitation
of council powers in a
council-manager city.
The following listing is
a combination of pow-
ers found in the char-
ters of one or more of
these cities.

Figure 10-1:  Sample powers of the city council article

    All powers of the City and the determina-
tion of all matters of policy shall be vested in
the City Council.  Except where in conflict
with and otherwise expressly provided by this
charter, the city council shall have all powers
authorized to be exercised by the city council
by Chapter 4 of Title 28, Vernon’s Annotated
Civil Statutes (ed. note: now the Local Gov-
ernment Code), and acts amendatory thereof
and supplementary thereto, now or hereafter
enacted.  Without limitation of the foregoing
and among other powers that may be exer-
cised by the council, the following are hereby
enumerated for greater certainty:

47

AGE HAS ITS REWARD

“SECTION 3.05–Mayor Pro-Tem:
                The City Council, at its
first meeting after each annual City
election, shall elect one of its mem-
bers Mayor Pro-Tem, and he shall per-
form all the duties of the mayor in the
absence or disability of the Mayor.  In
the event the City Council, for any rea-
son, fails to elect a Mayor Pro-Tem at
its first meeting after an annual City
election, then the councilmember
with the longest period of service on
the City Council shall automatically
become Mayor Pro-Tem.  In the event
two or more members of the council
are tied for the longest period of serv-
ice, the eldest of such members shall
serve as Mayor Pro-Tem. (as amended
4-2-83)”

REQUIRED HOMEWORK
FOR THE NEW COUNCIL

“Shall, within twelve (12) weeks of said
councilmember’s election, affirmatively
swear that he has read the ‘Book of City
Ordinances,’ ‘The Constitution of the
State of Texas with Amendments,’ all
articles pertaining to home rule cities
contained in ‘Title 28 of the revised
Civil Statutes of the State of Texas of
1925,’ as now or hereafter amended,
and all of the articles, sections, and
paragraphs of the “Charter of the City”
as now or hereafter amended.”

10             The city council as a legislative body

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

87



48

(1) Appoint and remove the city manager.
(2) Establish other administrative departments

and distribute the work of divisions.
(3) Adopt the budget of the city.
(4) Authorize the issuance of bonds by a bond

ordinance.
(5) Inquire into the conduct of any office, de-

partment, or agency of the city and make in-
vestigation as to municipal affairs.

(6) Appoint all commissions, boards, commit-
tees, task forces, and/or appointed groups to
assist the Council in the performance of its
duties and responsibilities; such powers sub-
ject to the restrictions of the Charter and the
laws of the State of Texas.

(7) Fix the salaries and compensation for the
non-elective City officers and employees.

(8) Adopt and modify the zoning plan and the
building code of the city.

(9) Compromise and settle any and all claims
and lawsuits of every kind and character in
favor of or against the City.

(10) Adopt plats.
(11) Adopt and modify the official map of the city.

Appointments

                In council-manager cities, three officials, in addi-
tion to the city manager, are usually appointed by the city
council:  the city secretary, city attorney, and judge of the mu-
nicipal court.  Some charters discuss these offices in the city
council article, but most either have separate articles on each
of these officials or cover them, as we will, in a combined
fashion in an article on “Departments, Offices, and Agencies.”
(See Chapter 13.)
                Several charters also have a provision in the coun-
cil article for appointment of boards and commissions.  In
fact, a few charters employ considerable detail naming the
boards and commissions that the council is authorized to ap-
point, listing basic procedures for board operation, and stating
member qualifications and board composition. (See Chapter
13.)
                Finally, in addition to the powers and duties found
in this article, the city council’s authority is frequently referred
to in other articles of the charter, including particular articles
on franchises; issuance of debt; and initiative, referendum,
and recall.

City council meetings

                The setting for most of the discussing and
“cussing” of a city’s problems is the council meeting.  It is
important, and possibly a matter of self preservation, to know
the basic “ground rules” for these sessions.

Council meeting 
basics

                The following is a listing of how various charters
treat some of the basic matters regarding council meetings:

Frequency of meetings – Virtually every charter pro-
vides for a minimum number of sessions–once or
twice a month or, in the case of larger cities, perhaps
weekly.  This study’s comparison of charter provisions
and the information in the TML membership directory
reveals that most city councils meet more often than
the charter requires.

Open meetings – Council meetings are covered under
the state Open Meetings Act.  This state law super-
sedes any less restrictive charter provision.  The Texas
Supreme Court has ruled that if a city charter is more
restrictive regarding open meetings than the state
law, then the charter prevails.  State law allows ex-
ceptions to the Open Meetings Act for discussion of
certain enumerated subjects.  However, a city’s word-
ing that: “All meetings of the council shall be open
to the public,” without any qualification, means lit-
erally what it says.  If a city with this wording is chal-
lenged, it has no defense in citing the exceptions to
the law.  A more restrictive charter rule supersedes
the state act!  The preferable charter wording is, “All
meetings of the council shall be open to the public
except as allowed by state law.”

Quorum – The minimum number of attending coun-
cilmembers
required to
take action 
is usually
spelled out.
For the coun-
cil to take offi-
cial action,
the charter’s
quorum provi-
sion must be
followed.  City
charters are
divided on the
portion of the city council required to be present in
order to enact ordinances, resolutions, and so on.
Several cities specify a quorum of five, for example,
when they have seven-member councils.  But how
many votes are required to take an action?  Of  the
Texas charters that address this issue, 16 percent
specify that it takes a “majority of the total council
to take action on any matter.”  That would be four for
a seven-member council. Many other communities,
32 percent, allow action by a “majority of a quorum”.

Texas Home Rule Charters

REGULAR AND 
CRISIS PRAYER?

“Section 12.  Chaplain.  The com-
mission may make provisions for the
attendance and service of a chap-
lain at each regular meeting and at
any special meetings at which his
services are desired.”

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

88



49

The majority of cities, 52 percent, allow for action
with only a “majority of those present.”  For a seven-
member council with a five-member quorum, that
could be as few as three persons.  Some charter ob-
servers insist it should take a majority of the total
council to bind the city to an action.  Others have no
problem with three persons, using the example of a
seven-member council, taking action on the part of
the city.

Agenda – Very few charters address agenda prepara-
tion for council meetings.  In council-manager cities,
it is generally considered the responsibility of the
manager, who honors requests for items from the
mayor and council.  Similarly, in a mayor-council city,
the agenda subjects are usually considered to be
those first listed by the mayor.
     The City of Webster council-manager charter has
a simple and common  paragraph on the council
agenda.  It states:

Agenda - Items may be placed on the agenda by
the mayor or by consensus of three councilmembers
prior to the next agenda to be posted.  

Citizens to be heard – A minority of charters have
specific provisions for hearing from citizens during
council meetings.  Such time is provided by most
cities, however; although neither stated nor guided by
the charter.  Typically, a city council will adopt rules
regarding  citizens to be heard.  There are many is-
sues to consider when developing this policy includ-
ing whether a citizen will be required to sign-in prior
to the meeting and indicate which topic they would
like to speak about,  when the citizen may speak, the
length of time he may speak, etc.  There are many
more issues that councilmembers should review in
developing the city’s policy and should consult with
the city attorney to assure proper procedures are
adopted.  

Rules of procedure generally – Charters usually do
not contain detailed council procedures.  They are
considered subject to change from council to council
and thus are most likely found in a handbook of pro-
cedures adopted by resolution of the council.

Consideration and passage of 
ordinances

                Action by the city council on important policy or
contractual issues is generally accomplished by ordinances or
resolution.  Some Texas city charters spell out in great detail
the various requirements and procedures for adoption of ordi-
nances; others have brief paragraphs referring to applicable
state laws.  Few charters address the purpose of resolutions
or the procedures for adoption.  It is important to understand

the distinction between ordinances and resolutions.  The dis-
tinction is in subject matter, not terminology.  An ordinance
is more formal and authoritative than a resolution; it is a local
law that usually regulates persons or property and usually re-
lates to a matter of general and permanent nature.  On the
other hand, a resolution authorizes action on an accompany-
ing document; for example, it is used to authorize the mayor
or city manager to sign a contract for supplies or building con-
struction.  There are certain state statutes that prescribe sub-
jects which must be enacted by ordinance.
                The NCL model city charter has five sections
within the article on the city council that discuss the passage
and recording of ordinances.  They are:

• action requiring an ordinance;
• ordinances in general (discusses form and procedures);
• emergency ordinances;
• codes of technical regulations; and
• authentication and recording, codification, and 

printing of ordinances.

                Many Texas charters contain section titles similar
to the model charter.

Action requiring an ordinance

                In addition to actions required by state law to be
enacted by ordinance, many Texas charters require any basic
changes in the administrative structure of the city, regulation
of land use or development, and all matters relating to fran-
chises to be enacted by ordinance.  As in most matters re-
garding formal action by the council, the city attorney should
be utilized by the council to guide the appropriate action.

Form of the ordinance

                State law does not prescribe the form of an ordi-
nance, except to require an ordaining clause (Section 52.002
Local Government Code) and authorization for publication of
either the complete text or the caption of every ordinance that
establishes penalties for violations (Section 52.013 Local
Government Code).  A form has evolved through the years and
is now used by most cities.  This and other information re-
garding ordinances is in the Handbook for Mayors and Coun-
cilmembers, a publication of the Texas Municipal League.
                Some charters have gone beyond state law in their
requirement for publication, multiple readings, and other pro-
cedures designed to assure adequate notice to the citizens of
key matters covered by ordinances.

The city council as a legislative body
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

89



Emergency ordinances

                A number of Texas charters contain procedures for
the enactment of emergency ordinances.  Such charters fre-
quently follow the language in the NCL model charter; al-
though in some instances, that wording is shortened.

Figure 10-2:  Emergency ordinances

To meet a public emergency affecting life, health,
property, or the public peace, the city council may
adopt one or more emergency ordinances, but such
ordinances may not levy taxes, grant, renew or extend
a franchise, regulate the rate charged by any public
utility for its services or authorize the borrowing of
money except as provided in 5.07(b)*.  An emergency
ordinance shall be introduced in the form and manner
prescribed for ordinances generally, except that it
shall be plainly designated as an emergency ordi-
nance and shall contain, after the enacting clause, a
declaration stating that an emergency exists and de-
scribing it in clear and specific terms.  An emergency
ordinance may be adopted with or without amend-
ment or rejected at the meeting at which it is intro-
duced, but the affirmative vote of at least ____
members shall be required for adoption.  After its
adoption, the ordinance shall be published and
printed as prescribed for other adopted ordinances.
It shall become effective upon adoption or at such
later time as it may specify.  Every emergency ordi-
nance except one made pursuant to 5.07(b)* shall
automatically stand repealed as of the 61st day fol-
lowing the date on which it was adopted, but this
shall not prevent reenactment of the ordinance in the
manner specified in this section if the emergency still
exists.  An emergency ordinance may also be repealed
by adoption of a repealing ordinance in the same
manner specified in this section for adoption of emer-
gency ordinances.

*Section 5.07(b) is a section in the model dealing
with emergency appropriation of money.  Texas state
law does not address the passage of emergency ordi-
nances.

If the charter drafters in a particular city determine that one
reading of an ordinance should be sufficient to enact it into
law, then no provision for an emergency ordinance is neces-
sary.

Codes of technical regulations

                A number of charters establish procedures to ab-
solve the city from having to reprint, as part of an ordinance,

the voluminous technical regulations issued by recognized na-
tional or international professional organizations and instead
adopt the codes by reference. Commentary from the National
Civic League on home rule charters notes that codes, such as
building and sanitary codes, are often detailed and lengthy,
and that the NCL charter provision allows a city to simply
adopts the code by reference in an ordinance. The NCL, as
well as numerous cities across the country, recognize this
charter provision minimizes burden and expense while at the
same time preserves the essential safeguards required for
adopting an ordinance. The San Juan charter contains a typ-
ical provision in this regard:

SECTION 2.14 CODES OF TECHNICAL REGULATIONS:

The City Commission may adopt any stan-
dard code of technical regulations by refer-
ence thereto in an adopting ordinance and as
provided elsewhere by this charter.  The pro-
cedure and requirements governing such an
ordinance shall be as prescribed for ordi-
nances generally except that:

(1) The requirements of governing law for
distribution and filing of copies of the ordi-
nance shall be construed to include copies
of the code of technical regulations as well
as of the adopting ordinance, and

(2) a copy of each adopted code of technical
regulations as well as of the adopting ordi-
nance shall be authenticated and recorded
by the city secretary pursuant to subsection
2.15 (A).

Copies of any adopted code of technical reg-
ulations shall be made available by the city
secretary for distribution or for purchase at a
reasonable price.

Authentication and recording, 
codification, and printing of ordinances

                Charters generally instruct the city secretary to au-
thenticate a properly enacted ordinance by signing and record-
ing such ordinance in full in a properly indexed book reserved
for this purpose.  Many charters call for the mayor to sign all
ordinances, but most also have a clause prohibiting invalida-
tion for lack of a signature.
                Chapter 53 of the Local Government Code author-
izes codification of a city’s ordinances, including the state-
ment in Section 53.005 that a municipal code of ordinances
has the force and effect of an ordinance regularly adopted in
accordance with law.

50

Texas Home Rule Charters
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

90



Summary statement regarding 
ordinances

                Because of the wide variation in charter provisions
regulating adoption of ordinances, this publication makes no
attempt to conduct a physical count of each specific section
in each charter.  The use of the descriptive words “many char-
ters” or “some charters” is admittedly very general but is an
attempt to give some estimate of the occurrences of specific
requirements found in Texas charters.
                The complex nature of ordinances necessitates a
very brief treatment here.  Councilmembers and charter com-
mission appointees can gain a deeper understanding and
knowledge from the Handbook for Mayors and Councilmem-
bers and from their city attorney.

Prohibitions

                This succinct heading, a common one in Texas
charters, lists actions that the city council cannot take.  Sub-
sections B and C, quoted here from the Missouri City charter,
are recognized as essential charter provisions to undergird a
sound council-manager relationship.  Councils are required in
these subsections to deal with department heads and other
employees solely through the city manager, except for infor-
mation inquiries.  If a councilmember is not satisfied with the
manager’s response to an expressed concern about an em-
ployee, the next step is another conference with the manager,
not contact with the employee behind the manager’s back.
The Missouri City charter section on “Prohibitions” is specific
and typical of other such charter statements.

Figure 10-3:  Prohibitions

A.         Holding Other Office:  Except where author-
ized by law, no Mayor or Councilmember
shall hold any other City office or City em-
ployment during his term as Mayor or Coun-
cilmember, and no former Mayor or
Councilmember shall hold any compensated
appointive City office or City employment
until the passage of one (1) year after the ex-
piration of his term as Mayor or Councilmem-
ber.

B.         Appointments and Removals:  Neither the
Council nor any of its members shall in any
manner dictate the appointment or removal
of any City administrative officer or employee
whom the City Manager or any of his subor-
dinates are empowered to appoint, but the
Council may express its views and fully and
freely discuss with the City Manager anything
pertaining to any such officer or employee.

C.         Interference with Administration:  Except for
the purpose of inquiries and investigations
under Section 3.17, the Council or its mem-
bers shall deal with City officers and employ-
ees who are subject to the direction and
supervision of the City Manager solely
through the City Manager, and neither the
Mayor nor a Councilmember may give orders
publicly or privately to any such officer or
employee.

                The prohibition language quoted above is from a
council-manager charter.  Some mayor-council charters con-
tain these same prohibitions against council interference with
the mayoral appointments of department heads, but the sec-
tion is not found nearly as frequently in mayor-council charters
as in council-manager charters.
                A few cities place language regarding political ac-
tivities, acceptance of gifts, and other prohibitions in this sec-
tion of the city council article, but most charters utilize the
“General Provisions” article at the end of the charter to cover
these and other miscellaneous topics (See Chapter 17).

Investigations

                A section on council investigations is found in vir-
tually every charter regardless of form of government.  This
provision is not in conflict with the previous prohibitions, but
is designed to give the council authority to make investiga-
tions into city operations when such action is necessary.  This
section is–and should be–used very sparingly.  When it is nec-
essary to invoke this section, it generally means there is some-
thing amiss in city operations.  The Rosenberg charter
contains a rather typical paragraph on this power:

Sec. 3.13. Investigation by the city council.
The city council shall have power to inquire into the
conduct of any office, department, agency, officer,
or employee of the city and to make investigations
as to municipal affairs, and for that purpose may
subpoena witnesses, administer oaths, and compel
the production of books, papers, and other evi-
dence.  Failure to obey such subpoena or to produce
books, papers, or other evidence as ordered under
the provisions of this section shall constitute a mis-
demeanor.

Annual audit

                Under Sections 103.001-103.004 of the Local
Government Code, every city is required to have an annual
audit of its financial records and accounts.  The audit can be
performed either by a certified public accountant or a quali-

51

The city council as a legislative body
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

91



fied city employee, and must be made available for public in-
spection no later than 120 days after the close of the city’s
fiscal year.  Although state law allows the audit to be con-
ducted by a city employee, virtually all cities require an out-
side firm or individual who has no connection with the city
whatsoever.
                The audit involves examination of three aspects
of the city’s financial operations:  (1) internal controls; (2)
statements, records, and accounting transactions; and (3)
compliance with statutory and budgetary requirements.  Prop-
erly conducted, the audit provides a double check on the city’s
financial status, a method for communicating with the citi-
zenry, and a bona fide statement of the city’s financial condi-
tion.
                The provision for the audit can sometimes be
found in the finance article of the charter.  There are charters
that have no provisions for an annual audit.  It could be ar-
gued this is irrelevant because state law controls.  Most char-
ter observers suggest, however, that this is a place where state
law should be repeated in the charter or listed in an appendix,
providing the citizen reading the charter with a greater sense
of security.
                A few cities have a limit on the numbers of con-
secutive years that one individual or firm can audit the city.
Most cities leave it up to the governing body to decide whether
to employ a different firm after a period of time.  The Texas
City charter is representative of what charters generally con-
tain on the audit:

Sec. 13.  Annual audit.
As soon as practicable after the close of each fiscal
year, an independent audit shall be made of all ac-
counts of the city government and corporations estab-
lished by the city. The certified public accountants,
appointed by the commission, shall have no personal 
interest, directly or indirectly, in the financial affairs of
the city or any of its officers. The scope of the audit
shall require a limited review of city-owned property
and the results shall be reported with each annual au-
dited financial report. Upon completion of the annual
audit, the combined balance sheet thereof shall be
published in the official newspaper of the city within 
thirty (30) days of commission acceptance of such
audit. Copies of all audits shall be placed on file with
the city’s public library, the director of finance and the
city secretary.

Internal auditor

                Three large cities have provisions in the charter
for council appointment of an internal auditor.  In Dallas, the
individual is appointed by council and “shall hold the office
for a two year period” at which time council can make a de-
termination whether to renew the individual for another two
year term.  In Austin, the auditor is appointed directly by the
city council.  The charter provision is brief and utilizes an or-

dinance to clarify the auditor’s duties and relationships with
the council, audit committee, and city manager. In Fort Worth,
the charter was recently changed from the  person being  rec-
ommended by the city manager and appointed by the council
to the auditor “shall be selected by the Council and shall be
responsible to the Council.”

Absences from council meetings

                Over 50 percent of charters have provisions for re-
moving a councilmember who regularly misses council meet-
ings.  Most of them state “absence from three consecutive
regular meetings” is grounds for removal.  Of course, illness
or other compelling reasons relieve the councilmember from
this requirement, but excuses are expected to be filed ahead
of time except in emergencies.  The “absence” language
comes from state law governing Type A general law cities.
                Other charters include a variety of phrases regu-
lating council attendance.  The Alpine charter states that a
member forfeits one-half monthly salary for each council
meeting missed without excuse.  Colleyville requires a mini-
mum of 75 percent attendance during a year, and Mansfield
requires 80 percent during a year.  Others mandate a maxi-
mum number of meetings that can be missed in a six-month
period.
                Curious as to whether this requirement was en-
forced even when the charter states “the councilmember shall
be removed from the council,” (emphasis supplied), we con-
tacted city officials of cities in which these provisions exist.
Although the great majority of cities indicated councils were
reluctant to enforce these provisions, even to the extent of
granting excused absences “after the fact,” we did find sev-
eral cities that had followed through with removal action. Both
Mercedes and The Colony have the “three consecutive regular
meetings” phrase, and both cities have ousted councilmem-
bers who failed to attend the requisite number of meetings.
In one city, a councilmember was indicted for a felony and
jailed.  The member had not yet been convicted of the felony
that would meet the requirements for disqualification under
state law.  However, the member was not able to attend meet-
ings because of his incarceration, and the council took action
under the absence phrase in the charter.  The individual re-
moved did not pursue the matter.  Huntsville reported that a
councilmember did resign from the council because of the
same absence provision in its charter.  A San Marcos official
said the provision was in its charter now because of a previous
problem before the provision was inserted.  And finally, two
other cities indicated that they had “come close” to invoking
this charter provision, but had not to this date.  It does appear
that a statement on attendance is helpful in the charter; it
gives the council some authority to urge regular attendance
by members.

52

Texas Home Rule Charters

 

 

 

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

92



Vacancies on the council

                Vacancies on the council can result from resigna-
tion, death, disability, recall, or failure of a councilmember to
meet the requirements of the charter.  In some instances, a
vacancy can occur if a member of the council announces for
another elective office.  For example, under Article XI,  § 11,
of the Texas Constitution, in cities where the term of office
for councilmembers is three or four years, any councilmember
who announces for another elective office is automatically re-
moved from the council if more than one year remains in his
term at the time of such announcement.
                Also, some city charters with two-year terms pro-
vide that any councilmember who runs for another office au-
tomatically vacates his or her seat on the council.  A city
charter may provide that:

If any officer of the city shall file as a candidate for
nomination or election to any public office, except
to some office under this charter, he shall immedi-
ately forfeit his office.

                
                Procedures for filling vacancies vary from charter
to charter.  In some instances, charters require that vacancies
on the governing body be filled by appointment of the council
in every case; i.e., regardless of whether a regular municipal
election is imminent.  The most popular provision for cities
with two-year terms of office is for appointment by the council
in the case of one vacancy, or special election in the case of
two or more vacancies.  An election to fill a vacancy must be
on one of the uniform election dates specified in the Election
Code, unless it is a vacancy required to be filled under the
Texas Constitution.
                Under Article XI, § 11, of the Texas Constitution,
cities with three- or four-year terms must fill all vacancies by
election of majority vote within 120 days of the vacancy.  Fi-
nally, some cities with two-year terms require that all council
vacancies must be filled by special election.  Among these
cities, the common practice is not to require special elections
in cases where a regular municipal election is imminent; e.g.,
within 60 to 90 days of the time the vacancy occurred.

53

The city council as a legislative body

Figure 10-4:  Charter Requirements for Fulfillment of Vacancies

                   Appointed        Elected       Provides for Either

                   1 Vacancy            36% 39% 25%

                   2 Vacancies 13% 67% 20%

I NOMINATE MY
BROTHER-IN-LAW

“Section 2.06 Vacancies

A single vacancy in the Council shall be
filled within thirty (30) days of the oc-
currence of the vacancy by a majority
vote of the remaining members of the
Council by selection of a person quali-
fied for the position as described in this
Charter.  If the vacancy is caused by the
resignation of a Councilmember who is
in good standing, that Councilmember
may submit a nominee for that position.
This nominee must be accepted or re-
jected by the Council before other nom-
inees can be considered.  Once
appointed, this appointee shall serve
until the position can be filled at the
next regular City election.”

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

93



54

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

94



                The city election process traditionally has been
the sounding board for public opinion.  With their votes, citi-
zens choose their leaders and endorse or reject such major
decisions as issuance or assumption of bonds and sale of al-
cohol.  Because of their importance, city council elections and
other elections conducted by the city are discussed in a sep-
arate article in the NCL model city charter and most Texas
charters.
                That article in today’s city charters is primarily a
recitation of the specific requirements for municipal elections
in the very detailed Texas Election Code.  This code addresses
voter qualifications and registration, election officers and ob-
servers, time and place of elections, supplies, the conduct of
elections, absentee voting, laws pertaining to candidacy, reg-
ulation of political parties, elections to fill vacancies, re-
counts, election contests, and regulation of political funds
and campaigns.
                Although the qualifications for mayor and/or coun-
cilmember and the requirements for filing were discussed at
length in Chapter 9, there are several additional areas of im-
portance to city officials and charter commissioners that war-
rant special treatment here.  They include:

• plurality/majority vote
• cumulative voting
• election dates (uniform and others)
• nonpartisan elections
• the elections article

Plurality/majority/cumulative voting

                Section 2.001 of the Election Code is captioned
Plurality Vote Required and states:  “Except as otherwise pro-
vided by law, to be elected to a public office, a candidate must
receive more votes than any other candidate for the office.”
This is very clear – in an election for one place with three can-
didates, the winner need only poll more than either of the
other two candidates, not more than the two of them com-
bined (that would be a majority, of course).  The key phrase
above, however, is “unless otherwise provided by law.”  There
are two, and possibly three, situations that qualify under this
phrase.  First, any public official elected for a term of more
than two years is required to be elected by majority vote.  This
is found in the Texas Constitution, Article XVI,  § 11.  Second,
Section 2.75 of the Election Code provides that in cities of
over 200,000, election of city officials shall be by majority
vote.  Third, home rule charters have been recognized as
“law” as the term is used in Section 2.001 of the Election
Code. Until 1994, no other kind of election was being con-
ducted except by majority or plurality.  As noted earlier, how-
ever, the City of Andrews adopted a charter amendment in

May 1994 calling for election of its council by cumulative vot-
ing.  
                Charter drafters are cautioned to be very careful
in their use of the two terms–majority and plurality.  Several
Texas charters somehow wound up calling for election of their
city officials by both majority and plurality.  In one city, the
title of the section is “Election by Majority,” but the text says,
“The person receiving the highest vote…”  In a recent court
case, the district judge ruled that the majority vote language
prevailed.  In another city, one portion of the charter calls for
“election by majority.”  A few pages later, it states that “elec-
tion shall be by plurality.”  That city is utilizing majority vote
until the charter can be corrected.

Arguments for and against 
majority/plurality voting

                Cities under 200,000 population that have two-
year terms have a choice of electing city councils by majority
vote or by plurality.  To assist in this decision, the following is
a brief list of some of the arguments made for each method
of election. Arguments in favor of plurality and against major-
ity elections:

(1)        The election is clear and simple.  Voters have to go
to the polls only once, and all voters in the city vote
in the same election.

(2)        When a majority is required to elect, there are usually
only a few races in which no candidate receives a ma-
jority of votes at the first election.  This means that
when the second runoff election is held, it is for only
a few positions.  When candidates run from single-
member districts, the runoff election will be held in
only a few districts.  Little public attention gets fo-
cused on the runoff elections.

(3)       The Texas majority runoff system has been accused
of discrimination against women and minorities.
They run and win in the first election against a wide
array of other candidates, but then can be over-
whelmed by a unified opposition in the low-turnout
runoff election.  The Justice Department, with in-
creasing frequency, looks for alternative voting meth-
ods that tend to increase the electoral clout of
minorities.  Cumulative voting, bullet voting, and sin-
gle-shot voting each require a plurality system as a
base.

                

55

11              Elections

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

95



56

Arguments in favor of majority and against plurality elections:

(1)             Members of the city council should represent a
clear majority of the voters in their constituencies.
Only a majority vote gives them a clear mandate
to pursue a program and speak for the interests
of their district or other constituency.

(2)             When there are multiple candidates, the issues
can be diffused and voters can be uncertain of the
merits of the respective candidates.  In such elec-
tions, the narrowing of the race to the two
strongest candidates sharpens the choice and re-
moves the ambiguity from the electoral results.

(3)             The cost of a runoff election is small in compari-
son with the added stature clear majorities give to
those who are ultimately elected by clear majori-
ties. Runoff elections are also important in diverse
constituencies because they force the two con-
tenders to appeal to those who supported other
candidates in the first election.  This contributes
to building coalitions that include people whose
interests might be safely ignored if a candidate
could win with a plurality of votes, because each
candidate must make a concerted appeal to the
largest voting bloc in the constituency.

Election dates

                The Texas Election Code prescribes certain days
for holding municipal elections.  City elections may be held
only in May and November. Any municipal election held on a
day other than one of those prescribed is void unless it is
specifically authorized by the statute.   The Texas Election
Code reads as follows:

                § 41.001.UNIFORM ELECTION DATES. 
                (a) Except as otherwise provided by this subchap-
ter, each general or special election in  this state shall be held
on one of the following dates:

(1)  the second Saturday in May; or                                           
(2)  the first Tuesday after the first Monday

in November.                  
                (b)  Subsection (a) does not apply to:                                         

(1)  a runoff election;                                                       
(2)  an election to resolve a tie vote;                                       
(3)  an election held under an order of a

court or other tribunal;          
(4)  an emergency election ordered under

Section 41.0011;                   
(5)  an expedited election to fill a vacancy

in the legislature held under Section 
203.013;  or

(6)  an election held under a statute that
expressly provides that the requirement of 
Subsection (a) does not apply to the election.

(c)  Except for an election under Subsection (a)

or Section 41.0011, an election may not be       
held within 30 days before or after the date of the general
election for state and county officers, general primary elec-
tion, or runoff primary election.

                City council and charter amendment elections are
not authorized on any day except the ones listed above.  
                Section 2.025 of the Election Code prescribes a
time for runoff elections to help cities with majority elections
where no candidate receives more than 50 percent of the vote
at the first election.  Section 2.025 provides home rule char-
ter cities with some flexibility to set the runoff date later if a
delay will allow a joint election to be held with another polit-
ical subdivision.
                Charters do not address the subject of joint elec-
tions, but cities are urged to explore this matter to save money
and obtain a higher turnout of voters.  Chapter 271 of the
Election Code contains the basic statutory requirements con-
cerning joint elections.

Nonpartisan elections

                Nonpartisan elections are such an integral part of
municipal elections in Texas that they are taken for granted
by city officials and citizens.  Long-time municipal observers
and many former mayors and city councilmembers believe
that the nonpartisan election is one of the principal reasons
for the outstanding reputation that Texas cities enjoy in the
country.  And nonpartisanship transcends the form of govern-
ment.  The two largest mayor-council cities–Houston and
Pasadena–have nonpartisan elections.  Similarly, Dallas, San
Antonio, Austin, and Fort Worth, as council-manager cities,
conduct their elections accordingly.  The smaller cities using
both forms of government follow suit. Arguments in favor of
nonpartisan elections include:

(1)        Nonpartisan elections focus candidate and voter at-
tention on city problems and their solutions.  When
city elections are held on a partisan basis, they tend
to be overshadowed by state and national contests,
preventing the candidates and voters from focusing
on city issues.

(2)        Nonpartisan elections make it easier for councilmem-
bers from a variety of backgrounds and ideologies to
cooperate in resolving critical problems.  Party poli-
tics are irrelevant to most issues, which are largely
concerned with means rather than ends and which
are not well-served by jockeying for partisan advan-
tage to expand the scope of control over local offices
or to enhance the chances of state and national party
tickets.

(3)        Competition in council elections is frustrated rather
than stimulated by party politics because many areas
of the city are solidly in the grip of a single party,
making it infeasible for good people of the other party
to even consider running for council.  Nonpartisan

Texas Home Rule Charters
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

96



57

elections make it much easier for voters to support
an able candidate without concern for party affilia-
tion.

Arguments in favor of partisan elections include:

(1)        Partisan elections help voters identify the general
governmental philosophy of candidates for council.

(2)        Partisan elections make it easier to hold councilmem-
bers accountable for the overall performance of the
government as well as for their own individual per-
formance in office.

(3)        Partisan elections stimulate competition for council
positions, enhancing voter participation and choice
among candidates and programs.  Parties provide
mechanisms for recruiting candidates for council and
mayor, and a mechanism for financing campaigns.

                Municipal officials and citizens in Texas have ob-
viously given more weight to the arguments in favor of non-
partisan elections.  In summary, this is one election question
that appears to be settled in Texas for a long time.

The elections article

                So what does the elections article in a city charter
address?  A representative sample of charters shows a fairly
uniform coverage of certain key items in the election process.
Most of the language adjusts the state law requirements to
the city in question. Typical sections in the charter’s election
article look like this in a number of cities:

• Section 1 is titled “City elections” or “Calling and Regu-
lating Elections.”  Language in this section might include
authorizing the city council to call the elections, listing
the date of the election, making provision for election
judges, designating the hours and places of election, and
stating the composition and method of election of the
council.

• Section 2 relates to filing for office (covered in this doc-
ument in Chapter 9).

• Section 3 relates to the official ballot and includes infor-
mation on who draws up the ballot, how names are listed,
and the deadline for printing the ballot.

• Section 4 relates to canvassing the results.  This would
contain the statements about delivering the ballot boxes
to city hall, meeting of the city council to canvass the re-
sults, and other matters to complete the election process.

• Section 5 relates to runoff elections and a tie vote.
• Section 6 relates to election by plurality or majority.  It

includes a specific statement indicating how candidates
are elected.

Summary

                In Chapter 3, we emphasized that state law su-
persedes home rule charters, and we listed options by which
cities might deal with matters that the state heavily regulates.
At that time, we suggested the possibility of repeating some
state law language in a charter appendix–just to give the cit-
izen a general idea of the process and procedures in a partic-
ular function.  The elections article would seem to fit this
suggestion, listing enough information for citizens to get a
good idea of the process, but sparing them every detail of the
subject in question.

Elections
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

97



58

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

98



12             The city manager

                City managers are a twentieth century American
invention.  This new form of city government developed in the
early 1900s with the goal of applying private business princi-
ples to public management.   This is why early city managers
came from a business background, primarily engineering.  In
fact, when the Professional Association of City Managers was
organized in 1914, it almost adopted a requirement that
members be engineers.
                Through the years, emphasis on the engineering
aspects of the position was superseded by emphasis on broad
administrative ability.  Texas managers today are attorneys, fi-
nance specialists, and educated public administrators.  As
early as 1923, universities began offering special graduate
level programs to prepare students for a career in city man-
agement.  Today, these programs are offered nationwide.
                In keeping with the trend toward specialized edu-
cation, it is becoming more and more common for city man-
agers in Texas to have master’s degrees in “public affairs” or
“public administration.”  This managerial background also is
evident in very small cities where complex economic, social,
and environmental problems are like those in larger cities.
Citizens are demanding, in addition to business-oriented op-
eration, a social awareness of their individual struggles with
crime, education, and housing.  Clean water and paved streets
are no longer enough.
                Texas cities are embracing the city manager edu-
cated in public administration as they earlier embraced the
new council-manager form of government.  From the adoption
of the council-manager plan by Amarillo in 1913, the plan
rapidly became the most popular method of city organization
in the state.  Conversions from the other two forms of govern-
ment occur every year.  Not just in Texas, but across the coun-
try as well as indicated in the ICMA’s 2009 Municipal
Yearbook. 
                Since this book was first published in 1994, over
60 additional communities have adopted the council-manager
system as their preferred choice of local self-governance. One
of the biggest changes occurred in 2004 when voters in El
Paso amended their city charter to move from the mayor-coun-
cil to the council-manager form of government.  
                As of 2008, 89% percent of Texas’ home rule
cities operate under the council-manager form of government.
Several other cities operate under an “optional city manager”
charter that provides that the City Council may (emphasis sup-
plied) appoint a city manager.
                The typical council-manager charter in Texas con-
tains a separate article on the city manager and follows the
language of the NCL model city charter in many respects.
That article usually contains three subsections: appointment
and removal of the manager, powers and duties, and other
provisions.

Appointment and removal of city 
manager

                The charter of the City of Alpine has a clear-cut
statement:

Figure 12-1:  Article VI City Administration

    Section 4.01 City Manager
(A)       The Council shall, upon approval of a majority
of the full City Council, appoint a City Manager who
shall be the chief administrative and executive officer
of the City, and shall be responsible to the Council
for the administration of the affairs of the City.
(B)       The City Manager shall be chosen by the
Council solely on the basis of executive and adminis-
trative training, experience, and ability.
(C)       The City Manager shall be appointed for an
indefinite term and receive compensation as may
be fixed by the Council.
(D)       No member of the Council shall, during the
time for which he or she is elected, nor for one (1)
year thereafter, be appointed City Manager.
(E)       The Council may by affirmative vote of a ma-
jority of the full City Council adopt a resolution re-
moving the Manager from office.  The action of the
Council in removing the Manager shall be final; it
being the intention of this Charter to vest all authority
and fix all responsibility for such removal in the City
Council.
(F)       The City manager may, by letter filed with the
City Secretary and subject to approval by the City Coun-
cil, designate a qualified City administrative officer to
be Acting City Manager during the temporary absence
or disability of the Manager.  If the City Manager
fails to make such designation or if the Council chooses
to revoke such designation, the Council may appoint an
Acting City Managerto serve during such time.  The
Council may remove an Acting City Manager at any
time.

                Our review of council-manager charters in Texas
focused on several of the individual requirements and state-
ments above.  The following is an analysis of key provisions.

59

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

99



Vote required for appointment

                Appointment of the manager by majority vote of
the entire membership of the council, not simply a majority
of a quorum, assures undisputed support for the appointee.
Since that wording would require four votes on a seven-mem-
ber council, even if there were two vacancies on the council,
some cities use the phrase: “by the vote of a majority of all
Councilmembers qualified and serving.”  Texas charters have
not paid that much attention to the wording, as only a few of
the charters require this type of “full” majority for appoint-
ment.

Education/experience required

                Most charters use wording similar to that in the
Alpine charter, giving the city council some discretion in eval-
uating the education and experience that candidates bring to
the job.  The Laredo charter had one of the more restrictive
statements on the qualifications of the manager requiring at
least three years experience as a city manager or an assistant
in another city.  In the late 1990’s, the charter was amended
to require even more restrictive qualifications and the charter
now reads:

“The City Manager shall be appointed on the
basis of executive and administrative quali-
fications. He/she shall have a Bachelor’s De-
gree and no less than seven years experience
in municipal government, five of which must
be supervisory managerial experience. A
Master’s Degree in Public Administration is
preferred. The City Manager need not be a
resident of the City or State at the time of ap-
pointment, but must reside inside the City
while in office.”

Residence

                Residence is addressed in the NCL model city
charter and in the great majority of Texas charters.  The Model
states:  “The manager need not be a resident of the city or
state at the time of appointment but may reside outside the
city while in office only with the approval of the council.”
Texas charters generally do not include the exception quoted
in the model charter above, but do allow some time for the
manager to establish residence in the city after appointment.
One charter states that residence must be established in four
months; several others provide for six months.  One charter
requires residence be established within three years, prompt-
ing one cynic to remark that the city manager wouldn’t have
to worry about this provision because he wouldn’t be around
that long.

Term of appointment

                The great majority of charters follow the language
found in subparagraph (c) of the Alpine charter.  Terms of one
to five years for the manager are found in a small number of
charters.  Appointment for an indefinite term is considered
preferable, because contracting for a specified term reduces
the discretion of the council to remove a manager.
                Most charters are quiet on the subject of contracts
for the manager, but there are some exceptions.  One charter
states that the manager will be appointed for a definite period,
not to exceed two years.  One charter says a contract may be
extended to the manager for a period up to four years, another
allows up to five years, and yet another provides for up to six
years.  At least one charter limits severance pay to six months.
Reports have shown that a number of cities, particularly larger
ones, have some form of employment agreement with the
manager. The Texas City Management Association has pre-
pared a  model agreement (available at www.tcma.org) that
many cities use as a starting document. Municipal attorneys
generally agree the charter does not have to specifically give
the council the authority to enter into these contracts with
managers.

Appointment of mayor or 
councilmember as manager

                Tabulation was made of the charters with a provi-
sion prohibiting the appointment of the mayor or a city coun-
cilmember as city manager during their terms of office.  A
substantial number of charters have such language.  Figures
were tabulated for the question:  “Former member of the city
council is not eligible for appointment as city manager for
(one), (two), (three) years after going off the council.” 

Farmers Branch and San Antonio stipulate that a former
mayor or councilmember shall never be eligible to serve as
city manager.

60

Texas Home Rule Charters

                1994 2008
                1 Year 39% 34%
                2 Years 15% 16%
                3 Years 1% 1%

Not Addressed in Charter 45% 49%

Figure 12-2:  Years Before City Councilmembers Eligible
to Serve as City Manager 

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

100



Appointment of mayor or city coun-
cilmember as acting manager following
death, resignation, or removal of a 
manager

                Most charters do not address this question, but
several provide that a sitting mayor or councilmember cannot
be appointed as an acting manager during the time the city is
“between” managers.  Several other cities have charter lan-

guage that an advocate of the
manager plan would consider
to be undesirable.  For exam-
ple, one charter allows a mem-
ber of the city council to be
appointed acting manager
upon a 5/7 vote of the council.
Two charters allow the mayor
or a councilmember to be ap-
pointed acting manager for no
more than ninety days.  Two
others permit the mayor to act
as city manager, in case of a
vacancy, until an acting city
manager can be appointed.
Another charter provides that

the mayor or councilmember can serve as acting manager dur-
ing a vacancy.

Vote required for removal

                The NCL model charter requires a majority vote of
the “full council” to remove the manager.  Many Texas cities
agree with that requirement, as 64 percent  of the council-
manager charters have it.  Thirty percent  of cities require only
a majority of a quorum. The remaining six percent  have other
specific requirements for the removal of a city manager.  Ex-
ceptions include a charter that requires a 5/7 vote to fire the
manager, another that requires a 4/5 vote, and another that
requires a 2/3 vote unless a contract specifies otherwise.  At
least three charters prohibit the discharge of a city manager
within 60 days after a council election if the manager has
been in office for one year or longer, and then only with a 4/5
vote; another charter, in the same circumstances, requires a
unanimous vote to discharge the manager.

Public hearing before removal

                While the NCL model charter requires a hearing,
Texas cities are of differing minds.  Cities requiring a public
hearing for the manager before removal total approximately
40 percent; the other 60 percent  do not provide for a hearing
or the charter does not address this issue.  Arguments are
mounted on both sides of this issue, but the fact remains that
cities are not of one mind.

Acting manager

                In order to remove any doubt as to the identity of
the acting city manager, the manager is required, in most
charters, to designate a city officer or employee to serve as
acting city manager during the temporary absence or disability
of the manager.  The council is free, of course, to replace the
acting manager if it is dissatisfied with performance, and the
acting manager is not entitled to the protection of the removal
procedures afforded the manager.

Duties of the city manager

                The next major subjects addressed in virtually
every Texas council-manager charter are the duties, some-
times called the “powers and responsibilities,” of the city
manager.  A great many charters have adopted all or a great
deal of the language of the NCL model city charter which
states:

Figure 12-3:  Powers and duties of the city manager

The city manager shall be the chief executive
officer of the city, responsible to the council
for the management of all city affairs placed
in the manager’s charge by or under this
charter.  The city manager shall:

(1)        Appoint and suspend or remove all city em-
ployees and appointive administrative offi-
cers provided for, by, or under this charter,
except as otherwise provided by law, this
charter or personnel rules adopted pursuant
to this charter. The city manager may author-
ize any administrative officer subject to the
manager’s direction and supervision to exer-
cise these powers with respect to subordi-
nates in that officer’s department, office, or
agency;

(2)        Direct and supervise the administration of all
departments, offices, and agencies of the
city, except as otherwise provided by this
charter or by law;

(3)        Attend all city council meetings.  The city
manager shall have the right to take part in
discussion but shall not vote;

(4)        See that all laws, provisions of this charter,
and acts of the city council, subject to en-
forcement by the city manager or by officers
subject to the manager’s direction and super-
vision, are faithfully executed;

(5)        Prepare and submit the annual budget and
capital program to the city council and im-
plement the final budget approved by council
to achieve the goals of the city;

61

The city manager

DOES RELEASE
SPELL RELIEF?

“Section 4.1 No person
who has held an elective of-
fice of the City shall be eli-
gible for appointment as
city manager within one
year of his release from
such office.”

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

101



62

(6)        Submit to the city council and make avail-
able to the public a complete report on the
finances and administrative activities of the
city as of the end of each fiscal year;

(7)        Make such other reports as the city council
may require concerning operations;

(8)        Keep the city council fully advised as to the
financial condition and future needs of the
city;

(9)        Make recommendations to the city council
concerning the affairs of the city and facili-
tate the work of the city council in developing
policy;

(10)      Provide staff support services for the mayor
and councilmembers; and

(11)     Assist the council to develop long term goals
for the city and strategies to implement these
goals;

(12) Encourage and provide staff support for re-
gional and intergovernmental cooperation;

(13) Promote partnerships among council, staff,
and citizens in developing public policy and
building a sense of community; and

(14)      Perform such other duties as are specified in
this charter or may be required by the city
council.

Appointment of department heads 
and other employees

                The major differences between Texas charters and
the NCL model is that 25 percent of Texas council-manager
charters require council confirmation of department head ap-
pointments.  This does mean that the majority of the charters
follow the model and allow the manager to appoint these key
individuals without reference to the council–at least formally.
A few charters require the confirmation of one or two sensitive
department heads, but not every department head.  The most
likely department heads to require confirmation by the council
are the police chief (39 percent), finance director (20 per-
cent), and fire chief (5 percent).  The city attorney, city sec-
retary and municipal court judge often require confirmation
by council when the City Manager is provided authority for
these appointments (See Chapter 13).
                The great majority of charters do not require con-
sultation with the council before removal of department
heads.  In a select few cities, the council, however, must con-
firm removal of these officials; in another, the charter requires
consultation with the council prior to such removal. 

Preparation of budget

                The NCL model charter provisions quoted above
contain the standard provision found in most Texas charters.
However, the Grand Prairie charter contains a more descriptive
sentence in regard to the budget.  Its charter mandates that
the city manager shall:  “prepare an annual budget designed
to accomplish the goals and objectives established by the City
Council, submit it to the City Council for approval and be re-
sponsible for its faithful administration after adoption.”  Many
charters contain more details in their articles on “finance and
budget.” Those details will be covered in Chapter 14.

Other duties

                The Grand Prairie charter lists two additional du-
ties of the city manager which, although not found in a ma-
jority of the charters, nevertheless are worth mentioning.  One
of these duties is to “see that all terms and conditions im-
posed in favor of the city or its inhabitants in any public utility
franchise or other franchise or contract are faithfully kept and
performed; and, upon knowledge of any violation thereof, to
call the same to the attention of the city attorney, whose duty
it shall be to take such steps as may be necessary to enforce
the same.”
                The other duty says the manager shall “prepare
the agenda of each meeting of the City Council in accordance
with this Charter and the rules of procedure adopted by the
City Council.”  Agenda preparation is not mentioned in the
great majority of council-manager charters; although, it is as-
sumed by many to be the responsibility of the manager and
not of the council.  We did not specifically survey the location
of this responsibility.  In our review of the charters, we did
find that a few charters make provision for consultation with
the mayor on preparation of the agenda and some others that
allow councilmembers to request items to be placed on the
agenda.  Without charter provisions, it can only be surmised
that agenda preparation is worked out between the manager
and the council and perhaps covered in city council proce-
dures which can be changed from time to time.

Other provisions in the article 
on city manager

                A minority of charters have other provisions listed
under this article.  They include:

Bonds – A number of charters specify that the city manager
shall be bonded; some specify the amount, while others leave
that decision to the council.  Most charters omit this provision,
presumably covering it by ordinance or resolution to the coun-
cil.

Texas Home Rule Charters
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

102



63

Nepotism – The state law on nepotism arguably covers city
managers that act as “a final hiring authority.” 

Prohibitions against council interference – This matter was
discussed in Chapter 10 and is an essential part of a sound
council-manager charter.  A few charters place this paragraph
under the article on the manager.

Administrative departments and directors of departments –
These provisions are more commonly found in a separate char-
ter article on “departmental organization” (or a similar title)
and will be covered in the next chapter of this book.

Investigations – A few charters authorize the city manager to
investigate the conduct of any office or department and to
subpoena witnesses.  As discussed in the previous chapter,
authorization for the city council to conduct such investiga-
tions is found in the great majority of council-manager char-
ters.  The presence of such a provision enabling the manager
to conduct such inquiries is fairly rare.

“Weak” council-manager charters

                A few cities in the state have council-manager
charters that weaken and dilute the form of government by
placing obstacles to the council and manager relationship,
and confusing the lines of authority and responsibility.  One
council appoints a comptroller; another appoints a director of
finance.  These appointments, made independent of the city
manager, can divide responsibility for certain functions and
confuse the council about who is accountable.
                One South Texas city charter states that the city
council shall appoint and set the pay of the police and fire
chief and the fire marshal.  A central Texas city charter says
if the manager and a supervisor differ over appointment of an
employee, the city council shall resolve the issue.  One North
Texas community’s council, by a 4/5 vote, can require the city
manager to remove a specified city employee.  And one
coastal city has a provision for councilmembers to act as liai-
son to certain departments of the city.  None of these provi-
sions provide for the clear line of authority necessary to create
a good working relationship between the council and the man-
ager.
                Another potential problem for council-manager re-
lations is the failure of past charter commissions and city
councils to eliminate conflicting language when changing
forms of government from mayor-council to council-manager.
It is not unusual for a mayor-council charter to authorize the
city council to remove any officer or employee of the city at
its discretion.  However, this provision in a council-manager
charter is obviously confusing since all council-manager char-
ters authorize the manager to hire and fire city employees.
More than a dozen council-manager charters still provide that
the council can fire employees, and at least two cities reported
problems arising from these conflicting provisions.

Optional council-manager charters

                A council-manager charter is usually defined as
one that establishes the city manager provision by use of the
word “shall.”  The key phrase is:  “The city council shall ap-
point a city manager who…”  The legal definition of “shall”
means the city council is required to appoint a person to the
office.  It also means that only a charter amendment vote by
the people can eliminate the position, not just a vote of the
council.  On the other hand, the word “may” in the legal sense
allows a permissive act.  The council may or may not appoint
a city manager.  It also may appoint and later drop the position
at any time without any requirement of a charter amendment
election.
                Texas has a few cities in which appointment of a
city manager is optional; these cities either state in their char-
ter that the council “may appoint a manager” or use other lan-
guage indicating that the manager position is not a firmly
fixed one, but rather exists at the whim of the council.  In ad-
dition, one charter states that the city council may designate
the city secretary as city manager; it can, of course, also de-
designate such nomination.

Unusual council-manager charters

                Four other cities with unusual charter provisions
have been defined as council-manager cities.  In two cities,
the mayor chooses the city manager, but that individual’s ap-
pointment and removal must be approved by the council.  In-
volvement of the council meets one of the key criteria for the
form of government; the mayor cannot hire and fire the man-
ager or administrator.  Two other cities originally have optional
language.  Both charters have statements that the city council
“may at such time as the financial condition of the City make
it feasible, appoint a city manager…”  This statement alone
would tend to classify them as optional cities, but the charters
have another provision that states that the position, once
filled, can be terminated only by a petition of the voters, fol-
lowed by a referendum vote to retain or abandon the system.
Both cities filled these positions several years ago; thus, any
abandonment can be accomplished only by a vote of the peo-
ple–a charter amendment.

Summary

                Texas council-manager charters have generally fol-
lowed good precedents:  the NCL model charter or area char-
ters that contain sound council-manager language.  The
national reputations of some of the Texas council-manager
cities as role models attests to the fact that: (1) Texas cities
have a solid legal and structural foundation; and (2) city coun-
cils and city managers are jointly and effectively delivering
quality services to their citizens.

The city manager
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

103



64

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

104



13             Departments, offices, and boards

                The title of this chapter is the same as that used
in a number of Texas charters as well as in the NCL model
city charter.  However, the predominant title in Texas charters
for the subject matter covered in this chapter is either “Ad-
ministration” or “Administrative Departments.”  In smaller
cities, this charter article typically includes the city manager
as well as other departments and offices.  Other charters de-
vote separate articles to each department or officer. This 
chapter will discuss the following:

• Creation of departments
• City attorney
• City secretary
• Municipal court judge
• Planning function
• Personnel and civil service
• Health function
• Other departments and officers
• Boards and commissions

Creation of departments

                The Marble Falls charter has a clear statement on
the creation of administrative departments in a council-man-
ager city:

                Section 4.02 Administrative Departments
There shall be such administra-

tive departments as are established by
this Charter and may be established
by ordinance and, excepting as other-
wise provided in this Charter, these
administrative departments shall be
under the direction of the City Man-
ager.

The Council shall have power by or-
dinance to establish administrative de-
partments or offices not herein provided
by this Charter.  The Council may dis-
continue, redesignate, or combine any of
the departments and/or administrative
offices.  No changes shall be made by
the Council in the organization of the ad-
ministrative service of the City until the
recommendations of the City Manager
thereon shall have been heard by the
Council.

The head of each department
shall be a director who shall have de-
partmental supervision and control.
Two (2) or more departments may be
headed by the same individual and

the City manager may head one (1) or
more departments.

                In most charters, three offices are specified by
name:  the city attorney, the city secretary, and the municipal
court judge.  An administrative code adopted by the council
is the appropriate place for establishing the other departments
or defining their departmental organization and operating
rules and regulations.  In fact, many aspects of the internal
organization of departments or divisions should be governed
by administrative order rather than by council action.

City Attorney
                Each city should have either a full-time or part-
time legal officer, depending on the size of the city and the
volume of legal problems.  Many small towns contract with a
legal firm or with an individual.  Some city councils prefer to
contract with a firm, while others prefer to have an attorney
full-time on the city staff.  Very small cities have little choice
if they do not have enough work for a full-time employee.
Some slightly larger cities have a full-time employee because
they want their own lawyer immediately available.  Other cities
can afford and have enough work for a full-time employee but
contract with a firm because of its variety of expertise.
                Charters frequently provide that the city attorney,
with council approval, can bring in special counsel when the
need to do so for a particular court case or other problem
arises.
                The West University Place charter has a typical
section on the city attorney:

The Council shall appoint an attor-
ney, licensed by the State of Texas, to be
the City Attorney.  The City Attorney shall
be entitled to compensation for services
as established by the Council and shall
serve at the pleasure of the Council.  The
City Attorney shall draft or approve as to
legal form or file written objections to
every ordinance proposed by the Council
and shall review all contracts and other
documents in which the City has an in-
terest.  The City Attorney, or other attor-
neys selected by the City Attorney with
the approval of the Council, shall repre-
sent the City in all litigation.  The City At-
torney shall be the legal advisor to the
City and counsel for the City and all its
officers and departments in the conduct
of City business.

65

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

105



Survey Results

                Our survey of the state’s charters produced the
following figures in regard to selection of the city attorney:

                The large figures for “appointment by the city
council” are a little misleading since they include the con-
tracts with firms or individuals entered into by the council.
For cities over 50,000, the figures look like this:
                
                

                The six largest cities in the state have an interest-
ing mix of appointment methods.  In Houston and El Paso,
the mayor appoints the city attorney with approval of the city
council; in Dallas, the appointment is by the council; in Fort
Worth, the attorney is appointed by the city council on rec-
ommendation of the city manager; and in San Antonio and
Austin, the city manager appoints the attorney, and no council
confirmation is required.  Various arguments are made for and
against the council appointing the attorney.  Some contend
that legal questions are so crucial that the city council needs
to be sure that the attorney’s opinion is not “laundered” in
any way by the manager before it gets to the council.  On the
other hand, having both the manager and the attorney report
to the council can be divisive, particularly if the attorney has
a disposition to mix some policy advice with legal advice.
There is no single best answer to the question.  Whatever the
policy, the key is that all the players should be guided by an
open, trusting relationship.

City Secretary

                The term “city secretary” is used intentionally
here.  Survey results showed this title to be heavily preferred
by 90 percent of Texas cities over the title “city clerk.”  The
city secretary, like the city attorney, is frequently the subject
of a separate article in the charter.  The establishment of this

position is also found in the city council article, and some-
times within the mayor or city manager section of the charter.
Wherever it is, the job is a critical one.
                Although a few charters do not establish this po-
sition, the overwhelming number do.  Those charters also stip-
ulate responsibilities for the city secretary.   Several charters
include lengthy detail, but the Hurst charter really says all
that is necessary:

The city manager shall employ a city secretary and
such assistant city secretaries as the city manager
shall deem necessary. Such persons shall report to
the city manager who shall establish their compensa-
tion and duties. The city secretary or an assistant city
secretary shall give notice of the city council meet-
ings, take the minutes of such meetings, authenticate
ordinances and resolutions by his or her signature and
shall index and keep such minutes, ordinances and
resolutions. 

                Over the years, the duties of the city secretary/city
clerk position have grown in scope in all cities, but particularly
in small cities. In response to this expanded role, many mem-
bers of the profession are members of the Texas Municipal
Clerks Association (TMCA), which is a TML affiliate that is
housed at The University of North Texas. To meet the profes-
sional responsibilities of the position, a certification program
for city secretaries and clerks was established.  According to
the TMCA website, over 500 Texas Municipal Clerks have
completed the extensive three-year certification program.
TMCA also has several reference tools for all city officials, in-
cluding the Texas Municipal Election Law Manual (4th Edi-
tion) written by Analeslie Mancy, the Texas Municipal Law and
Procedures Manual (5th Edition) written by Alan Bojorquez
and the Texas Municipal Clerks Handbook (8th Edition) writ-
ten by the TMCA.   More information on TMCA and the certi-
fication program can be found at http://municlerks.unt.edu.

Survey results

                Our survey of the state’s charters produced the
following figures in regard to selection of the city secretary:

66

Texas Home Rule Charters

Figure 13-1:  Selection of City Attorney 

                      1994            2008
By City Manager: 6% 2%
By City Manager with City Council Approval: 9% 8%
By City Council: 73% 72%
By City Council on recommendation of City Manager: 3% 8%
By Mayor with City Council Approval: 7% 9%
Other:              2%   1%
                      TOTAL 100% 100%

                  1994 2008
Appointed by city council – 
manager not involved: 64% 80%
Appointed by the city 
manager or manager involved: 36% 20% 

Figure 13-2:  City Secretary/Clerk 

                    1994 2008
By City Manager: 24% 28%
By City Manager with City Council 
Approval:        15% 20%
By City Council: 35% 33%
By City Council on recommendation 
of City Manager: 12% 11%
By Mayor with City Council Approval: 7% 6%
Other:             7%  2%
                      TOTAL 100% 100%

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

106



                The majority for council appointment of the sec-
retary is consistent with the widespread opinion of city offi-
cials that this position is one that “belongs” to the city

council.

Judge of the
municipal
court

State law estab-
lishes a municipal
court in every city in
the state.  It estab-
lishes the specified ju-
risdiction for the court
and allows the home
rule city charter to es-
tablish the method of
selection of the judge.

Although state law has preempted the majority of matters that
might otherwise be included in a city charter, a city does have
some authority and flexibility remaining.  The charter may:

• provide for the manner in which the judge is to be cho-
sen–by appointment or election.  If the judge is chosen
by appointment, the appointing authority must be speci-
fied in the charter.  If a municipal court of record is es-
tablished, selection is handled differently.

• provide for the judge’s term of office.  This can be for a
specified number of years or “at the pleasure of the city
council” or other appointing authority.

• provide for the appointment of associate judges and tem-
porary judges.

• state whether the judge(s) must be an attorney.
• provide for a clerk of the court.

                Texas charters formerly were very detailed regard-
ing the court; today, this is unnecessary. The Mission charter
as amended in 1987 contains the essence of what a charter
might address.  Several cities in the state devote only one
paragraph to the court and the judge (see Paragraphs A and
B of the Mission section below):

                Section 4.05 Municipal Court

       A.  There shall be established and main-
tained a court designated as a municipal court
for the trial of misdemeanor offense, with all
such powers and duties as are now or hereafter
may be prescribed by the laws of the State of
Texas relative to municipal courts.

       B.  The judge or judges of said court shall
be a qualified voter or voters of the City of Mis-
sion, shall be appointed by the City Council,

shall hold his office at the pleasure of the City
Council, shall receive such salary as may be
fixed by the City Council, shall be under the ad-
ministrative direction of the City Manager, and
said judge shall not be an elected official.  The
City Secretary or an assistant City Secretary shall
be ex officio clerk of said court.

       C.  The Clerk of said court and his deputy
shall have the power to administer oaths and af-
fidavits, make certificates, affix the seal of said
court thereto; and generally do and perform any
and all acts usual and necessary by the Clerk of
courts in issuing process of said courts and con-
ducting the business thereof.

       D.  The City Council by ordinance may pro-
vide for the appointment of one (1) or more
judges to serve if the regular judge, the presiding
judge, or an associate judge is temporarily un-
able to act.

       E.  Each judge of said court shall be a duly
licensed attorney if some such suitable attorney
is available and provided that this shall not be a
disqualification of the person serving in such ca-
pacity at the time of the adoption of this Char-
ter.

                The phrase in Paragraph B above that the judge
“shall be under the administrative direction of the city man-
ager…” is an unusual, but not rare arrangement.  Cities, large
and small, regardless of form of government, seem to have
continual problems with the reporting relationship of the judge
and the clerk of the court.  Mayors, city councils, and city
managers want the court to be “administratively efficient,”
but must tread softly since they are dealing with a separate
and independent branch of city government.  Judges are con-
cerned with the “administration of justice” and usually do not
have the time nor skill to worry about the “administration of
the court” as a department of the city.  Cities have tried a
wide range of mechanisms to meet this challenge.  It would
be confining and inflexible if the city tried to dictate admin-
istrative arrangements in the charter.  Hence, most of these
“solutions” have been left to ordinance or administrative
order.

67

Departments, offices, agencies, and boards

HEAR HEAR - HERE!

“Sec. 5.04  City Secretary 
The council shall appoint a city
secretary.  The city secretary shall
be provided an office in the city
hall sufficient to maintain the
records entrusted to the city sec-
retary’s care and shall be entitled
to a seat at the council table at all
official meetings.”

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

107



Survey results

                Our survey of the state’s charters produced the
following figures in regard to selection of the municipal court
judge:

                

                We tabulated the term of office for the judge.
Fifty percent of the charters do not address the term of office
for the judge. Of those charter that do specify the judge’s
term, the overwhelming choice (86 percent) was for the judge
to serve at the “pleasure of the council.” In the remaining
cities, the judge served a specified numbers of years, any-
where from one to four years (six percent) or  noted the term
was stipulated in some other manner (eight percent), such as
at the pleasure of the city manager.   

Influence of form of government on 
selection of officers above

                Most of the cities that call for appointment by the
city council of the city attorney, city secretary, and judge are
council-manager cities.  Most of the cities that call for ap-
pointment by the mayor with approval of the city council are
mayor-council cities.

Planning function

                A number of Texas charters address the planning
and zoning function.  Some actually mandate a planning de-
partment and a director of planning. In the most recent survey,
34 percent of charters now require the establishment of a
comprehensive master plan, up from 20 percent in 1994 that
established a master planning process.  Many charters do not
mandate  a comprehensive plan with the legal phrase, “the
city council shall adopt a plan.”  Without this charge, the city
council may, instead, reject all or part of the plan.  Below is
a typical section from one of the charters that exemplifies the
loophole through which many a master plan falls:

         
         Section 4.  The Master Plan. The Master
Plan for the overall physical development of the City
shall contain the (Planning) commission’s recom-
mendations for growth, improvement and beautifi-

cation of the City.  A copy of the Master Plan, or any
part thereof, shall be forwarded to the City Manager
who shall thereupon submit each plan or part
thereof  to the Council with the City Manager’s rec-
ommendations thereon.  The Council may adopt this
plan as a whole or in part, and may adopt any
amendment thereto, after at least one public hear-
ing on the proposed action.  The Council shall act
on such plan, or part thereof, within sixty (60) days
following its submission by the City Manager.  If
such plan, or part thereof, should be rejected by the
Council, the Planning Commission may modify such
plan, or part thereof, and again forward it to the City
Manager for submission to the Council.  All amend-
ments to the Master Plan recommended by the
Planning Commission shall be submitted in the
same manner as that outlined above to the Council
for approval, and all recommendations by the Coun-
cil from any City Department affecting the Master
Plan must be accompanied by a recommendation
from the Planning Commission.

                The quoted wording does not prohibit a council
from adopting a master plan, generally considered a valuable
asset to a city, and some of these cities have adopted a plan.
No legal requirement, however, prompted their action.  Under
the wording above, the council could continue rejecting the
plan forever.  There is no clear-cut statement that “the council
shall adopt a plan.”
                Once a master plan or comprehensive plan is
adopted, a city may have language such as the following to
put “teeth” into the plan.  This is from the Mansfield charter:

Section 10.4  Legal Effect Of The Masterplan
Upon adoption of a Master Plan by the Council, no
subdivision, street, park, or any public way, ground
or space, public building or structure, or public util-
ity, whether publicly or privately owned, which is in
conflict with the Master Plan shall be constructed
or authorized by the City until and unless the loca-
tion and extent thereof shall have been submitted
to and approved by the (Planning) Commission.  In
case of disapproval, the Commission shall commu-
nicate its reasons to the Council, which shall have
the power to overrule such disapproval, and upon
such overruling, the Council shall have power to pro-
ceed.  The widening, narrowing, relocating, vacating
or change in the use of any street, alley, or public
way or ground, or the sale of any public building or
real property shall be subject to similar submission
and approval by the Planning and Zoning Commis-
sion, and failure to approve may be similarly over-
ruled by the Council.

                The preparation and adoption of such a plan has
been mandated by 38 percent of home rule cities, up from
ten percent reported in the 1994 survey.  The strongest lan-

68

Texas Home Rule Charters

Figure 13-3:  Municipal Court Judge 
                      
                      1994 2008
By City Manager with City Council Approval: 3% 6%
By City Council: 79% 74%
By City Council on recommendation 
of City Manager: 3% 7%
By Mayor with City Council Approval: 6%     8%
Elected:          5% 3%
Other:             4%  2%
                      TOTAL: 100% 100%

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

108



guage is in the Georgetown charter.  It not only requires adop-
tion, but also supports adoption with specific reasons that a
master plan is valuable.  Excerpts from this charter include
the following:

Section 1.08.  Comprehensive Plan

         (1) Purpose and intent.  It is the purpose and
intent of this Article that the City Council establish
comprehensive planning as a continuous and ongo-
ing governmental function in order to promote and
strengthen the existing role, processes and powers
of the City of Georgetown to prepare, adopt and im-
plement a comprehensive plan to guide, regulate,
and manage the future development within the cor-
porate limits and the extraterritorial jurisdiction of
the City to assure the most appropriate and benefi-
cial use of land, water, and other natural resources,
consistent with the public interest. 

(Note: Paragraph (1) above contains more preamble
leading into Paragraph (2)).

         (2)  The Comprehensive Plan.  The Council
shall adopt by ordinance a revised comprehensive
plan within two (2) years from the date the
amended Charter is adopted, which shall constitute
the master and general plan…

         Paragraph (2) goes on to detail the contents
of the plan followed by Paragraph (3)
entitled,“Legal Effect of Comprehensive Plan.”

Planning and zoning commission

                Virtually all city charters formally establish a Plan-
ning and Zoning Commission.  The number of members on
the Commission, their qualification and terms of office vary
widely among cities, but the Corpus Christi charter is probably
typical of the language on these bodies:

Figure 13-4:  Typical charter provision for planning 
commission

Section 2.  Organization of Planning Commission
          A planning commission is hereby established
which shall consist of nine registered voters of the
city.  The members of the commission shall be ap-
pointed by the city council for staggered terms of
three years.  The commission shall elect a chairper-
son from among its membership each year at the
first regular meeting in August and shall meet no less
than    once each month.  Any vacancy in an unex-
pired term shall be filled by the city council for the
remainder of the term.

Section 3.  Powers and Duties of Planning Commis-
sion
(a)       The planning commission shall:

(1)       Review and make recommendations to the
city council regarding the adoption and implementa-
tion of a comprehensive plan, any element or portion
thereof, and any amendments thereto;

(2)       Review and make recommendation to the city
council on all proposals to adopt or amend land de-
velopment regulations for the purpose of establishing 
consistency with the comprehensive plan;
          
(3)       Monitor and oversee the effectiveness of the
comprehensive plan, review and make recom-
mendations to the council on any amendments to the
plan, and forward to the council comprehensive
updates to the plan at least once every five years;

(4)       Review and make recommendations to the
city council regarding zoning or requests for zoning
changes in a manner to insure the consistency of any
such zoning or changes in zoning with the adopted
comprehensive plan;
          
(5)      Exercise control over platting and subdividing
land within the corporate limits and the extraterrito-
rial jurisdiction of the city in a manner to insure the
consistency of any such plats with the adopted
comprehensive plan; and

(6)       Review and make recommendation to the city
council on the city’s annual capital budget and any
capital improvement bond program.

(b)       The departments of the city government shall
cooperate with the planning commission in fur-
nishing it such information as is necessary in relation
to its work.

(c)       The commission shall be responsible to and
act as an advisory body to the council and shall per-
form such additional duties and exercise such addi-
tional powers as may be prescribed by ordinance of
the council.

Personnel and civil service

                City government’s relationship to its own employ-
ees has undergone tremendous changes in the past half cen-
tury.  Emphasis formerly focused on little more than keeping
employee records; that emphasis has shifted now to a broad
human resources responsibility.  Major activities for many
cities include:

69

Departments, offices, agencies, and boards
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

109



70

• sophisticated recruiting involving nationwide searches for
some positions, including the employment of executive
search firms to find not only city managers, but also de-
partment heads in medium to large cities.

• emphasis on diversifying the workforce including, in some
cities, contacts with historic black colleges and working
closely with such organizations as the local Urban League
and other groups formed to help ethnic minorities find
employment.

• risk management, including renewed emphasis on job
safety and claims control.

• administration of a wide range of employee benefits,
sometimes offered to employees on a “cafeteria” basis
which complicates management of the package.

• employee assistance programs to assist employees.

• executive development and employee training programs
offered at the work site and at distant locations.

• continued experimentation with job classification and pay
plans to remain competitive in the marketplace.

                Despite the major concerns of cities and employ-
ees with these and other functions of a human resources of-
fice, just 20 years ago the overwhelming number of charters
were completely silent with regard to the personnel or human
resources function.  There has been a major shift with more
and more charters addressing personnel functions.  Of the
Texas cities surveyed for this second edition, 35 percent of
charters authorize a personnel department, while another 8
percent actually mandate this department.  In addition, 43
percent of charters authorize personnel rules and another 15
percent mandate them. In light of this change, we want to re-
view major state laws related to personnel.

Fire and police civil service

                In 1947, the state legislature required that cities
over 10,000 in population, when petitioned as provided by
law, call an election on adopting provisions of a State Fire and
Police Civil Service Law enacted by the legislature that year.
When adopted by the voters, the law mandates the establish-
ment of a fire and police civil service commission and sets up
specific standards for recruitment, testing, grievance, promot-
ing, and just about every other aspect of the personnel rela-
tionship except for salary.
                Cities fit the special civil service provisions for fire
and police into their overall employee policies and procedures
in different ways.  For example, while the state law is consid-
ered particularly generous with vacation and sick leave for fire
and police, some cities have adopted those provisions for
other employees.  Other cities feel they cannot afford to pro-

vide “equity” for non-fire and police personnel.  North Rich-
land Hills preempts the law by putting all employees under a
charter-mandated civil service program that incorporates vir-
tually all of the state fire and police law.  That city’s civil serv-
ice provisions in the charter account for almost one-half of
the total charter.

Charter mandated municipal 
civil service

                Despite the drafting of a Model Civil Service Code
in 191430, only a few cities in the state have followed through
with a civil service system in the charter for all employees.  El
Paso’s charter goes into detail ordinarily found in an ordi-
nance.  The El Paso civil service provisions, in fact, occupy
exactly one-half of the total El Paso charter.  Mesquite estab-
lished civil service for all employees by charter amendment
in 1966.  Amarillo adopted a formal “merit system” in 1944.
Five percent of home rule cities make a provision for a city-
wide civil service system in their charters.

Other fire and
police charter 
provisions
                
                There is a
long history of cities
writing sections into
charters addressing fire
and police protection.
This practice has car-
ried over to many of
today’s charters with-
out a compelling rea-
son.  
                In addition
to civil service provi-
sions for police and
fire, several city char-
ters mandate staffing
levels of these depart-
ments as well as mini-
mum salary
r e q u i r e m e n t s .
Mesquite in 1993
adopted a charter
amendment mandating
a commissioned police
officer ratio of 1.5 offi-
cers per 1,000 popula-
tion in the city.  In
1990, Wichita Falls
voters adopted a char-
ter amendment man-
dating minimum police

Texas Home Rule Charters

MAKE CITIZENS FILL
THOSE POTHOLES

“Section 196.  All citizens subject
to call.

                The city council shall
have the power to cause all able-
bodied male inhabitants above
twenty-one (21) years of age and
not over sixty (60) years of age,
except ministers of the gospel in
the active charge of their ministe-
rial duties, members of the state
militia, members of fire depart-
ments, invalids and other persons
whom the council may exempt, to
work on the streets of the city …
not exceeding five (5) days in any
one year or furnish a substitute or
a sum of money not exceeding one
dollar ($1.00) per day for each
day summoned to work, to employ
such substitute, and enforce the
same by appropriate ordinances,
with penalty for failure to obey
such summons to work or furnish
substitute or pay the amount
herein mentioned, and the council
may further provide a method of
giving notices, collections and
other rules and regulations relat-
ing thereto.”

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

110



71

levels for 1991, 1992, and 1993.  The amendment stated
that the city would have 180 commissioned police officers by
October 1, 1993. In addition, the charter specifies the mini-
mum wage for officers, sergeants, lieutenants and captains.
In Corsicana, police officers in 1990 succeeded in securing
a charter amendment that sets out seniority pay in detail. This
was most recently updated when voters approved a charter
amendment in 2005.  Fire fighters attempted the same
process in 1992, but were defeated at the polls.  In 1994,
Balch Springs voters approved two charter amendments: one
mandating that the city maintain a police department of uni-
formed personnel (not counting investigative, administrative,
and support personnel) at a ratio of not less than one officer
per 1,000 population; and one mandating the same minimum
ratio for fire personnel.
                The police chief is the most likely operating de-
partment head to be directly appointed by the council and the
only one who is elected in some cities.  The cities of Brown-
wood, Coleman, and San Angelo all elect their police chiefs.
The cities of Childress and Stamford amended their charters
to change the position of police chief from an elected position

to an appointed one.
Ennis and Groves still
elect a city marshal in-
stead of a police chief.  In
a select few communities,
the chief is appointed by
the council.  In a few of
these, the fire chief and
fire marshal are also both
appointed by the council.

Other State laws
effecting Fire
and Police De-
partments

Over the years, the
legislature has defined the
maximum number of
hours certain cities may
require fire and police per-
sonnel to work; required a
minimum pay level for city
fire and police personnel,
based on population
ranges; mandated that
cities pay fire and police
personnel “salaries at the
higher level” when fire
and police personnel fill in
temporarily for persons in
positions above them; and
told cities they had to
begin to pay seniority pay
to these employees.

Health function

                Health concerned the early charter writers in the
Texas Legislature.  The City of Houston as early as 1839 was
empowered to enact ordinances and by-laws “to maintain
cleanliness.”31  Galveston’s 1866 charter introduced boards
of health to the state.32 That charter provided for a three-
member health commission named by the council and the
mayor.  Along with the city physician, the commission ascer-
tained that all public carriers entering the city reported any
sick passenger.  A later law made it very clear that a local
health officer who did not comply with his duties could be re-
moved by the state board of health.33

                Justified fear of contagious diseases knew no city
limit boundary and spurred centralization of the health func-
tion.  Thus, from the beginning of the Republic, health was
seen as a joint state-
local function, directed
and controlled by the
state.  The rapid spread
of diseases in the 19th
century also contributed
to city-county coopera-
tion.  In most other
functions, they acted
and continue to act sep-
arately.
                Older char-
ters frequently ad-
dressed the city’s
responsibility for public
health.  At least two
dozen of the first 100
charters mandated the
city council to appoint a
health officer and about
half that number also
authorized a board of heath.  Some of the cities carefully de-
tailed the powers of the city in that regard.
                In the past several years, most charters have not
addressed the health function.  This is undoubtedly the result
of significant state legislation in public health and expanded
guidelines for organizing the functions at the local level.
                Today, the Texas Health and Safety Code recog-
nizes four distinct organizational arrangements at the local
level, with the flexibility in some instances to fold two of the
four into one entity.  The Code first addresses a “local health
unit” in Section 121.004.  A local health unit is defined as a
“division of municipal or county government that provides
public health services but does not provide each service re-
quired of a local health department…”  In Section 121.021,
the law establishes the second type of health organization:  a
“health authority” which is an individual, not an organiza-
tional unit. “A health authority is a physician appointed under
the provisions of this chapter to administer state and local
laws relating to public health within the appointing body’s ju-
risdiction.”  Section 121.031 defines the third entity that a

Departments, offices, agencies, and boards

KEEPER OF 
THE “CALA-

BOOSE”

“Section 2.  Sergeant-at-arms
to the city commission.
The chief of police shall be an
ex-officio Sergeant-at-arms to
the city commission, and shall
either in person or by deputy
attend all meetings.  He shall
have charge of the city hall or
commission chamber; and
shall have same cleared, pro-
vide fuel, fire, and light at the
expense of the city, for the
commission when it meets,
and perform such other duties
in connection therewith as the
commission shall direct.

He shall be the keeper of the
city prison or “calaboose,”
shall keep the same in a
clean, wholesome condition
and keep all prisoners legally
confined therein until dis-
charged.  He shall have charge
of all prisoners while at work
on the streets or other public
works of the city.”

YESTERDAY’S 
“SANITATION 
ENGINEER”?

“Sec. 12.  To employ a City Scav-
enger and to prescribe his duties
and compensation, and to provide
that the owner, or tenant, of any
property shall pay to the City, or to
the City Scavenger, reasonable
charges for the removal of any re-
fuse matter from closets or prem-
ises.  And the failure of the owner
or tenant to pay such charges shall
subject him to the penalties pre-
scribed by ordinance.”

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

111



county or municipality may establish to be a local health de-
partment.  The following section of the law provides minimum
services that the department must offer to qualify and main-
tain a local health department.  Finally, Section 121.041 pro-
vides for a public health district when two or more cities or
two or more counties desire to enter together into an arrange-
ment of this kind.

                Texas charters have unlimited freedom to estab-
lish functions or departments.  Several charters provide that
the city may establish a library, a hospital, a cemetery, an air-
port or several of the above.  The chart belows provides an
overview of the top departments authorized or mandated by
city charters. 

                

                A number of charters also address city utilities.
Some contain strong language on independence of utilities,
prompted perhaps by earlier action when some city council
tried to “raid” the earnings of the utility or sell it off.  Cities
with electric utilities are particularly sensitive to the possibility
of losing that source of revenue.  In the mid-90s, the voters
of Georgetown overwhelmingly adopted a charter amendment
stating that prior to consideration of a sale of the city’s com-
munity-owned electric utility,

“the City Council shall hold a public hearing during
which the City’s financial advisor shall be required
to present a report to the City Council concerning
the revenue that has been earned by the City’s com-
munity-owned electric utility through the City’s own-
ership thereof and containing an analysis of the
revenue to be lost by the City through the proposed
sale of the electric utility.  Any proposed sale of the
City’s community-owned electric utility would re-
quire two affirmative votes of the City Council,
twelve months apart, to call a referendum election
concerning the sale of the electric utility.  The ref-
erendum must result in a favorable vote by a major-
ity of the voters in that election in order for the
electric utility to be sold.”

Boards and commissions

                According to our survey, 43 separate boards and
commissions are established by Texas city charters. A signif-
icant increase from the 20 different boards and commission
identified in 1994. Virtually all of those listed are advisory
only, although the Board of Adjustment is a quasi-judicial
board, and several utility boards are independent.
                A few cities not only identify boards by name, but
also set out requirements for membership, number of mem-
bers, duties, and provisions for removal of a board member
who does not attend or whom the council simply wants to re-
place because the member is not contributing to the work of
the board.  One city has a diversity statement in regard to ap-
pointments of boards, and several cities have specific provi-
sions for councils to remove board members.   The council
can remove board members without specific authority in the
charter, unless the board is established by state statute that
provides for methods of removal.  For example, a member of
the Zoning Board of Adjustment can be removed only for
cause on a written charge after a public hearing (Section
211.008, LGC).  Additionally, any city policies or procedures
concerning removal of board members would have to be ad-
dressed.
                The charters vary significantly on the number and
types of boards and commission that are provided for in the
charters.  Other boards and commissions identified in various
charters include: Aging, Animals, Arts, Building Standards,
Border Relations, Cemetery, Civic Events, Civil Service, Com-
prehensive Planning, Ethics, Health, Hospital, Housing, Per-
sonnel, Public Safety, Recycling, Streets, Technology, Traffic,
and Veterans.

                

72

Texas Home Rule Charters

Figure 13-5:  Departments Established by Charter

             Department Authorized Mandated Not Addressed
             Police 41% 27% 32%
             Finance 39% 27% 34%
             Planning 38% 11% 51%
             Parks & Recreation 38% 7% 55%
             Fire 35% 24% 41%
             Personnel 35% 8% 57%
             Legal 34% 30% 36%
             Library 33% 5% 62%
             Health 27% 9% 64%
             Recreation 27% 4% 69%
             Aviation 19% 5% 76%
             Hospital 14% 4% 82%

Figure 13-6:  Boards & Commissions Established by Charter

Department Authorized Mandated
Planning & Zoning 19% 32%
Board of Adjustment    8% 19% 
Parks & Recreation 8% 11% 
Library         4% 3% 
City Development 4% 1%
Airport         3% 0% 
Equalization 2% 5%
Utilities        2% 1% 

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

112



                This chapter is about how charters address finan-
cial administration–revenues, budgets, taxes, bonds, purchas-
ing–and how these matters are treated in city charters.
Financial administration begins with collecting money to op-
erate a city–from property taxes, utility charges, user fees,
sales tax, and numerous other less important sources.  It in-
cludes annual and capital budgeting to allocate these rev-
enues, monitoring expenditures throughout the year, and
accounting for them at the end of the year in a financial state-
ment.  Financial administration is also issuing bonds to pay
for long-term improvements and purchasing day-to-day sup-
plies. The subjects will be discussed in this order:

• Organization for financial administration
• Designation of the fiscal year
• The property tax
• Other revenues
• Operating budget, preparation and adoption
• Operating budget, execution and monitoring
• Capital budget
• Purchasing and contracts
• Municipal debt, short and long-term

                All these subjects are addressed in virtually every
city charter in the state, some at great length.  State law has
preempted some of them, particularly property tax adminis-
tration, but by and large, cities have substantial, and in some
cases, complete freedom to adopt charter provisions to fit
their individual needs.

Organization for financial administration

                One of the most important duties for any munici-
pal chief executive is maintaining fiscal responsibility.  In a
mayor-council city, it is the job of the mayor as the chief ex-
ecutive.  In a council-manager city, it is the city manager’s
job.
                It is the mayor or manager who holds the fiscal
reigns.  Charters in both forms of government are very specific
in their statements of these powers and duties.  In Houston,
the article on the mayor includes, in addition to the power of
appointment and other powers:

                (4) It shall be the duty of the mayor
from time to time to make such recom-
mendations to the council as he may
deem to be for the welfare of the city, and
each year to submit to the council the an-
nual budget of the current expenses of
the city.

                (5) To keep the council at all times
fully advised as to the financial con-
dition and needs of the city.

A typical council-manager charter has almost identi-
cal language.  This excerpt is from the Orange charter
on duties of the city manager:

                2.  Prepare the budget annually and
submit it to the City Council and be
responsible for its administration after
adoption.

                4.  Keep the City Council advised of
the financial condition and future
needs of the City and make such rec-
ommendations as may seem to him
desirable.

                Mayors and city managers in the two forms of gov-
ernment have considerable freedom in how they accomplish
these mandates.  As a rule, the city’s internal organization is
not addressed in the charter.  In Houston, for example, the
city traditionally has housed many of the financial functions
in the Department of Finance and Administration.  There is a
limit to that, however, for the charter provides for an elected
City Controller who has wide-ranging responsibilities in the
area of accounting and certifying that money is available for
purposes needed by the mayor and council.  Pasadena, the
second largest mayor-council city, gives the mayor overall fis-
cal responsibility.  But that power is constrained by an inde-
pendent city controller who is appointed by the city council.
The charter states “and the Mayor shall have neither voice nor
vote in the employment or removal and discharge of the City
Controller nor of any personnel in the Department of Finance,
it being the intent of this Charter to divest the Mayor of any
authority, control, or direction over the Department of Finance,
its officers and employees, except where specifically author-
ized herein.”  The mayor does have a budget and financial
planning officer who prepares the annual budget and multi-
year plan.  Smaller mayor-council cities omit such constraints
in their charters.
                The NCL model charter and the typical council-
manager charter give the manager full responsibility for the
financial function.  The director of finance reports directly to
and can be removed by the manager.  There are very few ex-
ceptions to these clean lines of authority.  We have mentioned
earlier the independent director of finance in Temple and the
comptroller in Sweetwater.  Raymondville actually provides for
an elected director of finance, but the city has never exercised

73

14             Financial administration

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

113



74

that option.  There are no more than six other cities that blunt
the city manager’s authority in this area.  Some two dozen city
charters provide for a director of finance and list that person’s
many functions.  There is no harm or gain in this recitation of
duties in the charter, but an ordinance would suffice.
                Some larger council-manager cities separate the
finance function from the budget function, giving the former
all financially related activities except the budget.  This is not
charter material, and we know of no city that has placed this
detail in their charter.
                Finally, property tax administration is no longer
the major assignment it once was.  The state has preempted
most responsibilities in this area except the actual rate-setting
and collection of taxes.  The department head, who was sep-
arate from the finance director, is now most likely a position
under finance, handling all revenue collections.

Designation of the fiscal year

                A total of 95 percent of Texas charters have a
charter-designated fiscal year of October 1 - September 30.
No fiscal year is mentioned in only 1 percent of charters. The
other beginning dates and the actual number of charters man-
dating them are:

                January – 4 June–1
                April– 2 July–3
                May– 1 August–1
                September–1

                There is good reason for the widespread designa-
tion of October 1 as the beginning of the fiscal year.  Property
taxes are levied as of January 1, are due the following fall,
and delinquent beginning March 1 of the following year.  The
great majority of city elections – 96 percent of the cities – are
held in May.  Given that calendar, policymakers and managers
figured out long ago that an October 1 budget year would en-
able new councilmembers elected in the spring at least a cou-
ple of months to get acquainted with the city operations.
                In contrast, if the budget year were April 1, the
incoming council would be living under a previous council’s
budget for almost an entire year.  Another good reason for the
October 1 date is property tax receipts.  They begin to arrive
in October, with sizable payments in December and January.
This is early in the fiscal year and means, in many cases, that
the city does not have to borrow for operations early in its fis-
cal year.  A few of the very large cities have given considera-
tion recently to a different fiscal year or election date.  The
reasoning:  these large and complex operations have to start
their budget planning well ahead of May when new coun-
cilmembers are elected.  Therefore, the council’s goals and
budget objectives are already set when any new councilmem-
ber is elected.
                There is sound argument for establishing the fis-
cal year in the charter.  By leaving it to ordinance, the city
runs the risk of some future council changing the date without

adequate forethought.  Any change of date will cause either a
short fiscal year for the first year or an unusually long one.
Either way, the change of a fiscal year is a confusing and trau-
matic experience, not just for the citizenry, but for policymak-
ers and administrators alike, and should be undertaken only
after serious deliberation.

The property tax

                Since there have been major changes in the
statutes pertaining to the property tax and since it is still a
major source of revenue for the cities, we discuss it first and
separately.
                In 1979, the Texas Legislature adopted a new
property tax code that established uniform appraisal policies
and procedures.  Now appraisals are conducted and appeals
from those appraisals are all handled by central appraisal dis-
tricts.  Cities can control only their own tax rate and the col-
lection of the taxes owed to them, both current and
delinquent. 
                Long and detailed charter articles on property tax
administration were superseded, and some cities are now re-
scinding (by charter amendment, of course) the entire tax ar-
ticle.  The city does not lose its right to collect the tax by
wiping out the entire article.  It is probably preferable, how-
ever, to retain provisions setting the tax rate and collecting
the taxes, current and delinquent, as well as a few other legal
provisions.
                The Addison charter is typical of one amended
after passage of the 1979 changes to state law.  Its section
on property taxes consists of nine brief subsections, titled as
follows:

• power to tax (including setting tax rate limitation if
the council desires to set one in the charter)

• where payable; 
• no demand necessary (states where taxes shall be

paid; non-receipt of a tax bill does not relieve the
property owner of paying the tax);

• removing property from Addison (see seizure and sale
of personal property below);

• inadequate description (protects city in case it cannot
completely identify a piece of property;

• power to correct errors (allows city to cancel any non-
collectable taxes on the tax rolls);

• payment, delinquency, penalties (sets up due date
and date taxes are delinquent;

• provides for penalties when not paid by delinquent
date);

• tax levy and lien (creates lien on all property in favor
of Town of Addison for all taxes due);

• seizure and sale of personal property (more complete
section on this general subject); and

• general powers (summary statement of powers sec-
tion).

Texas Home Rule Charters
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

114



75

Our survey asked whether the charter required a vote of a ma-
jority of the “full” council or just a majority of a council quo-
rum to adopt the annual tax rate.  We found only a handful of
charters that require a vote of the entire council. The reason-
ing is sound; to require the higher vote could prevent the city
from adopting a timely tax rate if one or two councilmembers
decided to absent themselves from the meeting to keep their
“no new taxes” pledge.
                Taxes may be paid in installments in several
cities; discounts on early payments are provided only in a cou-
ple of cities.  Although these incentives are thought by some
to encourage payment of property taxes, the great majority of
Texas cities do not believe either of these incentives are nec-
essary.

Other revenues

                Since property taxes now bring in a smaller per-
centage of total city revenues, there are obviously a substan-
tial number of other revenue sources utilized by cities.  Most
of these are not addressed in the city charters.  Only street
rental charges to utility companies, occupation tax levies on
certain businesses and occupations, and special assessments
levied against abutting property owners have generally been
found in Texas charters.  Most other sources–city sales taxes,
the hotel-motel taxes, alcoholic beverage taxes, and federal
grants–are largely controlled by state or federal law.  Texas
charters as a rule have not tried to address any of these
sources of revenue.
                For a discussion of these latter sources of rev-
enue, the reader is referred to the Revenue Manual for Texas
Cities, published by TML.

Preparation and adoption of annual 
operating budget
                
                The Texas Legislature passed the first uniform
budget law in 1931.  This act was amended in 1981 and
1985 and codified into the Local Government Code in 1987
as Chapter 102.  The statute prescribes basic requirements
that most cities exceed by terms of their own charters or prac-
tices.  Examples from specific charters that show how cities
have extended the scope of policy and management follow the
highlights of the law listed below: 

(1) The city council must adopt an annual
budget and conduct the financial affairs of
the city in strict conformance with the
budget.  The budget must contain a com-
plete financial statement of the municipality
that shows:(1) the outstanding obligations of
the municipality;(2) the cash on hand to the
credit of each fund;(3) the funds received
from all sources during the preceding year;
(4) the funds available from all sources dur-

ing the ensuing year;(5) the estimated rev-
enue available to cover the proposed budget;
and (6) the estimated tax rate required to
cover the proposed budget.

(2) The budget for each fiscal year must be
adopted prior to adoption of the tax levy for
the new fiscal year.  In most Texas cities, the
fiscal year begins October 1 and the levy
should be adopted by the last week of the old
fiscal year.  Therefore, the budget should be
adopted by September 30 or earlier.

(3) A proposed budget that will require raising
more revenue from property taxes than in the
previous year must contain a cover page with
the following statement in 18-point or larger
type:  “This budget will raise more total prop-
erty taxes than last year‘s budget by (insert
total dollar amount of increase and percent-
age increase), and of that amount (insert
amount computed by multiplying the pro-
posed tax rate by the value of new property
added to the roll) is tax revenue to be raised
from new property added to the tax roll this
year.”

(4) The city’s budget officer must prepare a pro-
posed budget for the consideration of the city
council.  In mayor-council cities, the law re-
quires that the mayor serve as budget officer;
in council-manager cities, the city manager
is the budget officer.

(5) Copies of the proposed budget compiled by
the budget officer must be filed with the city
clerk/secretary and made available for public
inspection and posted on the city Web site,
if the city has a Web site.  The initially pro-
posed budget must be filed no later than 30
days prior to the date upon which the city
council sets the property tax rate for the next
fiscal year.

(6) The city council must hold a public hearing
on the budget after the 15th day that the
budget has been filed with the city clerk or
secretary. Notice of the public hearing must
be given in a newspaper of general circula-
tion in the county not less than 10 nor more
than 30 days prior to the adoption of the
budget.

(7) Upon adoption of the final budget by majority
vote of the council, copies must be filed with
the county clerk and city clerk/secretary,
made available for public inspection and
posted on the city Web site, if the city has a
Web site.

(8) After the new fiscal year has begun and the
budget has been put into effect, no expendi-
ture “shall thereafter be made except in
strict compliance with such adopted

Financial administration
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

115



budget,” nor may the council amend the
budget except for reasons of “grave public
necessity” requiring “emergency expendi-
tures to meet unusual and unforeseen condi-
tions, which could not, by reasonable diligent
thought and attention have been included in
the original budget…”

(9) The budget and any amendments to it must
be filed with the county clerk.

(10) The governing body may levy taxes only in
accordance with the budget.  The procedures
for levying taxes are prescribed in the Texas
Property Tax Code.

The budget (fiscal plan)–the annual
work plan of the city

                The annual operating budget is perhaps the most
crucial single document debated each year by a governing
body.  A more expressive title for the budget – “Fiscal Plan”
– is used in the Denver City 1985 charter and Seminole‘s
1991 charter.  Here is the language used in both:

Figure 14-1:  Article VII – Fiscal Plan

                The plan shall provide a complete program
of action for the fiscal year.  It shall contain
the following:

                A. OBJECTIVES – Established by the
City Council.

                B. GOALS – City Manager’s program
to meet the objectives of the Council.

                C. BUDGETS – Financial plan to meet
the administrative needs of the City
for the fiscal year consistent with the
Objectives and Goals set by the City

                Council and City Manager.
                
                D. STAFF PLAN – A summary of the

personnel requirements required to  
                provide the services of the City.  Addi-

tions or deletions of personnel must
                be specifically identified and justified.

                (Note: In mayor-council cities, “city
manager” above would read “mayor.”)

                Both cities have subsequent provisions, the only
two in the state, that budgets shall be prepared using the prin-
ciple of “zero budgeting.”  The budget is projected from zero
base, not factored from a prior year budget or from prior year
expenditures.

                Aransas Pass, in its budget article, has a similarly
unique provision, but not quite as strong or as dramatic as in
the other two charters.  Aransas Pass, as part of its “contents
of the budget” section, closes with:

         (18) (proposed budget shall contain)…a sug-
gested legislative program and the high-
lights of the proposed administrative
program.

                These three cities and others in the state illustrate
the initiative and forethought that have been given budget
preparation in Texas.  Although no city has placed language
in its charter on “performance budgeting” (adopted by the
legislature for state agencies in 1993), a number of Texas
cities were ahead of the state in relating dollars to program
accomplishments.

Budget calendar

                City managers and budget officers, as a rule, de-
velop a calendar for preparation and adoption of a budget.  It
coordinates dates, required action, and responsible individu-
als.  Most of the dates are for internal purposes and are not
mandated by the charter.  The first key date considered a nec-
essary part of the charter is the latest date (or range of dates)
the budget is to be submitted to the city council before the
beginning of the next fiscal year.  This will vary depending on
the size of the city.  Some small cities require only 30-45
days; larger cities may require 60-90 days.  The second key
date in a charter is the proposed date(s) or public hearings by
the council; the third is the date by which the budget is to be
adopted.  (See state law highlights for required dates.)  The
dates referred to above are all in terms of “x days before the
beginning of the fiscal year” or a similar phrase. This calendar
will contain many more dates, but those are internal dates to
be observed by the department heads, the budget office, and
the city manager.

Budget contents

                The state law (Chapter 102 - Municipal Budget,
LGC) regarding budget contents is reproduced to show the
exact language.  Virtually all city charter requirements exceed
these basic requirements.

102.003.  Itemized Budget; Contents.

(a)    The budget officer shall itemize the budget
to allow as clear a comparison as practicable be-
tween expenditures included in the proposed
budget and actual expenditures for the same or
similar purposes made for the preceding year.
The budget must show as definitely as possible
each of the projects for which expenditures are
set up in the budget and the estimated amount
of money carried in the budget for each project.

76

Texas Home Rule Charters
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

116



(b)   The budget must contain a complete finan-
cial statement of the municipality that shows:

(1)   the outstanding obligations of the munici-
pality; (2)the cash on hand to the credit of each
fund; (3) the funds received from all sources
during the preceding year; (4) the funds avail-
able from all sources during the ensuing year;
(5) the estimated revenue available to cover the
proposed budget; and (6) the estimated tax rate
required to cover the proposed budget.

                The law requires only the “preceding year” and
the “proposed year” figures to be shown.  Standard budget
practice followed by many cities calls for the budget to have
three expenditure columns:  (1) for the last completed fiscal
year, (2) for the current year (this will consist of 6-9 months
of actual expenditures plus an estimate for the last 3-6
months), and (3) the proposed figures for the new year.  The
Carrollton language is fairly typical of many Texas charters:

Figure 14-2:  Preparation and Submission of Budget

Section 4.02 Preparation and Submission of Budget 
          The city manager, prior to August 1 of each
year, shall prepare and submit the budget, covering
the next fiscal year, to the council, which shall con-
tain the following information. In preparing the
budget, each employee, officer, board, and depart-
ment shall assist the city manager by furnishing all
necessary information.

(1) The city manager’s budget message shall out-
line the proposed financial policies for the next
fiscal year with explanations of any changes from
previous years in expenditures and any major
changes of policy and a complete statement re-
garding the financial condition of the city.
(2) An estimate of all revenue from taxes and
other sources, including the present tax structure
rates and property evaluations for the ensuring
year.
(3) A carefully itemized list of proposed expendi-
tures by fund and service type and project for the
budget year, as compared to actual expenditures
of the last ended fiscal year, and an estimate of
final expenditures for the current fiscal year.
(4) A description of all outstanding bond indebt-
edness, showing amount, date of issue, rate of
interest and maturity date, as well as any other
indebtedness referred to in Article V, which the
city has incurred and which has not been paid.

(5) A statement proposing any capital expenditures
deemed necessary for undertaking during the
next budget year and recommended provision for
funding.
(6) A list of capital project which should be un-
dertaken within the five (5) next succeeding
years.

Public hearing and adoption

                Public hearing requirements are covered in state
law.  Cities have long provided for public hearings; one city
charter specifically provides citizens be given five minutes
each to speak about the budget.  Other charters demand a
second public hearing if the council amends the budget after
a first public hearing.
                Adoption of the budget requires a majority vote of
the total council in 61 percent of city charters.  In the remain-
ing 39 percent of cities, it can be by majority of a quorum.
Because the budget vote is such a crucial decision, many ex-
perts prefer the requirement for a majority of the total.  It is
not a requirement of state law.  State law does mandate action
in another crucial area:  the budget must be adopted before
the tax levy is approved by the council and should be adopted
before the beginning of the new fiscal year.  With one excep-
tion, every city charter in the state repeats this requirement.
                State law does not address the circumstance of a
budget adopted after the beginning of the fiscal year, appar-
ently presuming that everyone will obey the law.  Occasionally
some cities do not make the deadline.  Charters deal with this
potential problem in many cities.  If the deadline is not met,
26 percent of charters call for the mayor/manager’s proposed
budget to become effective.  In 36 percent  of cities, the char-
ter calls for the current budget to remain in effect until a new
budget is adopted.  The matter is not addressed in 36 percent
of the cities, with the remaining three percent having alterna-
tive provisions.

Operating budget - execution and 
monitoring

                Once the budget is adopted, monitoring of expen-
ditures begins.  A few cities mandate the establishment of
budget allotments by month and by department.  This proce-
dure was used originally to bring budget discipline to depart-
ments and avoid overruns and is used by some cities today.
It is not controlled or required in most charters.
                The city manager/mayor is frequently required to
submit monthly or, as a minimum, quarterly reports to the city
council to keep them updated on the city’s financial condi-
tion.
                In the budget law, the Legislature first prohibits
amendment of the budget except for emergency purposes
(Section 102.009 LGC).  But Section 102.010 states that

77

Financial administration
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

117



this chapter does not prevent the governing body of the mu-
nicipality from making changes in the budget for municipal
purposes.”  “Municipal purposes” is not defined, but it ap-
parently gives the governing body some discretionary author-
ity.  This is contemplated in the NCL model city charter in its
section on budget amendments.  That language has been
adopted verbatim by a number of Texas charters and is quoted
below: 

Figure 14-3:  Amendments after adoption of budget

a. Supplemental Appropriations
If during or before the fiscal year the City Man-
ager certifies that there are available for appro-
priation revenues in excess of those estimated
in the budget, the City Council by ordinance
may make supplemental appropriations for the
year up to the amount of such excess.

b. Emergency Appropriations
To address  a public emergency affecting life,
health, property, or the public peace, the City
Council may make emergency appropria-
tions.  Such appropriations may be made by
emergency ordinance in accordance with the
provisions of § 2.14.* To the extent that
there are no available unappropriated rev-
enues or a sufficient fund balance to meet
such appropriations, the Council may by
such emergency ordinance authorize the is-
suance of emergency notes, which may be re-
newed from time to time, but the emergency
notes and renewals of any fiscal year shall be
paid or refinanced as long term debt not later
than the last day of the fiscal year next suc-
ceeding that in which the emergency appro-
priation was made.

c. Reduction of Appropriations
If at any time during the fiscal year it appears
probable to the City Manager that the rev-
enues or fund balances available will be in-
sufficient to finance the expenditure for
which appropriations have been authorized,
the Manager shall report to the City Council
without delay, indicating the estimated
amount of the deficit, any remedial action
taken by the manager and recommendations
as to any other steps to be taken.  The Coun-
cil shall then take such further action as it
deems necessary to prevent or reduce any
deficit and for that purpose it may by ordi-
nance reduce or eliminate one or more ap-
propriations.  

d. Transfer of Appropriations
At any time during or before the fiscal year
the City Council  may by resolution transfer
part or all of any unencumbered appropria-
tion balance from one department, fund,
service, strategy or organizational unit to the
appropriation for other departments or orga-
nizational units or a new appropriation.  The
manager may transfer funds among programs
within a department, fund, service, strategy
or organizational unit and shall report such
transfers to the council in writing in a timely
manner.  

e. Limitations; Effective Date
No appropriation for debt service may be re-
duced or transferred, except to the extent
that the debt is refinanced and less debt
service is required, and no appropriation may
be reduced below any amount required by
law to be appropriated or by more than the
amount of the unencumbered balance
thereof.  The supplemental and emergency
appropriations and reduction or transfer of
appropriations authorized by this section may
be made effective immediately upon adop-
tion.

                
                The Colony is the only city known to require a “fis-
cal note” on ordinances or resolutions introduced in the mid-
dle of the fiscal year.  A “fiscal note,” as defined in the charter
quote that follows, clearly states the financial impact of the
measure proposed.  This type of cost analysis and disclosure
has been an accepted part of the Texas state legislative
process for several years, but evidently has not been consid-
ered by cities with this one exception.  The Colony’s paragraph
reads:

SECTION 3.10 METHOD OF ADOPTION; 
GENERAL ORDINANCES

    Any ordinance or resolution (other than
an emergency measure, the budget, or rou-
tine expenditures of budgeted funds) which
authorizes or requires the expenditure or di-
version of any city funds for any purpose or
proposed any new tax or increased or de-
creased tax, fee, license, charge, or penalty
shall have a separate statement signed by the
city manager outlining the fiscal impact and
probable gain or loss in income or cost of the
measure each year for the first (3) years after
its passage and a statement as to whether or
not there will be cost involved thereafter.
Such separate statement shall not be a part

78

Texas Home Rule Charters
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

118



of the ordinance or resolution but shall re-
main with the ordinance or resolution
throughout the entire legislative process, in-
cluding submission to the mayor.

                Finally, most city charters contain a short section
on “Lapse of Appropriations” which provides that every ap-
propriation, except an appropriation for a capital expenditure,
shall lapse at the close of the fiscal year to the extent that it
has not been expended or encumbered.

Capital budget

                Nearly all mayors, councilmembers, and city man-
agers agree that planning ahead for major city construction
projects is essential, and 76 percent of charters actually man-
date the preparation of a capital program or capital budget.
The term that most city councils recognize is capital improve-
ments program – CIP.  Many cities boast of an annual CIP that
is required by ordinance or, in some cases, dictated by tradi-
tion.  Cities have wide discretion in preparation and adoption
of a CIP because state law does not address this subject.
                Just what is a CIP, and how does it differ from a
capital budget, and how much of either or both should be the
subject of a section in the charter?
                A capital improvements program (CIP) is a long-
term plan, usually spanning five or six years, for financing
major cost items that have a long, useful life:  such items as
buildings, streets, major utility lines, and expensive equip-
ment.
                The CIP itself is a listing of those major projects
scheduled for construction or acquisition during the next five
or six years.  The listing projects the date and total annual
amount the city expects to spend on a capital project; the
source of funding; and finally, and very importantly, the future
operating and maintenance cost.  Policymakers and adminis-
trators are well aware that the construction funding of such
items as fire stations and branch libraries is only the begin-
ning of the outlay.  The real cost is in staffing and mainte-
nance.
                A CIP should be prepared each year, adopting Year
1 prior to, or in conjunction with, the annual operating budget
and carrying forward the subsequent years.   The following
year, Year 2 (perhaps with revisions) becomes Year 1 and the
plan is extended out to another year to keep the five or six
years continually out into the future.
                Suggestions for projects in the CIP come from var-
ied sources–the citizenry, neighborhood groups, city staff, and
the council itself.  The designated operating department has
the first responsibility for putting these ideas together into a
priority schedule.  The planning office or the budget/finance
office usually compiles the CIP suggestions.  Public hearings
may be held at this point prior to adoption of the CIP by the
council.
                Up to this point, the council has adopted a “pro-
gram of good works to be done,” but has not committed itself

to use current funds in the budget, to the issuance of bonds,
or to the use of federal or state grant money.
                The program becomes a capital budget when the
council commits itself to funding the first year of the program
(or such portion of it with which they agree and can find the
funds to commit).  Some cities adopt the capital budget
ahead of the operating budget.  They argue that the staff and
the council must know before the operating budget decision
is made which capital projects the city will undertake.  Other
cities call for adoption of the capital budget on the same day
the operating budget is approved.

                Beaumont has very clear language on the capital
budget in Article VI. The section is reasonably short, leaving
the details discussed above to ordinance or administrative
order:

Figure 14-4:  Capital Program

Section 19 - CAPITOL PROGRAM 
(a) Submission to Council: The Manager
shall prepare and submit to the Council a five
(5) year Capital Program at least three (3)
months prior to the final date for submission
of the budget.
(b) Contents:  The Capital Program shall in-
clude:
(1) A clear general summary of its contents; 
and (2) A list of all capital improvements
which are proposed to be undertaken during 
the five (5) fiscal years next ensuing, with ap-
propriate supporting information as to the ne-
cessity of such improvements; and (3) Cost
estimates, method of financing, and recom-
mended time schedules for each such im-
provement.

Section 20 – COUNCIL ACTION ON CAPITAL
PROGRAM

The Council shall give notice of a
public hearing on the proposed Capital Pro-
gram and shall hold said hearing in the
same manner as provided in this Chapter for
the annual budget.  The hearing for the pro-
posed Capital Program and the notice of
same may be in conjunction with the annual
budget. The Council shall, by resolution,
adopt the Capital Program with or without
amendment after the public hearing and on
or before the 27th day of the last month of 
the current fiscal year.

79

Financial administration
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

119



80

Purchasing and contracts

A typical Texas charter contains three provisions re-
garding purchasing and contracts:  (1) a paragraph or more
on competitive bidding for supplies and materials; (2) a state-
ment on purchases the city manager can make (mayor in
mayor-council city) without approval by the city council; and
(3) a section on construction contract bids.  A few charters
also address limitations on the sale of city land.

Supplies, materials, and construction

The charter
section quoted to
the left is from a
1918 Texas city
charter.  The $250
figure requiring
competitive pro-
curement  is now
$50,000 by state
statute.  Another
major change is the
choice now avail-
able to cities.

Until 1993,
state law regarding
competitive bidding
mandated that if
charter limits were
lower than the state
figure, the charter
figure prevailed.  In
1993, however, the
law was changed,
and a city may
adopt the state fig-
ure even though its
charter sets a lower
limit.  The result of
this recent law is
that a number of
cities have the au-
thority to preempt
their charter limits
without an amend-
ment changing the
limits.  The differ-
ence between re-
sponse to this state
law and others is
that cities are al-
lowed to choose
whether they will
adhere to their
charter provision or

to state law when they differ.  Most other state laws supersede
charter provisions.

Construction contracts 

In 2001, Subchapter H of Chapter 271 was added to
the Texas Local Government Code and extended the authority
to use alternative delivery systems, including best-value com-
petitive bidding, competitive sealed proposals, design-build,
construction management, and job order contracting, to Texas
cities.  Detailed information on these procurement methods
are available from TML or the Texas attorney general’s office
in the publication known as “Texas Municipal Procurement
Laws Made Easy.”

Accepting state law

The City of Pflugerville adopted its first charter in No-
vember 1993 and abdicated the entire area of purchasing and
sale of city property and assets to the state.  That charter’s
brief Section 9.09 simply reads:  “All sales of city property,
purchases made, and contracts executed by the city shall be
made in accordance with the requirements of the constitution
and laws of the State of Texas.”

When this verbiage is included in a city charter, the
city council may, by ordinance, prescribe the sales, purchase,
and contract limits the city manager may execute without ref-
erence to the council, and require transactions over that set
amount to come before the council.  This ordinance route of-
fers the advantage of flexible response to changes in the dollar
value.

Municipal debt - short and long-term

Cities borrow money for the same two reasons as in-
dividuals–to cover an emergency on a short-term basis and to
acquire a major piece of equipment or property using long-
term financing.

Short-term loans to a city usually are made by local
banks.  The purpose is to provide temporary funds with the
expectation of repayment within the current fiscal year.  Our
review of the charters revealed that 74 percent of them pro-
vide specifically for borrowing in anticipation of tax collections
or other revenues.  A city’s short-term loans must mature in
the current fiscal year and do not require a voter referendum.
Such loans should be used sparingly; excessive use can ad-
versely affect a city’s bond rating.

The city of Denton has a fairly standard section on
tax anticipation notes:

Sec. 7.07. Borrowing in anticipation of 
property taxes.

In any budget year, in anticipation of the collec-
tion of the property tax for such year, whether levied

Texas Home Rule Charters

THOSE DAYS ARE
GONE FOREVER!

“Section 29.  All contracts for public
printing, public improvement, and
public works of every kind and char-
acter, and the purchase of supplies
for use in any department of the city
exceeding an expenditure of Two
Hundred and Fifty ($250) Dollars
shall be let on sealed competitive
bids.” (Emphasis supplied.)

State law permits a number
of exceptions to the $50,000 com-
petitive procurement threshold.  They
are listed in Local Government Code,
Section 252.022. 

One sub-function of pur-
chasing in many cities is the respon-
sibility for inventory control,
particularly of such items as water
and wastewater pipe and fittings, as
well as the materials and supplies.
Only a handful of cities have deemed
it necessary to address this activity in
the city charter; however, one city
may have been having some difficul-
ties in this area.  By terms of a char-
ter amendment adopted May 1994,
the city manager is mandated “to de-
velop an event-oriented inventory
management system for city-owned
property and required to present the
council with an inventory of all city-
owned property at the time of pres-
entation of the annual budget
message.”  The Public Property Fi-
nance Act (Sections 271.001-
271.009, Local Government Code)
also speaks to the purchase and/or
acquisition of personal property by
cities.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

120



81

or to be levied in such year, the council may be res-
olution authorize the borrowing of money by the is-
suance of negotiable notes of the city, each of which
shall be designed “Tax Anticipation Note for the
year 19__” (stating the budget year).  Such notes
shall be renewable, shall mature and be paid not
later than the end of the fiscal year in which the
original notes have been issued.

Long-term loans are of two kinds – “general ob-
ligations” and revenue bonds.  “General obliga-
tions” are secured by a pledge of property taxes and
include time warrants, certificates of obligation and
ad valorem tax bonds (G.O. bonds).  Revenue bonds
are long-term loans secured by a pledge of revenue
from an income-producing facility such as the city
water system.

Time warrants

Time warrants are one form of general obligation debt
payable from ad valorem taxes.  Unlike G.O. bonds, which are
sold for cash, time warrants are issued directly to vendors to
pay for construction, equipment, and services.  Also unlike
G.O. bonds, time warrants do not require voter approval; al-
though, the law does require that the city council publish no-
tice of its intent to issue them and that the council call a
referendum election upon presentation of a petition signed by
10 percent of the voters.

The procedures for issuing time warrants are cumber-
some and expensive and may result in the city paying a higher
rate of interest than if the borrowing were accomplished with
bonds.  Nevertheless, time warrants can occasionally be ad-
vantageous–for example, to complete the construction of a
public works project where there has been a cost overrun and
bond funds have been exhausted.

Certificates of obligation (COs)

COs are the second form of general obligation debt
payment from ad valorem taxes.  Like time warrants, they can
be issued without voter approval except that upon notice of
the city’s intent to issue certificates, five percent of the qual-
ified voters can force an election on the issue by submission
of a petition.

No charter provision is necessary to utilize the state
law.  (Subchapter C, Certificate of Obligation Act, Sections
271.041 - 271.063, Local Government Code.)  In addition,
if a city charter has a provision contrary to the CO law, the
charter provision is overridden by law.

The original CO law, enacted by the Legislature in
1971, was sought by cities primarily to provide a funding
mechanism for overruns of GO bond projects.  While the law
even then allowed COs to be paid for materials and supplies
and to mature over a period of as much as 40 years, cities

used this new authority very carefully.  To their credit, Texas
cities have not misused this law and precipitated major citizen
backlash.  There is a temptation to:  (1) buy materials, sup-
plies, and small pieces of equipment with COs that could be
purchased out of current operating funds, and (2) carelessly
issue obligations of up to 40 years, avoiding voter approval.
At least one urban Texas county has been criticized for having
a “permanent” program of issuing COs each year for any
equipment costing over $500.

Ad valorem tax bonds

Ad valorem tax bonds are commonly referred to as
general obligation, or G.O. bonds.  They are issued pursuant
to an ordinance adopted by the city council typically following
approval of the bonds at a referendum election.  The bonds
are examined as to legality by the Attorney General of Texas
and then delivered by the city to the successful purchaser or
bidder for payment in cash.  This cash is then used by the
city to pay for libraries, police buildings, city halls, and other
public facilities with a long useful life.  General obligation
bonds have the highest degree of investor acceptance of any
type of municipal indebtedness and command the lowest in-
terest rates.  Therefore, unless exceptional circumstances dic-
tate otherwise, G.O. bonds are the preferred means of
borrowing against a pledge of tax revenues.

Charter provisions for issuance of G.O. bonds vary
widely in detail.  Some cities extensively detail the purpose
for which these bonds may be issued, the conditions of sale,
the initiation of a register to keep records, the establishment
of a sinking fund to record annual bond payments, and the
penalties for misuses of this fund.

Conversely, the only provisions that a number of cities
have are the following:

(1) Recite that the city has the power to issue
all types of debt instruments.
(2) Provide for the passage of a bond ordi-
nance.  Several cities provide that bonds may
be authorized only with a majority vote of the
entire council.
(3) State the maximum term of the bonds
and other conditions of issuance.
(4) Recite the conditions of sale–public sale,
sealed proposals, note of sale to be pub-
lished, authority of council to refuse all bids.
(5) Provide for the register and set of books
showing all the pertinent details concerning
each type of debt issued.

Spending/taxation limitations
At least one home rule charter directly limits the ability

of the city to increase taxes or expenditures from one year to
the next.  While tax and expenditure limits have been avoided
as a matter of State law, a city’s charter may be stricter.

Financial administration
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

121



82

Texas Home Rule Charters

Summary

When writing a new charter or amending an existing
one, cities should not hesitate to obtain the counsel of bond
attorneys to guide charter writers in the intricacies of state
and federal law pertaining to debt insurance and manage-
ment.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

122



15 Initiative, referendum, and recall

The words are used so often together, one can almost
see them as one word:  initiativereferendumandrecall!  They
really are three separate facets of direct democracy or direct
legislation, and you generally find provisions for all three in a
charter.  The citizens of California helped make initiative and
recall household words.  The public generally hears informa-
tion regarding recalls in relationship to gubernatorial recalls.
California, the most infamous of the recall states, received a
great deal of attention in 2003 when Gray Davis was removed
from office.  This led the way for Governor Arnold
Schwarzenegger to be elected to the top spot in California.  In
the last few years, members of local governing bodies in Texas
have been the subject of recall elections as well.  The trend
has been for a dissatisfied public to utilize their rights as pro-
vided for in the city charter.    

Introduction

All three of these actions begin with a citizen petition
to the governing body, and all three can lead to a vote by the
people.  An initiative petition asks the city council to act on a
specific issue when it has not done so previously.  If the peti-
tion is valid, the council must adopt it or submit it to a vote
of the people.  Petitioners welcome council adoption, which
is faster.  A referendum petition asks the city council to re-
verse an action already taken or proposed.  The council can
rescind the ordinance or submit it to a vote of the people.  A
recall petition asks the city council to call an election for a
vote on removal of one or more councilmembers from office.
If the targeted officials resign, an election is unnecessary.

Although an election is the final possibility in all three
situations, petitioners are delighted with any council or indi-
vidual action that avoids an election.

Early history of initiative, referendum
and recall (I R & R)

These three tools for direct citizen participation in
government are residuals of prerevolutionary debates and, par-
ticularly, of the drafting of the federal constitution.34 The de-
bate participants, our founders, argued the merits of “direct”
democracy with maximum citizen participation versus the
merits of “representative” democracy with elected represen-
tatives of the people as the predominant decision-makers.
The direct democracy proponents, led by Benjamin Franklin
and Thomas Jefferson, lost the debate to  James Madison and
John Adams.  Thus, our  U.S. Constitution and our state con-
stitutions are instruments of representative democracy with
periodic elections in which the people name the leaders to
represent their interests. 

State constitutions were not submitted to the people
for ratification until early in the nineteenth century.  Texas
went directly to the voters in 1845 for a pre-annexation vote
on its draft constitution, and again five years later with a ref-
erendum to determine the location of the capital.

The movement toward greater use of initiative, refer-
endum, and recall (IR&R) at the state level gained impetus
in 1892 when endorsement of initiative and referendum at
the state level was included in the platform of the Populist
Party at its first national convention.  In 1898, states began
incorporating these direct methods into law.  Oregon was first,
followed during the next ten years by seven more states.  By
1912, a total of 15 states had adopted both initiative and ref-
erendum and three more states had adopted one or the other.

The recall also appeared early in America. The 1780
Massachusetts Constitution stipulated that delegates to the
Congress of the United States could be recalled at any time
within their one-year terms, and others could be chosen and
commissioned in their place.35

In the late 1800s, recall was considered to be prima-
rily a weapon against governors and the executive branch gen-
erally; whereas, initiative and referendum were being targeted
to the legislative branch.  Since governors at the turn of the
century were more highly thought of than legislators, the recall
movement did not have the impetus that the other two mech-
anisms had.  Also, the states could not decide if members of
the judiciary should or should not be included in the list of
officials subject to recall. For these and other reasons, the
move to adopt recall along with initiative and referendum did
not materialize as quickly.

Texas, ironically, has no provision for any of the three
citizen participation methods to be used at the state level, but
about 100 years ago, shortly after the advent of commission
government at the local level in Texas, the legislature began
placing one or more of the three methods in the charters it is-
sued. And to this day, the legislature has not enacted any law
to block or even impede the use of the methods by home rule
cities.

I R & R at the local level

The circumstances surrounding the arrival and instal-
lation in 1901 of the commission form of government in
Galveston may have been the instigating factor for the addi-
tion of one or more of these three “direct” citizen processes
in early Texas charters.  The commission form utilized a five-
member elected board that served as both legislative and ex-
ecutive branch and was acclaimed and embraced nationwide.
The short ballot (in Galveston, it was five elected members of
the governing body elected at large who replaced a mayor and
16 aldermen elected by wards) appealed to citizens.  Praise

83

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

123



was widespread for its “businesslike” approach to city gov-
ernment.

To offset the criticism that the new form concentrated
power in too few hands, the Texas Legislature began placing
one or more of three “direct” methods in almost all of the spe-
cial legislative charters issued to cities, beginning in 1907.
All three features were placed in the Dallas and Fort Worth
special legislative charters enacted in 1907, the Amarillo and
Waco charters passed in 1909, and the Austin charter in
1911.  Although all five of these cities, plus a host of others,
changed from commission to council-manager forms of gov-
ernment in the next few years, IR&R remained in their char-
ters.

NCL Model Charter

The eighth and latest edition of the NCL model city
charter provides a comprehensive section that addresses a va-
riety of issues regarding IR&R including: general authority,
commencement of proceeding, petitions, procedures for filing,
suspension of effect of ordinance, action on petitions, and the
results of the election.  Below is the language provided on
General Authority from the NCL Model Charter:

General Authority for Initiative, Citizen Referendum,
and Recall.
(1) Initiative. The registered voters of the city shall
have power to propose ordinances to the council
and, if the council fails to adopt an ordinance so
proposed without any change in substance, to adopt
or reject it at a city election, but such power shall
not extend to the budget or capital program or any
ordinance relating to appropriation of money, levy
of taxes or salaries of city officers or employees.
(2) Citizen Referendum. The registered voters of the
city shall have power to require reconsideration by 
the council of any adopted ordinance and, if the-
council fails to repeal an ordinance so reconsidered,
to approve or reject it at a city election, but such
power shall not extend to the budget or capital pro-
gram or any emergency ordinance or ordinance re-
lating to appropriation of money or levy of taxes.
(3) Recall. The registered voters of the city shall
have power to recall elected officials of the city, but
no recall petition shall be filed against any official
within six months after the official takes office, nor,
in case of a member subjected to a recall election
and not removed, until at least six months after the
election.

Charter provisions today

Today, an overwhelming number of Texas city charters
call for all three, with the recall provision being the most
prevalent; it is found in 93 percent of city charters.  The ini-
tiative and referendum are provided for in 88 percent of char-
ters.  In virtually every charter, IR&R are the subjects of a
separate article.  Several cities make requirements that apply
to all three items. Seguin authorizes the city secretary to use
a sampling to check signatures against the voter registration
list when the petition names exceed 1,000.  There must be a
minimum of a 25 percent sample.  Several cities have provi-
sions for a minimum turnout before the election will be de-
clared successful, and a couple of cities require a second
petition in the case of initiative and referendum.  These pro-
visions state that if the petitioners submit one petition and
the city council fails to act, the petitioners must then go back
and get additional signatures to force an election.

After an initiative or referendum is successful, cities
provide various ways for reversing that decision.  A few cities
state that the council, within months, can simply reverse the
decision without an extraordinary vote of any kind.  But most
charters provide a waiting period before the council can take
any action to reverse the vote, and several charters require a
majority or greater vote of the total council to reverse the ac-
tion even after a waiting period.  Some charters prohibit peti-
tioners from coming forward on the same question more often
than every six months.

Cities are almost evenly split over use of a petitioners’
committee (usually five or ten persons).  Proponents of such
a committee argue that requiring a committee places clear re-
sponsibility for the undertaking of initiative or referendum pro-
ceedings.  Opponents find fault, however, in the fact that such
a committee is given the authority to speak for hundreds or
thousands of petitioners, and may agree to a city council com-
promise ordinance without consulting with the petition sign-
ers.

In some instances, charter writers have tried to save
a little verbiage by combining petition percentages and other
common language covering all three actions into one section,
stating that it is speaking for all three mechanisms at once.
This can be done if handled very carefully, but several charters
trying to do this have confused the requirements.  Even
though it means repeating some requirements, the clearest
and cleanest way to state the charter requirements is to do so
one at a time for each of the three.  In this way, there can be
no doubt about meaning.

Finally, when reading the following charts regarding
the percentage of signatures required to file a valid petition,
it should be remembered that many cities, in addition to re-
quiring a certain percentage of voter signatures, require a min-
imum number of signatures.  The charter frequently provides
that the petition must contain the greater of these two: a per-
centage or a minimum number.

84

Texas Home Rule Charters
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

124



Initiative provisions in charters

Most of the charters that provide for initiative prohibit
petitions being presented to the council that address appro-
priating funds or authorizing the levying of taxes.  Occasion-
ally, a charter prohibits other initiated actions that the framers
of the charter felt were inappropriate for citizen initiation.

Requirements on the number of required signatures
vary widely.  Some cities appear to purposely make it very dif-
ficult for voters to initiate ordinances; others have made it
fairly easy.  The actual requirements reported are:

*Reading the chart:  Using line 2 in the left-hand column, the
figure means that signatures representing five percent of the
voters must be secured; six cities require five percent of the
registered voters; one city requires five percent of the last
vote.

Referendum provisions in charters

Many cities and court decisions have declared several
areas “off limits” for referendum petitions.  Many charters
prohibit referendum petitions on:  (1) levying taxes, (2) ap-
propriating funds, (3) ordinances fixing rates and charges for
utilities, (4) annexations, and (5) ordinances authorizing the
issuance of bonds that have been authorized by a vote of the
people.  Some cities prohibit referendum petitions relating to
personnel and administrative matters.  The requirements re-
garding the number of signatures is usually the same as for
initiative petitions.  

Recall provisions in charters

The recall sections of charters have several provisions
unique to that device.  In less than 5 percent of charters, any-
where from one-tenth to one-half of all the petitioners must
swear in the petition that they voted for the councilmember
now the subject of their recall.  In even fewer charters, can-
didates to replace the councilmember are listed on the ballot,
so that if the citizens vote to recall the councilmember, the
individual on the ballot with the most votes is elected at that
same election to succeed the recalled individual.

Charters also vary as to whether accusations against
a councilmember in a recall petition can be general or must
list specific causes for action.  North Richland Hills’ charter
carries a notation immediately under Article XV on recall stat-
ing, “Note:  Recall article of this charter has, by implication,
been held to be invalid by a district court of Tarrant County in
1991.”  According to the city attorney of North Richland Hills,
the City of Lake Worth had copied the recall provision of North
Richland Hills.  This provision states:

Any city official elected by the people, shall
be subject to recall and removal from office
by the qualified voters of the city on grounds
of incompetency, misconduct, or malfea-
sance in office.

A petition drive attempted to recall a councilmember
in Lake Worth in 1991, and the court ruled that the provision
was vague and unenforceable.  This was a state district court
decision that was not appealed.  Therefore, the case’s value
as precedent is minimal.

Most charter provisions on recall have a statement

85

Initiative, referendum, and recall

Figure 15-1:  Signature requirements for initiative*
Number of cities requiring “X” percent of all registered voters

or of the number voting in the most recent election

Registered Voters Most Recent Election 
Percent:  1994 2008 1994      2008

3% .5 1.0 0 0
5% 2.5 2.0 .5 1.0
10% 14.0 18.0 4.0 3.0
15% 9.0 8.0 3.5 3.0
20% 7.0 9.5 15.0 13.0
25% 6.0 2.0 19.0 20.0
30% 2.5 3.0 10.0 9.0

33/33.3% 0 .5 1.0 .5
35% 1.0 .5 0 0
40% 0 .5 1.5 1.0
50% 0 .5 2.5 2.0
51% .5 1.0 0 .5
60% 0 .5 0             0

Figure 15-2:  Signature requirements for referendum*
Number of cities requiring “X” percent of all registered vot-

ers or of the number voting in the most recent election

Registered Voters Most Recent Election 
Percent:  1994 2008 1994    2008
3% .5 1.0 0 0
5% 2.0 1.5 .5 1.5
10% 13.5 16.0 3.0 3.0
15% 9.0 7.0 3.0 3.0
20% 6.0 11.0 16.0 12.5
25% 7.0 3.0 21.0 21.0
30% 3.0 3.0 10.0 10.5
33/33.3% 0 .5 1.0 .5
35% 1.0 .5 0 0
40% 0 0 0.5 1.0
50% 0 .5 2.5 2.0
51% .5 1.0 0 0
60% 0 0 0           0

*See explanation under Initiative for example of 
using this figure.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

125



Figure 15-3:  Signature requirements for referendum*
Number of cities requiring “X” percent of all registered vot-

ers or of the number voting in the most recent election

Registered Voters Most Recent Election 
Percent:  1994 2008 1994    2008
3% 0 1.0 0 0
5% 1.5 2.0 0 1.0
10% 9.0     18.0 1.0 3.0
15% 5.0 8.0 .5 2.5 
16% 0 0 .5 .5
20% 6.0 9.5 7.5 13.0
25% 6.0 2.0 10.0 20.0
30% 8.0 3.0 20.0 9.0
33/33.3% .5 .5 1.0         .5
35% 2.0 .5 2.0 0
40% 2.5 .5 2.5 1.0
50% 1.0 .5 5.0 2.0
51% .5 1.0 8.0 .5
60% 0 .5 0         0

*See explanation under Initiative for example of 
using this figure.

86

that if the mayor or city council does not call a recall election
when presented with a valid petition, the county judge shall
discharge these duties.  Still other charters attempt to place
this duty on the district judge.  These requirements also pres-
ent problems because a city does not have the authority to
prescribe duties for a county or district judge. The better rem-
edy may be for the charter to provide that any citizen could
file with the appropriate court for a writ of mandamus to force
the city to call the election.

Finally, charters with recall provisions do have some
restrictions on use.  First, 55 percent of  charters give a newly
elected mayor or councilmember a few months on the job be-
fore they can be the subject of a recall petition.  Our survey
showed this grace period generally to be six months.

Similarly, 26 percent of charters provide that after
having weathered a recall election, a councilmember may not
be subjected to another recall election within a certain period
of time.  Our review of the charters showed an array of “wait-
ing periods.”  Again, six months was the norm, but the time
frames ranged anywhere from one month to one year.

To save money on an election, 12 percent of  charters
make a specific provision that recall petitions will not be hon-
ored within a specified period before the person in question
will come up for election.  These times range anywhere from
three months to one year, with three months being the most
common, followed by six months.

Finally, there are Texas charters which provide that a
councilmember will not be subject to a recall election more
than once during a term of office.  The survey results in this
regard are:

I R & R in action

Our survey (Appendix A), which was sent to key offi-
cials in every Texas home rule city, asked how many times
each of the three provisions had been used in the last five
years.  We chose five years because we felt institutional mem-
ory in most cities might not extend back beyond that period
of time.

Initiative results from the survey

The initiative was reported to be used in 24 cities, a
total of 41 propositions were presented to the voters, resulting
in 31 propositions being approved by voters, seven being
turned down by the voters, and three petitions being found
invalid.  The subject of the measures presented by the citizens
varied widely–from an ethics ordinance to no smoking ordi-
nances, as well as funding for facilities.  But the largest num-
ber of petitions dealt with freezing property taxes for senior
citizens and disabled veterans (authorized by separate state
law), all of which were approved.  

Referendum results from the survey

Eleven cities reported use of the referendum in the
past five years.  A total of 15 propositions were placed on the
ballot with 10 being approved, three failing, and two instances
where the city council took action, thereby removing the issue
from the election process.  We attempted to eliminate all char-
ter and bond issue votes; our interest was in the traditional
use of the referendum petition.  Here again, the diversity in
subject matter represented all sorts of issues, such as the sale
of alcoholic beverages in city parks.  

Recall results from the survey

Twelve cities reported recall elections in the past five
years, with disappointing results for petitioners. Of the 28 in-
dividuals that were subject to recall, only twelve recall elec-
tions resulted in turning out the individual involved; whereas,
the remaining 16 elections resulted in a failure to recall.  One
city reported that while the recall election may have failed,
none of the candidates subject to the recall vote were elected
in subsequent elections.  

Summary of survey results
Clinton Rogers Woodruff wrote words in 1911 that are

still being used by advocates of the three mechanisms.  He
said there had been too few IR&R elections up to that time to
justify a sound conclusion, and then added, “it may, however,
be fairly argued that their existence constitutes a substantial,
and on the whole, an effective safeguard.  Their value rests in
their existence, rather than in their use.”36 This appears to
be the case in Texas today, with only 14 percent of all home
rule cities being forced into IR&R elections in the last five
years.

Texas Home Rule Charters
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

126



87

Regulation of utilities is the subject of a separate ar-
ticle in almost every charter in the state.  Texas court cases
indicate that a city’s authority to require a franchise from a
public utility operating inside municipal boundaries is derived
from the statute that grants the city exclusive control of the
public streets.  In the case of a home rule city, such power is
derived from Article 1175, Vernon’s Annotated Civil Statutes.
All three of the regulatory acts discussed below preserve the
authority of a city to require franchise from public utilities.  It
should be remembered, however, that the right to operate a
business in the nature of a public utility cannot be prohibited
by a city; the city has only the power to regulate the use of its
streets and alleys in the operation of such a business.

The overall regulation of utilities, formerly the respon-
sibility solely of the city, has changed in the past 30 years.
Three different state agencies are involved now in utility reg-
ulation–the Public Utility Commission (PUC) for electricity
and telephone, the Railroad Commission (RRC) for gas utili-
ties, and the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality
(TCEQ) for water and sewer utilities.  This chapter reviews the
general regulatory environment for utilities and then examines
some appropriate charter language.

Early history of utilities in Texas

The cities’ relationship with utility services is referred
to several times in Dick Smith’s dissertation, “The Develop-
ment of Local Government Units in Texas.”  Smith points out
that as far back as the days of the Republic, cities were be-
ginning to levy license fees on businesses of various types.
Houston’s special legislative charter issued by the Republic
authorized “lighting of the streets” as one of its powers of the
city.  In the 1870s, cities were authorized to regulate railroads
coming through town, including their speed and the construc-
tion and lighting of crossings.  Cities originally built small
lighting plants to light the city; these were steadily bought by
private operators who then dominated the marketplace from
the 1800s to the present time. 

Franchises and rate regulation 
prior to 1975

From the beginning of regulation, cities were author-
ized to require companies to obtain permission to use the pub-
lic streets and right-of-way to conduct their businesses.
Although exclusive franchises could not be granted, one elec-
tric and one gas company (public or private) was usually the
sole source of supply in any given city.  With this privilege, the
companies then agreed to regulation of rates, annual pay-
ments of “street rental” charges, submission of annual reports

to the city, and other regulatory restrictions.  Lengthy provi-
sions were placed in most early charters addressing every as-
pect of these arrangements between the city and companies
concerned.

In rate regulation, cities were considered generally to
be in a better position prior to state law changes made in the
1970’s and 1980’s.  Before passage of the Public Utility Reg-
ulatory Act (PURA) in 1975, the Gas Utility Regulatory Act
(GURA) in 1983, and amendments to the Texas Water Code
(1989), companies had to go to district court if they were dis-
pleased with a decision of the city council on rate requests.
Under the new legislation, appeals are directed to the Public
Utility Commission (PUC), to the Railroad Commission (RRC),
or to the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ).

Public Utility Regulatory Act 
(PURA) of 1975

The first comprehensive state regulatory act, the Pub-
lic Utility Regulatory Act (PURA), was passed in 1975.  Article
IV of PURA is devoted entirely to cities.  The first statement
emphasizes that no provision of PURA shall be construed as
limiting the right of a city to grant or refuse franchises to use
the streets and alleys within the city limits and to make
charges for such use. 

Secondly, PURA continues the right of a city to en-
gage rate consultants and other professionals to assist the city
council in ratemaking proceedings.  It also provides that the
utility shall be required to reimburse the city for reasonable
costs incurred for consulting any experts.  

Appeals from the ratemaking decision may be taken
to the PUC (not district court) and may come from the com-
pany, the city council, or citizens if the latter can secure a pe-
tition.  

In actual practice, there is not much difference be-
tween the actions of most cities that have retained original ju-
risdiction and those that have ceded it to the PUC.  In both
cases, cities are joining with other cities in the same geograph-
ical area of the state, and sometimes statewide, to employ ex-
pert counsel to oppose rate and/or service requests that they
feel are not in the best interests of their ratepayers in the city.
This challenge to rate increases is now being mounted by
cities before the PUC in virtually every case, instead of trying
to defeat the utility in hearings at city hall.

Gas Utility Regulatory Act (GURA)

In 1983, the Texas Legislature enacted the Gas Utility
Regulatory Act. GURA was enacted “to protect the public in-
terest in the rates and services of gas utilities.”  Article III of
that act is entitled “Municipalities” and sets out the rights

16 Franchises

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

127



and responsibilities of cities in their relationship with gas
companies serving their communities.

GURA begins, as does PURA, with the statement that
the act does not limit the rights and powers of cities to grant
or refuse franchises to use the streets and alleys within its city
limits.  The act then declares that cities may require gas com-
panies to furnish all necessary data in order for the city coun-
cil to make a reasonable determination of rate base within the
city.  Further, the city may employ rate consultants, attorneys,
auditors, and others necessary to conduct investigations and
advise the governing body in its consideration of any matter
brought before the council by the gas company, and the com-
pany shall pay any reasonable costs of these services.  

Finally, the appeal procedure is like that under PURA.
The appeal to the Railroad Commission may be made by the
city, the gas company, or the citizenry upon the presentation
of a petition. 

Other utility operations

Telephone

All telecommunication regulation is now under the
PUC.  Cities no longer have the right to regulate these rates,
but are entitled to right-of-way compensation under Chapter
283 of the Local Government Code.

Cable television

In the past, regulation of cable TV and video providers
has moved back and forth between Washington and individual
cities; the PUC never had any authority in this arena.  Cable
and video operations are now under Federal Communications
Commission (FCC) regulation, with the PUC granting the au-
thority to provide service in the state.  As with telephones,
cities are entitled to right-of-way compensation under Chapter
66 of the Utilities Code.  

Taxicabs/limousines

These companies are subject to local regulation by
the city council.

Municipal utilities

Electric

The PUC has no control over rates charged customers
inside city limits by municipally owned electric utilities. Arti-
cle IV of PURA states that ratepayers of a municipally owned
electric utility outside the city limits may appeal any action
of the governing body affecting the rates of the municipally
owned electric utility by filing with the PUC a petition for re-
view signed by the lesser of 10,000 or five percent of the
ratepayers served by such utility outside the municipal limits.

The remainder of Article IV sets forth the procedures to be fol-
lowed by the ratepayers and the city in the appeal of such
rates.

Gas

GURA has a provision almost identical to PURA in re-
gard to ratepayers of a municipally owned gas utility outside
the city limits.

Water and wastewater

The Water Code has, in Section 13.082, provisions
similar to PURA.  Rates of municipally owned water and
wastewater utilities are exempt from regulation by the TCEQ
except for service furnished outside the city limits.

The franchise article in a home rule
charter

In our survey and review of city charters, we found
that 52 percent of the cities require a majority of the total
council to award a franchise.  The serious deliberation that
one would expect of a decision of this consequence is chan-
neled by the majority of cities through two, and in many cases,
three required separate readings of the ordinance granting the
franchise, with the last reading being at least 15, or more
often, 30 days after the first reading.  In addition to these pro-
cedures, many cities require either the entire ordinance or a
summary of the ordinance to be published in the official news-
paper, one time a week, anywhere from one to four weeks.

We did find a few charter provisions requiring a fran-
chise to be submitted to a referendum of the voters if a peti-
tion is presented by a certain number of signers. And the
survey found a number of charter provisions that the city
“shall have the right to buy, construct, lease, and maintain,
operate and regulate public utilities.”  Several charters specif-
ically provided that:

No franchise shall be granted, renewed, ex-
tended or amended, except on condition that the
city shall have the right at any time within five
(5) years of the expiration of the term thereof to
purchase the property of the franchise holder at
a price to be determined according to the
method agreed upon in the ordinance granting,
renewing, extending, or amending the franchise.

Our analysis of street rental fees revealed most city
charters provide for collection of this fee but do not specify a
rate.  Most cities now collect two percent of gross receipts,
but some cities collect as high as four percent per year. Keep
in mind that cable/video, telephone, and electric franchise
fees are now governed by state law.  Thus, much of this infor-
mation is based on older, preempted charter provisions.  Water

88

Texas Home Rule Charters
2024 C

H
A

R
T

E
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 C

O
M

M
ISSIO

N
 M

E
E

T
IN

G
 PA

C
K

E
T

 FO
R

 SE
PT

E
M

B
E

R
 4, 2024 M

E
E

T
IN

G

128



Figure 16-1:  Maximum franchise term

1998 2008

10 years 1% 1%
15 years 2% 1%
20 years 25%                 21%
25 years 17%                 13%
30 years 15%                 10%
31 plus years 10%                   6%
Not specified in charter 30%                 48%

TOTAL CITIES 100% 100%

Franchises

89

and/or gas franchises may be the most prominent exceptions.
The original version of this book quoted extensively from ex-
ample, perhaps outdated, charter language regarding fran-
chises.  Because of recent state law changes in this area, a
city planning to adopt or amend a charter should visit with
local legal counsel regarding franchises.

A tally of the figures in number of years for which for
which a franchise could be awarded gave these results:

Municipally owned utilities

Several charters contain an article or, sometimes, just
one section on the city’s own utilities.  The most common sec-
tion is one regarding financial statements for municipally
owned utilities.  The provision below is found in quite a few
charters:

Sec. 10.10.  Accounts of municipal owned
utilities.
Accounts shall be kept for each public utility
owned or operated by the city, in such man-
ner as to show the true and complete finan-
cial results of such city ownership and
operation, including assets, appropriately
subdivided into different classes, all liability
subdivided by classes, depreciation reserve,
other reserves, and surplus; also revenues;
operating expenses including depreciation,
interest payments, rental, and other disposi-
tion of annual income. The accounts shall
show the actual capital cost to the city of
each public utility owned, also the cost of all
extensions, additions, and improvements,
and the source of the funds expended for
such capital purposes.  They shall show as
nearly as possible the cost of any service fur-
nished to or rendered by any such utility to
any other city or governmental department.
The council shall annually cause to be made
by a certified public accountant, and shall

publish, a report showing the financial con-
dition of said public utility and the financial
result of such city ownership and operations,
giving the information specified in this sec-
tion and such additional data as the council
shall deem expedient.

Summary

Franchises are like long-term general obligation
bonds–the city has made a commitment binding the current
city council and councils for years to come.   Common sense
and public duty dictate prudent action on franchises only after
getting the best advice available.  Such action should result
in the best possible decision for the present and the future.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

129



90

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

130



91

17 General provisions

Almost every city charter has a concluding article with con-
tents so diverse that we found forty subjects covered in just a
random look at seven charters.  Altogether, the cities probably
cover a 100 topics in this final article.  Some of the para-
graphs apply only to the particular city.  Some emphasize im-
portant state laws by repeating them.  We have chosen 25
subjects to highlight in this chapter.  These subjects are gen-
erally the most frequently found in the General Provisions ar-
ticle; most of them are important, but do not fit neatly into
any other article of the charter.  A general summary identified
five broad categories:  standards of conduct, legal provisions,
government operations, remainders and reminders, and con-
tinuity in change.

Standards of conduct and conflict 
of interest

Various provisions of the Texas Constitution and state
statutes cover this general category.  But many charters repeat
or summarize the law to provide emphasis and easy access
for charter readers.

Personal or financial interest – Over 78 percent of charters
prohibit councilmembers from having any personal or finan-
cial interest in any contract with the city.  Those charter pro-
visions are more stringent than state law.  Chapter 171 of the
LGC allows councilmembers to vote on matters if they do not
have a “substantial interest” in the business concerned; if the
councilmember has a substantial interest, then he/she must
declare it and refrain from voting.

The Beaumont charter speaks specifically re-
garding “Personal Interest” as follows:

Section 16.9 Officers or Employees Not To Have Fi-
nancial Interest in Any Contract of the City. 

No officer or employee of the City shall have a
financial interest direct or indirect or by reason of
ownership of stock in any corporation, in any con-
tract with the City, or be financially interested di-
rectly or indirectly in the sale to the City of any land,
materials, supplies, or services except on behalf of
the City as an officer or employee; provided, how-
ever, that the provisions of this section shall only be
applicable when the stock owned by the officer or
employee exceeds one percent (1%) of the total
capital stock of the corporation.  Any willful viola-
tion of this section shall constitute malfeasance in
office and any officer or employee guilty thereof

shall thereby forfeit the office or position.  Any vio-
lation of this section with the knowledge expressed
or implied of the person or corporation contracting
with the governing body of the City shall render the
contract voidable by the City Council.  

Some cities have such stringent requirements regard-
ing business ownership and financial disclosure that individ-
uals with small businesses who might otherwise make
excellent councilmembers choose not to run for the council
because they do not want to disclose the names of their
clients.  In addition, financial disclosure requirements were
added to state law in 2005 and 2007  (See Chapters 145
and 176, Local Government Code.)

Nepotism – Nepotism prohibitions are found in 79 percent of
charters, although these prohibitions are typically not more
stringent than state law, as has been done with personal and
financial interest prohibitions for councilmembers.  They have
summarized the state nepotism law found in Section 573.041
of the Government Code.  The state law, in prohibiting the city
council from hiring any person who is related to a coun-
cilmember within the second degree by affinity (relationship
by marriage) or within the third degree by consanguinity (re-
lationship by blood), has three exceptions that many cities do
not address.  Many charters simply prohibit the potential con-
flict completely.  The state law prohibition does not apply to
relatives who were continuously employed by the city for:  (1)
at least 30 days, if the councilmember is appointed; (2) at
least six months, if the councilmember is elected at an elec-
tion other than the general election for state and county of-
fices; or (3) at least one year, if the councilmember is elected
at the general election for state and county offices.  One cau-
tious West Texas city prohibits employment within the fourth
degree of affinity and consanguinity.  Several charters include
a nepotism provision applying to the city manager.

Acceptance of gifts – This prohibition is covered in 59 percent
of charters.  In many cities, the prohibition concerns only gifts
received from the holder of a franchise.  The Texas Penal Code
has at least three sections that speak to the general question
of gifts: Section 36.02 addresses bribery generally, Section
36.08 addresses bribes in return for help with bids or other
financial transactions, and Section 36.09 addresses influenc-
ing a public official’s conduct or vote.  

Political activity – Charters in 49 percent of cities have spe-
cific provisions outlawing or regulating political activity by city
employees.  Sections 150.002 and 180.001 of the LGC both
prohibit fire and police personnel from taking an active part
in another person’s political campaign for an elective position

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

131



in the community and prohibit an individual from coercing a
fire or police officer to participate, or to refrain from partici-
pating, in a political campaign.  Many charters have a general
prohibition against officers or employees soliciting other em-
ployees for political purposes.  La Grange has this language
in its charter:

    
Section 11.03 Prohibitions
Activities Prohibited:
(3)  No City official or employee, elected or ap-
pointed shall orally, by letter or otherwise solicit or
assist in soliciting any assessment, subscription,
or contribution for any political party or political
purpose whatever from any subordinate City offi-
cial or employee holding any compensated City po-
sition.
(4) No person who holds any compensated City po-
sition shall solicit or receive any contribution to the
campaign funds of any candidate for municipal of-
fice or take any part in the management, affairs, or
political campaign of any municipal candidate. 

Legal provisions

Most charters have provisions that set forth certain
legal precepts designed to give the city legal standing if taken
to court.  These include:

Construction of charter – A statement that the charter is a
general grant of power and is not to be interpreted as limiting
in any way.

Judicial notice – A typical statement:  “This charter shall be
deemed a Public Act, and shall have the force and effect of a
general law, may be read in evidence without pleading or
proof, and judicial notice shall be taken thereof in all courts
and places without further proof.”

Separability/severability/partial invalidity – One of these terms
is used to declare that the charter will remain intact even if
one section, paragraph, or sentence is declared to be uncon-
stitutional.

Publicity of records – This provision is generally a brief state-
ment reflecting the Texas Public Information Act, which re-
quires all city records, with a few exceptions, to be open to
the public.

City required to give security or execute bond – Usually states
that the city is exempt from having to post bond or security in
any kind of court case.

Provision relating to assignment, execution, and garnishments
– States that the city is not subject to these legal procedures.

Written notice of injury – Requires that individuals injured by
reason of a city’s action or lack of action shall be required to
give the city written notice of such claim within a certain num-
ber of days of the incident.

There have been several cases construing notice of
claim ordinances to be in violation of the Open Courts provi-
sion of the Texas Constitution.  In Borne v. City of Garland,
718 S.W.2d 22 (Tex. App. - Dallas, 1986), the court held that
the 30-day notice of claim provision in the City of Garland’s
charter was in violation of the constitution because it did not
contain any exceptions such as “good cause” or “actual no-
tice.”  Also, in the case of Fitts v. City of Beaumont, 688
S.W.2d 182 (Tex. App. - Beaumont, 1985, writ ref’d n.r.e),
the court held that the city charter provision requiring written
notice within 60 days violated the Open Courts provision of
the constitution.

Both cases generally discuss the statute of limitations
in the Texas Tort Claims Act, which is six months, and discuss
the fact that there was no exception for good cause shown.
As a result of these two cases, cities have amended their char-
ters or notice of claim ordinances to provide specifically that
a six-month notice is sufficient if good cause can be shown.
These changes were made to address the concern of the court
in the above–cited cases. Great caution should be exercised
in denying a claim based solely on the fact that notice was
not given within the time allowed under the charter or the no-
tice of claim provision; however, it is certainly within the city’s
best interests to know as soon as possible about claims that
may be made against it, and a charter provision or an ordi-
nance such as this will certainly go a long way in accomplish-
ing that purpose.  The Temple charter has a detailed section
on written notice:

Section 3.8.  LIMITATION OF LIABILITY FOR
DAMAGES
Before the City shall be liable for damages for
personal injuries of any kind, or for injuries to or
destruction of property of any kind, the person
injured, or the owner of the property injured or
destroyed, or someone on his behalf, shall give
the City Manager notice in writing of such injury
or destruction, duly verified, within sixty (60)
days after the same has been sustained, stating
in such written notice when, where, and how the
injury or destruction occurred, and the apparent
extent thereof, the amount of damage sustained,
the amount for which claimant will settle, the
actual residence of the claimant by street and
number, and at the time the claim is presented,
and the actual residence of such claimant for six
(6) months immediately preceding the occur-
rence of such injuries or destruction, and the
names and addresses of the witnesses upon
whom he relies to establish his claim, and, fur-
ther, that suit be filed thereon within six (6)
months from the date such injuries were re-
ceived or destruction suffered; and a failure to

Texas Home Rule Charters

92

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

132



notify the City Manager within the time and
manner specified herein and a failure to file
thereon with six (6) months from the date such
injuries were received or such destruction suf-
fered, either or both, shall exonerate, excuse and
exempt the City from any liability whatsoever.
Further, this section shall not apply to the tak-
ing, damaging or destruction of property as guar-
anteed and covered by Section 17 of Article 1
of the Constitution of Texas.

Oath of office – The oath for both elected and appointive of-
ficials is found in the Texas Constitution.  This is one state
requirement that does not need to be in the charter.

Contractual immunity - Section 51.074 of the Local Govern-
ment Code has long provided that a home rule city may “plead
and be impleaded” in court. Recently, a plaintiff sued a city,
claiming that the language in Section 51.074 provides a
waiver of the city’s governmental immunity. In Tooke v. City
of Mexia, 197 S.W.3d 325 (Tex. 2006), the plaintiffs suc-
cessfully bid on a city contract whose term was stated to be
for a three-year period. Prior to the end of the three years, the
city notified them that the city was “discontinuing” the con-
tract for lack of funding. The plaintiffs sued for breach of con-
tract, asserting that they had relied on a three-year term in
purchasing equipment. The Supreme Court of Texas held that
the contract covered a governmental function of the city from
which it was immune from suit. That immunity was not waived
by Section 51.075 of the Local Government Code, which pro-
vided simply that a home rule municipality “may plead and
be impleaded in any court.” In 2005, however, the legislature
provided a limited waiver of immunity for contractual disputes
between vendors and cities by enacting Subchapter H of
Chapter 271 of the LGC.

Government operations

A wide variety of provisions specifically addressed to
city operations may be found in one or more charters.  These
include authority to:

• Condemn dangerous structures,
• Provide retirement and health insurance for 

city employees,
• Provide diversity on city boards and commissions, and
• Give citizens priority in city employment.

Remainders and reminders

Many charters have unrelated provisions that do not
fit readily in other sections but generally enable actions or
serve as a reminder of actions mandated, and may include:

Rearrangement and renumbering – Authorizes the city council

to rearrange and renumber articles and sections in the charter
to place like content together and construct a logical ordering
of the articles.

Gender – Some charters have a provision to make the charter
gender neutral.

Recording of the charter – Reminds future city officials of the
necessity to comply with Sections 9.005, 9.007, and 9.008
of the LGC, regarding filing the charter with the city secretary
and with the Secretary of State’s office.

Official newspaper – Some charters name the official news-
paper in which to publish the official city notices.

Continuity in change

Most charters have some language that addresses the
question of the transition when a city adopts a new charter or
makes major structural changes, such as changing the form
of government.  Provisions that may be found in this regard
include:

Interim government/continuation of officers/transfer of power,
duties, and responsibilities (charters use one of these terms)
– These items are self-explanatory.  Several charters might be
consulted here for anyone wishing further information on any
of the above. 

Continuance of contracts – States that contracts already in
force will not be affected by the new charter.

Effective date of charter – Self-explanatory.

Adoption of charter – Sets forth a brief report of the charter
commission and the date and procedure for election.

Disaster clause – Only a few cities have any provision for
emergency succession in the event all or a majority of the gov-
erning body is killed or incapacitated by some event.  The City
of Allen has this provision:

Section 10.09 Disaster clause.

In case of disaster when a legal quo-
rum of elected councilmembers cannot oth-
erwise be assembled due to multiple deaths
or injuries, the surviving member or members
of the elected council, or highest surviving
city official, if no elected official remains,
must within twenty-four (24) hours of such
disaster, request the highest surviving offi-
cers of the local chamber of commerce and
the board of trustees of the local school dis-
trict, and the county judge of Collin County
to appoint a commission to act during the

General provisions

93

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

133



Texas Home Rule Charters

94

emergency and call a City election within fif-
teen (15) days of such disaster for election
of a required quorum, if for good reasons it
is known a quorum of the present Council
will never again meet.

State law addresses emergency succession for the
governor and the legislature and allows local governments to
prepare a succession plan to be used in time of disaster.  How-
ever, the State’s Emergency Management Plan requires cities
and counties in their local emergency plans to have a section
on “continuity of government - line of succession” in which
they set out how the city would be governed in the event a
legal quorum of the elected councilmembers cannot be as-
sembled due to multiple deaths or injuries.

Summary

This listing of items generally found in a city’s charter
under the title “General Provisions,” is only a sample of the
content of Texas charters in this last article.

We will repeat that some of these sections are a sum-
mary of state law and do not have to be stated in the charter.
However, it may be important to repeat some of the more
prominent state laws in an appendix to the charter to help in-
dividuals reading the charter become fully aware of the rela-
tionships of state law to charters and to remind them of some
of the basic ground rules of city governance.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

134



In Chapter 4, we discussed the legal requirements for
adopting a new charter and amending an existing one.  We
will now consider some of the practical problems in deciding
the subject and number of amendments for the ballot.

Charter revision commissions

Most cities address amendments near the end of their
charters.  Several charters mandate city council consideration
of charter revisions every five or ten years; others provide for
appointment of a charter revision commission periodically, but
leave details to the sitting council.

A small percentage of cities provide instructions for
appointment and list detailed responsibilities of a charter re-
vision commission.  The Pflugerville charter has a section that
is typical of these charters:

Figure 18-1:  Section 11.11  Charter Review 

Section 11.11. Charter Review.
(a) Charter review commission: Two years after the
adoption of this charter and every five years there-
after, the council shall appoint a Charter Review
Commission composed of not fewer than thirteen
nor more than twenty members who meet the re-
quirements of section 8.02. Appointment shall be
made at the first regular meeting following the an-
niversary date of the charter’s adoption. The Charter
Review Commission shall serve for six months, or a
longer term if extended by the city council, and
shall meet at least once each month during its term.
The mayor shall appoint three members and each
council member shall appoint two members to serve
on the Charter Review Commission. Remaining
members shall be appointed by majority vote of the
city council.
(b) Rules of procedure: The commission must es-
tablish its own rules of procedure, which must re-
quire that a quorum consists of a majority of its
members and that an affirmative vote of a majority
of all members present is necessary to act.
(c) Powers and duties: The Charter Review Commis-
sion shall:

1. Inquire into the operations of city government
and review the city charter to  determine whether it
requires revision. Public hearings may be held and
the commission shall have the power to compel the
attendance of city officers or employees and to re-
quire the submission of city records necessary to its
inquiry and review.

2. Propose any recommendations it deems desirable
to ensure compliance with charter provisions by city
departments.
3. Propose any charter amendments it deems de-
sirable to improve the effective application of the
charter to current conditions.
4. Make a written report of its findings and recom-
mendations to the city council.
(d) Council action: The council shall receive and
have published in the city’s official newspaper the
Charter Review Commission’s final report. It shall
consider any recommendations and, if any amend-
ments are presented, shall order the amendment or
amendments submitted to the voters of the city.

There are several interesting provisions in that sec-
tion.  The appointment of such a commission every five years
is, in our opinion, a reasonable period of time to call for a re-
view of the charter and any problems manifested in the last
five years as a result of charter provisions.  Some cities man-
date a review every ten years.  Many charters provide for re-
view every two years.  Two years may be more frequent than
necessary for review of such a basic–presumably general–doc-
ument.  In addition, to provide for less than two years would
be time consuming and impracticable as the Texas Constitu-
tion, art. XI, § 5 provides, “Furthermore, no city charter shall
be altered, amended or repealed oftener than every 2 years.”  

The commission called for in the Pflugerville charter
– and others like it – have the power, by some language or an-
other, to inquire into the operations of the city.  This is a fairly
open-ended invitation for a citizen body and it may account
for the reason that only a limited number of charters provide
for this type of authority.

Several charters require the city council to publish
the report of the commission in a public newspaper.  In some
cases, a summary of the report, including any suggested char-
ter amendments recommended by the commission, is re-
quired.  Another city requires the city council to post in three
public places the findings of the commission.

Only one city charter states that after publication in
a newspaper, if the commission has recommended any charter
amendments, “the council shall order such (emphasis sup-
plied) amendment or amendments to be submitted to the vot-
ers of the City.”  This last particular provision could have some
ramifications, particularly if the city council did not care for
one or more of the amendments proposed.

Finally, of the charters with redefined charter com-
mission responsibilities, almost all of them limit the life of
the review commission to six months, at the end of which it
is to file its report.

95

18 Charter amendments

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

135



One community adopted a charter amendment ex-
tending the life of the commission for the full four years until
appointment of a new commission is required.  That same city
also has a provision in its charter under which 100 or more
citizens (qualified voters) may “require the city council to
show cause as to an alleged noncompliance with the articles
and sections of this charter.”  These two provisions are not
found in any other charter in the state.  Both actions appar-
ently would require the current city council as well as future
governing bodies to live with provisions that were, in all like-
lihood, directed to some action(s) of a previous council.

The majority of city charters that contain such detail
are found in cities with populations below 10,000.  Outside
of that, there is really no other identifying factor, as they are
located throughout the state and are represented in both
forms of government.  

The great majority of charters leave consideration of
amendments to the city council.  If citizens believe charter
revision is necessary, then can inform the city council.  If
nothing is done, they can replace them.

Practical consequences regarding
amendment elections

Many mayors and councilmembers keep little note-
books or other records noting sections, paragraphs, and/or
phrases in the charter about which they have questions.  At
some time during their years of service, one of their personal
questions or a particular incident may prompt city councils
and city administrators to begin to think about a charter
amendment election.

Sometimes at a “work session” of the council, the
subject is broached and some thinking begins in earnest
about the possibility of considering charter amendments.  One
of the interesting dynamics of this process is that there may
be provisions in the charter that the council would just as soon
be overlooked.  These provisions may include terms of office,
the manner in which the council is elected, the appointment
of certain officials, or many other matters.  There also may be
subjects not now in the charter which consideration of a char-
ter amendment election would bring to the forefront.  The best
example here is probably the question of term limits, but it is
only one of a number of possibilities that arise when an elec-
tion is considered.  The numerous possibilities and their com-
plexity may lead some individuals to favor keeping the
problems in the current charter rather than opening “Pan-
dora’s box.”  And this may explain why charters are not
amended very often.

If the decision is made to go forward and consider re-
vision, the council will want to ask the city attorney to devote
a substantial amount of time to answering questions about
possible amendments and to carefully reviewing the laws af-
fecting the charter.  TML also is prepared to advise on possible
language and answer other types of questions.  Cities should
pay particular attention to eliminating conflicting language in
the charter–language that may exist now or will exist if certain
changes are made.  Examples pointed out in previous chapters

include charters that call for both majority and plurality vote
for city council, and others that provide that the city council
and the city manager can both terminate employees.

A subject that always arises when deciding about an
election is how to handle provisions in the charter superseded
by state law.  It requires serious thought.  It is hoped the al-
ternatives presented in Chapter 3 may be of some value to
city council and charter commissions when reviewing such
questions.  One city tried to anticipate federal and state law
overriding charter language and recently adopted this amend-
ment:

Amendments to this Charter may be made in the fol-
lowing manner:

(A)  In the event amendment is ne-
cessitated by a preemptive state or federal
law, by statute, court decision, or adminis-
trative action, and such preemptive law or
regulation is mandatory in its governance of
this City, despite any action by the voters ei-
ther for or against such a proposed amend-
ment, then, and only in such an event, shall
the City Council itself act to amend the Char-
ter by ordinance.  Upon the passage of such
ordinance, a copy thereof, certified by the
City Secretary and filed with a copy of this
Charter, shall be forwarded to the Secretary
of State for filing, as well as certified copies
of such ordinance being filed with other ap-
propriate offices.

This type of amendment has a worthy goal–to keep
the charter updated at all times.  Unfortunately, state law does
not set out this procedure as a recognized method of amend-
ing a charter.  It is thus presumed that a court would not up-
hold this amendment should some legal question arise.

Amendment adoption results

Our survey instrument asked cities to indicate the
date of the last charter amendment election held, the number
of voters, the registered voters at that time, population of the
city, and the results (number of propositions submitted and
number favored by the voters).

Several facts stand out as we view the tabulation of
those questions.

Most charters have been amended fairly recently,
more than 42 percent in the last eight years.  In response to
the question asking the last time the charter was amended,
the following answers were given: 

Texas Home Rule Charters

96

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

136



Charter amendments

Figure 18-1:  Most Recent Charter 
Amendments by Decade 

No amendments 70
Between 1950 and 1959: 3
Between 1960 and 1969: 4
Between 1970 and 1979: 11
Between 1980 and 1989: 38
Between 1990 and 1999: 78
Between 2000 and 2008:         147

Figure 18-3:  Number of Amendments Submitted to Voters, 2000-2007

Year # of cities # of amendments submitted to the voters

2000 5 17 amendments
2001 7 94 amendments 
2002 7 52  amendments
2003 9 113 amendments
2004 9 106 amendments
2005 20 215 amendments
2006 32 392 amendments, 81 were for 1 city
2007 23 235 amendments, 70 were for 1 city

97

These figures would seem to indicate that cities–vol-
untarily or pushed by one or more citizens’ groups or the elec-
torate as a whole–are responding to a variety of demands for
changes in the charter.  This would include: (1) allowing the
city to respond to broader representation on the city council,
and at the same time, term limits on city councils; (2) keeping
the charter abreast of changes in state laws; and (3) stream-
lining administrative responsibility.

Charter amendments appear to be a constant at the
ballot each year.  For elections held beginning in 2000  and
through 2007, 112 cities reported a total of 1,227 proposed
amendments being placed on the ballot.  When asked regard-
ing the communities most recent charter amendments, the
breakdown was as follows:

The most discouraging note was probably the voter
turnout.  It was not unusual in those amendment elections for
only one or two percent of the registered voters to turn out.
That means that less than 1 percent of the entire population
are in some cases making amendments to the city charter.
Even when there were a large number of amendments, voter
turnout remained low.  In 2006, one city proposed 81 amend-
ments and only 14 percent of the registered voters partici-
pated, which was six percent of the total population approving
80 of the 81 proposed amendments. The following year, an-
other city proposed 70 amendments, this time only 11 per-
cent of the registered voters cast their vote in the election,
again this was 6 percent of the total population. The larger
cities typically report more interest and a higher turnout in
amendment elections.  

One amendment elections

It is interesting to note that, for elections held begin-
ning in 2000 and continuing through 2007, 20 cities pre-
sented only one amendment to their voters.  Several of the
seven cities had no choice because of unique circumstances,
but there are significant disadvantages to submitting one
amendment:  (1) whether one amendment or twenty pass, the
city cannot hold another charter amendment election for two
years; and (2) whether an election is held to consider one
amendment or twenty, the cost would be almost the same.

Summary

Decisions on charter amendment elections, like many
government decisions, evolve more from intuition and practice
than rules and law.  The historic infrequency (10-20 years
apart) of charter amendment elections is, however, a guide:
move slowly and cautiously to avoid future confusion and
costs.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

137



98

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

138



Editor’s Note:  This is the original “Afterword” from the 1994
version.  It still rings just as true today as it did then.  

Afterword

Before the days of copy machines and computers, the
new city manager of a city with 20,000 population was inter-
viewing the chief building inspector about the procedures
used in administering the zoning ordinance and the building,
plumbing, and electrical codes.  When the inspector showed
him his files, the manager was surprised to see originals of
letters to contractors and others rather than file copies.  He
asked if someone had failed to mail the originals and they got
back in the files by mistake.

“No,” was the reply, “we always mail the carbon copy
to the addressee and keep the original in our files.  That way
our files stay neat and clean.  Carbon copies mess up our
files.”  The manager made a note to check the legality of the
action and the effect on the recipients who might think receipt
of a carbon copy meant the city didn’t consider them very im-
portant.37 This incident assuredly later became a personnel
workshop example of overemphasis on processes rather than
goals!

This handbook is about structure and processes and
does not directly emphasize delivering quality services in an
efficient manner.  However, we strongly believe that city hall’s
services can be delivered more effectively and efficiently if we
take the time to make our structure and our processes as
clean and clear as possible.

The danger is in making structure and processes an
end rather than a means to an end.  A well-written, coherent
charter is not an end; it is a foundation on which to build an
effective organization equipped to master the challenges fac-
ing cities today.  Properly drawn, a charter is a legal guideline
comparable to a roadmap.  It is a continually available refer-
ence for principles and requirements to guide actions that
avoid policy “potholes.”  It can be brought forward every five
or six years and reviewed to see if any legal provisions need
updating.  In writing this handbook, we have tried to show the
charter as an instrument that should set forth clear instruc-
tions on organization, duties, responsibilities, and authority
in order that the maximum time and energy of city officials
can be expended in “results-oriented” activities.

Three conditions of the current status of cities stood
out for me as we researched and wrote this book.  The first:
Texas urban citizens have sharply divided opinions about the
effectiveness of their city officials.  The positive votes pre-
dominant in charter elections statewide and the reluctance to
“fire” city officials, evident in unsuccessful recall elections,

both reflect more confidence in city government than is shown
in the media.  Citizen participation is also at an all-time high.
On the other hand, low voter turnout, frequent defeat of in-
cumbents, and the increasing adoption of term limits for
elected officials reflect the national trend toward distrust of
government.

The second condition:  the council-manager plan is
the number one choice as a government form.  Only 13 per-
cent (Editor’s note: now down to nine percent) of the charters
call for mayor-council form of government.  If you subtract
from the number reflected in this percentage the cities utiliz-
ing an optional city manager for many years, there are less
than 25 charters operating under the mayor-council form of
government.   The council-manager plan has served the citi-
zens of Texas well.  Despite talk from time to time in some of
the larger cities of changing the form of government, there
doesn’t appear to be any real sentiment toward change.  A
charter revision commission in Austin recently showed ab-
solutely no interest in discussing the matter as a possible
charter amendment.  City councils apparently remain dedi-
cated to the fact that professional administration is a strong
plus for the city.

And the third condition:  Texas city charters are fairly
well-written, but some are sources of problems caused by a
weak original draft document.  Too many charters appear to
have been copied from neighboring cities without considering
whether the original was well written and stated correctly.
Charter commissions need advice from knowledgeable city ad-
ministrators and attorneys as well as other sources on special-
ized subjects.  Lack of knowledge or carelessness have
created documents with contradictions and confusing lan-
guage, leading to contradictory and confusing interpretations.

The observations above come from reading Texas city
charters and the survey data accumulated as part of this proj-
ect.  The content was a mix of initiative, innovation, borrowed
ideas, and local politics.  The presentation methods were a
mix of bound copies (plain or with color), age-yellowed
newsprint copies, stapled copies, and computer printouts with
pages not yet separated.  The charter language is as diverse
as the cities served.  Some retain the language of the days
when horses and buggies were downtown traffic.  Some ex-
pound endlessly on every possible legal problem that have
only a remote chance of surfacing from now until eternity.
Some are so succinct that not a single word is unnecessary.

Regardless of the diversity of language, the test of
charter quality is whether it establishes a sound legal and pro-
cedural structure that enables elected and appointed city of-
ficials to focus their total energy on the substantive problems
that plague their cities.

19 Afterword

99

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

139



Challenges facing cities today

The most pervasive problems in Texas cities today are
the problems of our complex society.  Their severity has esca-
lated partly because cities have traditionally focused their ef-
forts on basic services, such as fire and police, utilities, and
street maintenance, rather than personal human service prob-
lems.  Almost simultaneously with a tight economy, unparal-
leled population growth, and cutbacks in funding from state
and federal levels, cities are faced now with rising costs for
traditional services, and with crime, homelessness, and man-
dated environmental cleanup and control.  An increasing
alienation of citizens disappointed with official response to
problems produces the unrelenting pressure of bitter criti-
cism, expressed individually and through special interest
groups.

Sociological problems, particularly crime and drugs,
unemployment, and environmental pollution, know no bound-
aries.  They are not exclusive to large cities but have spread
into the small towns as well.

Cities need the best in elected and appointed leader-
ship to meet and overcome their challenges.  Every city needs
strong mayors (in both forms of government), dedicated city
councilmembers and committed city managers today and for
the future.  We need leaders who can motivate broad partici-
pation, build teamwork, assess and redefine programs and
services, develop strategies to link programs and services to
citizens, evaluate and utilize community resources, explore
new ways to generate revenue, encourage collaboration with
other governmental agencies and in the private and nonprofit
sectors, promote fiscal responsibility to pay now rather than
later, and restore the community-wide view to counterbalance
special interest influence.

A widely held perception of citizens today is that they
are not represented in government, according to William Grei-
der, author of  Who Will Tell The People? He says citizens are
alienated from government by their inability to find a place
where they can make their voice heard and by their conviction
that the language of the system, understood by experts but
not ordinary people, also shuts them out.  It is imperative, he
says, for governing officials to invent new ways to get people
back in touch with government.38

A review of contemporary comments by experts on
city problems today reveals a serious underlying weakness that
impedes problem solving–the lack of a sense of common
bonds and goals that unite the governing and the governed.
It is not a new problem.  On the contrary, it is as old as the
art of governing; and many voices from the past bequeathed
words of guidance.

For governing officials, the advice is embodied in the
oath taken more than a thousand years ago by ancient Greeks
whose culture rested on the political organization of the city-
state:

WE WILL EVER STRIVE FOR
IDEALS AND SACRED THINGS OF
THE CITY, BOTH ALONE AND WITH
MANY:  WE WILL UNCEASINGLY
SEEK TO QUICKEN THE SENSE OF
PUBLIC DUTY; WE WILL REVERE
AND OBEY THE CITY’S LAWS:  WE
WILL TRANSMIT THIS CITY NOT
ONLY NOT LESS, BUT GREATER,
BETTER, AND MORE BEAUTIFUL
THAN IT WAS TRANSMITTED TO US.

For the governed, the advice is embodied in the words
spoken more than three hundred years ago by John Winthrop,
the first governor of Massachusetts Bay Colony:  “We must
delight in each other, make others’ conditions our own, rejoice
together, mourn together, labor and suffer together, always
having before our eyes our community as members of the
same body.”39

When Texas city officials and citizens restore their
sense of union and commitment, they can build communities
in which mutual respect will supersede charter provisions,
laws, and the courts as the first consideration for policy and
administrative decisions.

Texas Home Rule Charters

100

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

140



1   Concept and history of local
Self-government

1.  Charles S. Rhyne, The Law of Local Government Operations, p. 1

2.  John P. Keith, City and County Home Rule in Texas, p. 9.

3.  City of Clinton v. Cedar Rapids and Missouri River Railroad Co., 24 Iowa 455, 475 (1868).

4.  Atkin v. Kansas and Trenton v. New Jersey, 191 U.S. 207, 220-221 (1903); 262 U.S. 182, 185-187 (1923).

5.  Dick Smith, “The Development of Local Government Units in Texas,” unpublished doctor’s dissertation, p. 105.

6.  H.P.N. Gammel, ed., Laws of Texas, 1822-1897, as quoted by Smith, p. 110.

7.   Ibid, p. 114.

8.  Acts 1874, 14th leg., p. 140, ch. 100; 8 Gammel’s Laws 142, as quoted in Trueman O’Quinn, Title 28:  Cities, Towns,
and Villages, History, Status, and Function, Revised Civil Statutes of Texas, 1963.

9.   Keith, op. cit., p. 24.

10.  Delbert A. Taebel, A Citizen’s Guide to Home-Rule Charters in Texas, p. 1.

11.  Keith, op. cit., p. 29-44.

12.  George D. Braden, The Constitution of the State of Texas: An Annotated and Com-parative Analysis, p. 688.

13.  Ibid., p. 688.

14.  Bureau of Municipal Research.  Units of Local Government in Texas, p. 33.

15.  Wilfred D. Webb, Municipal Home Rule Charters in Texas, p. 8.

16.  Smith, op. cit., p. 148.

17.  State v. Vincent, 235 S.W. 1084 (Tex. 1920).

2   Advantages of home rule status

18.  This chapter is lifted almost verbatim from a publication of the Texas Municipal League:  They are: Handbook for Mayors
and Councilmembers, September, 2009.

19.  Forwood v. City of Taylor, 214 S.W. 2d 282 (1948).

20.  Urban Policy Group, the White House (Washington, D.C.: 1978) Unpublished.

5   General design and format of charter

21.  Taebel, op. cit. p. 29.

Notes

101

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

141



6   Form of government

22.  Chang, Tso Shuen, History and Analysis of the Commission and City Manager Plans of Municipal Government in the
United States, n.d.

7   Powers of city

23.  Much of the material in this chapter is taken directly from The Handbook for Mayors and Councilmembers: Home
Rule Cities, Texas Municipal League.

8   The mayor

24.  Peirce, Neal, Citistates, p. 325.

25.  Tari Renner and Victor S. DeSantis, “Contemporary Patterns and Trends in Municipal Government Structure, The Mu-
nicipal Year Book, 1993, p. 57-69. See also, Taebel, op. cit., Section 5.

26.   For a fuller discussion of the role of the mayor in both forms of government, see James H. Svara, Official Leadership
in the City: Patterns of Conflict and Cooperation.

9   The city council

27.  Delbert A. Taebel, “Alternative Reme-dies Under the Voting Rights Act,” Public Affairs Comment, p. 5.

28.  School of Social Sciences, The University of Texas at Dallas, “City of Dallas, Citizens Charter Review Committee: De-
cision Guide,” unpaged, 1989.

29.  Stone v. City of Wichita Falls, 477 F. Supp. 581 (D.C. 1979); aff’d 646 F 2d 1085; cert. den’d 102 S. Ct. 637.

13   Departments, offices, agencies and boards

30.  Herman James, A Model Civil Service Code for Texas Cities. 

31.  Gammel’s Laws, Vol. II, p. 94-99.

32.  Ibid. Vol. V, p. 1527-1570.

33.  Revised Civil Statutes, Articles 4430-4431.

Notes

102

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

142



15   Initiative, referendum and recall

34.  For a discussion of the entire initiative, referendum and recall movement, including its historical beginnings, see
Thomas E. Cronin, Direct Democracy: The Politics of Initiative, Referendum, and Recall. 

35.  Ibid. p. 42.

36.  Clinton Rogers Woodruff, ed., City Government by Commission, p. 314. Although this book is primarily about the rise
of the commission form of government in the United States between 1901 and 1911, it addresses the subject of IR&R in
a substantial way as it argues that the three mechanisms were used in local government in the commission form of govern-
ment as one way of assuring the citizenry that the small elected commission could be held accountable to the voters.

19   Afterword

37.  LeRoy F. Harlow, Without Fear or Favor, p. 212.

38.  See William Greider, Who Will Tell the People. 

39.  John Winthrop, “A Model of Christian Charity,” Puritan Political Ideas, 1558-1794, p. 92.

Notes

103

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

143



APPENDIX A

Texas Municipal League home rule charter survey

City: ___________________________________________________________________________ Date: _______________________________

Completed by: __________________________________________ E-mail: ______________________________________________________

Title: __________________________________________________ Phone: ______________________________________________________

Note: Unless otherwise indicated, the answers below should be based on current charter provisions.  Please enter all of the information
below even if some of it may be spelled out in your charter.  If you have questions regarding this survey, please contact Scott Hous-
ton with the TML legal department at (512) 231-7400.

Form of Government
a) Council-Manager b) Mayor-Council c) Commission d) Other

Mayor
Is mayor member of gov. body? a) Yes b) No
Selection of mayor a) Elected b) By council c) Other

Authority of Mayor
Appoints boards and commissions a) Yes b) No
—w/approval of council a) Yes b) No
Regular vote a) Yes b) No
Vote only in tie a) Yes b) No
No vote a) Yes b) No
Enumerated ceremonial duties a) Yes b) No
Martial law a) Yes b) No
Enumerated emergency powers a) Yes b) No
Appoint CAO a) Yes b) No
Appoint department heads a) Yes b) No
— w/approval of council a) Yes b) No
Prepare budget a) Yes b) No
Mayor veto a) Yes b) No

Council
Total on council ______
Number of members for regular meeting quorum ______
Number of members for special meeting quorum ______
Number of votes for council to take action on ordinary matters

a) Majority of those presentb) Majority of quorum c) Majority of total council
Residency length requirement a) Yes b) No
If yes to previous question a) 6 mo b) 1 yr c) 2 yrs d) Other e) Not specific
Reside in district a) Yes b) No
Owner of property a) Yes b) No
Minimum age ______
Registered/qualified voter a) Yes b) No
Barred if tax delinquent a) Yes b) No
Other qualifications a) Yes b) No
Missed meetings vacancy a) Yes b) No
Council votes to impeach a) Yes ____# b) No
Council votes to override mayoral veto a) Yes ____# b) No

Appendix A

104

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

144



Elections
In some cities, a federal court or the U.S. Department of Justice has mandated a new way of electing city council members, BUT the
charter has not been changed to reflect this new method.  If your city council is NOT elected the way your charter currently reads, please
check here __________.
Uniform election date to hold regular city election a) May b) November c) Other
Filling one vacancy a) Appointment b) Election c) Either
Filling two vacancies a) Appointment b) Election c) Either
Term limit applies a) council and mayor b) Separately c) n/a
Terms staggered a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Elections by a) Majority b) Plurality
Name on ballot a) Fill out form b) Petition c) Other
If petition, number of names _________
Fee for name on ballot a) Yes $________ b) No

Election Turnout
Date of most recent mayor/city council election ___________ (MM/DD/YY)
Contested? a) Yes b) No 
If yes, number voting in election ______________
Total registered at time of election ______________
Population at time of election ______________
Date of next most recent mayor/city council election ___________ (MM/DD/YY)
Contested? a) Yes b) No 
If yes, number voting in election ______________
Total registered at time of election ______________
Population at time of election ______________

Council Meetings
Required a) Weekly b) Twice/mo c) Once/mo d) Not specific
Actual a) Weekly b) Twice/mo c) Once/mo d) Not specific
Mayor Term a) 1 yr b) 2 yrs c) 3 yrs d) 4 yrs
Council Term a) 1 yr b) 2 yrs c) 3 yrs d) 4 yrs
Term limits a) Two    b) Three    c) Four   d) Four+     e)  n/a

Mayor Salary
Salary a) Yes b) No
$ _________ Per: a) Mtg     b) Wk     c) Mo     d) Yr     e) Other
Salary set by Council a) Yes b) No
Expenses: a) Yes b) No
$ ______ Per: a) Mtg    b) Wk     c) Mo     d) Yr     e) Other
Expenses set by council a) Yes b) No

Mayor Pro Tem Salary
Salary a) Yes b) No
$ _________ Per: a) Mtg     b) Wk     c) Mo    d) Yr    e) Other
Salary set by Council a) Yes b) No
Expenses a) Yes b) No
$ ______ Per: a) Mtg     b) Wk     c) Mo    d) Yr     e) Other
Expenses set by council a) Yes b) No

Council Salary
Salary a) Yes b) No
$ _________ Per: a) Mtg    b) Wk     c) Mo     d) Yr     e) Other
Salary set by Council a) Yes b) No
Expenses a) Yes b) No
$ ______ Per: a) Mtg    b) Wk     c) Mo     d) Yr     e) Other
Expenses set by council a) Yes b) No

Texas Home Rule Charters

105

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

145



City Manager
City manager established by charter a) Yes b) No
City manager established by ordinance a) Yes b) No

*If yes, please enclose a copy of the ordinance.
Former member of CC not eligible for a) 1 yr b) 2 yrs c) n/a
Manager participates in CC mtgs a) Yes b) No
Vote required to hire manager a) Majority b) Majority of CC     c) Other
Hearing provided to discharge manager a) Yes b) No
Council prohibited from interference

in personnel matters a) Yes b) No c) n/a
All department head appointments

require confirmation by council a) Yes b) No
If not all dept heads, which of the following require confirmation?

Finance Director a) Yes b) No
Police Chief a) Yes b) No
Other ____________ a) Yes b) No

Vote required to discharge manager a) Majority b) Maj of CC c) Other

City Clerk/Secretary
Title a) City Clerk b) City Secretary
Appointed by a) Manager b) Mgr w/CC approval c) Council

d) CC on rec of Mgr e) Mayor f) Mayor on rec of mgr
g) Mayor w/CC approval

Term a) 1 yr b) 2 yrs c) 3 yrs
d) 4 yrs e) Pleasure of CC f) Other g) n/a

City Attorney
Appointed by a) Manager b) Mgr w/CC approval c) Council

d) CC on rec of Mgr e) Mayor f) Mayor on rec of mgr
g) Mayor w/CC approval

Municipal Judge
Appointed by a) Manager b) Mgr w/CC approval c) Council

d) CC on rec of Mgr e) Mayor f) Mayor on rec of mgr
g) Mayor w/CC approval h) Elected

Term a) 1 yr b) 2 yrs c) 3 yrs
d) 4 yrs e) Pleasure of CC f) Other g) n/a

Municipal Court Clerk
Appointed by a) Manager b) Mgr w/CC approval c) Council

d) CC on rec of Mgr e) Mayor f) Mayor on rec of mgr
g) Mayor w/CC approval

Term a) 1 yr b) 2 yrs c) 3 yrs
d) 4 yrs e) Pleasure of CC f) Other g) n/a

Financial Administration
Outside audit required a) Yes b) No
Fiscal year begins (month) 1 2 3 4 5 6

7 8 9 10 11 12
FY may be changed by ordinance a) Yes b) No
Borrowing auth in anticipation of revenue a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Limits set on sale of real property a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Limits set on sale of personal property a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Vote required for adoption of budget a) Simple Majorityb) Maj of CC

Appendix A

106

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

146



If no vote by EOFY a) Mgr/Mayor’s budget effective b) Continuation of last yr
c) No provision     d) Other

Detailed budget requirements a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Revenues must equal expenditures a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Transfer of appropriations a) Mgr btwn depts b) w/approval of CC c) Council
Capital budget or program a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Vote required to set tax rate a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Vote required to submit bond election a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Purchase limit before CC must act $_________________
Purchase limit before written bids required $_________________
Charter maximum tax rate: a) Yes b) No c) n/a
If, yes: Operating $________ Debt Service $________ Total $________

Initiative, referendum, recall
Charter provides for initiative a) Yes b) No c) n/a
If yes, _________% of a) Registered b) Last vote c) Minimum names _______
If yes, how many times during the past five years has this provision been used by the citizenry and what were the results:

Year Subject Resulting Action
_______ _____________________ ______________________________
_______ _____________________ ______________________________
_______ _____________________ ______________________________
_______ _____________________ ______________________________
_______ _____________________ ______________________________

Charter provides for referendum a) Yes b) No c) n/a
If yes, _________% of a) Registered b) Last vote c) Minimum names _______
If yes, how many times during the past five years has this provision been used by the citizenry and what were the results:

Year Subject Resulting Action
_______ _____________________ ______________________________
_______ _____________________ ______________________________
_______ _____________________ ______________________________
_______ _____________________ ______________________________
_______ _____________________ ______________________________

Voluntary referendum a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Charter provides for recall a) Yes b) No c) n/a
If yes, _________% of a) Registered b) Last vote c) Minimum names _______
If yes, how many times during the past five years has this provision been used by the citizenry and what were the results:

Year Position (Mayor/Councilmember) Result
_______ _____________________ ______________________________
_______ _____________________ ______________________________
_______ _____________________ ______________________________
_______ _____________________ ______________________________
_______ _____________________ ______________________________

Limits on recall a) Yes b) No c) n/a
If yes, not before 6 months a) Yes b) No c) n/a
If yes, after unsuccessful election a) Yes b) No c) n/a
If yes, before election a) Yes b) No c) n/a

Charter and Amendments
Year of adoption of first charter ___________
Year of latest amendment ___________
Charter revision commission required every

a) 5 yrs b) 10 yrs     c) 15 yrs     d) Other     e) State Law     f) Not addressed
Charter revision commission presently underway? a) Yes b) No

Texas Home Rule Charters

107

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

147



Charter revision commission presently contemplated? a) Yes b) No
If so, what is expected date of charter election ___________ (MM/YY)

Charter Amendment Election Voter Turnout
Date of most recent charter amendment election ___________ (MM/DD/YY)
Number voting in election ______________
Total registered at time of election ______________
Population at time of election ______________
Number of propositions on ballot ______________

Departments established by charter
Finance a) Authorized b) Mandated
Personnel a) Authorized b) Mandated
Legal a) Authorized b) Mandated
Planning a) Authorized b) Mandated
Police a) Authorized b) Mandated
Fire a) Authorized b) Mandated
Recreation a) Authorized b) Mandated
Park and Recreation a) Authorized b) Mandated
Library a) Authorized b) Mandated
Health a) Authorized b) Mandated
Health Officer a) Authorized b) Mandated
Aviation a) Authorized b) Mandated
Hospital a) Authorized b) Mandated
Other_______________ a) Authorized b) Mandated

Boards established by charter
Board Name Authorized Mandated
___________ Y / N Y / N
___________ Y / N Y / N
___________ Y / N Y / N
___________ Y / N Y / N
___________ Y / N Y / N
___________ Y / N Y / N
___________ Y / N Y / N
___________ Y / N Y / N
___________ Y / N Y / N
___________ Y / N Y / N
___________ Y / N Y / N
___________ Y / N Y / N

Personnel/Officers
Charter establishes civil service a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Charter establishes CS commission a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Charter establishes merit system a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Personnel department a) Authorized b) Required
Personnel rules a) Authorized b) Required
Own retirement system a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Authorized to participate 

in retirement/pension system a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Political activity prohibited a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Acceptance of gifts prohibited a) Yes b) No c) n/a

Appendix A

108

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

148



Nepotism prohibited a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Personal interest in contracts prohibited a) Yes b) No c) n/a

Miscellaneous
Vote required to grant franchise a) Majority b) Maj of CC
Gross receipts a) 1% b) 2% c) 3% d) 4% e) Not specified
Franchise subject to referendum a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Maximum franchise (yrs) specified a) 10 b) 15 c) 20 d) 25 e) 30 f) Not
Council required to adopt comp plan a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Redistricting commission established a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Eminent domain restrictions a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Revenue cap a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Annexation authorized a) Yes b) No c) n/a
Disannexation authorized a) Yes b) No c) n/a

Texas Home Rule Charters

109

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

149



APPENDIX B 

Texas Constitution
Article XI, Section 5

Home Rule Adoption and Amendments To Charter

Sec.5.CITIES OF MORE THAN 5,000 POPULATION; ADOPTION OR AMENDMENT OF CHARTERS; TAXES; DEBT RESTRICTIONS. 

Cities having more than five thousand (5000) inhabitants may, by a majority vote of the qualified voters of said city, at an election held for
that purpose, adopt or amend their charters.  If the number of inhabitants of cities that have adopted or amended their charters under this
section is reduced to five thousand (5000) or fewer, the cities still may amend their charters by a majority vote of the qualified voters of
said city at an election held for that purpose. The adoption or amendment of charters is subject to such limitations as may be prescribed
by the Legislature, and no charter or any ordinance passed under said charter shall contain any provision inconsistent with the Constitution
of the State, or of the general laws enacted by the Legislature of this State. Said cities may levy, assess and collect such taxes as may be
authorized by law or by their charters; but no tax for any purpose shall ever be lawful for any one year, which shall exceed two and one-half
percent of the taxable property of such city, and no debt shall ever be created by any city, unless at the same time provision be made to
assess and collect annually a sufficient sum to pay the interest thereon and creating a sinking fund of at least two per cent thereon. Fur-
thermore, no city charter shall be altered, amended or repealed oftener than every two years.

Amended Aug. 3, 1909, Nov. 5, 1912, and Nov. 5, 1991.

APPENDIX C

Listing of Home Rule Charters in Texas

Displayed on the following pages are the key historical dates for each of the 351 home rule city governments in Texas.  This table
begins with the first special congressional acts of incorporation (charter) by the Republic of Texas granted on June 5, 1837, to Houston,
Nacogdoches, and 16 other communities (now either nonexistent or general law cities). 

Seventy-six current home rule cities began existence by passage of a special law, either by the Congress of the Republic of Texas,
or the state legislature beginning in 1845.  Until about the turn of the century, these acts all began: “An Act Incorporating the city of
________.” However, these laws from the very beginning in 1837 were a form of charter for the community.  The first act “to sue and be
sued,” “to hold and dispose of property,” and to form a city government by the election of a mayor and eight aldermen who were authorized
to levy taxes, enact ordinances for the preservation of order, and establish schools.  We reviewed each of the “special legislative charters”
which followed and all of them contained the same general language as above.  We have therefore in this table chosen to use these earliest
dates as dates of their first charter.  Other than three cases in which the citation is either missing or incomplete, the dates shown below in
the second column are the effective dates of the acts shown.  Appreciation is expressed to the staff of the Archives Division of the Texas
State Library for their assistance in locating these documents.

Dates in the other three columns were obtained primarily from city charters and city records, but a portion of these dates also were
obtained from Secretary of State records, now housed in the State Library.

Cities with footnote 1 by the date of their charter have changed the method of election and/or composition of their governing body
from the way their current charter reads but have not incorporated such change in the charter yet.  These changes have been made in each
city as the result of an agreed settlement with an individual or organization or a federal court mandating such change.

Footnotes 2, 3, and 4 are found only in the second column “Date of First Special Legislative Charter.” They are the result of one
day, March 20, 1911, in the Texas Legislature when that body approved five special legislative charters, four to be effective only on accept-
ance by the local voters and the fifth effective without a vote of the local citizens.

Cities with footnote 2 were authorized a special legislative charter, subject to a vote of their citizenry, and such charter was accepted
by citizens in the two cities in elections held on the date shown.

Cities with footnote 3 were authorized a special legislative charter, subject to acceptance by their electorate, and the charter in
question was rejected by the local electorate, thus no date for such proposed charter is shown.

One City, Terrell, footnote 4, was granted a special legislative charter on the same date (March 20, 1911) as the other four cities,
but no referendum of the citizens of Terrell was provided in this case.

Appendix B, C

110

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

150



Home Rule Charters in Texas

Home Rule Charters in Texas5

111

 

 

 

 

 

Abilene 1911
2 

1962 same 2006 

Addison ----- 1978 same 1993 

Alamo                ----- 1979 same 1992 

Alamo Heights  ----- 1954 same 2007 

Alice ----- 1949 same 1999 

Allen ----- 1979 same 2007 

Alpine ----- 1993 same 1995 

Alton ---- 1992 same none  

Alvin ----- 1963 same 2002 

Amarillo 1909 1913 same 2000 

Andrews ----- 1959 same 1994 

Angleton ----- 1967 same 1991 

Anna ---- 2005 same none  

Anson                ----- 1920 same 2006 

Aransas Pass ----- 1951 same 2006 

Arlington ----- 1920 same 2005 

Athens 1856 1960 1966 1977 

Atlanta ----- 1968 same 2005 

Austin 1839 1924 1953 1998 

Azle ----- 1971 same 1990 

Balch Springs ----- 1990 same 2006 

Ballinger ----- 1963 same 2005 

Bastrop  ---- 2002 same none  

Bay City            ----- 1989 same 1996 

Baytown ----- 1948
1 

same 2002 

Beaumont 1838 1919 1947 2003 

Bedford ----- 1966 same 2008 

Beeville ----- 1951 same 1978 

Bellaire ----- 1949 same 2006 

Bellmead ----- 1955
1 

same 1961 

Belton 1852 1914 1951 2005 

Benbrook ----- 1983 same 1998 

Big Spring ----- 1926 same 1995 

Boerne ---- 1995 same none  

Bonham 1848 1947 same 2006 

City Date of First
Special 

Legislature
Charter

Date of First
Home Rule

Charter

Date of 
Current
Charter

Date of Last
Charter

Amendment

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

151



 

 

 

 

 

 

    

Borger ----- 1927 1930 1998 

Bowie              ----- 1984 same 2000 

Brady ----- 1982 same 2003 

Breckenridge ----- 1954 same 1988 

Brenham 1866 1920 same 1995 

Bridge City ----- 1974 same 2002 

Brownfield ----- 1954
1 

same 2000 

Brownsville 1850 1915 same 2001 

Brownwood ---- 1916 same 1996 

Bryan ----- 1917 1941 2006 

Buda  ---- 2007 same none  

Burkburnett ----- 1923 same 2002 

Burleson ----- 1969 same 1998 

Burnet ---- 2000 same 2006 

Cameron              1856 1956 same 2007 

Canyon ----- 1959 same 1990 

Carrizo Springs ----- 1959 same 1989 

Carrollton ----- 1961 same 2004 

Carthage 1852 1948 same 1986 

Cedar Hill            ----- 1975 same 2000 

Cedar Park ----- 1987 same none 

Celina ---- 2007 same none  

Center ----- 1984 same none 

Childress              ----- 1917 same 1988 

Cibolo  ---- 2004 same none  

Cisco ----- 1919 1974 none 

Cleburne 1871 1914 1950 1986 

Cleveland ----- 1981 same 1993 

Clute ----- 1957 same 2001 

Coleman ----- 1950 same 2002 

College Station ----- 1952 same 2004 

Colleyville ----- 1977 same 2005 

Colorado City ----- 1948
1 

same 1988 

Commerce ----- 1954 same 1995 

Conroe                  ----- 1965 same 1999 

Converse ----- 1991 same 2007 

Coppell ----- 1986 same 2006 

Copperas Cove ----- 1979 same 2005 

Home Rule Charters in Texas

112

City Date of First
Special 

Legislature
Charter

Date of First
Home Rule

Charter

Date of 
Current
Charter

Date of Last
Charter

Amendment

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

152



Home Rule Charters in Texas

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

Corinth  ---- 1999 same none  

Corpus Christi 1846 1926 same 2006 

Corsicana 1854 1917 same 1997 

Crockett 1837 1964 same 1996 

Crowley  ---- 1999 same 2001 

Crystal City ----- 1958 same 1983 

Cuero 1873 1944 1969 2001 

Daingerfield 1851 1980 same 1989 

Dalhart ----- 1960 same 1979 

Dallas  1856 1914 same 1997 

Dayton ----- 1976 same 1992 

De Leon  ----- 1919 same 1992 

Decatur ---- 2002 same 2003 

Deer Park ----- 1960 same 1981 

Del Rio ----- 1918 1967 2008 

Denison 1873 1956 1975 1985 

Denton 1866 1914 1959 2006 

Denver City ----- 1985 same 1988 

DeSoto  ---- 1949 same 2007 

Diboll ---- 1962 same 2009 

Dickinson ----- 1987 same 2001 

Dimmitt ----- 1990 same none 

Donna ----- 1957 same 1994 

Dumas ----- 1955 same 1993 

Duncanville ----- 1962 same 2002 

Eagle Pass ----- 1918 1964 2007 

Eastland ----- 1919 same 1998 

Edinburg ----- 1928 1949 1996 

Edna ----- 1966 same 1884 

El Campo ----- 1954 same 2007 

El Paso                 1873 1984 same 2004 

Electra                 ----- 1917 same 1988 

Elgin 05-31-1873 1985 same 1993 

Elsa ----- 1981 same none 

Ennis ----- 1913 same 1997 

Euless ----- 1962 same 1995 

Everman ----- 1986 same 2004 

Fairview  ---- 2006 same none  

113

City Date of First
Special 

Legislature
Charter

Date of First
Home Rule

Charter

Date of 
Current
Charter

Date of Last
Charter

Amendment

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

153



Home Rule Charters in Texas

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

Farmers Branch ----- 1956 same 1999 

Fate ---- 2001 same none  

Floresville  ---- 2004 same none  

Flower Mound ----- 1981 same 2007 

Forest Hill ----- 1976 same 2007 

Forney  ---- 1997 same none  

Fort Worth 1873 1924 same 2006 

Fredericksburg ----- 1991 same none 

Freeport ----- 1949 1960 2004 

Friendswood ----- 1971 same 2007 

Frisco ----- 1987 same 2002 

Gainesville 1873 1994 same 1996 

Galena Park          ----- 1946 same 1979 

Galveston 1839 1960 same 1998 

Garland ----- 1951 same 1994 

Gatesville ----- 1966 same 1994 

George West ----- 1980 same 1992 

Georgetown 1866 1970 1986 2003 

Giddings 1873 1982 same 1984 

Gilmer ---- 1996 same 2007 

Gladewater 1874 1955 same 1985 

Glenn Heights ----- 1987 same none 

Gonzales 1837 1957 same 2001 

Gorman                ----- 1920 same 1960 

Graham ----- 1920 same 1991 

Granbury ----- 1989 same 2006 

Grand Prairie ---- 1948 same  1987 

Granite Shoals  ---- 2005 same 2008 

Grapevine  ---- 1965  same 1992 

Greenville 1852 1953 same 2005 

Groves ----- 1953 same 2000 

Gun Barrell City  ---- 1996 same 2008 

Haltom City ----- 1955 same 2003 

Harker Heights ----- 1971 same 1991 

Harlingen ----- 1927 same 1987 

Hearne 1871 1964 same none 

Heath ---- 2002 same none  

Henderson 1845 1947 same 1985 

114

City Date of First
Special 

Legislature
Charter

Date of First
Home Rule

Charter

Date of 
Current
Charter

Date of Last
Charter

Amendment

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

154



Home Rule Charters in Texas

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

Hereford ----- 1952
1 

same 1979 

Hewitt ----- 1982 same none 

Hidalgo ---- 1994 same none  

Highland Park ----- 1975 same 2000 

Highland Village ----- 1986 same 2006 

Hillsboro 1866 1948 1981 none 

Hitchcock             ----- 1960 same 1975 

Hondo ---- 2007 same none 

Horizon City ---- 1997 same none  

Horseshoe Bay  2009  same none  

Houston                1837 1913 same 2001 

Humble ----- 1970 same 2000 

Huntsville 1845 1968 same 2004 

Hurst ----- 1956 same 2005 

Hutto  ---- 2004 same 2006 

Ingleside ----- 1979 same none 

Iowa Park  ---- 2008 same none  

Irving ----- 1952 same 2005 

Jacinto City ----- 1981 same 1987 

Jacksonville 1873 1931 same 2001 

Jasper 1838 1964 same 1991 

Jersey Village ----- 1986 same 1993 

Joshua ---- 1998 same none  

Katy                      ----- 1981 same 2000 

Kaufman 1866 1987 same 2003 

Keene ---- 1999 same none  

Keller ----- 1982 same 1995 

Kennedale ---- 1998 same  none  

Kermit ----- 1989 same none 

Kerrville ----- 1942 same 2008 

Kilgore ----- 1960 same 2006 

Killeen ----- 1949 same 2005 

Kingsville ----- 1916 same 1994 

Kirby ----- 1988 same 2000 

Kyle  ---- 2000 same none  

La Feria ---- 1989 same none  

La Grange 1837 1983 same 2001 

La Marque ----- 1957
1 

same 2004 

115

City Date of First
Special 

Legislature
Charter

Date of First
Home Rule

Charter

Date of 
Current
Charter

Date of Last
Charter

Amendment

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

155



Home Rule Charters in Texas

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

La Porte ----- 1949 1980 1990 

Lacy Lakeview ---- 1998 same none  

Lago Vista  ---- 2004 same none  

Lake Dallas  ---- 1998 same 2005 

Lake Jackson ----- 1954 same 2006 

Lake Worth          ----- 1965 same 2002 

Lakeway ----- 1990 same 2006 

Lamesa ----- 1945 same 2007 

Lampasas  ---- 1986 same none 

Lancaster ----- 1956 same 2006 

Laredo 1848 1981 same 2006 

League City          ----- 1962 same 1998 

Leander ---- 1998 same none  

Levelland ----- 1949 same 1992 

Lewisville ----- 1963 same 2001 

Liberty 1837 1958 same 2006 

Little Elm ---- 2002 same none  

Littlefield ----- 1959 same 1995 

Live Oak ----- 1976 same 2006 

Lockhart 1852 1973 same 2007 

Longview 1871 1923 1978 2001 

Los Fresno  ---- 2007 same none  

Lubbock ----- 1917 same 2004 

Lucas ---- 2008 same none  

Lufkin ----- 1919 1966 1994 

Luling ----- 1977 same 1996 

Lumberton  ---- 1999 same none  

Manor  2007 same none 

Mansfield ----- 1975 same 1988 

Marble Falls ----- 1986 same 2002 

Marlin                  1866 1977 same 1993 

Marshall 1844 1913 same 1962 

Mathis ---- 2000 same none  

McAllen               ----- 1927 same 2007 

McGregor ----- 1979 same 1989 

McKinney 1854 1913 1959 1988 

Mercedes ----- 1971 same 2001 

Mesquite              ----- 1953 same 1987 

116

City Date of First
Special 

Legislature
Charter

Date of First
Home Rule

Charter

Date of 
Current
Charter

Date of Last
Charter

Amendment

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

156



Home Rule Charters in Texas

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

Mexia 1873 1924 same 1999 

Midland                ----- 1940
1 

same 1996 

Midlothian ----- 1980 same none 

Mineral Wells  1980 1966 1991 

Mission ----- 1928 1961 1987 

Missouri City ----- 1974 same 1999 

Monahans ----- 1954 same 1991 

Mt. Pleasant 1848 1948 same 2002 

Muleshoe ----- 1960 same 1979 

Murphy  ---- 2004 same 2004 

Nacogdoches        1837 1929
1 

same 2004 

Nassau Bay ----- 1973 same 1994 

Navasota 1866 1922 1947 1984 

Nederland ----- 1955 same 2001 

New Braunfels 1846 1944 1966 2005 

North Richland Hills ----- 1964 same 2002 

Odessa ----- 1945 same 2002 

Olney ----- 1979 same 1990 

Orange 1856 1914 1960 2005 

Palacios ---- 2004 same 2004 

Palestine ---- 1917 1983 none  

Pampa ----- 1927 same 1982 

Paris 1845 1948
1 

same 2007 

Pasadena              ----- 1943 1964 1992 

Pearland ----- 1971 same 2006 

Pearsall ----- 1994 same none 

Pecos City ----- 1985 same 1989 

Pflugerville ----- 1993 same 2006 

Pharr ----- 1949 same 1989 

Pittsburg  2009  same  none  

Plainview ----- 1920 same 1997 

Plano 1873 1961 same 2005 

Pleasanton ----- 1982 same 1995 

Port Aransas ----- 1978 same 1991 

Port Arthur 1911
2 

1932 1963 1992 

Port Isabel ----- 1984 same none 

Port Lavaca ----- 1956
1 

same 1972 

Port Neches ----- 1955 1967 1983 

117

City Date of First
Special 

Legislature
Charter

Date of First
Home Rule

Charter

Date of 
Current
Charter

Date of Last
Charter

Amendment

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

157



Home Rule Charters in Texas

118

City Date of First
Special 

Legislature
Charter

Date of First
Home Rule

Charter

Date of 
Current
Charter

Date of Last
Charter

Amendment

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

158



Home Rule Charters in Texas

119

City Date of First
Special 

Legislature
Charter

Date of First
Home Rule

Charter

Date of 
Current
Charter

Date of Last
Charter

Amendment

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

Sherman 1873 1915 1973 2007 

Silsbee ----- 1956 same 1987 

Sinton ----- 1966 same 2005 

Slaton                   ----- 1929 same 1994 

Snyder ----- 1952 same 1989 

Socorro ---- 2001 same none  

Southlake ----- 1987 same 2007 

Stafford ---- 2004 same none  

Stamford ----- 1918
1 

same 1955 

Stephenville         ----- 1961 same 2001 

Sugar Land ----- 1981 same 2004 

Sulphur Springs 1852 1947 same 1983 

Sweeny ---- 2000 same none  

Sweetwater ----- 1913 1947 1983 

Taylor -----
3 

1914
1 

same 2001 

Temple 1907 1922 1953 2000 

Terrell 1911
4 

1973 same 2004 

Terrell Hills ----- 1957 same 1996 

Texarkana 1907 1960 same 1983 

Texas City            ----- 1946 same 1952 

The Colony ----- 1979 same 1987 

Tomball ----- 1987 same 1995 

Trophy Club ---- 2004 same none  

Tulia ----- 1972
1 

same none 

Tyler 1850 1915 1937 1990 

Universal City ----- 1972 same 1989 

University Park ----- 1989 same 2006 

Uvalde                  ----- 1934 same 1999 

Vernon ----- 1916 same 1999 

Victoria 1840 1915 1956 1994 

Vidor ----- 1969 same 1998 

Waco 1856 1913 1958 2005 

Wake Village ---- 2001 same none  

Watauga ----- 1980 same 2007 

Waxahachie 1871 1916 1971 1975 

Weatherford 1858 1918 same 1983 

Webster ----- 1994 same 2005 

Weslaco                ----- 1927 same 1994 

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

159



Texas Home Rule Charters

120

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

West Orange        ----- 1956 same 2005 

West University   Pl.  ----- 1940 1983 2007 

Wharton 1866 1970 same 2003 

White Oak            ----- 1994 same none 

White Settlement ----- 1954 same 2005 

Whitehouse  ---- 1996 same 2006 

Wichita Falls ----- 1913 1920 2006 

Willis ---- 2008 same none  

Windcrest ---- 2007 same none  

Woodway ----- 1973 same 1994 

Wylie ----- 1985 same 1998 

Yoakum ----- 1915 1988 none 
5
 Sources: 

Hans Peter Neilson Gammel, compiler, Laws of Texas, 1822-1897. Ann Arbor, MI: University Microfilms. 

Session Laws, Legislature of the State of Texas. 

Records, Office of the Secretary of State, Texas. 

Charters, Secretary of State’s Record Group (RG 307), Archives Division, Texas State Library. 

Records, Offices of City Secretaries/Clerks, home rule cities, Texas. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City Date of First
Special 

Legislature
Charter

Date of First
Home Rule

Charter

Date of 
Current
Charter

Date of Last
Charter

Amendment

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

160



APPENDIX D

LOCAL GOVERNMENT CODE
CHAPTER 9. 

HOME-RULE MUNICIPALITY

Sec. 9.001.  ADOPTION OR AMENDMENT OF HOME-RULE CHARTER.
This chapter applies to the adoption or amendment of a municipal charter by a municipality authorized to do so by Article XI, Section 5,
of the Texas Constitution.

Acts 1987, 70th Leg., ch. 149, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 1987.

Sec. 9.002.  SELECTION OF CHARTER COMMISSION. 
(a)  The governing body of the municipality may, by an ordinance adopted by at least a two-thirds vote of its membership, order an elec-
tion by the voters of the municipality on the question: “Shall a commission be chosen to frame a new charter?” The governing body shall
by ordinance order the election if presented with a petition signed by at least 10 percent of the qualified voters of the municipality.

(b)  The election ordinance shall provide for the election to be held on the date of the municipality’s next general election scheduled
after the 30th day but on or before the 90th day after the date the ordinance is adopted. However, if no general election is scheduled
during that period that allows sufficient time to comply with other requirements of law, the election shall be ordered for the first author-
ized uniform election date prescribed by the Election Code that allows sufficient time to comply with other requirements of law and that
occurs after the 30th day after the date the ordinance is adopted and published in a newspaper published in the municipality.

(c)  The ballot at the election on the question prescribed by Subsection (a) shall also provide for the election from the municipality at
large of a charter commission to draft a charter if a majority of the qualified voters voting on the question of choosing a charter commis-
sion approve the question. The commission must consist of at least 15 members, but if it has more than 15 members it may not have
more than one member for each 3,000 inhabitants of the municipality. The ballot may not contain any party designation.

(d)  The provisions of Subsections (a), (b), and (c) regarding the selection of a charter commission do not apply to the first charter elec-
tion in a municipality if:

(1) (A) the governing body of the municipality selects a charter commission;
(B)  a charter commission is selected at a mass meeting; or
(C)  the mayor of the municipality appoints a charter commission; and

(2)  the charter commission has proceeded with the formation of a charter for the municipality.

Acts 1987, 70th Leg., ch. 149, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 1987.

Sec. 9.003.  VOTE ON CHARTER.  
(a)  The charter prepared by the charter commission shall be submitted to the qualified voters of the municipality at an election to be
held on the first authorized uniform election date prescribed by the Election Code that allows sufficient time to comply with other re-
quirements of law and that occurs on or after the 40th day after the date the charter commission completes its work. The governing body
of the municipality shall provide for the submission of the charter at the election to the extent that the provisions for submission are not
prescribed by general law.

(b)  Before the 30th day before the date of the election, the governing body of the municipality shall order the municipal clerk or the mu-
nicipal secretary to mail a copy of the proposed charter to each registered voter of the municipality.

(c)  The charter commission shall prepare the charter so that to the extent practicable each subject may be voted on separately.

Acts 1987, 70th Leg., ch. 149, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 1987. Amended by Acts 1989, 71st Leg., ch. 1, Sec. 87(b), eff. Aug. 28, 1989.

Sec. 9.004.  CHARTER AMENDMENTS. 
(a)  The governing body of a municipality on its own motion may submit a proposed charter amendment to the municipality’s qualified
voters for their approval at an election. The governing body shall submit a proposed charter amendment to the voters for their approval at

Appendix D

121

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

161



an election if the submission is supported by a petition signed by a number of qualified voters of the municipality equal to at least five
percent of the number of qualified voters of the municipality or 20,000, whichever number is the smaller.

(b)  The ordinance ordering the election shall provide for the election to be held on the first authorized uniform election date pre-
scribed by the Election Code or on the earlier of the date of the next municipal general election or presidential general election. The
election date must allow sufficient time to comply with other requirements of law and must occur on or after the 30th day after the
date the ordinance is adopted.

(c)  Notice of the election shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation published in the municipality.  The notice must:
(1)  include a substantial copy of the proposed amendment;
(2)  include an estimate of the anticipated fiscal impact to the municipality if the proposed 
amendment is approved at the election; and
(3)  be published on the same day in each of two successive weeks, with the first publication 
occurring before the 14th day before the date of the election.

(d)  An amendment may not contain more than one subject.

(e)  The ballot shall be prepared so that a voter may approve or disapprove any one or more amendments without having to 
approve or disapprove all of the amendments.

(f)  The requirement imposed by Subsection (c)(2) does not waive governmental immunity for any purpose and a person may not seek 
injunctive relief or any other judicial remedy to enforce the estimate of the anticipated fiscal impact on the municipality.

Acts 1987, 70th Leg., ch. 149, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 1987. Amended by Acts 1997, 75th Leg., ch. 1219, Sec. 5, eff. June 20,
1997; Acts 1997, 75th Leg., ch. 1349, Sec. 76, eff. Sept. 1, 1997.
Amended by:  Acts 2007, 80th Leg., R.S., Ch. 414, Sec. 1, eff. September 1, 2007.

Sec. 9.005.  ADOPTION OF CHARTER OR AMENDMENT.
(a)  A proposed charter for a municipality or a proposed amendment to a municipality’s charter is adopted if it is approved by a major-
ity of the qualified voters of the municipality who vote at an election held for that purpose.

(b)  A charter or an amendment does not take effect until the governing body of the municipality enters an order in the records of the
municipality declaring that the charter or amendment is adopted.

Acts 1987, 70th Leg., ch. 149, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 1987.

Sec. 9.006.  CONCURRENT ELECTIONS. 
This chapter does not prevent the voters at an election to adopt a charter or an amendment to a charter from electing at the same
election persons to hold office under the charter or amendment.

Acts 1987, 70th Leg., ch. 149, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 1987.

Sec. 9.007.  CERTIFICATION OF CHARTER OR AMENDMENT.
(a)  As soon as practicable after a municipality adopts a charter or charter amendment, the mayor or chief executive officer of the mu-
nicipality shall certify to the secretary of state an authenticated copy of the charter or amendment under the municipality’s seal show-
ing the approval by the voters of the municipality.
(b)  The secretary of state shall file and record the certification in his office in a book kept for that purpose.

Acts 1987, 70th Leg., ch. 149, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 1987.

Sec. 9.008.  REGISTRATION OF CHARTER OR AMENDMENT; EFFECT. 
(a)  The secretary or other officer of a municipality performing functions similar to those of a secretary shall record in the secretary’s
or other officer’s office a charter or charter amendment adopted by the voters of the municipality. If a charter or amendment is not
recorded on microfilm, as may be permitted under another law, it shall be recorded in a book kept for that purpose.

(b)  Recorded charters or amendments are public acts. Courts shall take judicial notice of them, and no proof is required 
of their provisions.

Acts 1987, 70th Leg., ch. 149, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 1987.

Texas Home Rule Charters

122

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

162



APPENDIX E 

Texas Constitution
Article XI, Section 11

Term of Office Exceeding Two Years and Vacancies

Sec.11.TERM OF OFFICE EXCEEDING TWO YEARS IN HOME RULE AND GENERAL LAW CITIES; VACANCIES. 

(a) A Home Rule City may provide by charter or charter amendment, and a city, town or village operating
under the general laws may provide by majority vote of the qualified voters voting at an election called for that purpose, for a
longer term of office than two (2) years for its officers, either elective or appointive, or both, but not to exceed four (4) years;
provided, however, that tenure under Civil Service shall not be affected hereby; provided, however, that such officers, elective or
appointive, are subject to Section 65(b), Article XVI, of this Constitution, providing for automatic resignation in certain circum-
stances, in the same manner as a county or district officer to which that section applies.

(b) A municipality so providing a term exceeding two (2) years but not exceeding four (4) years for any of its non-civil service of-
ficers must elect all of the members of its governing body by majority vote of the qualified voters in such municipality, and any
vacancy or vacancies occurring on such governing body shall not be filled by appointment but must be filled by majority vote of
the qualified voters at a special election called for such purpose within one hundred and twenty (120) days after such vacancy
or vacancies occur.

(Added Nov. 4, 1958; amended Nov. 6, 2001.) (TEMPORARY TRANSITION PROVISION for Sec. 11: See Appendix, Note 3.)

APPENDIX F

Texas Constitution
Article XVI, Section 40

Dual Office Holding

Sec. 40.  HOLDING MORE THAN ONE OFFICE; EXCEPTIONS; RIGHT TO VOTE. 

(a) No person shall hold or exercise at the same time, more than one civil office of emolument, except that of Justice of the
Peace, County Commissioner, Notary Public and Postmaster, Officer of the National Guard, the National Guard Reserve, and the
Officers Reserve Corps of the United States and enlisted men of the National Guard, the National Guard Reserve, and the Organ-
ized Reserves of the United States, and retired officers of the United States Army, Air Force, Navy, Marine Corps, and Coast
Guard, and retired warrant officers, and retired enlisted men of the United States Army, Air Force, Navy, Marine Corps, and Coast
Guard, and the officers and directors of soil and water conservation districts, unless otherwise specially provided herein. Pro-
vided, that nothing in this Constitution shall be construed to prohibit an officer or enlisted man of the National Guard, and the
National Guard Reserve, or an officer in the Officers Reserve Corps of the United States, or an enlisted man in the Organized Re-
serves of the United States, or retired officers of the United States Army, Air Force, Navy, Marine Corps, and Coast Guard, and
retired warrant officers, and retired enlisted men of the United States Army, Air Force, Navy, Marine Corps, and Coast Guard, and
officers of the State soil and water conservation districts, from holding at the same time any other office or position of honor,
trust or profit, under this State or the United States, or from voting at any election, general, special or primary in this State when
otherwise qualified.

Appendix E, F

123

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

163



(b) State employees or other individuals who receive all or part of their compensation either directly or indirectly from funds of the
State of Texas and who are not State officers, shall not be barred from serving as members of the governing bodies of school districts,
cities, towns, or other local governmental districts. Such State employees or other individuals may not receive a salary for serving as
members of such governing bodies, except that:

(1) a schoolteacher, retired schoolteacher, or retired school administrator may receive compensation for serving 
as a member of a governing body of a school district, city, town, or local governmental district, including a water 
district created under Section 59, Article XVI, or Section 52, Article III; and
(2)  a faculty member or retired faculty member of a public institution of higher education may receive compensation 
for serving as a member of a governing body of a water district created under Section 59 of this article or under Section 52,
Article III, of this constitution.

(c)  It is further provided that a nonelective State officer may hold other nonelective offices under the State or the United States, if the
other office is of benefit to the State of Texas or is required by the State or Federal law, and there is no conflict with the original office
for which he receives salary or compensation.
(d)  No member of the Legislature of this State may hold any other office or position of profit under this State, or the United 
States, except as a notary public if qualified by law. 

(Amended Nov. 2, 1926, Nov. 8, 1932, Nov. 7, 1972, Nov. 6, 2001, and Sept. 13, 2003.)

Texas Home Rule Charters

124

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

164



APPENDIX G 

Texas Constitution
Article XVI, Section 1

Official Oath

ARTICLE 16. GENERAL PROVISIONS
Sec.1.OFFICIAL OATH. 
(a) All elected and appointed officers, before they enter upon the duties of their offices, shall take the following Oath or Affirmation:
“I, _______________________, do solemnly swear (or affirm), that I will faithfully execute the duties of the office of
___________________ of the State of Texas, and will to the best of my ability preserve, protect, and defend the Constitution and laws of
the United States and of this State, so help me God.”

(b) All elected or appointed officers, before taking the Oath or Affirmation of office prescribed by this section and entering upon the du-
ties of office, shall subscribe to the following statement:
“I, _______________________, do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I have not directly or indirectly paid, offered, promised to pay, con-
tributed, or promised to contribute any money or thing of value, or promised any public office or employment for the giving or withhold-
ing of a vote at the election at which I was elected or as a reward to secure my appointment or confirmation, whichever the case may
be, so help me God.”

(c) Members of the Legislature, the Secretary of State, and all other elected and appointed state officers shall file the signed statement
required by Subsection (b) of this section with the Secretary of State before taking the Oath or Affirmation of office prescribed by Sub-
section (a) of this section. All other officers shall retain the signed statement required by Subsection (b) of this section with the official
records of the office.

(Amended Nov. 8, 1938, and Nov. 6, 1956; Subsecs. (a)-(c) amended and (d)-(f) added Nov. 7, 1989; Subsecs. (a) and (b) amended,
Subsecs. (c) and (d) deleted, and Subsecs. (e) and (f) amended and redesignated as Subsec. (c) Nov. 6, 2001.) (TEMPORARY TRAN-
SITION PROVISION for Sec. 1: See Appendix, Note 3.)

Appendix G

125

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

165



This bibliography is highly selective, representing the author’s
judgment about basic references in the areas discussed in this
book. It includes the sources of information listed in the notes
for the individual chapters.

Beard, Charles A. and Birl E. Shultz. Documents on the State-
Wide Initiative, Referendum and Recall. New York: MacMillan
Co., 1912.

Blodgett, Terrell. Municipal Home Rule Charter Elections in
Texas. Austin: Institute of Public Affairs, The University of
Texas, 1950.

Bojorquez, Alan. Texas Municipal Law and Procedures Manual.
Denton: Texas Municipal Clerks’ Association, Fifth Edition.

Braden, George D. The Constitution of the State of Texas: An
Annotated and Comparative Analysis. Austin: Texas Advisory
Commission on Inter-governmental Relations, 1977.

Brischetto, Robert and Engstrom, Richard. Cumlative Voting and
Latino Representation: Exit Surveys in Fifteen Different Commu-
nities. 78 Social Science Quarterly 973 (1997).

Chang, Tso Shuen. History and Analysis of the Commission and
City Manager Plans of Municipal Government in the United
States. University of Iowa Monographs: Studies in the Social
Sciences, Vol. VI. Iowa City: University of Iowa, n.d.

Cronin, Thomas E. Direct Democracy: The Politics of Initiative,
Referendum, and Recall. (A Twentieth Century Fund Book)
Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press, 1989.

Gammel, H. P. N., ed. The Laws of Texas, 1822-1897. 10 vols.
Austin: Gammel Book Co., 1898.

Greider, William. Who Will Tell the People: The Betrayal of
American Demo-cracy. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1992.
Harlow, LeRoy F. Without Fear or Favor: Odyssey of a City Man-
ager. Provo, Utah: Brigham Young University Press, 1977.

James, Herman G. A Model Civil Service Code for Texas Cities.
Austin: Bureau of Municipal Research and Reference. The Uni-
versity of Texas, 1914.

A Model Charter for Texas Cities. Austin: Bureau of Municipal
Research and Reference. The University of Texas, 1914.

Keith, John P. City and County Home Rule in Texas. Austin: In-
stitute of Public Affairs, The University of Texas, 1951.

Lyndon B. Johnson School of Public Affairs. Local Government
Election Systems. Policy Research Project Report. No. 62.
Austin: The University of Texas, 1984.

Munro, William Bennett, ed. The Initiative, Referendum and Re-
call. National Municipal League Series. New York: D. Appleton and
Co., 1912.

National Civic League. Guide for Charter Commissions. 5th ed.
Denver: National Civic League Press, 1991.

Handbook for Council Members: in Council-Manager Cities. 5th
ed. Denver: National Civic League Press, 1992.

Model City Charter. 8th ed. Denver: National Civic League Press. 

Muncy, Analeslie. Texas Municipal Election Law Manual (4th Ed.).

O’Quinn, Trueman. Cities, Towns and Villages: History, Status and
Function. Kansas City, Mo.: Vernon Law Book, 1963.

Peirce, Neal R. Citistates: How Urban America Can Prosper in a
Competi-tive World. Washington, D.C.: Seven Locks Press, 1993.

Renner, Tari and Victor S. DeSantis. “Contemporary Patterns and
Trends in Municipal Government Structure.” The Municipal Year-
book 1993, Washington, D.C.: International City-County Manage-
ment Association (1993).

Rhyne, Charles S. The Law of Local Government Operations.
Kingsport, Tenn.: Kingsport Press, 1980.

School of Social Sciences, The University of Texas at Dallas. “City
of Dallas, Citizens Charter Review Committee: Decision Guide.”
Dallas, 1989.

Smith, Dick. “The Development of Local Government Units in
Texas.” Ph.D. diss., Harvard University, 1938.

Stewart, Frank M. “What Municipal Home Rule Means Today.” Na-
tional Municipal Review. New York: National Municipal League,
July, 1932.

Svara, James H. Official Leadership in the City: Patterns of Con-
flict and Cooperation. New York: Oxford University Press, 1990.

Taebel, Delbert A. A Citizen’s Guide to Home Rule Charters in
Texas Cities. Arlington: Institute of Urban Studies, The University
of Texas at Arlington, 1985.

“Alternative Remedies Under the Voting Rights Act.” Public Affairs
Comment, Lyndon Baines Johnson School of Public Affairs, The
University of Texas, Austin (Fall 1990) 37, no. 1.

Taebel, Delbert A. and Stapleton, Bruce. Home Rule Charters in
Texas Cities. Arlington: Institute of Urban Studies, The University
of Texas at Arlington, 1978.

Bibliography

126

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

166



Texas Municipal League. Handbook for Mayors and Councilmem-
bers. Austin: November, 2009.

U.S. Advisory Commission on Intergovernmental Relations. Measur-
ing Local Discretionary Authority. Washington D.C., 1981.

State Laws Governing Local Government Structure and Administra-
tion. Washington, D.C., 1993.

Weaver, Leon. “Nonpartisan Elections in Local Government.” De-
troit: Citizens Research Council of Michigan, 1971.

Webb, Wilfred. Municipal Home Rule Charters in Texas. Austin: Bu-
reau of Municipal Research, The University of Texas, 1947.

Winfrey, Mary Evelyn. “Municipal Home Rule in Texas.” Thesis, The
University of Texas at Austin, 1931.

Winthrop, John. “A Model of Christian Charity,”Puritan Political
Ideas, 1558-1794, ed. Edmund S. Morgan. Indianapolis: Bobbs-
Merrill, 1965.

Woodruff, Clinton Rogers, ed. City Government by Commission. New
York: D. Appleton and Co., 1911.

Bibliography

127

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

167



Abilene, 39
ACIR, see U.S. Advisory Commission on Intergovernmental Relations
Addison, 74
Alamogordo, N.M., 38
Aldermen, board of, 37
Allen, City of, 93
Allen, Ivan Jr. and Sr., 33
Alpine, 52, 59-60
“Alternative Remedies Under the Voting Rights Act” Public Affairs

Comment, 38 (note 27)
Amarillo, 25, 59, 70, 84
Amendment procedures

on charter revision commissions, 22-23, 95, 99
on preclearance, 20, 22

Andrews, 38, 55
Annexation

full, 6, 13, 30
limited purpose, 12
see also Disannexation
see also Powers of cities

Aransas Pass, 76
Audit

annual financial, 13, 51-52
Austin, 35, 37, 43, 52, 56, 66, 84, 99

Balch Springs, 71
Bay City, 34, 35
Beard, Charles A.

Documents on the State-Wide Initiative, Referendum and Recall,
126

Beaumont, 79, 91-92
Bellaire, 36
Blodgett, Terrell

Municipal Home Rule Charter Elections in Texas, iii
Boards, and commissions

creation of, 10
established by charter, 72
generally, 72
personnel and civil service, 15, 69
planning and zoning, 10, 15, 30, 68-69

Bojorquez, Alan. Texas Law and Procedure Manual, 5th Ed., 66
Braden, George D.

The Constitution of the State of Texas: An Annotated and Com-
parative Analysis, 2

on interpretation, Texas
home rule charter amendment, 2

Brischetto, Robert. Cumlative Voting, 78 Social Science Quarterly 
973 (1997), 38

Brownfield, 39
Brownwood, 71
Bryan, 1
Buda, 26
Budgets

amendments, 78
annual operating, 13, 73, 75-76

calendar, 76
capital, 79
contents, 76-77
execution and monitoring, 77-79
fiscal work plan, 76
operating, 76-77
preparation, 75

Bureau of Municipal Research, UT Austin, see Institute of Public 
Affairs

Capital Improvements Plan (CIP), 79
Carrollton, 77
Cassella, William N. Jr., iv
Celina, 26 
Challenges, cities today, 100
Chang, Tso Shuen

History and Analysis of the Commission and City Manager Plans
of Municipal Government in the United States, 25 (note 22)

Charter commission
election, 19-20
guidelines, 20

Charters
home rule. see home rule charters
legislative, special. see special legislative charters

Childress, 71
Childs, Richard, 33
CIP. see Capital Improvements Plan
Cisneros, Henry, 33
Citistates: How Urban America Can Prosper in a Competitive World

(Neal R. Peirce), 33
Cities, Towns and Villages: History, Status, and Function (Trueman

O’Quinn), 2 (note 8)
A Citizen’s Guide to Home Rule Charters in Texas Cities (Delbert A.

Taebel), iii, 2 (note 10), 23 (note 21), 34 (note 25)
City and County Home Rule in Texas (John P. Keith), iii, 2 (note 2),

2 (note 9), 2 (note 11)
City attorney, 10, 36
City council

absences from meetings, 52
compensation, 10, 45
election methods. see Election methods, city council
filing requirements, 44
fringe benefits, 45
history, 25
investigations, 51
liability, personal, 45
meetings, 11, 48
ordinances, passage of, 11, 49
orientation, 47
powers, 9-12, 47
prohibitions, 51
qualifications, 11, 43
resolution, passage of, 49
staff, 12, 45
technical regulations, Codes of, 50

Index

128

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

168



term limits, 9, 41-43
term of office, 40-41
vacancies, 10, 53

City employees
political activities, 17, 91-92
residency, 15

City Government by Commission (Clinton Rogers Woodruff, ed.), 86
City manager

appointment and removal, 13, 59-61
duties, 61-63
qualifications, 60
residence, 60

“City of Dallas Citizens Charter 
Review Committee: Decision Guide” 

(School of Social Sciences, UT at Dallas), 41 (note 28)
City secretary, 10, 36
Civil service

charter mandated, 70
fire and police, state, 15, 70

Civil War, Affects Texas cities, 1
Claims, notice of, 92-93
Codification of ordinances, 11-12, 50
Coleman, 71
Colleyville, 44, 52
Commission form of government

history, 25
in Texas, 25
in United States, 25

Comprehensive plan, 68-69
Conflict of interest, 16-17, 91
“Contemporary Patterns and Trends in Municipal Government Struc-

ture”
Municipal Yearbook, 34 (note 25)

Constitution, Texas. see Texas constitution
The Constitution of the State of Texas:  An Annotated and Compara-

tive Analysis (George D. Braden), 2
Corpus Christi, 37, 69
Corsicana, 71
Council-manager government

characteristics, 26-27
history, 25
Texas total, 26
U.S. total, 25

Cronin, Thomas E.
Direct Democracy: The Politics of Initiative, Referendum, and

Recall, 83 (note 34 and 35)
Cumulative voting. see Election methods, city council; Andrews, city

of; and Lockhart Independent School district

Dallas, 2, 26, 33-36, 40, 52, 56, 66, 84
Debt

long term, 14, 80-81
ad valorem tax bonds, 13, 81
certificates of obligation (COs), 14, 81

short term, 14, 80-81

time warrants, 81
DeLeon, 29, 30-31, 35
Del Rio, 36
Denton, 25, 65
Denver City, 76
Departments, city

creation of, 65
established by charter, 72
health function, 71-72
planning function, 68-69

DeSantis, Victor S.
“Contemporary Patterns and Trends in Municipal Government

Structure” Municipal Yearbook, 34 (note 25)
“The Development of Local Government Units in Texas,” Ph.D. diss.

(Dick Smith), 1 (note 5), 3 (note 16), 87
Dillon, Judge J.F., 1
Direct Democracy: The Politics of Initiative, Referendum, and Recall

(Thomas E. Cronin), 83 (note 34 and 35)
Disannexation, 12
Documents on the State-Wide Initiative, Referendum and Recall,

(Charles E. Beard and Birl E. Shultz), 126

El Campo, 39
Elections

city council, 37-40
dates, 56
initiative, 6, 15, 83-86
law, see Texas Election Code
recall, 6, 15, 83-86
referendum, 6, 15, 83-86
uniform dates, 11, 56
see also Election methods, city council

Election methods, city council
at-large, 37
al-large by place, 37-38
bullet voting, 38
cumulative voting, 38, 55, 9, 17
generally, 9-11, 37
majority voting, 10, 39, 55-56
mixed systems, 39
plurality voting, 39, 55-56
preferential voting, 38-39
single-member districts, 37-38
survey results, 40

El Paso, 26, 59, 66, 70
Emergency succession, 12, 93-94
Ennis, 37, 71

Farmers Branch, 60
Federal communications commission.

see Franchises
Federal voting rights act.

see Voting rights act, federal
Financial administration

Texas Home Rule Charters

129

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

169



budget, 13, 74-79
fiscal year designation, 74
property tax, 13, 74-75
revenues, other, 13, 75

Fire and police civil service law, state,
see also Civil service

Fiscal year, 74
Forms of Government

changing form, 26-27
determinant, major, in new home rule cities, 26
history in Texas, 25-26
status in U.S., 25

Fort Worth, 26, 39, 52, 56, 66, 84
Franchises

cable TV, 88
electric, 88
gas, 88
generally, 15
water and wastewater, 88
history in Texas, 87
home rule charter provision, 88-89
rate regulation, 15, 87-88

gas utility regulatory act (GURA), 87-88
public utility regulatory act (PURA), 87-88

survey of charters, 89
taxicabs, limousines, 88
telephones, 88

Friendswood, 41, 44
Fringe benefits. see City council; Mayor

Galveston, 25, 43, 71, 83
Gammel, H.P.N., ed

The Laws of Texas, 1822-1897, 1 (note 6 and 7), 120 (note 31
and 32)

Garland, 45, 92
Gas utility regulatory act (GURA). see Franchises
General law cities

eligibility for home rule, 5
influence on home rule charters, 26

Georgetown, 69 ,72
Gorman, 21, 38-39
Governing body of city. see City council
Graham, 42
Grand Prairie, 62
Greider, William

Who Will Tell the People: The Betrayal of American Democracy,
100

Groves, 71
Guide for Charter Commissions, 5th ed. (National Civic League), 20
GURA. gas utility regulatory act. see Franchises

Handbook for Council Members: in Council-Manager Cities, 5th ed. 
(National Civic League), 126

Harlow, LeRoy F.
Without Fear or Favor: Odyssey of a City Manager, 99 (note 37)

Health and Safety Code, Texas, 71
History and Analysis of the Commission and City Manager Plans of

Municipal Govern-ment in the United States
(Chang, Tso Shuen), 25 (note 22)

Hitchcock, 26
Home rule charters

adoption procedures, 19
on charter commission, 20
on federal voting rights act, 22
on first charter, 19
on history, 1, 2
on later charter, 20
on preclearance, 22
on preemption, state, 9, 17-18
on submitting to voters, 21

format, 23
Home Rule Charters in Texas Cities

(Delbert A. Taebel), iii
Home rule cities

advantages, 5-7
annexation, 12, 30
concept, 5
enabling act, 2
limitations, 6
model charter (NCL). see Model city charter
powers, 5-7, 29-32

Home rule doctrine, Texas. see Supreme Court, Texas. Forwood v.
City of Taylor

Home rule. see Home rule charters, and Home rule cities
Home Rule Cities: Handbook for Mayors and Councilmembers (Texas

Municipal League), 5 (note 18), 29 (note 23), 45, 49, 51
Horseshoe Bay, 26
Houston, 25, 26, 33, 34 35, 43,56, 66, 71, 73, 87, 101
Huntsville, 52
Hurst, 66

Initiative
charter provisions, 85
survey results, 85

Initiative, referendum and recall
charter provisions today, 85-86
definition, 6
early history, 83
at local level, 83-84
in model city charter (NCL), 84
The Initative, Referendum and  Recall. National Municipal League

Series (William Bennett Munro, ed.), 126

Institute of Public Affairs, UT Austin, iii
Iowa Park, 26
International City Management Association.  see Municipal Yearbook
Jacksonville, 6, 40, 42
James, Herman G.

A Model Charter for Texas Cities, 3
James, Herman G.

Index

130

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

170



A Model Civil Service Code for Texas Cities, 70 (note 30)
Jonsson, Eric, 39
Judge, Municipal Court, 67-68
Justice Department, U.S., 20, 21, 37, 39, 55

Keith, John P.
City and County Home Rule in Texas, iii, 1 (note 2), 2 (note 9)

on criticism of Texas constitution
home rule amendment, 2 (note 11)

Killeen, 47

La Grange, 92
Lake Worth, 85
Laredo, 26, 40, 60
The Law of Local Government Operations (Charles S. Rhyne), 1
The Laws of Texas, 1822-1897 (H.P.N. Gammel, ed.), 1 (note 6 and

7), 71 (note 31 and 32)
League City, 26
Lee, Richard, 33
Legislative charters. see Special legislative charters
Local Government Election Systems, Policy Research Report No. 62,

126
Longview, 45
Los Frasmos, 26
Lubbock, 36, 39
Lucas, 26
Lyndon B. Johnson School of Public Affairs Local Government Elec-

tion Systems,
Policy Research Project Report
No. 62, 126

MALDEF. see Mexican-American Legal Defense Fund
Mansfield, 52, 68
Marble Falls, 65
Mayor

appointment powers, 36
budget role, 35
compensation, 34-35
charter language, 34
fringe benefits, 45
history in America, 33-34
in council-manager form, 12, 34
in mayor-council form, 12, 34
powers, 35-36
selection, 34
staff, 36
strong/weak, 26
terms, 36
vacancies, 36
veto, 35
vote, 35

Mayor-council government
characteristics, 9, 25
history, 25-26

Texas total, 26
U.S. total, 25

Mayor pro tem, 47
Measuring Local Discretionary Authority (U.S. Advisory Commission

on Intergovernmental Relations), 127
Mercedes, 52
Mesquite, 70
Mexican-American Legal Defense Fund (MALDEF), 39
Mission, 67
Missouri City, 45, 51
Model Charter for Texas Cities, A (Herman G. James), 3
Model City Charter revision committee, ii
Model City Charter, 8th ed. National Civic

League (NCL), iv, 20, 23, 32, 49, 55, 59, 60, 61-62, 65, 78, 84
Model Civil Service Code for Texas Cities, A (Herman G. James), 70

(note 30)
“Model of Christian Charity, A,” Puritan Political Ideas, 1558-1794,

127
Morgan, Edmund S., ed. “A Model of Christian Charity,” Puritan Po-

litical Ideas, 1558-1794, 127
Muleshoe, 47
Municipal Clerks Association, Texas, 66
Municipal Annexation Act, 6
Municipal Corporations (cities), 1

see also Home rule cities
Municipal Home Rule Charter Elections in Texas (Terrell Blodgett),

iii
Municipal Home Rule Charters in Texas (Wilfred Webb), iii
“Municipal Home Rule in Texas”

(Mary Evelyn Winfrey), 127
Municipal Yearbook, 23, 34, 59 (note 25)
Munro, William Bennett, ed. The Initiative, Referendum and Recall.

National Municipal League Series, 126

NAACP. see National Association for the Advancement of Colored
People

National Association for the Advancement of Colored People
(NAACP), 48

National Civic League
Guide for Charter Commissions, 5th ed., 20
Handbook for Council Members: in Council-Manager Cities, 5th

ed., 126
Model City Charter, 8th ed., iv, 20, 23, 32, 49, 55, 59, 60, 61-

62, 65, 78, 84
National Municipal League (NML). see National Civic League
Nepotism, 17, 63, 91
New Braunfels, 1
NML. National Municipal League. see National Civic League
“Nonpartisan Elections in Local Government” (Leon Weaver), 127
Nonpartisan elections, 56-57
North Richland Hills, 70, 85
Oath of office, council, 47, 93
Official Leadership in the City: Patterns of Conflict and Cooperation

(James H. Svara), 36, (note 26)
Official newspaper, 93
Open meetings, 11, 48

Index

131

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

171



Open records (publicity of records), 92
O’Quinn, Trueman

Cities, Towns and Villages: History, Status and Function, 2 (note
8)

Orange, 73

Paris, 41
Partisan elections, 57
Pasadena, Texas, 25, 26, 34, 35, 36, 56
Pasadena, CA, 39
Pearland, 42
Peirce, Neal R.

Citistates: How Urban American Can Prosper in a Competitive
World, 33

Peoria, IL, 38
Pflugerville, 80, 95
Pittsburg, 26
Population

bracket bill, 2
drop below 5,000, 3
qualification for home rule, 2, 19

Port Arthur, 39
Port Neches, 43
Powers of cities, home rule

annexation, 12, 30
DeLeon charter, 30-31
inherent, 29
police, 15, 29
preemption, state, 9-18, 29

Property tax. see Financial administration
Property Tax Code, State, 1979, 13, 74
Public utility commission, 87-89
Public utility regulatory act (PURA). see Franchises
PURA public utility regulatory act. see Franchises
Purchasing and contracts

construction, 14, 30, 79, 80
personal property, 14, 80
state law, 80
supplies and materials, 80

Qualifications for office
election code, 43
filing requirements, 44
financial disclosure, 44
home rule exceptions, 43-44
see also Mayor; and City council

Railroad commission, Texas, 87, 88
Raymondville, 73
Recall

charter provisions, 6, 15, 85-86 
survey results, 86

Redistricting commission, 40

Referendum
charter provisions, 6, 15, 85
survey results, 86

Renner, Tari
“Contemporary Patterns and Trends in Municipal Government

Structure”
Municipal Yearbook, 34 (note 25)

Representative democracy, 83
Republic of Texas, 1, 37
Rhyne, Charles S.

The Law of Local Government Operations, 1
Richland Hills, 47
Rockport, 42
Rosenberg, 51

Sachse, 43
San Angelo, 35, 71
San Antonio, 26, 33, 34, 35, 39, 56, 60, 66
San Augustine, 1
San Juan, 50
San Marcos, 44, 52
Schertz, 43
School of Social Sciences, UT at Dallas

“City of Dallas Citizens Charter Review Committee: Decision
Guide,” 41, (note 28)

Secretary of State, Texas, iv, 3, 22, 93, 96, 120
Seminole, 76
Sherman, 40
Shultz, Birl E.

Documents on the State-Wide Initiative, Referendum and Recall,
126

Single-member districts. see Election methods, city council
Smith, Dick

“The Development of Local Government Units in Texas,” Ph.D.
diss., 1 (note 5), 3 (note 16)

South Padre Island, 26
Special legislative charters

history, 1-2
after 1912, 2-3

Stamford, 21, 71
Standards of conduct, 16-17, 91-92
Stapleton, Bruce

Home Rule Charters in Texas Cities, iii
State Laws Governing Local Government Structure and Administra-

tion (U.S. Advisory Commission on Intergovernmental Relations),
127

State of Texas emergency plan, 94
Stewart, Frank M.

“What Municipal Home Rule Means Today,” 126
Sturzl, Frank, ii, iii
Supreme Court, Iowa. see Dillon, Judge J.F.
Supreme Court, Texas. Forwood v. City of Taylor on Texas home rule

doctrine, 5
Sweetwater, 27, 38, 39, 73
Svara, James H.

Index

132

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

172



Index

Official Leadership in the City:  Patterns of Conflict and Co-
operation. 36 (note 26)

Taebel, Delbert A.
“Alternative Remedies Under the Voting Rights Act.” Public
Affairs Comment, 37, no. 1, 1990, 38 (note 27)
on alternative voting systems, 38
A Citizen’s Guide to Home Rule Charters in Texas Cities, iii, 2
(note 10), 23 (note 21), 34 (note 25)
Home Rule Charters in Texas Cities, iii

Taylor, 5, 25
TCEQ. see Texas Commission on Environmental Quality
Temple, 1, 27, 73, 92
Term limits, 9, 41-42
Terms of office

length, 40-41
limits, 41-43

Terrell, 25
Texas City, 26, 52
Texas Commission on Environmental Quality 87, 88
Texas Constitution

dual office holding, 16
election by majority, 10, 53, 55
filling vacancies, 10, 53
home rule amendment, 3
oath of office, 47, 93
standards of conduct, 16
terms of office, 9

Texas Election code, 10, 11, 43, 44, 55, 56
Texas Local Government Code (LGC). see specific subject
Texas Municipal Election Law Manual (4th Ed.), Analeske Muncy, 66
Texas Municipal Law and Procedures Manual (5th Ed, Alan Bo-

jorquez), 66
Texas Municipal League (TML)

Handbook for Mayors and Councilmembers. 5 (note 18)
legal department, as information source, 20, 45, 48, 66, 75,
80, 96

Texas tort claims act, 45, 92 see also City council, liability
The Colony, 52, 78
TML. see Texas Municipal League
Texas uniform budget law, 13, 75, 77

U.S. Advisory Commission on Intergovernmental Relations (ACIR)
Measuring Local Discretionary Authority, State Laws Governing
Local Government Structure and Administration, 126

Vacancies. see City council
Vernon, 39
Victoria, 39
Voting rights act, federal, 20-22, 32
Waco, 42, 84
Weatherford, 45
Weaver, Leon

“Nonpartisan Elections in Local Government,” 127

Webb, Wilfred,
Municipal Home Rule Charters in Texas, iii

Webster, 49
Welch, Louie, 33
West University Place, 65
“What Municipal Home Rule Means Today” (Frank M. Stewart), 126
Wichita Falls, 70
Willis, 7, 26
Who Will Tell the People:  The Betrayal of American Democracy

(William Greider), 126
Windcrest, 26
Winfrey, Mary Evelyn

“Municipal Home Rule in Texas,” 127
Winthrop, John

“A Model of Christian Charity,” Puritan Political Ideas,
1558-1794, 127

Without Fear or Favor: Odyssey of a City Manager (LeRoy F. Harlow),
99 (note 37)

Woodruff, Clinton Rogers, ed.
City Government by Commission,
on value of initiative, referendum, and recall, 86

Woodway, 40

133

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

173



134

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

174



2024 CHARTER REVIEW COMMISSION 

CITY OF JERSEY VILLAGE, TEXAS  

AGENDA REQUEST 

 

AGENDA DATE: September 4, 2024    AGENDA ITEM: D 
 

AGENDA SUBJECT: Discussion with possible action concerning organizational matters, 

including but not limited to, Election of Officers, establishment of meeting times and places, and 

committee procedures. 
 

Prepared By:  Lorri Coody, City Secretary  Date Submitted: August 14, 2024 
 

EXHIBITS:    
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
 

After receiving the information about the Charter Review Process, this item is to move forward 

with organizational matters. 
 

First, it will be necessary to appoint a Chair and Vice Chair to serve the Commission.   
 

Second, the Commission will need to establish a schedule of events for moving forward with the 

Charter Review.  Past Commissions have conducted meetings to accommodate the activities 

outlined below.  With these activities in mind, I suggest the following schedule provided it meets 

with the approval of the Commission. 

 

Should additional meetings be required to complete the Commission’s work, additional dates can 

be discussed at the October 14, 2024, meeting. 
 

In the past, I have been asked about Alternate Member involvement in the Charter Review Process, 

which is not specifically addressed in our Charter.  However, it has been my experience that Boards 

and Commissions that have alternate members proceed in the following manner: 
 

Alternate members shall serve in the absence of one or more regular members.  The selection 

order for alternate service shall be determined by the alternate position number, with Alternate 1 

serving for the first absence and so on.  While all alternates may participate in committee 

discussion, only those serving in the absence of regular members vote. 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

Discussion with possible action concerning organizational matters, including but not limited to, 

Election of Officers, establishment of meeting times and places, and committee procedures. 

Description of Activity Meet Date Time 

Receive Presentation from City Attorney about amendment 

process, Review the Current Charter and Set Schedule for 

remaining meetings 

September 12, 2024 6:00 PM 

Input from the public and Input from Staff concerning 

amendments to the Charter 

September 25, 2024 6:00 PM 

Input from City Council and begin work on Recommendation October 7, 2024 6:00 PM 

Recommendation to City Council concerning Amendments to 

the Charter 

October 14, 2024 6:00 PM 

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

175



2024 CHARTER REVIEW COMMISSION 
CITY OF JERSEY VILLAGE, TEXAS  

AGENDA REQUEST 
 

AGENDA DATE: September 4, 2024 
 
AGENDA ITEM: E 
 

AGENDA SUBJECT: Review and consider possible amendments to the City’s current City 
Charter. 
 
Prepared By:  Lorri Coody, City Secretary  Date Submitted: August 14, 2024 
 
EXHIBITS:   Home Rule Charter as Amended May 2021 
 2020 Charter Review Commission’s Final Recommendations Report 
                               
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
 
This item is to review the City’s Charter and consider any possible amendments thereto. 
 
By way of background information, included in the meeting packet is the 2020 Charter Review 
Commission’s Final Recommendations Report.   
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

Review the City’s Charter 
 

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

176



PART I - HOME RULE CHARTER

PREAMBLE

We, the people of the City of Jersey Village, Texas establish this Charter as the basic law of our city to provide for

continuous and effective government, with latitude for our elected officers, and with safeguards to ensure the rights

and general welfare of the people.

Footnotes:

--- (1) ---

Editor's note— Printed herein is the home rule Charter, as adopted by the electors on August 9, 1986, and by Ord. No. 86-7, as

adopted by the council on August 18, 1986. Amendments to the Charter are indicated by parenthetical history notes following amended

provisions. The absence of a history note indicates that the provision remains unchanged from the original Charter. Obvious

misspellings have been corrected without notation. For stylistic purposes, a uniform system of headings, catchlines and citations to

state statutes has been used. Additions made for clarity are indicated by brackets.

ARTICLE I. - INCORPORATION, FORM OF GOVERNMENT AND POWERS

Sec. 1.01. - Incorporation.

The inhabitants of the City of Jersey Village, Harris County, Texas, residing within its corporate boundaries as

heretofore or hereafter established, are hereby constituted and shall continue to be a municipal body politic and

corporate in perpetuity under the name of the "City of Jersey Village" ("city") with such powers, privileges, rights,

duties and immunities as are herein provided.

Sec. 1.02. - Form of government.

The municipal government provided by this Charter shall be known as "Council-Manager" form of government.

Pursuant to the provisions of, and subject only to the limitations imposed by, the Constitution and laws of the State

of Texas and by this Charter, all powers of the city shall be vested in and exercised by an elective city council

("council") which shall enact ordinances, adopt budgets, determine policies, appoint the city manager, and execute

other powers and duties as prescribed in this Charter.

Sec. 1.03. - General powers.

Except as expressly limited by this Charter, the city shall have the powers granted to "Home Rule" cities by the

Constitution and laws of the State of Texas, together with all of the implied powers necessary to carry into execution

such granted powers, and in addition, all powers not denied to "Home Rule" cities by the Constitution or laws of the

State of Texas. By way of enumeration and not limitation, the city may use a corporate seal; may sue and be sued;

may contract and be contracted with; may cooperate with the government of the State of Texas or any agency or

political subdivision thereof, or with the federal government or any agency thereof, to accomplish any lawful

purpose for the advancement of the interest, welfare, health, morals, comfort, safety or convenience of the city and

its inhabitants; may acquire property within or without its corporate boundaries for any municipal purpose in fee

simple or in any lesser interest or estate by purchase, gift, devise, lease or condemnation and, subject to the

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

177



provisions of this Charter and the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas, may sell, lease, mortgage, hold,

manage, improve or control such property as may now or hereafter be owned by it; may pass ordinances and enact

such regulations as may be expedient for the maintenance of the good government, order or peace of the city or the

welfare, health, morals, comfort, safety or convenience of its inhabitants. The powers hereby conferred upon the city

shall include, but are not restricted to, the powers enumerated in Chapter 147, Page 307, Acts of the Thirty-third

Legislature of the State of Texas, Regular Session, 1913, the same being compiled as Vernon's Ann. Civ. St. art. 1165

et seq., as heretofore or hereafter amended, all of which are hereby adopted. In addition to the powers enumerated

herein, and subject only to the limitations imposed by the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas and by this

Charter, the city shall have, without the necessity of express enumeration in this Charter, each and every power

which by virtue of the Constitution of the State of Texas, including but not limited to Article XI, Section 5 thereof, the

people of the city are empowered by election to grant or to confer upon the city by expressly and specifically

granting and enumerating the same herein. All such powers, whether express or implied, shall be exercised and

enforced in the manner prescribed in this Charter or, when not prescribed herein, in such manner as shall be

provided by ordinance of the council. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this section, the enumeration of

specific powers in this Charter shall not limit any powers otherwise conferred upon the city by this Charter, except

insofar as a specific and contrary intention to limit the powers of the city may be expressed in this Charter.

Editor's note— For current provisions pertaining to the statutory citations in the above section, see V.T.C.A., Local

Government Code ch. 9, and other statutes referred to in V.T.C.A., Master Disposition Table.

Sec. 1.04. - Regulation of streets and public property.

The city shall have exclusive dominion, control and jurisdiction in, upon, over and under the public streets,

sidewalks, alleys, public squares and public ways within the corporate boundaries of the city and in, upon, over and

under all public property of the city. With respect to each and every public street, sidewalk, alley, highway, public

square, public park or other public way within the corporate boundaries of the city, the city shall have the power to

establish, maintain, improve, alter, abandon or vacate the same; to regulate, establish or change the grade thereof;

to control or regulate the use thereof; and to abate or remove in a summary manner any encroachment thereon.

Sec. 1.05. - Street development and improvement.

The city shall have the power to develop or improve, or cause to be developed or improved, any or all public

streets, sidewalks, alleys, highways and other public ways within the corporate boundaries of the city by laying out,

opening, narrowing, widening, straightening, extending, lighting or establishing building lines along the same; by

purchasing, condemning or taking property therefor; by filling, grading, raising, lowering, paving, repaving or

repairing the same in a permanent manner; and by constructing, reconstructing, altering, repairing or realigning

curbs, gutters, drains, sidewalks, culverts and other appurtenances and incidentals in connection with such

development or improvement herein authorized, or any combination or part thereof. The cost of such development

or improvement may be paid partly or entirely by assessments levied as a lien against the properties abutting

thereon and against the owners thereof, and such assessments may be levied in any amount and under any

procedure not prohibited by the laws of the State of Texas; provided, however, that no assessment shall be made

against such land or owners thereof in excess of the enhancement in value of such property occasioned by such

improvement.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

178



If improvements are ordered constructed in any part of such area used or occupied by the tracks or facilities or

[of] any railway or public utility, the council shall have the power to assess the whole cost of improvements in such

area and the added costs of improvements in areas adjacent thereto made necessary by such use or occupancy

against such railway or public utility, and shall have power by ordinance to provide for the enforcement of such

assessment.

As an alternate and cumulative method of developing, improving or paving any or all public streets, sidewalks,

alleys, highways and other public ways within its corporate boundaries, the city shall have the power and authority

to proceed in accordance with Chapter 108, page 489, Acts of the Fortieth Legislature of the State of Texas, First

Called Session, 1927, the same being compiled as Vernon's Ann. Civ. St. art. 1105, as heretofore or hereafter

amended.

Editor's note— For current statutory provisions pertaining to street improvements, see V.T.C.A., Transportation

Code ch. 311 et seq.

Sec. 1.06. - Corporate boundaries and annexation.

The council shall have the power by ordinance to fix the corporate boundaries of the city and to provide for the

alteration and extension of said corporate boundaries, the annexation of additional territory lying adjacent to the

city, and the detachment or disannexation of territory, with or without the consent of the owners and inhabitants of

the territory annexed, detached or disannexed, in any manner not inconsistent with the procedural rules prescribed

by the laws of the State of Texas, including but not limited to Chapter 160, page 447, Article 1, Acts of the Fifty-eighth

Legislature of the State of Texas, Regular Session, 1963, the same being the Municipal Annexation Act, compiled as

Vernon's Ann. Civ. St. art. 970a, as heretofore or hereafter amended. Upon the final passage of any ordinance

annexing territory, the corporate boundaries of the city shall thereafter include the territory annexed. When any

additional territory has been annexed, the same shall be a part of the city; the property situated therein shall

thereafter be subject to taxes levied by the city; and the inhabitants thereof shall be entitled to all of the rights and

privileges of all citizens, and shall be bound by this Charter and the ordinances, resolutions, rules and regulations of

the city. Upon the final passage of any ordinance detaching or disannexing territory from the city, the incorporated

area of the city shall be reduced by the territory detached or disannexed.

Editor's note— For current statutory provisions pertaining to municipal annexations, see V.T.C.A., Local Government

Code ch. 43.

Sec. 1.07. - Eminent domain.

The city shall have the full right, power and authority of eminent domain where necessary or desirable to execute

any power conferred upon it by this Charter or by the Constitution or laws of the State of Texas, and may condemn

either private or public property whether within or without the corporate boundaries of the city for such purposes,

upon payment of fair compensation for the property taken. Such power may be exercised in any manner authorized

by the Constitution or laws of the State of Texas, or as may be prescribed by ordinance. The power of eminent

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

179



domain hereby conferred shall include the right of the city to take the fee in the lands thus condemned. The city

shall have and possess the power of eminent domain for any municipal or public purpose, even though not

specifically enumerated in this Charter.

Sec. 1.09. - Reserved.

Editor's note— Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, adopted May 10, 2021, repealed § 1.09, which pertained to the limitations

on the power of council and derived from Ord. No. 2016-13, §§ 7 and 9(Exh. A), adopted May 16, 2016.

ARTICLE II. - THE COUNCIL

Sec. 2.01. - Number, selection and term of o�ce.

The council shall be composed of a mayor and five (5) other councilmembers, each of whom, unless sooner

removed under the provisions of this Charter or the laws of the State of Texas, shall serve for a term of two (2) years

or until a successor has been elected and installed. The members of the council, other than the mayor, shall be

elected to and occupy a place on the council, such places being numbered One, Two, Three, Four and Five,

respectively. Places One, Four and Five on the council shall be filled by majority vote each even-numbered year, and

places Two and Three on the council shall be filled by majority vote each odd-numbered year. The office of mayor

shall be filled by majority vote each odd-numbered year.

No person shall serve more than three (3) consecutive two-year terms as mayor, nor more than four (4)

consecutive two-year terms as councilmember or a combination of mayor/councilmember. Any portion of a term

served shall count as one (1) term in calculating the total number of consecutive terms served. No person who has

served four (4) consecutive terms as councilmember or mayor/councilmember shall hold office as mayor within the

one-year period following the said four (4) terms of service.

(Ord. No. 93-6, § 1, 5-17-93; Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

Sec. 2.02. - Quali�cations and limitations.

Each member of the council shall be qualified to vote in city elections; shall be a resident of and have resided in

the city for a continuous period of not less than one year preceding the date of election, or of appointment under

Section 2.03 of this Charter; and shall not be in arrears in the payment of taxes to the city. No member of the council

shall hold any other office or employment under the city government while a member of the council, nor shall any

member of council hold any paid employment under the city government within two years thereafter. The council

shall be the sole judge of the qualifications and election of its members.

Sec. 2.03. - Vacancies.

Vacancies on the council arising from any cause shall be filled by a vote of the council. The person appointed to fill

any such vacancy shall possess all qualifications required for the office. There shall not be more than one (1)

appointee on [the] council at any given time. If two (2) or more vacancies, or one (1) or more vacancies together with

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

180

https://library.municode.com/


one (1) appointee exist at the same time, a special election shall be called to fill said vacancies and replace said

appointee. However, if such vacancies occur within one hundred twenty (120) days of a regular election, such

vacancies shall be filled by appointment by vote of the council. A council position filled by appointment shall be filled

by election at the next city general election for the remaining year of the unexpired term or for the next full term, as

the case may be. A member of the council shall be disqualified for office if the person fails to meet the qualifications

of office or if the person is absent from three (3) consecutive or five (5) nonconsecutive regular council meetings per

two-year term. Upon determination by vote of the council that a member of the council is disqualified for office, the

office shall be vacant. No action taken by the council prior to such vote shall be invalid because of such

disqualification.

(Ord. No. 93-6, § 1, 5-17-93; Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

Sec. 2.04. - Compensation.

The mayor and other councilmembers shall be entitled to such compensation as may be established or changed

from time to time by the council; provided, however, that no implementation or increase in compensation shall take

effect until approved by a majority of the voters in the next regular city election. The mayor and other

councilmembers shall be entitled, with approval by council, to reimbursement for reasonable expenses incurred in

the performance of their official duties.

Sec. 2.05. - Mayor and mayor pro tem.

The mayor shall preside at all meetings of the council and shall be recognized as head of the city government for

all ceremonial purposes, for the purpose of receiving service of civil process, for emergency purposes, and for

military purposes; but the mayor shall have no regular administrative duties. The mayor shall perform other such

duties and possess and exercise such other duty and authority as may be prescribed and conferred by the council.

The mayor shall be entitled to vote only in case of a tie vote by the council. The mayor shall have no veto power.

At its first meeting following the general municipal election each year, the council shall elect one of its members

as mayor pro tem, who shall hold such office during the pleasure of the council. The mayor pro tem shall act as

mayor during the absence or disability of the mayor and shall have power to perform every act the mayor could

perform; provided, however, that the mayor pro tem shall be entitled to vote upon all matters considered by the

council. If the mayor and the mayor pro tem are absent from a meeting, the council shall elect an attending member

to preside over such meeting.

Sec. 2.06. - Powers of the council.

All powers and authority which are expressly or impliedly conferred on or possessed by the city shall be vested in

and exercised by the council; provided, however, that the council shall have no power to exercise those powers

which are expressly conferred upon other city officers by this Charter.

Sec. 2.07. - Investigations.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

181



The council shall have the power to investigate the official conduct of any department, agency, office, officer or

employee of the city, and for such purpose shall have the power to administer oaths, subpoena witnesses, and

compel the production of books, papers and other evidence material to the investigation. The council shall, by

ordinance, provide penalties for contempt in failing or refusing to obey any such subpoena or to produce any such

books, papers or other evidence, and shall have the power to punish such contempt in the manner provided by such

ordinance.

Sec. 2.08. - Interference in administrative or personnel matters.

Neither the council nor any of its members shall instruct or request the city manager or any of the city manager's

subordinates to appoint to or remove from office or employment any person. Except for the purposes of

investigation under Section 2.07 of this Charter or obtaining information, the council and its members shall deal with

the administrative service of the city solely through the city manager and shall not give orders to any of the city

manager's subordinates, either publicly or privately.

Sec. 2.09. - Meetings of the council.

There shall be at least one regular meeting of the council each month. All meetings shall be public, except where

permitted by law to be closed in whole or part to the public, and shall be held at the city hall or other public place in

the city. Special meetings may be called at any time by the city secretary upon request of the mayor, the city

manager or three members of the council.

Sec. 2.10. - Rules of procedure.

The council may determine its own rules and order of business. A majority of the members of the council,

excluding the mayor, shall constitute a quorum for all meetings for the transaction of all business. All actions of the

council shall be by majority vote. The council may adopt such rules and prescribe such penalties as it may deem

proper to enforce the attendance of its members at all regular and special meetings of the council or its committees.

Minutes of all meetings of the council shall be taken and recorded, and such minutes shall constitute a public record.

Sec. 2.11. - Procedure to enact ordinances.

The council shall legislate by ordinance. The enacting clause of every ordinance shall be, "Be it ordained by the

city council of the City of Jersey Village." Every ordinance enacted by the council shall be signed by the mayor, the

mayor pro tem or by two members of the council and shall be filed with and recorded by the city secretary. Every

ordinance shall take effect immediately upon its passage, unless otherwise provided by law or by the terms of such

ordinance.

Sec. 2.12. - Publication of ordinances and other required public notices.

Except as otherwise required by law or this Charter, the city secretary shall give notice of the enactment of every

ordinance imposing any penalty, fine or forfeiture for any violation of any of its provisions, and of every other

ordinance required by law or this Charter to be published, by causing said ordinance, or its caption and penalty, to

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

182

https://library.municode.com/


be published (i) at least one time within ten (10) days after passage thereof in the official newspaper of the city or (ii)

by posting on the municipal bulletin board for City Council agendas at City Hall and on the city's internet website

continuously for twenty (20) days after passage. Except as otherwise provided by law or this Charter, any

requirement of the city council, or any board, department or official of the city, to provide notice with respect to any

real or personal property, act, event, hearing, or other occurrence, by advertisement or notice, publication of such

advertisement or notice on the municipal bulletin board and on the city's internet website, continuously for at least

seventy two (72) hours or for such other longer time frame for advertisement or prescribed by law, if any, shall be

sufficient public notice. The affidavit of publication by the publisher of such newspaper, taken before any officer

authorized to administer oaths and filed with the city secretary, shall be conclusive proof of the legal publication and

promulgation of such ordinance in all courts.

(Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

Sec. 2.13. - Code of ordinances.

The council shall have the power to cause all general ordinances of the city to be compiled and printed in code

form. Every general ordinance enacted subsequent to such codification shall be enacted as an amendment to the

code. The council shall cause all general ordinances to be codified, recodified or reprinted whenever in its discretion

such is deemed desirable, or when such codification, recodification or reprinting is required by law. When adopted

by the council, the printed code of general ordinances contemplated by this section shall be in full force and effect

without the necessity of such code or any part thereof being published in any manner. The caption, descriptive

clause or other formal parts of the ordinances of the city may be omitted without affecting the validity of such

ordinances when they are published as a code.

Sec. 2.14. - O�cial bonds for city employees.

Such city officers and employees as the council may require shall, before entering upon the duties of their offices

or employment of the city, enter into good and sufficient fidelity bonds acceptable to the council and in sums to be

determined by the council, payable to the city and conditioned upon the faithful discharge of the duties of such

persons and upon the faithful accounting of all monies, credits and things of value coming into the hands of such

persons. Such bonds shall be signed as surety by companies authorized to do business under the laws of the State of

Texas, and the premiums on such bonds shall be paid by the city.

Sec. 2.15. - Audit and examination of city books and accounts.

The council shall cause an annual audit to be made of the books and accounts of the city. At the close of each

fiscal year, a complete audit shall be made by a certified public accountant, who shall be selected by the council.

Such audit shall include a recapitulation of all audits made during the course of the fiscal year. All audit reports shall

be filed with the council, shall be available for public inspection, and shall be made a part of the official records of

the city. Such accountant shall not maintain or keep any of the city's accounts or records nor be an officer or

employee of the city.

ARTICLE III. - ELECTIONS

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

183



Sec. 3.01. - Regular elections.

The regular election of members of the council to the positions to be filled on the council shall be held on the first

election date authorized by state law on or after the first day of April of each year at a place or places designated by

the council by ordinance. At every such election such voter shall not vote for more than one (1) candidate for each

council position to be filled. Such election shall be ordered by the mayor, and in the event of the mayor's failure to

order the same, the council shall make such order. In the event of the failure of the mayor and the council to so act,

such election may be called by the city secretary; and in the event of the city secretary's failure to act, by the County

Judge of Harris County, Texas; and in the event of the County Judge's failure to act, by the Governor of the State of

Texas. The city secretary shall give such notice of the election as may be prescribed by law.

(Ord No. 93-6, § 1, 5-17-93; Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

State Law reference— Uniform election dates, V.T.C.A., Election Code § 41.001.

Sec. 3.02. - Special elections.

The council may by ordinance or resolution call such special elections as are authorized by the Constitution and

laws of the State of Texas or by this Charter; fix the date, time and place of holding same; and provide all means for

holding such special elections; provided, however, that every special election shall be called and held as nearly as

practicable according to the provisions governing regular elections.

Sec. 3.03. - Filing for o�ce.

Any person qualified to serve under the provisions of Article II hereof may be a candidate for election to a

position on the council. A person who desires to be a candidate for an elective position on the city council shall file

an application with the city secretary within the time prescribed by law. Such application shall clearly designate the

desired position on the council and shall contain a sworn statement by the person that the person is fully qualified

under the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas and the provisions of this Charter to hold the office sought.

The names of all candidates who have filed for office shall be printed on the official ballot by position without party

designations, in an order as provided by law.

(Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

Sec. 3.04. - Elections by majority and runo� elections.

At every election to fill one or more positions on the council, election to each position shall be by a majority of all

the votes cast at such election for such position. In the event no candidate receives a majority of all the votes cast at

such election for any such position, immediately upon declaring the official results of the election, the mayor or the

council shall order a runoff election for every position to which no person was elected. The city secretary shall give

notice of such runoff election as may be prescribed by law. The two candidates who received the highest number of

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

184



votes for any position to which no person was elected in the election shall be voted on in the runoff election,

appearing on the runoff ballot in the same order as they appeared on the ballot in the preceding election. The

candidate who receives the majority of all the votes cast at such runoff election for such position shall be elected.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 3.05. - Noti�cation and installation of elected o�cers.

The city secretary shall notify all persons elected to office of their election. All persons duly elected shall take

office at the first meeting of the council following the runoff election, if one is required. If no runoff election is

required, all of said officers shall take office at the first meeting of the council following the general election.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

ARTICLE IV. - INITIATIVE, REFERENDUM AND RECALL

Sec. 4.01. - Power of initiative.

The people of the city reserve the power of direct legislation by initiative, and in the exercise of such power may

propose any ordinance (except annexation ordinances, zoning ordinances, ordinances appropriating money or

levying taxes, ordinances repealing zoning ordinances, or ordinances repealing ordinances appropriating money or

levying taxes) not in conflict with this Charter or the Constitution or laws of the State of Texas. Any initiated

ordinance may be submitted to the council by a petition signed by at least fifteen (15) percent of the qualified voters

of the city.

Sec. 4.02. - Power of referendum.

The people of the city reserve the power to approve or reject at the polls any legislation enacted by the council

which is subject to the initiative process under this Charter, except that ordinances authorizing the issuance of either

tax or revenue bonds, whether original or refunding bonds, shall not be subject to such referendum. Prior to or

within sixty (60) days after the effective date of any ordinance which is subject to referendum, a petition signed by at

least fifteen (15) percent of the qualified voters of the city may be filed with the city secretary requesting that any

such ordinance be either repealed or submitted to a vote of the people. When such a petition has been certified in

writing as sufficient by the city secretary, the ordinance specified in the petition shall not go into effect, or further

action thereon shall be suspended if it shall have gone into effect, until and unless it is approved by the voters as

herein provided.

Sec. 4.03. - Form of petitions.

An initiative petition and a referendum petition shall meet the requirements for petitions of the Texas Election

Code.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

185



Sec. 4.04. - Filing, examination and certi�cation of petitions.

Within thirty (30) days after an initiative or referendum petition is filed, the city secretary shall examine the

petition and certify as to its sufficiency. The city secretary shall declare void any petition which does not have an

affidavit attached thereto as required in Section 4.03 of this Article. In examining the petition, the city secretary shall

write the letters "D.V." (declared void) in red ink opposite the names of signatories found not qualified. If the city

secretary certifies the petition as insufficient, the city secretary shall notify the petitioner in writing. Such insufficient

petition may be amended within forty-five (45) days from the date of original filing by submitting a supplementary

petition upon additional papers signed and filed as provided for in the original petition. Within thirty (30) days after

such amendment is filed, the city secretary shall examine the amended petition and certify as to its sufficiency. If the

amended petition is then found to be insufficient, no further proceedings shall be had with regard to it. The city

secretary shall report the status of any petition to the council at each regular council meeting.

Sec. 4.05. - Council consideration and submission to voters.

When the council receives an authorized initiative petition certified in writing by the city secretary to be sufficient,

the council shall (a) pass the initiated ordinance without amendment within thirty (30) days after the date of

presentation of written certification to the council; or (b) submit said initiated ordinance without amendment to a

vote of the qualified voters of the city at a regular or special election to be held on the first election day permitted by

law which is not less than thirty (30) days after the date of presentation of written certification to the council; or (c)

submit to a vote of the qualified voters of the city said initiated ordinance, without amendment, and an alternative

ordinance on the same subject proposed by the council. Should both such ordinances be approved by a majority of

the votes cast at such election, the ordinance receiving the higher number of votes shall become effective as an

ordinance of the city; the other ordinance shall be deemed rejected and shall not become effective.

When the council receives an authorized referendum petition certified in writing by the city secretary to be

sufficient, the council shall reconsider the referred ordinance. If upon reconsideration such ordinance is not

repealed within thirty (30) days, it shall be submitted to the qualified voters of the city at a regular or special election

to be held on the first election day permitted by law which is not less than thirty (30) days after the date of

presentation of written certification to the council.

Special elections on initiated or referred ordinances shall not be held more frequently than once each six months.

No ordinance on the same subject as an initiated ordinance which has been defeated or on the same subject as a

referred ordinance which has been approved at any election may be initiated or referred by the voters within two

years from the date of such election.

Sec. 4.06. - Results of election.

Any number of ordinances may be voted on at the same election in accordance with the provisions of this article.

If a majority of the votes cast is in favor of an initiated ordinance, it shall thereupon be effective as an ordinance of

the city. An ordinance thus adopted may be repealed or amended at any time after the expiration of one year by

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

186

https://library.municode.com/


vote of the council. A referred ordinance which is rejected by a majority of the votes cast in a referendum election

shall be deemed thereupon repealed. An ordinance thus rejected may be reenacted at any time after the expiration

of one year by vote of the council.

Sec. 4.07. - Power of recall.

The people of the city reserve the power to recall any elected officer of the city and may exercise such power by

filing with the city secretary a petition, signed by at least thirty (30) percent of the qualified voters of the city,

demanding the removal of such elected officer. The petition shall be signed and verified in the manner required for

an initiative petition.

Sec. 4.08. - Recall election.

The provisions of this article regulating examination, certification and amendment of initiative petitions shall

apply to recall petitions. If the petition is certified in writing by the city secretary to be sufficient, the council shall

order and hold an election within forty-five (45) days to determine whether such officer shall be recalled.

Sec. 4.09. - Results of recall election.

If the majority of the votes cast at a recall election are for the recall of the officer named on the ballot, the office

shall be vacant and shall be filled as specified in Article II of this Charter. An officer thus removed shall not be eligible

to hold elective or appointive office in the city for a period of two years from the date of such recall election.

(Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

Sec. 4.10. - Limitation on recall.

No recall petition shall be filed against an officer within six months after the person takes office, and no officer

shall be subjected to more than one recall election during any one term of office.

(Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

ARTICLE V. - ADMINISTRATIVE ORGANIZATION

Sec. 5.01. - City manager.

The council shall appoint a city manager, who shall be the chief administrative and executive officer of the city.

The city manager shall be chosen by the council on the basis of the person's executive and administrative training,

experience and ability.

The city manager shall be appointed for an indefinite term, and may be removed at the will of the council. The

decision of the council as to such appointment or removal shall be final. The city manager shall receive such

compensation as may be fixed by the council. No member of the council shall, during the term for which the

member is elected and for two years thereafter, be chosen as city manager.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

187



(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

By letter filed with the city secretary, the city manager may designate, subject to council approval, a qualified city

administrative officer to be acting city manager during the city manager's temporary absences or disabilities. The

council may revoke such designation at any time and appoint another person acting city manager to serve during

such times; and if the city manager fails to make such designation, the council may appoint an acting city manager to

serve during such times. The council may remove an acting city manager at any time.

(Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

Sec. 5.02. - Powers and duties of city manager.

The city manager shall be responsible to the council for the efficient and economical administration of the city

government. Except as otherwise provided by this Charter, the city manager shall have the authority to hire and

terminate all employees of the city. The city manager may authorize the head of any department to appoint and

remove subordinates in that department. Except for the purposes of investigation under Section 2.07 of this Charter

or of obtaining information, the council and its members shall deal with employees through the city manager.

The city manager shall:

Prepare and submit annually to council a proposed budget and administer the budget after its

adoption;

Advise the council of the financial condition and future financial needs of the city;

Recommend to the council the salaries to be paid to each appointed officer and employee of the city;

Recommend to the council in writing actions or policies the city manager considers desirable;

Attend all meetings of the council, with the right to take part in discussion but with no vote;

Administer the enforcement of all city ordinances; and

Perform all other duties directed by the council and not inconsistent with this Charter.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 5.03. - Administrative departments.

There shall be such administrative departments as are established by this Charter and as may be established by

ordinance, all of which shall be under the control and direction of the city manager. The council may abolish or

combine one or more departments, except that no function assigned by this Charter to a particular department,

office or agency may be discontinued or, unless this Charter specifically so provides, assigned to any other.

Sec. 5.04. - Directors of departments.

At the head of each department there shall be a director. Such directors shall have supervision and control over

their respective departments and may serve as chiefs of divisions within their respective departments. Two or more

departments may be headed by the same individual, and the city manager may head one or more departments.

Sec. 5.05. - City secretary.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

188

https://library.municode.com/


The council shall appoint a city secretary. The city secretary shall be entitled to compensation for services as

established by the council and shall serve at the pleasure of the council. With approval of the council, the city

secretary shall appoint assistant city secretaries in number as approved by the council. The city secretary or an

assistant city secretary shall give notice of council meetings; shall keep the minutes of proceedings of council

meetings; shall authenticate by signature and record in full, in a book kept and indexed for that purpose, all

ordinances and resolutions; shall hold and maintain the city seal, and affix the seal to all instruments requiring it;

and shall perform other duties required by the council, city manager, this Charter or the laws of the State of Texas.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 5.06. - City attorney.

The council shall appoint an attorney, licensed to practice law in the State of Texas, to be the city attorney. The

city attorney shall be entitled to compensation for services as established by the council and shall serve at the

pleasure of the council. The city attorney, or other attorneys selected by the city attorney with approval of the

council, shall represent the city in all litigation and other legal matters. The city attorney shall be the legal advisor to

the city and counsel for the city and all its officers and departments in the conduct of city business. The council may

retain special counsel at any time it deems the same appropriate or necessary.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 5.07. - Municipal court.

There is established and shall be maintained a court or courts, designated the "Municipal Court of the City of

Jersey Village," for the trial of misdemeanor offenses with all powers and duties granted by the laws of the State of

Texas.

The judge(s) of each court shall be appointed by the council for a term of office of two years beginning on January

1 of even-numbered years. Any such judge may be removed from office by the council for incompetency, misconduct

or malfeasance. Each such judge shall be an attorney licensed to practice law in the State of Texas and shall be

entitled to compensation as established by the council.

There shall be a municipal court clerk appointed by the council for a term of two years to run concurrently with

the term of the judge. Such clerk and any deputy clerks appointed by the clerk, with approval of the council, shall

have the power to administer oaths, make certificates, affix the seal of the court, and perform all acts usual and

necessary in issuing process and conducting business of the court.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

ARTICLE VI. - FINANCE

Sec. 6.01. - Fiscal year.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

189



The fiscal year of the city shall be as established by ordinance of the council. In the event the council does not

thus establish the fiscal year, the fiscal year of the city shall begin on the first day of each October and end on the

last day of September of the following year. All funds collected by the city during any fiscal year, including both

current and delinquent revenues, shall belong to such fiscal year and, except for funds derived to pay interest and

create a sinking fund on the bonded indebtedness of the city, may be applied to the payments of expenses incurred

during such fiscal year, except as provided in this Charter. Any revenues uncollected at the end of any fiscal year,

and any unencumbered funds actually on hand, shall become resources of the next succeeding fiscal year.

Sec. 6.02. - Annual budget.

The annual budget must specify appropriations for capital expenditures and for expenditures directed by council

for services and for the operation of the city. It must comply with fund requirements of bond covenants. City

department directors and officers shall submit budget requests for the next fiscal year to and as directed by the city

manager for review and consolidation. The city manager shall submit a proposed annual budget to the council at

least forty-five (45) days prior to the end of each fiscal year.

Before taxes are levied, but after a public hearing or hearings, [the] council shall adopt an annual budget. [The]

council may amend the proposed budget, but shall not delete or decrease appropriations required for debt service,

and shall not authorize expenditures in excess of the total of estimated income plus funds available from earlier

years.

If the council fails to adopt an annual budget before the start of the fiscal year to which it applies, appropriations

of the last budget adopted shall be considered as adopted for the current fiscal year on a month to month, pro rata

basis until the annual budget is adopted.

State Law reference— Municipal budget, V.T.C.A., Local Government Code ch. 102.

Sec. 6.03. - Appropriations.

From the effective date of the budget, the several amounts stated therein as proposed expenditures shall be and

become appropriated to the several objects and purposes named therein. Except as provided in this article, no funds

of the city shall be expended, nor shall any obligation for the expenditure of money be incurred, except pursuant to

the annual appropriation ordinance provided for in this article. At the close of each fiscal year any unencumbered

balance of an appropriation shall revert to the fund from which appropriated and become available for

reappropriation for the next fiscal year. The council may transfer any unencumbered appropriation balance or

portion thereof from one office, department or agency to another, at any time. The city manager shall have

authority, without council approval, to transfer appropriation balances from one expenditure account to another

within a single office, department or agency of the city.

Sec. 6.04. - Contingent appropriation.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

190



Provision shall be made in the annual budget for a contingent appropriation in an amount not more than ten (10)

percent of the total budget. Such contingent appropriation shall be under the control of the city manager and

distributed by the city manager, after approval by the council. Expenditures from this appropriation shall be made

only in the event of established emergencies, and a detailed account of such expenditures shall be recorded and

reported.

Sec. 6.05. - Borrowing in anticipation of property taxes.

In any fiscal year, in anticipation of the collection of the ad valorem property tax for such year, whether levied or

to be levied in such year, the council may by ordinance or resolution authorize the borrowing of money, not to

exceed in any fiscal year an amount equal to ten (10) percent of the budget for such fiscal year. Such borrowing shall

be by the issuance of negotiable notes of the city, each of which shall be designated "tax anticipation note for the

year ___ " (stating the tax year). Such notes shall mature and be payable not later than the end of the fiscal year in

which issued, and may be secured by the pledge of the ad valorem property taxes for such year.

Sec. 6.06. - General obligation bonds.

The city shall have the power to borrow money on the credit of the city and to issue general obligation bonds for

permanent public improvements or for any other public purpose not prohibited by the Constitution and laws of the

State of Texas, and to issue refunding bonds to refund outstanding bonds of the city previously issued. All such

bonds shall be issued in conformity with the laws of the State of Texas.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 6.07. - Revenue bonds.

The city shall have the power to borrow money for the purpose of constructing, purchasing, improving, extending

or repairing public utilities, recreational facilities or any other self-liquidating municipal function not prohibited by

the Constitution or laws of the State of Texas, and to issue revenue bonds to evidence the obligation created

thereby. Such bonds shall be a charge upon and payable solely from the properties, or interest therein, pledged, or

the income therefrom, or both, and shall never be a debt of the city. All such bonds shall be issued in conformity

with the laws of the State of Texas.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 6.08. - Sale of bonds.

No bonds (other than refunding bonds issued to refund and in exchange for previously issued outstanding bonds)

issued by the city shall be sold for less than ninety-five (95) percent of par value and accrued interest. All bonds of

the city having been issued and sold in accordance with the terms of this section, and having been delivered to the

purchasers thereof, shall thereafter be incontestable, and all bonds issued to refund and in exchange for

outstanding bonds previously issued shall, after said exchange, be incontestable.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

191



(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

ARTICLE VII. - TAXATION

Sec. 7.01. - Powers of taxation.

The city, for any municipal purpose, shall have the power to levy, assess and collect taxes of every type and

character not prohibited by the Constitution or laws of the State of Texas.

Sec. 7.02. - Arrears of taxes o�set to debt against city.

The city shall be entitled to counterclaim and offset against any debt, claim, demand or account owed by the city

to any person, firm or corporation who or which is in arrears to the city for taxes, in the amount of taxes in arrears.

No assignment or transfer of such debt, claim, demand or account after the said taxes are due shall affect the right

of the city to so offset the said taxes against the same.

ARTICLE VIII. - FRANCHISES AND PUBLIC UTILITIES

Sec. 8.01. - Inalienability of control of public property.

The right of control and use of the public streets, highways, sidewalks, alleys, parks, public squares and public

places of the city is hereby declared to be inalienable by the city, except by ordinances not in conflict with the

provisions of this Charter. No act or omission by the council or any officer, employee or agent of the city shall be

construed to grant, renew, extend or amend, expressly or by estoppel or implication, any right, franchise, or

easement affecting said public streets, highways, sidewalks, alleys, parks, public squares, public places or other real

property, except as provided in this Charter.

Sec. 8.02. - Power to grant franchise.

The council shall have the power by ordinance to grant, renew or extend franchises of all public utilities of every

character operating within the city and, with the consent of the franchise holder, to amend the same. However, no

franchise shall be granted for an indeterminate term, and no franchise shall be granted for a term of more than fifty

(50) years.

State Law reference— Public Utility Regulatory Act of 1995, Vernon's Ann. Civ. St. art. 1446c-O.

Sec. 8.03. - Ordinance granting franchise.

Every ordinance granting, renewing, extending or amending a public utility franchise shall be read at three regular

meetings of the council prior to approval. Within ten (10) days following the first reading of the ordinance, the full

text thereof shall be published in the official newspaper of the city, and the cost of such publication shall be paid by

the prospective franchise holder.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

192



Sec. 8.04. - Transfer of franchise.

No public utility franchise shall be transferred or assigned by the holder thereof except with the approval of the

council expressed by ordinance.

ARTICLE IX. - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Sec. 9.01. - O�cial oath.

Before entering upon the duties of their respective offices, all officers of the city shall take and subscribe the

official oath prescribed in the Constitution of the State of Texas.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.02. - Public records.

All public records of every office, department, agency or other entity of the city shall be open to inspection by any

citizen at all reasonable times; provided that any records not required by law to be available for public inspection

shall not be considered public records for the purpose of this section.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.03. - O�cial newspaper.

The council shall have power to contract with, and by ordinance or resolution designate, a public newspaper of

general circulation in the city as the official newspaper thereof and to continue as such until another is designated,

and shall cause to be published therein all ordinances, notices and other matters required to be published by this

Charter, by the ordinances of the city, or by the Constitution or laws of the State of Texas.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.04. - Tort liability.

Before the city shall be liable for damages for the death or personal injuries of any person or for damages to or

destruction of property of any kind, which does not constitute a taking or damaging of property under Article I,

Section 17, Constitution of the State of Texas, the person injured, if living, or the person's legal representatives, if

deceased, or the parent or guardian of a minor child, or the owner, the owner's agent or attorney of the property

damaged or destroyed, shall give the city manager notice in writing of such death, injury, damage or destruction,

duly verified by affidavit, within six months after same has been sustained, stating specifically in such written notice

when, where and how the death, injury, damage or destruction occurred, and the apparent extent of any such injury,

the amount of damages sustained, the actual residence of the claimant by street and number at the date the claim is

presented, the actual residence of such claimant for six months immediately preceding the occurrence of such

death, injury, damage or destruction, and the names and addresses of all witnesses upon whom it is relied to

establish the claim for damages. The failure to so notify the city manager within the time and manner specified

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

193



herein shall exonerate, excuse and exempt the city from any liability whatsoever. No act of any officer, employee or

agent of the city shall waive compliance, or preclude the city from requiring compliance, with the provisions of this

section as to notice.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05; Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

State Law reference— Notice of claim, V.T.C.A., Civil Practice and Remedies Code § 101.101.

Sec. 9.05. - Assignment, execution and garnishment.

The property, real and personal, belonging to the city shall not be liable for sale or appropriation under any writ

of execution. The funds belonging to the city, in the hands of any person, firm or corporation, shall not be liable to

garnishment on account of any debt it may owe or funds or property it may have on hand or owing to any person.

Neither the city nor any of its officers, employees or agents shall be required to answer any such right of

garnishment on any account whatever. The city shall not be obligated to recognize any assignment of wages or funds

by any of its officers, employees, agents or contractors.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.06. - Security or bond not required.

It shall not be necessary in any action, lawsuit or proceeding, in which the city shall be a party, for any bond,

undertaking or security to be executed on behalf of the city; but all actions, lawsuits, and proceedings shall be

conducted in the same manner as if such bond, undertaking or security had been given. The city shall have all

remedies by appeal, as provided by law, to all courts of this state without bond or security of any kind. For all the

purposes of such actions, lawsuits, proceedings and appeals, the city shall be liable in the same manner, and to the

same extent, as if the bond, undertaking or security in ordinary cases had been given and executed.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.07. - Personal interest in city business.

No member of the council or employee of the city shall personally engage in any business with the city nor shall

have any financial interest, direct or indirect, in any commercial entity doing business with the city. The provisions of

this section relating to financial interest in such commercial entity shall not apply when the ownership share of such

councilmember or city employee is less than one percent of such entity. Any willful violation of this section shall

constitute malfeasance in office, and any such councilmember or city employee guilty thereof shall thereby forfeit

the person's position or employment. Any violation of this section with the express or implied knowledge of the

person or entity doing business with the city shall render the contract voidable by the council.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05; Ord. No. 2021-21, Exh. A, 5-10-21)

Sec. 9.08. - Health, life and accident insurance for city employees.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

194



The council shall have the power, exercisable in its discretion, and subject to such limitations and regulations as it

shall deem proper, to create, operate, amend and contract for an insurance plan or plans covering health, life and

accident insurance, or any of them, for any or all city employees and their dependents, and to pay the premiums, or

a portion thereof, therefor.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.09. - Boards, agencies and commissions.

The council shall have the authority to establish by ordinance such boards, agencies and commissions as it may

deem necessary or desirable for the conduct of the city's business and the management of its affairs. The

membership, authority, duties, functions and responsibilities of such boards, agencies and commissions shall be

such as are specified by ordinance. The authority, duties, functions and responsibilities thus granted to and

conferred on such boards, agencies and commissions shall not be incompatible with the provisions of this Charter

and shall in no manner conflict with, usurp or transfer any privilege, authority, duty, function or responsibility

specifically granted herein or by the laws of the State of Texas to another office, board, agency or commission of the

city.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.10. - Judicial notice.

This Charter shall be deemed a public act; shall have the force and effect of a general law; may be read in

evidence without pleading or proof; and judicial notice shall be taken hereof in all courts and places without further

proof.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.11. - Severability clause.

If any section or part of a section of this Charter is held to be invalid or unconstitutional by a court of competent

jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not invalidate or impair the validity, force or effect of any other section or part of a

section of this Charter.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.12. - E�ect of headings and numeration.

All headings and numeration in this Charter for its respective articles, sections and subsections are provided for

the sole purpose of convenient reference, and shall have no substantive legal effect.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.13. - Charter amendment.

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

195



(a)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(b)

(c)

This Charter may be amended in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas.

(Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

Sec. 9.14. - Charter review commission.

The council shall appoint a Charter review commission ("commission") no later than July 1996 and at least every

four (4) years thereafter. The commission shall consist of seven (7) members and three (3) alternate members, all to

be citizens of the City of Jersey Village.

Duties of the commission:

Inquire into the operation of the city government under the provisions of the Charter. To this end,

public hearings may be held and the commission shall have the power to request the attendance

of any officer or employee of the city and require the submission of any of the city records

deemed necessary to conduct such hearing.

Propose any recommendations deemed desirable to ensure compliance with the provisions of the

Charter by the several departments of the city government.

Propose, if desirable, amendments to the Charter to improve the effective application of the

Charter to current conditions.

Report its finding(s) and proposed amendments, if any, to the council.

Action by the council: The council shall receive and publish any report presented by the commission.

Term of office: The term of office of such commission shall be six (6) months or longer if extended by

the council and, at the completion of such term, a report of the proceedings of the commission shall

be filed with the city secretary and shall become public record.

(Ord. No. 93-6, § 1, 5-17-93; Ord. No. 05-14, § 1, 5-16-05)

CHARTER COMPARATIVE TABLE

This table shows the disposition of legislation affecting the Home Rule Charter of the City of Jersey Village, Texas.

Ordinance

Number

Adoption

 Date

Referendum

  Date

Section Disposition

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

196



86-7  8-18-86  8- 9-86 1 §§ 1.01—

1.07,

2.01—2.15,

3.01—3.09,

4.01—4.10,

5.01—5.08,

6.01—6.10,

7.01—7.02,

8.01—8.04,

9.01—9.16

93-6  5-17-93  5- 1-93 1 §§ 2.01,

2.03,

3.01,

5.05.2,

5.05.5,

9.17

05-14  5-16-05  5- 7-05 1 §§ 3.04—

3.09

4.03

5.02—5.08

6.06—6.10

9.01—9.17

2016-13  5-16-16  5- 7-16 7, 9

(Exh. A)      

Added

§ 1.09

2021-21  5-10-2021  5- 1-2021 Exh. A       Rpld 1.08, 1.09

Exh. A 2.01

2.03

2.12

3.01

3.03

4.09, 4.10

5.01

9.04

9.07

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

197

https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/


 

 

   
 
October 5, 2020 

 

 

 

The Mayor and City Council 

City of Jersey Village 

16501 Jersey Drive 

Jersey Village, Texas 77040 

 

 

Re: Recommendation of the City of Jersey Village 2020 Charter Review Commission 
 

Honorable Mayor and City Council: 
 

As required by Section 9.14 of the Charter of the City of Jersey Village, the 2020 Charter 

Review Commission has taken the following measures in considering amendments to the 

City’s current Charter: 
 

 Reviewed the Charter section by section, considering areas for amendment. 

 Received input from City Staff on how departments operate under the existing Charter.  

There were no recommendations from Staff for amendments.  

 Received input from City Council on how well the city is operating under the Charter.  

There were several suggestions from councilmembers considered by the Commission. 

 Conducted a public hearing to receive citizen recommendations for amendments to the 

City’s Charter.  Only one citizen, Mark Maloy, offered comments, which were 

considered by the Commission. 
 

CONCLUSION 
 

Having met with Council Members and City Staff to review the operations of the city 

government under the provisions of the Charter of the City of Jersey Village and having 

conducted a public hearing to receive citizen input, the 2020 Charter Review Commission 

recommends that the following amendments be made to the City Charter: 
 

1. The Commission recommends deleting Sections 1.08 and 1.09 as follows: 
 

Sec. 1.08.  - Reserved.  
  
Sec. 1.09.  – Limitations on power of council. 

 The limitations on the powers of the City Council in Section 1.08 related to 

photographic traffic signal systems shall not apply to any contract or contractual 

obligation incurred by or on behalf of the City on or before January 1, 2016. 
 

CITY OF JERSEY VILLAGE, TEXAS 
16501 Jersey Drive,  Jersey Village, TX 77040 

713-466-2102 (office) 713-466-2177 (fax) 2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

198



The Mayor and City Council 

October 5, 2020 

Page 2 

 

 

2. The Commission recommends amendments to Section 2.12 as follows: 
 

Sec. 2.12.  – Publication of ordinances and other required public notices. 
 

Except as otherwise provided required by law or this Charter, the city secretary shall give 

notice of the enactment of every ordinance imposing any penalty, fine or forfeiture for any 

violation of any of its provisions, and of every other ordinance required by law or this 

Charter to be published, by causing said ordinance, or its caption and penalty, to be 

published (i) at least one time within ten (10) days after passage thereof in the official 

newspaper of the city, or (ii) by posting on the municipal bulletin board for City 

Council agendas at City Hall and on the city’s internet website continuously for 

twenty (20) days after passage.  Except as otherwise provided by law or this Charter, 

any requirement of the city council, or any board, department or official of the city, 

to provide notice with respect to any real or personal property, act, event, hearing, or 

other occurrence, by advertisement or notice, publication of such advertisement or 

notice on the municipal bulletin board and on the city’s internet website, continuously 

for at least seventy two (72) hours or for such other longer time frame for 

advertisement or prescribed by law, if any, shall be sufficient public notice.   
 

3. With respect to gender neutral language, the Commission recommends that the entire text 

of the Charter be amended to reflect gender neutral language. 
 

4. With respect to Term Limits the Commission recommends the following changes: 
 

The council shall be composed of a mayor and five (5) other councilmembers, each of 

whom, unless sooner removed under the provisions of this Charter or the laws of the State 

of Texas, shall serve for a term of two (2) years or until his a successor has been elected 

and installed.  The members of the council, other than the mayor, shall be elected to and 

occupy a place on the council, such places being numbered One, Two, Three, Four and 

Five, respectively.  Places One, Four and Five on the council shall be filled by popular 

majority vote each even-numbered year, and places Two and Three on the council shall 

be filled by popular majority vote each odd-numbered year.  The office of mayor shall be 

filled by popular majority vote each odd-numbered year.   
 

No person shall serve more than three (3) consecutive two-year terms as mayor, nor more 

than four (4) consecutive two-year terms as councilmember or a combination of 

mayor/councilmember.  Any portion of a term served shall not count in calculating the 

total number of consecutive terms served.  No person who has served four (4) consecutive 

terms as councilmember or mayor/councilmember shall hold office as mayor within the 

one-year period following the said four (4) terms of service. 
 

No mayor or councilmember may qualify as a candidate for another municipal office 

if the term or any part thereof runs concurrently with each unless the person 1) files 

in writing the intent to run for the office with the City Secretary at least 60 days prior 

to the filing deadline for the office and 2) resigns from the municipal office the person 

presently holds. 

 

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

199



The Mayor and City Council 

October 5, 2020 

Page 3 

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

Charter Review Commission 2020 

 

Sheri Sheppard, Chairperson    Annabelle Silva 

Ashley Brown, Vice Chairperson   Denise Reaneau 

Karie Lawrence     Rick Faircloth – Alternate 1 

V. Kay Vaccaro     John Kenna – Alternate 2 

Erik Robertson     Sonja Tijerina – Alternate 3 

 

2024 C
H

A
R

T
E

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

ISSIO
N

 M
E

E
T

IN
G

 PA
C

K
E

T
 FO

R
 SE

PT
E

M
B

E
R

 4, 2024 M
E

E
T

IN
G

200


	2024-09-04_Charter_Review_Agenda WEB
	B - Citizens' Comments
	C - City Attorney Presentation
	ARF - City Attorney
	COJV - Sec 9.14 - Chater Review Commission
	COJV Home Rule Charter as Amended May 2021
	Local Government Code - Chapter 9
	Texas Homerule Charters Handbook


	D - Organization Item
	E - Review Charter
	ARF - Review Charter
	COJV Home Rule Charter as Amended May 2021
	2020 Charter Review Commission - Final Recommendations





